PROCEEDINGSISSN Print: 2518-4261 ISSN ONLINE: 2518-427X Vol. 60(1), March 2023 OF THE PAKISTAN ACADEMY OF SCIENCES: B. Life and Environmental Sciences



PAKISTAN ACADEMY OF SCIENCES ISLAMABAD, PAKISTAN

Proceedings of the Pakistan Academy of Sciences: Part B Life and Environmental Sciences

President: Secretary General: Treasurer: Khalid Mahmood Khan Tasawar Hayat Amin Badshah

Proceedings of the Pakistan Academy of Sciences: Part B (Life and Environmental Sciences) is the official flagship, the peer-reviewed quarterly journal of the Pakistan Academy of Sciences. This open-access journal publishes original research articles and reviews in the field of Agricultural and Biological Sciences (all), Biochemistry, Genetics and Molecular Biology (all), Environmental Science (all), Health Sciences (all). Authors are not required to be Fellows or Members of the Pakistan Academy of Sciences or citizens of Pakistan. The journal is covered by Print and Online ISSN, indexed in Scopus, and distributed to scientific organizations, institutes and universities throughout the country, by subscription and on an exchange basis.

Editor:

Irum Iqrar, Pakistan Academy of Sciences, Islamabad; editor@paspk.org

Discipline Editors:

Agricultural Sciences: Kadambot Siddique, The UWA Institute of Agriculture, The University of Western Australia, Perth, Australia Animal Sciences: Abdul Rauf Shakoori, School of Biological Sciences, University of the Punjab, Lahore, Pakistan Biological Sciences: Arra Khanum, University Institute of Biochemistry and Biotechnology, PMAS Arid Agriculture University Rawalnin

Biological Sciences: Azra Khanum, University Institute of Biochemistry and Biotechnology, PMAS Arid Agriculture University Rawalpindi, Pakistan

Environmental Sciences: Bin Chen, State Key Joint Laboratory of Environmental Simulation and Pollution Control School of Environment, Beijing Normal University, China

Environmental Sciences: Zahir Ahmad Zahir, Institute of Soil and Environmental Sciences, University of Agriculture, Faisalabad, Pakistan *Health Sciences:* Khalid Iqbal, Department of Neurochemistry, New York State Institute for Basic Research, New York, USA

Health Sciences: Anwar-ul-Hassan Gilani, The University of Haripur, Haripur, Khyber Pakhtunkhwa, Pakistan

Plant Sciences: Munir Ozturk, Faculty of Science, Ege University, Izmir, Turkey

Plant Sciences: Zabta K. Shinwari, Department of Plant Sciences, Quaid-i-Azam University, Islamabad, Pakistan

Editorial Advisory Board:

Mohammad Perwaiz Iqbal, School of Sciences University of Management and Technology, Lahore, Pakistan

Ilkay Erdogan Orhan, Faculty of Pharmacy, Gazi University, Ankara, Turkey

Mohammad Wasay, Department of Medicine, Aga Khan University, Karachi, Pakistan

Kamal Chowdhury, School of Natural Sciences & Mathematics, Claflin University, USA

Shahid Mansoor, National Institute for Biotechnology and Genetic Engineering (NIBGE), Faisalabad, Pakistan

Darakhshan Jabeen Haleem, Dr. Panjwani Center for Molecular Medicine and Drug Research, International Center for Chemical and Biological Sciences (ICCBS), University of Karachi, Karachi, Pakistan

Muhammad Farooq, Department of Plant Sciences, Sultan Qaboos University, Al-Khoud-123, Oman

Riffat Naseem Malik, Department of Environmental Sciences, Quaid-i-Azam University, Islamabad

Syed Ghulam Musharraf, H.E.J. Research Institute of Chemistry International Center for Chemical and Biological Sciences (ICCBS), University of Karachi, Karachi, Pakistan

Muhammad Shahzad Aslam, School of Traditional Chinese Medicine, Xiamen University, Malaysia

Muhammad Ansar, Department of Biochemistry, Faculty of Biological Sciences, Quaid-i-Azam University, Islamabad, Pakistan

Muhammad Zaffar Hashmi, Department of Chemistry COMSATS University, Islamabad, Pakistan

Hafiz Suleria, Department of Agriculture and Food Systems, The University of Melbourne, Australia

Amjad Ali, Atta-ur-Rahman School of Applied Biosciences (ASAB), National University of Sciences & Technology (NUST), Islamabad, Pakistan

Nudrat Aisha Akram, Department of Botany, GC University, Faisalabad, Pakistan

Roy Hendroko Setyobudi, University of Muhammadiyah Malang, East Java, Indonesia

Annual Subscription: Pakistan: Institutions, Rupees 4000/- ; Individuals, Rupees 2000/- (Delivery Charges: Rupees 150/-) Other Countries: US\$ 200.00 (includes air-lifted overseas delivery)

© Pakistan Academy of Sciences. Reproduction of paper abstracts is permitted provided the source is acknowledged. Permission to reproduce any other material may be obtained in writing from the Editor.

The data and opinions published in the *Proceedings* are of the author(s) only. The *Pakistan Academy of Sciences* and the *Editor* accept no responsibility whatsoever in this regard.

HEC Recognized, Category X; Scopus Indexed

Published by Pakistan Academy of Sciences, 3 Constitution Avenue, G-5/2, Islamabad, Pakistan Email: editor@paspk.org; Tel: 92-51-9207140; 92-51-920 6770; Websites: www.paspk.org/proceedings/; www.ppaspk.org

Printed at Graphics Point., Office 3-A, Wasal Plaza, Fazal-e-Haq Road, Blue Area, Islamabad Ph: 051-2806257; E-mail: graphicspoint16@gmail.com



CONTENTS

Volume 60, No. 1, March 2023	Page
Announcement	
Online Catalogue of the Spiders (Arachnida: Araneae) of Pakistan — Pir Asmat Ali	1
Review Articles	
Comparison of Host Expression Systems used for Efficient Recombinant Proteins Production — Sania Sahreen, Sundas Sharif, Hamna Ahmad, and Hamid Mukhtar	5
Impact of Climate Change on Marine Biodiversity: Current Challenges and Future Perspectives — Sohail Ahmad Jan, Zabta Khan Shinwari, Neeli Habib, Abdullah, Sher Ali, Muhammad Siddique Afridi, and Muddasir Khan	29
Research Articles	
Production of Fibrinolytic Enzyme by Soil Actinobacteria — Aminu Argungu Umar, Aliyu Abdullahi Turaki, Ahmad Ibrahim Bagudo, and Rilwanu Yeldu Ibrahim	49
Growth Dynamics and Resource Allocation of <i>Bistorta amplexicaulis</i> (D. Don) Greene: An Alteration across Different Habitats and Altitudes — <i>Hanan Javid, Roof Ul Qadir, Junaid A. Magray, Bilal A. Wani, Irshad A. Nawchoo, and Shabana Gulzar</i>	57
Quality Assessment of Fried Oils from Different Street Food Vendors and Restaurants in Different Areas of Gilgit, Pakistan <i>— Sara Haider, Aqsa Akhtar, and Nauman Khalid</i>	71
Growth Analysis of Production of Food Crops and Population Growth for Food Security in Pakistan — Muhammad Islam, Farrukh Shehzad, Abdul Qayyum, Mirza Waseem Abbas, and Rabia Siddiqui	83
A Cross-Sectional Study Elucidating Associated Predictors in Postpartum Depression among Pakistani Wome — Shumaila Zulfiqar, Zahra Tariq, Hafsa Adnan, and Iram Anjum	n 91
Exploring the Antimicrobials Production Potential of <i>Actinobacteria</i> Isolated from Caves at Bahadurkhel Karak, Pakistan — Shahid Nawaz, Aiman Fatima, Maira Saleem, and Imran Sajid	101
Photodegradation of Direct Violet 51 Dye using Bi ₂ MoO ₆ /GO Nanoflakes as Promising Solar Light-driven Photocatalyst — Sumaira Younis, Haq Nawaz Bhatti, Sadia Z. Bajwa, Jie Xu, and Saba Jamil	113
Decomplexation of Venom Proteome of Pakistani Cobra (<i>Naja naja naja</i>) — Sadia Erum Khan, Humera Waheed, and Syed Faraz Moin	125
Characterization of Titanium dioxide (TiO ₂) Nanoparticles Biosynthesized using <i>Leuconostoc</i> spp. Isolated from Cow's Raw Milk — Susan Abdul Raheem Hasan, Jehan Abdul Sattar Salman, and Sawsan Sajid Al-Jubori	133

Instructions for Authors

Submission of Manuscripts: Manuscripts may be submitted as an e-mail attachment at editor@paspk.org or submit online at http://ppaspk.org/index.php/PPASB/about/submissions. Authors must consult the *Instructions for Authors* at the end of this issue or at the Website: www.paspk.org/proceedings/ or www.ppaspk.org.

Proceedings of the Pakistan Academy of Sciences: B Life and Environmental Sciences 60(1): 1-3 (2023) Copyright © Pakistan Academy of Sciences ISSN (Print): 2518-4261; ISSN (Online): 2518-427X http://doi.org/10.53560/PPASB(60-1)803



Online Catalogue of the Spiders (Arachnida: Araneae) of Pakistan

Pir Asmat Ali*

Department Zoology, Women University Swabi, Swabi, Pakistan

Abstract: The present spiders (Arachnida: Araneae) of Pakistan's digital catalogue on the website will provide updated knowledge of the number of species, genera and families distributed in Pakistan. The current counts are 36 families, 119 genera and 165 species based on literature and intensive surveys since 2013. This website will ease the worldwide research for spider species' global biodiversity explorations and distributions. The Checklist of spiders (Arachnida: Araneae) of Pakistan is available at http://www.spidersofpakistan.com/checklist.aspx.

Keywords: Spiders, http://www.spidersofpakistan.com/, ICUN, Pakistan

1. INTRODUCTION

The spiders of Pakistan remain incompletely studied. Besides the diverse landscape and merge Oriental, Palearctic regions with highly diverse mountains closed unreached valleys of Himalaya, Hindukush and Karakoram. The frequent literature available in the last two decades describes species from British India preserved in UK museums. While faunistic exploration after partitions are currently preserved in European, Russian, Chinese and American Museums are well studied and their revisions provide comprehensive taxonomic evidence of modern taxonomy [1-32].

The lack of proper taxonomic work, taxa ranking, inventories, species validations, inappropriate tagging and insufficient preservation in proper natural history museums spiders (Arachnida: Araneae) of Pakistan is always argued and identified species created distribution and species zoogeographic extension hurdles [10-14, 33]. Dyal, 1935 has described more than 38 species on spiders of Lahore [32] but their holotypes and paratypes may almost be lost or neither record of preservation.

The recent work of the author with others coauthors has resulted in the present catalogue of a baseline study to understand spides taxa in hyperdiverse mountains of Himalaya, Hindukush and Karakoram of Pakistan [35-40]. The aims and objectives of the current catalogue are; 1) an online catalogue/checklist for the spiders' diversity of Pakistan, 2) the endemic spiders' species of Pakistan for ICUN and evolutionary studies, 3) a catalogue will ease the global spiders' inventories and National Species Specialist Group experts under the ICUN Rules (2012) for listing spiders species in Pakistan, and 4) catalogue will provide data for new to science species of spiders from Pakistan.

2. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I am grateful to Prof. Dr. Shahana Urooj Kazmi, Vice Chancellor of Women University Swabi, special interest in research development and arranging funds for the award of grants through Women University Swabi entitled (Inventory of spiders (www.spidersofpakistan.com) of Pakistan for world wide web catalogue/ICUN). The author also pays special thanks to Prof. Waye P. Maddison, Canada Research Chair of Botany and Zoology, University of British Columbia, BC, Canada for encouraging and support during his stay and study spiders in Maddison Labs. I am thankful to Dr. Yura M. Marusik, Institute for Biological Problems of the North, Russia for his keen interest and valuable help in confirming taxa for spiders of the Pakistan

Received: December 2022; Accepted: March 2023

^{*}Corresponding Author: Pir Asmat Ali <pirasmat85@gmail.com>

catalogue.

3. REFERENCES

- F. Stoliczka. Contribution towards the knowledge of Indian Arachnoidea. *Journal of the Asiatic Society* of Bengal, part II (Physical Science) 38: 201–251 (1869).
- O. Pickard-Cambridge. Scientific results of the second Yarkand mission; based upon the collections and notes of the late Ferdinand Stoliczka, Ph. D. Araneidea. Calcutta Government of India. P. 1–115 (1885).
- V. Ball. Scientific results of the second Yarkand Mission; Memoir of the life and work of Ferdinand Stoliczka, Ph.D., Palaeontologist to the Geological Survey of India from 1862 to 1874. London: Eyre & Spottiswoode (1886).
- L. Caporiacco. Aracnidi dell'Himalaia e del Karakoram, raccolti dalla Missione italiana al Karakoram (1929-VII) Memorie della Società Entomologica Italiana, Genova. 13: 161–263 (1935).
- J. Prószyński, and K. Żochowska. Redescriptions of the O.P.-Cambridge Salticidae (Araneae) types from Yarkand, China. *Polskie Pismo Entomologiczne* 51: 13–35 (1981).
- W. Wesołowska. A revision of the genus Heliophanus CL Koch, 1833 (Aranei: Salticidae). In *Annales zoologici* (Vol. 40, No. 1, pp. 1-254). Państwowe wydawnictwo naukowe (1986).
- C.L. Deeleman-Reinhold, and P.R. Deeleman. Revision des Dysderinae (Araneae, Dysderidae), les espèces mediterranéennes occidentales exceptées. *Tijdschrift voor Entomologie* 131: 141–269 (1988).
- Y.M. Marusik. Re-description of spiders of the families Heteropodidae and Thomisidae (Aranei) described by O. P.-Cambridge from the material of the second Yarkand mission. *Entomologicheskoe Obozrenie* 72: 456–468 (1993).
- G.N. Azarkina. Two new species of the genus Aelurillus Simon, 1884 from Pakistan and Sri Lanka (Araneae: Salticidae). *Bulletin of the British Arachnological Society* 13: 49–52 (2004).
- W. Wesołowska, and M. Freudenschuss, A new species of Menemerus from Pakistan (Araneae: Salticidae). *Genus* 23: 449–453 (2012).
- D.V. Logunov, F. Ballarin, and Y. M. Marusik. New faunistic records of the jumping and crab spiders of the Karakoram, Pakistan (*Aranei: Philodromidae*, *Salticidae and Thomisidae*). Arthropoda Selecta 20:

233–240 (2011).

- Y.M. Marusik, and F. Ballarin. A new species of Draconarius Ovtchinnikov, 1999 (Araneae, Amaurobioidea, Coelotinae) from northern Pakistan. *Zootaxa* 2739: 27–32 (2011).
- 13. C.J. Grismado, C.L. Deeleman-Reinhold, L.N. Piacentini, M.A. Izquierdo, and M.J. Ramírez, Taxonomic review of the goblin spiders of the genus Dysderoides Fage and their Himalayan relatives of the genera Trilacuna Tong and Li and Himalayana, new genus (Araneae, Oonopidae). *Bulletin of the American Museum of Natural History* 387: 1–108 (2014).
- T. Bauer, M. Freudenschuss, and A. Grabolle. Plexippoides flavescens (O. Pickard-Cambridge, 1872) and Menemerus marginatus (Kroneberg, 1875), new records for Pakistan (Aranei: Salticidae). *Arthropoda Selecta* 24: 87–90 (2015).
- Y.M. Marusik. Redescription of Dysdera cylindrica (Aranei: Dysderidae) from Pakistan with notes on the distribution of the family. *Arthropoda Selecta* 26: 310–314.
- Y.M Marusik, and A.A. Nadolny, Redescription of enigmatic spider genus Stoliczka O. Pickard-Cambridge, 1885 (Araneae: Lycosoidea) based on the type species. *Zootaxa* 4497: 295–300 (2017).
- D.V. Logunov, and G.N. Azarkina. Redefinition and partial revision of the genus Stenaelurillus Simon, 1886 (Arachnida, Araneae, Salticidae). *European Journal of Taxonomy* 430: 1–126 (2018).
- Y.M. Marusik, A.A. Nadolny, and S. Koponen. A survey of the Alopecosa cursor species group (Aranei: Lycosidae) from Asia. *Arthropoda Selecta* 27: 348–362 (2018).
- Y.M. Marusik, and M.M. Omelko. A survey of the Porrhoclubiona Lohmander, 1944 from Central Asia (Araneae, Clubiondae [sic]). *ZooKeys* 802: 19–38 (2018).
- Y.M. Marusik, M.M. Omelko, and S. Koponen. Redescription of the Himalayan Trachelas costatus (Araneae: Trachelidae). *Zootaxa* 4433: 390–392 (2018).
- Y.M. Marusik, and M. M. Omelko. Redescription of gnaphosids (Aranei: Gnaphosidae) described by O. Pickard-Cambridge from the material of the Second Yarkand Mission. *Arthropoda Selecta* 28: 277–290 (2019).
- Y.M. Marusik, and S. Zonstein. Redescription of the Central Asian spider Pholocides seclusa comb. nov. (Araneae: Filistatidae). *Arachnologische Mitteilungen* 57: 43–47 (2019).

- Y.M. Marusik, and M.M. Omelko, and Z.M. Simmons. Redescription of two west Himalayan Cheiracanthium (Aranei: Cheiracanthiidae). *Arthropoda Selecta* 29: 339–347 (2020).
- D.V. Logunov. Taxonomic notes on the Harmochirina Simon, 1903 from South and South-East Asia (Aranei: Salticidae). *Arthropoda Selecta* 28: 99–112 (2019).
- T.Q. Lan, Z. Y. Yao, A. Ali, G. Zheng, and S. Q. Li.. Two new species of the spider genus Pholcus Walckenaer, 1805 (Araneae: Pholcidae) from Pakistan. *Zootaxa* 4820: 177–185 (2020).
- 26. D.V. Logunov. On three species of Plexippoides Prószyński, 1984 (Araneae: Salticidae) from the Mediterranean, the Middle East, and Central Asia, with notes on a taxonomic validity of the genus. *Arachnology* 18: 766–777(2021).
- D.V. Logunov. Notes on the genus Chinattus Logunov, 1999 from India, Pakistan and Nepal (Arachnida: Araneae: Salticidae). *Zootaxa* 5006: 110–120 (2021).
- A. Zamani. A new species of Draconarius Ovtchinnikov, 1999 (Araneae, Agelenidae) from northeastern Pakistan. *Evolutionary Systematics* 5: 359–362 (2021).
- Z. M. Simmons, and Y. M. Marusik. On a confusion with the type localities of spiders described from the material collected during the Second Yarkand Mission. *Arachnology* 19: 166–182 (2022).
- A. Zamani, and Y. M. Marusik. New taxonomic data on Zodariinae (Araneae: Zodariidae) of Azerbaijan, Iran, Afghanistan and Pakistan. *Zootaxa* 5155: 423– 438 (2022).
- A. Zamani, and Y.M. Marusik. A new species of Plator Simon, 1880 from Pakistan, with a supplementary description of P. pandeae Tikader, 1969 (Araneae: Trochanteriidae). *Revue Suisse de Zoologie* 129: 297–301 (2022).

- A.V. Tanasevitch. Linyphiid spiders (Araneae, Linyphiidae) from Pakistan and India. *Revue Suisse de Zoologie* 118: 561–598 (2011).
- 33. S. Li. Spider taxonomy for an advanced China *Zoological Systematics*, 45: 73–77 (2020).
- S. Dyal. Fauna of Lahore. 4. Spiders of Lahore. Bull. Department of Zoology, Punjab University, 1: 119–252 (1935).
- P.A.Ali, W.P. Maddison, and M. Zahid. Documenting the subtribe Aelurillina from the Hindu Kush region of Pakistan. *Denver Museum of Nature and Science Reports* 3: 38–38 (2016).
- P.A. Ali, M. Zahid, and A. Butt. New record of spiders fauna of Khyber Pakhtunkhwa Province, (Aranei; Sparassidae; Pholcidae) Pakistan. *International Journal of Biosciences* 9: 247–252 (2016).
- P.A. Ali, W. P. Maddison, and M. Zahid, and A. Butt. New chrysilline and aelurilline jumping spiders from Pakistan (Araneae, Salticidae). *ZooKeys* 783: 1–15 (2018).
- J.T.D. Caleb, D.A. Prajapati, and P.A. Ali. Redescription of Rudakius ludhianaensis (Tikader, 1974) (Aranei: Salticidae), with notes on its synonymy and distribution. *Arthropoda Selecta* 2: 417–423 (2019).
- P.A. Ali. A new record of genus Icius Simon, 1876 for jumping spider (Araneae: Salticidae) of Pakistan. *Natural and Applied Sciences International Journal* 2: 80–86 (2021).
- P.A. Ali. The checklist of spiders (Arachnida: Araneae) of Pakistan (2022). online at http://www. spidersofpakistan.com/ (accessed 12 December 2022)
- IUCN Red List Categories and Criteria (Ed): Version 3.1.Second edition. Gland, Switzerland and Cambridge, UK, 1–32 (2012).

Proceedings of the Pakistan Academy of Sciences: B Life and Environmental Sciences 60(1): 5-27 (2023) Copyright © Pakistan Academy of Sciences ISSN (Print): 2518-4261; ISSN (Online): 2518-427X http://doi.org/10.53560/PPASB(60-1)731



Comparison of Host Expression Systems used for Efficient Recombinant Proteins Production

Sania Sahreen, Sundas Sharif, Hamna Ahmad, and Hamid Mukhtar*

Institute of Industrial Biotechnology, Government College University, Lahore

Abstract: The marvels of DNA recombination technology have revolutionized the field of biotechnology. Several hormones, antibody subunits, vaccines, enzymes, and interferons are being produced at the industrial level, in suitable expression systems, under optimized conditions. For recombinant protein production, a range of expression systems are available such as bacteria, yeast, fungi, plant cells, insects and animal cells, etc. All recombinant proteins are naturally different from each other and various challenges are kept into consideration while choosing an expression system for their production. Every expression system has its advantages and limitations on the basis of which it can be considered or rejected for a particular protein production. Therefore, it is very significant to investigate the potential and limitations of several expression systems to choose the suitable one for particular protein production at an industrial scale. The optimization criteria of an expression system is evaluated on several factors such as productivity, efficiency, physiological characteristics, total cost, safety, convenience, and down-streaming conditions. Escherichia coli and Saccharomyces cerevisiae remained the organisms of choice to produce recombinant proteins for a long time, but now several other microorganisms are also being targeted to evaluate their efficiency toward recombinant protein production. Prokaryotic expression systems can be used to produce eukaryotic proteins as well however, the use of a eukaryotic expression system is preferable because it retains the structural, functional, and regulatory properties of therapeutic proteins. This review illustrates a brief view of a variety of expression systems, their efficiency, and limitations in recombinant protein production.

Keywords: DNA Recombinant Technology, Expression Systems, Cell Lines, Recombinant Proteins

1. INTRODUCTION

Proteins are the basic biological building blocks which play a key role in the metabolic machinery of all life forms. Some proteins perform structural roles while others act as biocatalysts i.e., enzymes which accelerate the metabolic rate. Proteins are the most vital biological molecules that play a key role in almost every function of the cell such as immune responses, cell adhesion, cell signaling, and cell cycle [1]. These biological molecules can now be produced at a commercial scale, all thanks to recombinant DNA technology. Recombinant DNA (rDNA) technology refers to the genetic manipulation in an organism's genetic material to induce desired characteristics in the organism or to produce desired products i.e., proteins. It was in 1973 when the first recombinant DNA molecule was produced at the University of California San Francisco and Stanford University by the combined efforts of Paul Berg, Herbert Boyer, Annie Chang, and Stanley Cohen [2].

At first rDNA technology was suggested to foster agriculture and drug development, however, several unexpected difficulties hinder the achieving satisfactory results [2]. Till 1980 several products i.e., vaccines, hormones, and therapeutic proteins had been developed. The first ever developed therapeutic recombinant protein was insulin which was approved as safe in 1982 after which it became one of the global scale pharmaceutical products with a continuously increasing demand worldwide [2-4]. Besides the pharmaceutical sector, enzyme and agriculture industries also take benefit from recombinant DNA technology [4].

Received: July 2022; Accepted: March 2023

^{*}Corresponding Author: Hamid Mukhtar <hamidmukhtar@gcu.edu.pk>

At present, several genetically engineered proteins are produced at an industrial scale. These proteins are used in different sectors i.e., enzyme industries, pharmaceutical industries, agriculture industries, etc. The products manufactured in these industries act as raw materials for many other fields such as diagnostics, medicine, nutrition, pharmacy, detergent, paper pulp, textiles, plastics, leather, and polymers [1, 5]. The development and innovation in recombinant DNA technology have evolved the strategy of treatment. Figure 1 demonstrates some key advantages of DNA technology in diagnostics, treatment, and improvement of the health quality of people. According to the Vantage Market Research report, the value of the global recombinant DNA technology market remained at 142.9 Billion USD and is expected to surpass 223 Billion USD by 2018 [6].

To fulfill the required need of production, various expression systems have been established [7]. Expression system refers to the host cell, providing the metabolic machinery for protein synthesis, and a transfected or modified DNA vector, responsible for providing the blueprints of the desired protein. The genetic code of vector DNA is transcripted into mRNA which interacts with host ribosomes and results in the translation of desired amino acid sequence. During the process of translation, transfer RNA and ribosomal RNA also play their key roles of supplying amino acids and catalyzing the linkages between amino acids respectively.

Translation of protein is followed by the addition of protospacer adjacent motifs (PTMs) in the molecules which are complex and different for prokaryotes and eukaryotes [8]. Prokaryotic expression systems can be used to produce eukaryotic proteins as well [9]; however, the use of a eukaryotic expression system is preferable because it retains the structural, functional, and regulatory properties of therapeutic proteins [10, 11].

The present review illustrates the recently available variety of expression systems for the production of beneficial recombinant proteins. Moreover, a comparison of the efficiency and benefits of these expression systems along with their potential to produce recombinant proteins at an industrial scale will also be discussed in this review.

2. CONSIDERATIONS TO CHOOSE AN EXPRESSION SYSTEM

Choosing the right expression system to express the protein of interest is an extremely vital approach as it affects the outcomes. There are several factors to be considered to choose an expression system: the



Fig. 1. Some advantages of using recombinant DNA technology in protein production

7

origin of the protein (prokaryotic or eukaryotic); solubility of the protein (insoluble proteins may form aggregates in the form of inclusion bodies or do not fold accurately); structural complexity, posttransnational modifications, cellular localization, purification, yield and the total investment to produce the protein at commercial scale [12]. Every protein is different and requires different expression systems for proper recovery. Mostly, the recombinant proteins produced in an expression system behave foreign for it, hence the posttranslational modifications could be different from the original product. Almost 5 % of the whole cell proteome consists of enzymes which perform several post-translational modifications which are different for genetically different types of cells [13]. It indicates that even if the host cell has a capability of a specific post-translation modification such as glycosylation, still there is a possibility of a difference in the pattern of glycosylation compared to the native protein. To retain the stability, immunogenicity, biological activity, and pharmacokinetic behavior of a therapeutic protein, its N-linked glycosylation pattern should be correct [14]. Some general considerations and requirements for the proficient production of recombinant protein are described in Figure 2.

2.1 Overview of Recombinant Proteins Production

Genetic manipulation involves the insertion of a specific DNA fragment, containing the gene of interest, in an appropriate vector. This process is facilitated by the enzymatic activity of two most important enzymes: endonucleases (for sequencespecific DNA cutting activity) and DNA ligases (to attach the gene of interest with the vector). The vector is further inserted into an expression system, grown to produce several copies of the gene of interest to produce desirable products [15] as demonstrated in Figure 3. There is a diversity of available expression system platforms for recombinant protein production. Different expression systems such as bacteria, yeast, mammalian cells, plants, and insects could be used. Among these expression systems, bacterial (Escherichia coli) and yeast expression systems (Saccharomyces cerevisiae and Pichia pastoris) are more common [16-17].

3. BACTERIA

Bacteria are simple unicellular prokaryotes which proves beneficial protein-producing cell factories. Bacteria are considered an easily available



Fig. 2. General considerations for recombinant proteins production



Fig. 3. General methodology for recombinant protein production in expression system and afterward purification

expression system because of certain key factors. The selection of a prokaryotic bacterial expression system is considered an attractive choice because of its low expense cost, medium productivity, and rapid growth of bacteria [17]. Most widely used bacterial expression system has been described as follows:

3.1 Escherichia coli

The most widely used bacteria for recombinant protein production is the gram-negative rod, E. coli because of its certain significant characteristics i.e., its short replication time and extremely fast growth kinetics enable fast achievement of high cell densities. The reagents and culture media required to grow E. coli are quite simple and inexpensive. The genetic manipulation and transformation of E. coli are comparatively simple and straightforward due to its genetics, biochemistry, and metabolism [17, 18]. It is comparatively easy to manipulate the genetic information of E. coli as compared to other bacterial expression systems such as Streptomyces and Pseudomonas system [17]. Besides this, therapeutic protein production in E. coli eliminates the requirement of optimization step as various standard plasmids can be employed easily. Usually, E. coli is used with T7 bacteriophage RNA polymerase. Moreover, it is now considered the

most appropriate approach to start the recombinant protein production process [9]. In 1982, the first biopharmaceutical product, approved by Food and Drug Administration (FDA) was biosynthetic insulin, engineered in an E. coli expression system [19]. Now a days, the E. coli expression system is widely used for several other therapeutic product productions such as tumor necrosis factor, human growth hormone, interleukins etc. [20, 21]. E. coli with a T7 RNApol expression system is best suitable for the production of non-glycosylated proteins. E. coli is still under research to gain more and more understanding regarding its central dogma and post-translation modifications. E. coli is the most suitable expression system because it can tolerate a range of environmental conditions and can store the recombinant proteins in almost 80 % of its dry mass [1]. Figure 4 illustrates the possible strain improvement strategies for E. coli.

3.2 Lactic Acid Bacteria

Lactic acid bacteria (LAB), the gram-positive non-sporulating anaerobic rods, have long been used in multiple dairy fermentation processes as recombinant microbial cell factories. Among the other genera of LAB, *Lactococcus* and *Lactobacillus* are most commonly employed either as cell vectors to deliver therapeutic molecules or

Vector	 Vector change helps protein solubilization in <i>E.coli</i> host
Host strain	• Use of genetically altered <i>E.coli</i> strains based on protein suitability for better results
Culture parameters	Changes in <i>E.coli</i> culture conditions will increase gene expression and protein solubility
Co-expression	 Co-expression of protein of interest and its important counter-part gene for recombinant proteins production and stability
Gene sequence	 Changes in gene sequence without any change in protein's functional domain brings stability to recombinant protein and increases its expression

Fig. 4. Strain improvement strategies for E. coli.

as producer cells [20]. Lactococcus lactis is one of the most promising LAB for recombinant protein production. Different Lactobacillus strains such as L. reuteri, L. gasseri, and L. Plantram are used for the production of green fluorescent proteins, and enzymes such as beta-glucuronidase, betagalactosidase, and aminopeptidase. Being safe and non-pathogenic, LABS have been declared a Generally Recognized as Safe (GRAS) organism by the food and Drug Administration (FDA) [22]. LABs do not contain exotoxins in their cell membrane hence providing an endo-toxin-free expression system. Other key characteristics of LAB that makes them attractive expression systems include easily scale-able, cheap, safe for food, and production of heterologous membrane proteins. Novel genetic manipulation techniques such as CRISPR-Cas9 has also been used to transform LAB for the production of several therapeutic proteins [23]. LAB has a potential economic impact on the fermentation industry because it is used as an expression system for the production of lactic acid, milk products, wine, meat, high-grade metabolites, and antimicrobial peptides [24].

3.3 Pseudoalteromonas haloplanktis

One of the fastest growing and eligible expression system psychrophile is *P. haloplanktis* TAC125 which was isolated from a seawater sample from an Antarctic coast. It is characterized as gramnegative bacteria which has the ability to grow at low temperatures (0–30 °C). The eligibility of P. haloplanktis for an expression system has also been improved by certain genetic modifications [10]. Antibody fragment production has been reported by using a cold-adapted platform instead of the conventional mesophilic platform which usually uses E. coli [25, 26]. Such platforms have also proved very beneficial for the production of some delicate and heat-sensitive proteins such as alphaglucosidase and Human Nerve Growth Factor h-NGF [10, 27]. The production of h-NGF in E. coli failed as the h-NGF accumulated in inclusion bodies instead of folding accurately. In contrast, h-NGF folded in a proper dimeric form remained soluble and translocated in periplasm when expressed in P. haloplanktis TAC125 [10]. Similarly, alphaglucosidase, a recombinant enzyme of S. cerevisiae was recovered efficiently in a soluble and active form from P. haloplanktis TAC125 as compared to that of E. coli in which alpha-glucosidase became insoluble [27].

3.4 Pseudomonas

Pseudomonas can grow rapidly and secrete protein efficiently. Different *Pseudomonas* species i.e., *P. aeruginosa, P. fluorescens*, and *P. putida* have shown the best protein yield and efficient expression as compared to *E. coli* and hence can be used as the best alternative to *E. coli* for certain proteins [9].

3.4.1 Pseudomonas putida

Pseudomonas putida (strain KT2440) is a gramnegative soil bacterium which is widely used in a cell factory to produce industrially important proteins because of its extraordinary features. These features include versatile metabolism, rapid growth, minimal nutrient requirements, and tolerance to stress conditions. The extensive biochemical network of *P. putida* facilitates extensive production of NADPH instead of ATP. This property enables it to tolerate stress conditions [28].

3.4.2 Pseudomonas fluorescens

A proprietary expression system of *P. fluorescens* has been developed for the efficient production of recombinant proteins. This system is more advantageous as compared to conventional E. coli. Protein production in P. fluorescens can be carried out even in depleted oxygen concentration and it also prevents the accumulation of acetate in the expression system. However, it shares some characteristics with E. coli such as growing ability in saturated cell density (N100 g/L) and overexpression of proteins i.e., half of the total protein [136]. P. fluorescens fermentation does need strict control of glucose concentration and aeration passage. The highest production rate of nitrilase, a recombinant enzyme, has been reported as 25 g L^{-1} using *P. fluorescens* as an expression system. Moreover, the P. fluorescens expression system proved advantageous for an insecticidal protein with a yield of 3-4 gL⁻¹ which is comparatively very high as compared to that of E. coli i.e., 100 mg L⁻¹ [9, 29].

3.5 Other bacteria

With the advancement in research and technology, many other bacterial expression systems have emerged as successful alternatives. One of the most noteworthy bacterial systems is the gram-positive bacteria *Streptomyces* which has an efficient secretory system. It secretes a high concentration of the desired proteins in the medium which reduces some recovery steps [9]. Another choice of expression system is *Ralstonia*.

4. FUNGI

Filamentous fungi have been used as commercial organisms to produce pharmaceutical and enzymatic products. The versatile metabolic ability of fungi makes it an attractive and outstanding cell factory. Fungi also have the ability to express several prokaryotic as well as lower eukaryotic genes after genetic manipulation. Filamentous fungi have a strong capacity for secretion due to which they are also considered one of the most promising expression systems for recombinant protein production. However, there are a few fungal species (*Aspergillus* sp. and *Trichoderma* sp.) that are used to produce a competitive level of recombinant protein at an industrial scale [27].

4.1 Aspergillus

Aspergillus is one of the most extensively studied genera from a research perspective. Its species are considered model organisms i.e., A. nidulans. Other species i.e., A. oryzae and A. niger have great importance in citric acid production even at the industrial scale [33]. Several molecular genome editing tools such as RNA interference-RNAi, selection markers, and CRISPR/Cas9 are also being used to manipulate the Aspergillus sp. genome to get the desired level of protein of interest [34, 35]. A. niger genome has been successfully edited using CRISPR/Cas9 which incorporate double-strand breaks in the DNA sequence. Moreover, this technology is also being used for other Aspergillus sp. Being considered as GRAS, the genetically modified A. niger has been employed at an industrial scale to produce very significant proteins i.e., human lactoferrin, calf chymosin, and neoculin, a plant-derived sweetener [36-42] The yield of all these proteins have been increased by optimizing the physiological growth conditions of the fungi.

4.2 Trichoderma reesei

Another important fungus is *T. reesei* which also contains an extraordinary secretory system. Its genome can be modified by aggressive mutations to produce extracellular cellulase. A yield of 100 g/L cellulase production was reported by *T. reesei* of which 60 % was characterized as Cel7a (CBHI) while 20 % was Cel 6a (CBHII) [43]. Initially, *T. reesei* was exploited for the production

of calf chymosin [44, 45] later on it was reported to efficiently produce antibody fragments [46]. The higher extent of recombinant protein production was attributed to the taxonomic relatedness of the gene of interest and the host. *Trichoderma* is used to produce recombinant cellulase by incorporating its genes into cassettes [43, 47]. Usually, Cel 7a (CBHI) single peptide is responsible to mediate the high secretion level of this protein [48].

4.3 Other fungi

There is comparatively less information regarding the gene sequencing of filamentous fungi other than Aspergillus and Trichoderma specie. However, Pectinases, hemicellulases, and cellulases are reported to be produced by several Penicillium species such as P. emersonii, P. funiculosum, and P. purpurogenum respectively [43]. Another fungal system (N. crassa), reported to grow at a maximum rate in normal media, has been genetically and biochemically characterized. It has the potential to produce and secrete proteins at a higher level. Its genome size is 40Mb, of which there are 10,000 protein-coding genes. Most of these genes are responsible for secondary metabolite production in Neurospora [43, 49]. Now a days, N. crassa has been adopted as an expression system to produce vaccine subunits such as neuraminidase antigens (NA) and influenza hemagglutinin (HA) [50]. Recently, many fungal strains i.e., T. reesei, N. crassa, and Aspergillus species are being used in the production of antibodies [51-53].

5. YEAST

Yeast, unicellular microorganisms having the ability to process proteins like eukaryotes i.e., assembly, folding, and post-translational modifications, has always remained an organism of interest to be used as an expression system. Due to easy manipulation in genes and efficient growth rates, yeast cells are beneficial hosts. Moreover, it does not possess any oncogenes or endotoxins. Saccharomyces cerevisiae has been used to express the majority of recombinant proteins since 1980 [61]. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) has declared S. cerevisiae as GRAS (generally regarded as safe). But there is one problem and that is yeast is not good for large-scale productions because it requires efficient machinery for its fermentation. Moreover, products produced by S. cerevisiae mostly remain in periplasmic spaces due to hyperglycosylation [62, 63]. These products start degrading after some time and it is very hectic to remove them from our desired product. These drawbacks led to the quest for new species of yeasts for another expression system, most of these efforts were made by using nonconventional Yeasts such as *Pichia pastoris, Hansenula polymorpha, Sarcoscypha occidentalis, Pichia methanolica, Zygosaccharomyces rouxii, Candida boidinii,* and *Kluyveromyces lactis,* etc. [55, 64-66].

5.1 Saccharomyces cerevisiae

For almost the last thirty years, *S. cerevisiae*, a eukaryotic microorganism, has been used to express different recombinant proteins [67]. *S. cerevisiae* was used to express the recombinant form of the first vaccine i.e., Hepatitis B and it was produced intracellularly. *S. cerevisiae* also comes in the first row when approval for any recombinant therapeutics is required from FDA and EMEA, recombinant therapeutics produced from it always get green signals from these agencies [68]. Hirudin, Platelet-derived growth factors, Hepa-B surface antigen, insulin, and GM-CSF (Granulocyte macrophage-colony-stimulating factors) are some of the main products of *S. cerevisiae* which are currently available in the market for use [6].

5.2 Pichia pastoris

P. pastoris is a methylophilic yeast because it has the ability to use methanol to fulfill its requirement of carbon in the absence of any other carbon alternative [69]. P. pastoris has a strong tendency to secrete protein even if they have a high molecular weight. This characteristic makes them better than S. cerevisiae in which heavy proteins retain in the periplasm. Moreover, it is comparatively easy to purify the secreted proteins from the extracellular medium. The strains of P. pastoris i.e., protease deficient strains (SMD1163, SMD1165, SMD1168) and Auxotrophic mutant (GS115) are commonly used and are derived from wild type NRRL-Y 11430 strain. P. pastoris strains have also been characterized on the basis of their ability to utilize methanol i.e., Mut+, MutS, and Mut- [70]. A therapeutic polypeptide of 60 amino acids was produced by P. pastoris. It was further approved as safe by Food and Drug Administration FDA in 2009 to treat hereditary angioedema. A Comparison of the yield of some recombinant protein products produced by bacteria and other expression systems is given in Table 1.

5.3 Kluyveromyces lactis

Since the 1950s, the production of β -galactosidase (also known as lactase), as well as the heterologous appearance of rennin (bovine chymosin) is done by using K. lactis [9]. Many features of K. latis played their role in its popularity for the production of r-protein. Some of these features are as follows, LAC4 which plays the role of such a powerful inducible promoter. This promoter is regulated by even low amounts of glucose. It also has the ability to use whey as well as lactose-like cheap substrates. For its approval as a GRAS strain and its ability to produce proteins with high molecular weights [39], a complete sequence of its genome [67], as well as a kit for protein expression is commercially available from NEB [47]. Previous literature about K. lactis is mostly about the MATa CBS 2359 mating strain and GG799 haploid strain which is a wild-type strain that is known as a good host as it is added in the commercially available kit.

5.4 Yarrowia lipolytica

For expressing the heterologous proteins, the use of Y. lipolytica expression system is getting popularity due to the following reasons; i) a large amount of proteins with high molecular weight is secreted

due to its inherent ability; ii) pathway named as co-translational translocation is analogous to eukaryotes and could be the reason for the secretion of proteins [76]. This system of protein secretion is exactly opposite to the pathway named as posttranslational translocation and is mostly present in *S. cerevisiae*; iii) sugar is not fermented by this organism, iv) completely sequenced genome is available [69, 77]; v) fermentation with high density is possible; and vi) many GRAS processes on the industrial level are approved by FDA by using this organism [69].

5.5 Other yeast

Hansenula polymorpha expression systems which include a hepatitis B recombinant vaccine, insulin, phytase, hirudin, and alpha 2a interferon, along with food supplements known as lipase as well as hexose oxidase having GRAS notification by FDA. A dimorphic yeast named as Arxula adeninivorans is a temperature-dependent yeast. It has the ability to grow as budding cells as well as mycelium. A. adeninivorans also has the ability for secreting extracellular enzymes during cultivation in the surrounding medium. It mostly secretes the proteases, glucosidases which include xylosidase, cellobiose, pectinases, invertase, acid phosphatases, glucoamylase, trehalose, phytase, and β-glucosidases. It also releases RNAse [69]. A fission yeast named as Schizosaccharomyces pombe have the ability to grow as preferential

Table 1.	Comparison of the yield of some recombinant protein products produced using bacteria and yeast expr	ession
systems		

Recombinant protein	Example of Expression- system used	Highest product yield (g/Lh)	Reference
Interleukin-6	E. coli	7.5mg mL^{-1}	[131]
	P. pastoris	0.28 mg mL^{-1}	[71]
Riboflavin	C. famata	$0.11 \text{ g } \text{L}^{-1}$	[72]
	B. subtilis	0.33 g L ⁻¹	[1]
	A. gossypii	$0.07 \text{ g } \text{L}^{-1}$	[132]
	C. ammoniagenes	0.21 g L ⁻¹	[54]
Glutamic acid	S. cerevisiae	0.46 mg mL^{-1}	[131, 73]
decarboxylase	E.coli	12.5 mg mL ⁻¹	[71]
-	P. pastoris	0.42 mg mL ⁻¹	[73]
	Spodoptera frugiperda	0.02 mg mL^{-1}	[71]
	cells	2	
Insulin	S. cerevisiae	0.075 g L^{-1}	[71]
	E. coli	$4.34 \text{ g } \text{L}^{-1}$	[1]
	B. subtilis	$1 \text{ g} \text{L}^{-1}$	[74]
	P. pastoris	3.07 g L ⁻¹	[75]

haploids. Having a complete genome sequenced eukaryotic list it is numbered at 6 [78]. Having a complete availability of proteome in Swiss Prot as well as UniProtKB it is numbered at 3 in the eukaryotic list following *Homo sapiens* and then *S. cerevisiae*. For expressing the mammalian proteins *S. pombe* is considered an eye-catching host and a great area of research [79, 80]. A brief list of microorganisms that have applications in recombinant protein production are listed in Table 2.

6. PLANTS

With the discovery of growth hormones in tobacco plants the production of recombinant proteins by using plant expression machinery came into existence. In today's world, three types of methods are used for the production of recombinant proteins: by forming transgenic plants, by using systems relying upon plant-tissue, and by using cell cultures. Bacterial infection and viral infection are used for the transformation methodology. Some direct methods such as biolistic bombardment and PEG-mediated technique can also be used for transformation methodology [17].

Therapeutic recombinant protein production is done by using plant expression systems and the main focus is to enhance the quantity and efficiency of produced recombinant proteins [81, 82]. The main features of plants for their use as recombinant proteins producer are as follows: growth conditions are cheap, the manufacturing procedures are well understood, scalability levels are very high, their high ability for the production of complex proteins, the infrastructure of the already existing industry, the ability for the rapid production, less chances of contamination with human pathogens [83].

By using plant sources for the production of recombinant biopharmaceuticals the production can be increased and costs can be decreased. The plant factories producing recombinant proteins possess the following qualities mentioned in the literature: safety, insensitivity to changes in temperature as well as pH, low cost, metabolites presence, high stability, easy and cheap storage of produced drugs, and ability to produce proteins named as N-glycosylated [130]. The most important feature of using transgenic plants is that high production is maintained by investing low costs while compared with other expressions of prokaryotic as well as eukaryotic systems it costs lower up to 50 percent [84, 130]. Hypothetically arguing the plant fruits, seeds and leaves might be a rich source of therapeutic proteins. The transgenic plants used for the production of recombinant proteins show an expression ranging from 0.001 % to 46.1 % [85]. The ability of transgenic plants to store recombinant proteins in cell compartments as well as the plant organs makes them different from the other plant

Expression systems	Strains used	Reference
E.coli	E.coli ArcticExpress, E.coli BL21, E.coli BL21-Codonplus (RIL), E.coli M15, E.coli Lemo21(DE3), E.coli C43(DE3)	[22]
Yeast	Z. bailii, C. famata, H. polymorpha, P. methanolica, P. pastoris, P. stipites, K. lactis, Z. rouxii, S. occidentalis, S. cerevisiae, Y. lipolytica, C. boidinii	[54, 55]
Aspergillus Bacillus	 A. awamori, A. terreus, A. niger, A. sojae, A. nidulans, A. oryzae B. subtilis KL03, B. subtilis 168, B. megaterium MS941, B. licheniformis BL10GS, B. subtilis 1A751P7, B. subtilis IH6622, B. subtilis BNA, B. brevis, B. licheniformis. 	[43, 53, 56, 57] [1, 58]
Pseudomonas	P. fluorescens, P. putida, P. aeruginosa	[1, 9]
Streptomyces	Streptomyces lividans	[1, 22, 9]
Corynebacterium	C. glutamicum, C. ammoniagenes,	[9]
Trichoderma	T. reesei, T. altroviride and T. vireus	[43, 59]
Rhizopus	Rhizopus oryzae	[43]
Fusarium	F. graminearum	[43, 60]
Ralstonia	Ralstonia eutropha	[1]

Table 2. Bacterial, fungal, and yeast strains used in recombinant proteins production

systems [86, 87].

6.1 Production of Recombinant Proteins by using Plant Species

6.1.1 Tobacco

Recombinant protein production on the laboratory level is mainly done by using Tobacco plants. The Tobacco plant plays a very important role in the mass production of recombinant proteins. The yield with Tobacco plants is "more than 100,000 kilograms/ hectare, especially for the close-cropped tobacco" [88]. It also has the ability for the fast scaling-up process as it can produce large amounts of seeds. Some considerations to be kept in mind while looking for tobacco plants are as follows: protein storage in the aerial parts of the plants especially leaves is unstable which may cause product degradation. To avoid this degradation, product should be extracted as soon as they are expressed, alternatively the leaves can be dried or frozen for product extraction. Due to the presence of alkaloids which are toxic in nature and phenols the tobacco plant can also be used for the downstream process.

6.1.2 Cereals

Cereal seeds act as marvelous storage devices for proteins as they are outfitted with storage vesicles for protein storage. They are also adhering to an intracellular environment with drying conditions which helps them to reduce the activity of protease, and also helps in reducing the hydrolysis by nonenzymatic sources. Among all the food crops, the highest biomass yield is recorded for Maize [89, 90]. Now a days. Maize has been used for the biomass production of some recombinant antibodies, avidin as well as trypsin [82, 88]. Dry cereals such as wheat and rice seeds show high stability for recombinant protein storage and that is why they can be stored at normal temperatures without a noticeable loss in their activity. Due to the self-fertilizing ability of rice, the risk of transfer of transgenes to other plants have been reduced [82, 91].

6.1.3 Legumes

The worth mentioning legumes are alfalfa, soybean, and pea which have been used for the recombinant production of therapeutic proteins. Atmospheric nitrogen is fixed by the legume plants due to which they don't need the nitrogen in their fertilizers and thus leads to the low cultivation cost. The biomass yield of leaves is lower than that of Tobacco plants. Peas are being used as the expression systems due to the high content of proteins in their seeds [88].

6.1.4 Fruits and vegetables

Recombinant proteins especially therapeutic proteins are produced by using the vegetables and fruit crops such as tomato, lettuce, and most importantly potato. One of the main features of this system is that the produced proteins could be used for oral consumption after minimal processing. Conversely, quality maintenance and dose-ranging are still the main challenges to be addressed yet [88, 92, 93].

7. ANIMALS

Transgenic animals have been developed from cows, mice, sheep, goats, and rabbits for recombinant protein production as shown in Figure 5. Aquatic animals are also being explored for the same reason. Human factor IX and AAT (a antitrypsin protein) are being produced by the transgenic sheep in milk as shown in Figure 6. ß-lactoglobulin and tPA by transgenic mice [94]. The amount of recombinant proteins produced in animal milk is as follows: antithrombin III is being produced in goat milk around 14 g/L, α -1-antitrypsin is being produced in sheep milk around 35 g/L and α -glucosidase is being produced in rabbit milk 8 g/L. For recombinant proteins production genes are usually taken from human sources. The expression of non-milk foreign proteins is very low than milk proteins [95].

Transgenic mice urine is the main source for the production of growth hormones for humans. The amount produced by the mice is about 0.1 to 0.5 mg/L [1]. One of the most advent features of using the urinary system for recombinant protein production is that the animals start to urinate at an early age rather they lactate at a specific time in their life. About 10,000 L of milk is produced by a cow after hormonal treatment as compared to the amount of urine which is 6000 L. The main disadvantage of recombinant protein production by transgenic animals is the amount of time required for the estimation of production level. This time is almost 32 months in the case of cows, in mice it is 3.5 months, in sheep it is 28 months and in pigs, it is 15 months [96]. For a cow to keep up, we need almost \$ 10,000 per year.

Previously, transgenic animals were being used for the production of lymphokines and vaccines, but now scientist have shifted their focus towards protozoa and are exploring its potential to produce important protein products. Transgenic trypanosome is far better than transgenic animals for the production of heterologous proteins [1]. These benefits include i) with the help of homologous recombination, precise and stable integration is done, ii) the integration can be done on many sites due to which the expression from the multiple unit complexes can come out, iii) high densities growth and easy cells maintenance in the semi-defined medium.

8. INSECTS

An IC (insect cell) system is working as a solution between the two main expression systems which are the mammalian system and the bacterial system. With the development of BEVS (baculovirus expression vector system) recombinant protein production is welcomed by the IC platform [15]. The development of the IC platform includes two steps; first is the multiplication at the desired concentration and the second step is the addition of baculoviruses for infection purposes, this baculovirus also contains GOI [97]. The origin of insect cells used for this purpose came from Drosophila melanogaster, Autographa californica, and Spodoptera frugiperda. These cells are used as they are susceptible to baculovirus infection [97, 98]. Some other insects can also be used for the development of recombinant proteins such as tPA (plasminogen activator), hGAD65, parasitic proteins as well as viral proteins [17, 97, 98].

8.1 Silkworm

Bombyx mori, a silkworm, produces large quantities of silk proteins in its silk glands which can be used to form cocoons. Silk proteins are the major components of silk and include sericin and fibroin proteins majorly [99]. In the case of transgenic silkworms, the recombinant proteins are expressed in the silk glands. The expression and place of the recombinant proteins can be controlled by controlling the location of the genes that are able to produce the silk proteins. By using PGS (Preimplantation genetic screening) we can localize the expression of silk proteins in the inner core of fibroin. By using MSG (Monosodium glutamate), the expression of silk proteins can be localized into the outer layer of sericin [99]. Table 3 represents the recombinant proteins obtained from different types of IC.

9. MICROALGAE

also known as photosynthetic Microalgae, microorganisms, are a diverse group of organisms capable of using sunlight to produce proteins, carbohydrates, and lipids [112]. They are usually considered as unicellular eukaryotes in spite of the fact that some cyanobacteria which are prokaryotic organisms also referred to as microalgae [113]. In recent years, interest has been developed in using microalgae for the production of biofuels as well as therapeutic proteins [1]. Some species of microalgae can be used as a substitute for fossil fuels in the biofuel industry due to their astonishing oil content [138]. Another reason for their biotechnical focus might be due to their ability to act as extraordinary bioreactors for the production of recombinant proteins on large scale. Microalgae exhibit the qualities of both prokaryotic and eukaryotic expression systems such as high progression rates as well as post-transcriptional and translational amendments. A major benefit over previously employed expression systems such as insect cells, mammalian cell lines, bacteria, and yeast is that algae have a phototropic lifestyle, making their cultivation CO₂-neutral and simply requiring relatively minimal expenditures [139]. Severe infections can be prevented by the use of vaccines but due to their costly production, the process of vaccination is highly influenced particularly in developing countries. Almost all the time, generation of antigen-grounded vaccines bearing heterologous expression is simpler than the antibody generation procedures. Despite this advantage, these antigen vaccines still required mammalian cell lines' expression system for their intricate post-translational modifications. In addition, they also face high risks of contamination by human pathogens. Microalgae have excellent opportunities in this regard as they do not serve as



Fig. 5. Proteins pharmaceuticals production by the cloning of transgenic animals [138].

Table 3. List of recombinant proteins obtained from different IC (insect cells)

	IC (insect cells) of	Recombinant proteins	References
•	Drosophila melanogaster Autographa californica Spodoptera frugiperda	 tpA(plasminogen activator) hGAD65 Parasitic proteins Viral proteins 	[97, 98]
•	Silkworm cocoons (Transgenic)	 Human collagen α chain Human-serum albumin Monoclonal antibody (mouse) 	[99, 100, 101]

hosts for human infections and have rapid growth rates. In fact, once the proper bioreactors are in place, growing them is relatively inexpensive as they only require light and water [140].

9.1 Chlamydomonas reinhardtii

Chlamydomonas reinhardtii, is known as the model algae and is mostly used as a model for representing the eukaryotic micro-alga. Not only for its metabolic and genetic ability but also for its rapid reproduction. The sexual cycles are not only rapid but they are also controllable [107]. Microalgae as an expression system have expressed almost 20 recombinant proteins, especially in the *C. reinhardtii* [107]. *C. reinhardtii* is being used extensively because it is stable, and easily transformed especially for the transformation of mitochondrial organelles, nucleus, and chloroplast, quick reproduction of transformants, availability of

many tool kits at the molecular level, and alternative growth of organisms such as heterotrophic growth and phototrophic growth. 16-5 % is the rate for the expression level of recombinant proteins. Proteins developed in chloroplast have higher levels of expression than expressed in the nucleus. HSV8 is the first protein that could be expressed in this organism [1].

9.2 Other algae

Some other algae are also being explored for recombinant protein production. With time the development of transgenic algae is enhancing. *Charophyte* alga is used for expressing exogenous genes [114]. *Gonium pectoral* which is a volvocine alga has a nuclear genome and it is successfully transformed [115] as it has the *C. Haematococcus pluvialis* [116, 117] because it is co-cultivated with the help of agrobacterium. *Chlorarachniophyte*

17

Lotharella amoebiformis which is a marine organism is successfully put into the transient transformation [118]. Some other successful transformations are done by using the Ulva *Pertusa chlorophyta* alga [119]. *Cyanidioschyzon merolae* also known as the red alga is used for successful transformation [120]. *Dunaliella salina* which is a previously known alga is also being used for the expression of recombinant proteins [121]. The genetics of cyanobacteria has also been explored for this purpose.

10. MAMMALIAN CELL LINES IN USE FOR RECOMBINANT-PROTEIN PRODUCTION

Mammalian cell lines offer a range of cell lines made from different tissues and support various proteins' growth. These cell lines have all the needed machinery for protein expression and release. Among many reasons for them being a preferred expression system, one reason is their ability to synthesize proteins which is closely related to proteins present in humans in terms of their molecular structure and biochemical properties [122]. They are preferably selected when it comes to glycosylated protein production as these proteins are usually complex [123].

Most of the biopharmaceutical research uses two types of mouse cell lines i.e., myeloma cell lines (NS0) and hybridoma cell lines (SP2-0) as well as two types of hamster cell lines known as CHO cell lines (Chinese hamster cell ovary cells 1) and BHK cell lines (Baby hamster kidney cells) [122]. The major reason why these cell lines are different from other expression systems is due to their ability of N- and O-linked glycosylation as proteins that work in glycosylation encodes 2 % of the human genome [124]. Nearly all mammalian cells have the necessary machinery for recombinant protein production, but only a few meet the criteria of bioreactors such as mouse myeloma cells NS0, CHO, Sp2/0, and BHK. Viral vectors which are helpful for gene therapy are usually formed by using mammalian cell lines. Many vaccines are manufactured by the use of mammalian cell lines such as rabies, measles, rubella, and hepatitis A [141]. FDA has approved 27 biopharmaceutical products and 12 of which are being produced in mammalian cells [123].

10.1 Human cell-lines

In the quest to produce human recombinant proteins, the current major focus for biopharmaceutical industries is to look for an expression system that is not only safe clinically but can also give a high yield of proteins [133]. As human cell lines have glycosylation machinery, a few powerful human lines have emerged as a substitute for human recombinant protein production on a commercial level [108]. HEK293 is the human cell line currently used for the production of different therapeutic products such as human-cl, rFVIIIFc, drotrecogen alfa, etc. Another human cell line HT-1080 also used for the production of pharmaceuticals such as Epoetin delta, Agalsidase alfa, and Idursulfase [141]. Table 4 represents the recombinant proteins produced by different expression systems. Further, Table 5 shows the main advantages and disadvantages of each type of expression system used.

11. CONCLUSION AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVE

A huge extent of therapeutic protein marketing comprises of a variety of products such as antibodies, vaccine subunits, hormones, and enzymes. In order to meet the day-by-day increasing need for these therapeutic proteins, DNA recombination technology is being used. All recombinant proteins are naturally different from each other and various challenges are kept into consideration while choosing an expression system for their production. Therefore, it is very significant to investigate the potential and limitations of several expression systems to choose the suitable one for particular protein production at an industrial scale. The optimization criteria of an expression system is evaluated on several factors such as productivity, efficiency, physiological characteristics, total cost, safety, convenience, and down-streaming conditions. There are certain challenges which are associated with recombinant protein production at a higher scale i. e., maintaining protein production in higher cell densities, separation of cell debris from viable cells and product of interest, separation of yield without causing cell lysis, downstream processing and mass transferring of the products [134]. DNA recombinant technology can also produce recombinant proteins comparatively

Expression	system type	Recombinant protein	Application	Reference
Insects (Tra cocoon)	nnsgenic silkworm	Human collagen α chain	Biomaterial, DDS, therapeutics	[100]
		Human-serum albumin Monoclonal antibody (mouse)	Therapeutics Therapeutics, diagnostics	[101] [99]
Bacteria	Lactic acid bacteria (LAB)	Gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA)	Anti-hypertensive & antidepressant activities	[102]
	P. fluorescens	Granulocyte colonystimulating factor (G-CSF)	Drug candidate	[103]
Plants	N. benthamiana Barley seed (Hordeum vulgare)	Protein E envelop from Zika virus Human Epidermal Growth factor	Zika virus Burns treatment	[104] [17]
	Arabidopsis thaliana	Recombinant human intrinsic factor	Vitamin B12 defciency	[84]
Algae		High mobility group protein B1	Therapeutics	[105]
		cholera toxin B subunit (CTB-D2) Human metallothionine-2 (hMT-2)	Oral vaccine Pharmaceutical, UV protection	[106] [107]
Human Cell line	Hek293 Hek293EBNA1 PERC.C6		Proteglycan Erythropoietin IgM	[108, 109] [110] [111]

Table 4. List of recombinant proteins produced in different expression systems

better than the native ones by manipulating the protein sequence at the genetic level. Therefore, recombinant proteins can be adopted in several applications such as therapeutics, diagnostics, health maintenance, etc. With technological advancement, nanotechnology has also been adopted with recombinant DNA technology for the production of more advantageous and efficient recombinant proteins [135].

12. CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The authors declared no conflict of interest.

13. REFERENCES

 Y. Gong, H. Hu, Y. Gao, X. Xu, and H. Gao Microalgae as platforms for production of recombinant proteins and valuable compounds: progress and prospects. *Journal of Industrial Microbiology and Biotechnology* 38(12): 18791890 (2011).

- S. Khan, M.U. Ullah, R. Siddique, G. Nabi, S. Manan, M. Yousaf, and H. Hou. Role of recombinant DNA technology to improve life. *International journal of genomics* (2016).
- B. Calo-Fernández, and J.L. Martínez-Hurtado. Biosimilars: company strategies to capture value from the biologics market. *Pharmaceuticals* 5(12):1393-1408 (2012).
- D. Weinacker, C. Rabert, A.B. Zepeda, C.A. Figueroa, A. Pessoa, and J.G. Farías. Applications of recombinant Pichia pastoris in the healthcare industry. *Brazilian Journal of Microbiology* 44: 1043-1048 (2013).
- N.K. Tripathi, and A. Shrivastava. Recent developments in bioprocessing of recombinant proteins: expression hosts and process development. *Frontiers of Bioengineering and Biotechnology* 7: 420 (2019).
- 6. Research Report. Recombinant DNA Technology Market Economy Size Expected a Growth of USD

Expression system	Advantages	Disadvantages & Challenges	Ref.
Bacteria	Simple and low price media,	Post-translational modifications don't occur here,	[1, 71, 76, 82,
	High cell density,	Secreted proteins are of low level,	125, 126]
	Easy to cultivate,	Inclusion bodies formation from protein aggregate,	
	Rapid growth rate,	Endotoxin production,	
	Cost-effective,	Susceptible to proteases degradation,	
	Virus free,	Codon usage is preferential,	
	Optimized growth procedures,	Chances of misfolding and export issues for proteins larger than	
	Genetically characterized,	(>30kDa)	
	Fermentation processes worked out for scale-up,		
	FDA approved SOPs		
Yeast	High cell density,	N-or O-linked glycosylation pattern is different from a eukaryote,	[1, 71, 76,
	Highly adaptable to fermentation processes,	Hypermannosylation,	126, 127
	Genetically characterized,	Proteolytic degradation,	
	No endotoxin production,	Hyperglycosylation,	
	High-level protein secretion,	Produced glycoproteins are not found fit for human consumption	
	High yield,		
	Durability,		
	Cost-effective,		
	Maximum yield in chemically defined media, Product processing similar to mammalian cells, Can handle S–S rich proteins,		
	Can assist in protein folding,		
	Can glycosylate proteins,		
	Correct folding in functional recombinant proteins,		
	Low-budget purification processes,		
	FDA approved SOPs		

Expression system	Advantages	Disadvantages & Challenges	Ref.
Fungi	Poor growth conditions, Fast growth, High density, Well-characterized, Optimized growth procedures, Scalable, Moderately amenable to genetic engineering, Correct protein folding and processing, Less time consumption for production, Production strains are stable, Existing regulatory bodies' approval	Immunogenic sugars with nonhuman glycosylation	[82]
Insect (Baculovirus)	Post-translational modification is similar to higher eukaryotes, Proper protein folding, Able to produce glycosylated recombinant proteins, Produced protein is of high level, Up to 15 kb insert expressed, Noninfectious, and safe, Easy scale-up, Flexibility in protein-size, Signal peptides cleavage is efficient, and can express multiple genes at a time, FDA-approved SOPs	Slow growth rate, Expensive media, Multi-parallel protein expression is time-consuming and laborious, At late stages protein folding is improper, Stability of recombinant virus, Complex glycosylation not possible, Presence of lipidic envelopes in virions, Polyproteins processing is less efficient, Immunogenic sugars with nonhuman glycosylation, Undesired post-translational modifications	[1, 76, 82, 126]
Plants	Rapid growth, Low-cost purification, Suitable for glycosylated proteins production, Modification of any type is possible, Maximum and cheap scale-up possibility, Low growth costs, Can produce complex proteins, Relatively simple and cheap,	Highly specific to the plant of choice, Universal recombinant production system is not reported yet, Immunogenic sugars with nonhuman glycosylation, Lacks regulatory approval	[1, 82, 126, 128]

Expression system	Advantages	Disadvantages & Challenges	Ref.
	Human pathogen contamination risk is low,		
	Growth procedures are optimized,		
	Protein complexes (Proper folding and assembly)		
Animals	Scaling up potential is massive,	Costly,	[1, 82]
	Post-translational modifications are correct,	Transgenic organisms are difficult to create,	
	Harvesting is easy,	Production time period is long, and Ethical as well as regulatory	
	Farming techniques are optimized,	issues,	
	Cell lines are stable,	Recombinant protein production system is poorly characterized,	
	Production cost is low,	Low control,	
	Existing regulatory approval		
Mammalian Cell	Post-translational-modifications are very much similar	Grow very slowly,	[1, 71, 76,
lines	to native protein,	Difficult to cultivate,	126, 129]
	Safe,	Time-consuming,	
	No immunogenicity concerns,	Large-scale culture limitations,	
	Highly adaptive,	Protein yields are low,	
	Properly folding,	Nutrient requirements are complex,	
	Can produce glycosylated protein,	Fermentation cost is very high,	
	High yields,	Viral and human pathogen contamination risks are very high,	
	Many current products give precedent to regulatory	Expensive,	
		Costs increase due to complex growth requirements,	
	Acuve research and moustry funding, FDA approved SOPs	Complex cells create problems in cell lines engineering and understanding,	
		Product is heterologous,	
		Cell lines are unstable,	
		Scaling-up is difficult	

223.0 Billion by 2028, According to Vantage Market Research, *Vantage Market Research* (2022). https:// www.vantagemarketresearch.com/recombinantdna-technology-market-1829/request-sample

- W.H. Brondyk. Selecting an appropriate method for expressing a recombinant protein. *Methods in Enzymology* 463:131-147 (2009).
- R. O'Flaherty, A. Bergin, E. Flampouri, L.M. Mota, I. Obaidi, A. Quigley, Y. Xie, and M. Butler. Mammalian cell culture for production of recombinant proteins: A review of the critical steps in their biomanufacturing. *Biotechnology Advances* 43:107552 (2020).
- R. Chen. Bacterial expression systems for recombinant protein production: *E. coli* and beyond. *Biotechnology Advances* 30(5):1102-1107 (2012).
- N. Ferrer-Miralles, P. Saccardo, J.L. Corchero, Z. Xu, and E. García-Fruitós. General introduction: recombinant protein production and purification of insoluble proteins. *Insoluble Proteins* 1-24 (2015).
- S.A. Berkowitz, J.R. Engen, J.R. Mazzeo, and G.B. Jones. Analytical tools for characterizing biopharmaceuticals and the implications for biosimilars. *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery*11(7): 527-540 (2012).
- Gupta, S.K., A.K. Dangi, M. Smita, S. Dwivedi and P. Shukla. Effectual bioprocess development for protein production. In *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 203-227 (2019).
- C. Walsh. Posttranslational modification of proteins: expanding nature's inventory. Roberts and Company Publishers (2006).
- F. Kadir, P. Ives, A. Luitjens, and E. van Corven. Production and purification of recombinant proteins. In *Pharm. Biotechnology* 47-67 (2013).
- R.S. Felberbaum. The baculovirus expression vector system: A commercial manufacturing platform for viral vaccines and gene therapy vectors. *Biotechnology Journal* 10(5):702-714 (2015).
- M. Karbalaei, S. A. Rezaee, and H. Farsiani. Pichia pastoris: A highly successful expression system for optimal synthesis of heterologous proteins. *Journal* of cellular physiology 235(9):5867-5881 (2020).
- B. Owczarek, A. Gerszberg and K. Hnatuszko-Konka. A brief reminder of systems of production and chromatography-based recovery of recombinant protein biopharmaceuticals. *BioMed Research International* (2019).
- 18. F.J. Fernández, and M.C. Vega. Choose a suitable expression host: a survey of available protein production platforms. *Advanced Technologies for*

Protein Complex Production and Characterization 15-24 (2016).

- J.R. Ho, and J. Chien. Trends in translational medicine and drug targeting and delivery: new insights on an old concept—targeted drug delivery with antibody–drug conjugates for cancers. *Journal* of *Pharmaceutical Science* 103(1):71-77 (2014).
- E. García-Fruitós. Lactic acid bacteria: a promising alternative for recombinant protein production. *Microbial cell factories* 11(1):1-3 (2012).
- A.F. Jozala, D.C. Geraldes, L.L. Tundisi, V.D.A. Feitosa, C.A. Breyer, S.L. Cardoso, P.G. Mazzola, L.D. Oliveira-Nascimento, C.D.O. Rangel-Yagui, P.D.O. Magalhães, and M.A.D. Oliveira. Biopharmaceuticals from microorganisms: from production to purification. *Brazilian Journal of Microbiology* 47:51-63 (2016).
- T.V. Plavec and A. Berlec. Engineering of lactic acid bacteria for delivery of therapeutic proteins and peptides. *Applied microbiology and biotechnology* 103(5):2053-2066 (2019).
- R.A. Börner, V. Kandasamy, A.M. Axelsen, A. T.Nielsen, and E. F. Bosma. Genome editing of lactic acid bacteria: opportunities for food, feed, pharma and biotech. *FEMS microbiology letters* 366(1):291 (2019).
- J.A. Mora-Villalobos, J. Montero-Zamora, N. Barboza, C. Rojas-Garbanzo, J. Usaga, M. Redondo-Solano, L. Schroedter, A. Olszewska-Widdrat, and J.P. López-Gómez. Multi-product lactic acid bacteria fermentations: a review. *Fermentation* 6(1): p.23 (2020).
- 25. M. Dragosits, G. Frascotti, L. Bernard-Granger, F. Vázquez, M. Giuliani, K. Baumann, E. Rodríguez-Carmona, J. Tokkanen, E. Parrilli, M.G. Wiebe, and R. Kunert. Influence of growth temperature on the production of antibody Fab fragments in different microbes: a host comparative analysis. *Biotechnology Progress* 27(1): 38-46 (2011).
- M. Giuliani, E. Parrilli, P. Ferrer, K. Baumann, G. Marino, and M.L. Tutino. Process optimization for recombinant protein production in the psychrophilic bacterium Pseudoalteromonas haloplanktis. *Process Biochemistry* 46(4): 953-959 (2011).
- 27. V. Meyer, F. Wanka, J. van Gent, M. Arentshorst, C.A. van den Hondel, and A.F. Ram. Fungal gene expression on demand: an inducible, tunable, and metabolism-independent expression system for Aspergillus niger. *Applied and environmental microbiology* 77(9):2975-2983 (2011).
- 28. C. Batianis, E. Kozaeva, S.G. Damalas, M. Martín-

Pascual, D.C.Volke, P.I. Nikel, and V. A. Martins dos Santos. An expanded CRISPRi toolbox for tunable control of gene expression in Pseudomonas putida. *Microbial biotechnology* 13(2):368-385 (2020).

- K.X. Huang, M. Badger, K. Haney, and S.L Evans. Large scale production of Bacillus thuringiensis PS149B1 insecticidal proteins Cry34Ab1 and Cry35Ab1 from Pseudomonas fluorescens. *Protein Expression and Purification* 53(2);325-330 (2007).
- T.W. Overton. Recombinant protein production in bacterial hosts. *Drug Discovery Today* 19(5):590-601 (2014).
- G.C. Barnard, G.E. Henderson, S. Srinivasan and T.U. Gerngross. High level recombinant protein expression in Ralstonia eutropha using T7 RNA polymerase based amplification. *Protein Expression* and Purification 38(2):264-271 (2004).
- 32. M. Hansson, P. Samuelson, T.N. Nguyen, and S. Ståhl. General expression vectors for Staphylococcus carnosus enabled efficient production of the outer membrane protein A of Klebsiella pneumoniae. *FEMS Microbiology Letters* 210(2):263-270 (2002).
- T.C. Cairns, C. Nai, and V. Meyer. How a fungus shapes biotechnology: 100 years of Aspergillus niger research. *Fungal Biology and Biotechnology* 5(1):1-14 (2018).
- 34. L. Martins-Santana, L.C. Nora, A. Sanches-Medeiros, G.L. Lovate, M.H. Cassiano and R. Silva-Rocha. Systems and synthetic biology approaches to engineer fungi for fine chemical production. *Frontiers in Bioengineering and Biotechnology* 6:117 (2018).
- V. Meyer, B. Wu, and A.F. Ram. Aspergillus as a multi-purpose cell factory: current status and perspectives. *Biotechnology Letters* 33(3):469-476 (2011).
- F. Ntana, U.H. Mortensen, C. Sarazin and R. Figge. Aspergillus: A powerful protein production platform. *Catalysts* 10(9):1064 (2020).
- C.S. Nødvig, J.B. Nielsen, M.E. Kogle, and U.H. Mortensen. A CRISPR-Cas9 system for genetic engineering of filamentous fungi. *PloS One* 10(7): e0133085 (2015).
- T. Katayama, Y. Tanaka, T. Okabe, H. Nakamura, W. Fujii, K. Kitamoto, and J.L. Maruyama. Development of a genome editing technique using the CRISPR/Cas9 system in the industrial filamentous fungus Aspergillus oryzae. *Biotechnology Letters* 38(4):637-642 (2016).
- 39. K.K. Fuller, S. Chen, J.J. Loros, and J.C. Dunlap. Development of the CRISPR/Cas9 system for

targeted gene disruption in Aspergillus fumigatus. *Eukaryotic Cell* 14(11):1073-1080 (2015).

- N.S. Dunn-Coleman, P. Bloebaum, R.M. Berka, E. Bodie, N. Robinson, G. Armstrong, M. Ward, M. Przetak, G.L. Carter, R. LaCost, and L.J. Wilson. Commercial levels of chymosin production by Aspergillus. *Bio/Technology* 9(10): 976-981 (1991).
- P.P. Ward, J.Y. Lo, M. Duke, G.S. May, D.R. Headon, and O.M. Conneely. Production of biologically active recombinant human lactoferrin in Aspergillus oryzae. *Bio/technology* 10(7): 784-789 (1992).
- 42. K.I. Nakajima, T. Asakura, J.I. Maruyama, Y. Morita, H. Oike, A. Shimizu-Ibuka, T. Misaka, H. Sorimachi, S. Arai, K. Kitamoto, and K. Abe. Extracellular production of neoculin, a sweet-tasting heterodimeric protein with taste-modifying activity, by Aspergillus oryzae. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 72: 3716-3723 (2006).
- O.P. Ward. Production of recombinant proteins by filamentous fungi. *Biotechnology Advances* 30:1119-1139 (2012).
- A. Harkki, J. Uusitalo, M. Bailey, M. Penttilä, and J.K. Knowles. A novel fungal expression system: secretion of active calf chymosin from the filamentous fungus Trichoderma reesei. *Bio/ Technology* 7: 596-603 (1989).
- J.M. Uusitalo, K.H. Nevalainen, A.M. Harkki, J.K. Knowles, and M.E. Penttilä. Enzyme production by recombinant Trichoderma reesei strains. *Journal of Biotechnology* 17(1): 35-49 (1991).
- E. Nyyssönen, M. Penttilä, A. Harkki, A. Saloheimo, J.K. Knowles, and S. Keränen. Efficient production of antibody fragments by the filamentous fungus Trichoderma reesei. *Biotechnology* 11(5): 591-595 (1993).
- M. Penttila. Heterologous protein production in Trichoderma. In: Trichoderma and Gliocladium.
 G.E. Harman C.P. Kubicek, Taylor and Francis, *London* 365-82 (1998).
- A. Schuster, and M. Schmoll. Biology and biotechnology of Trichoderma. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology* 87(3): 787-799 (2010).
- 49. H.V. Colot, G. Park, G.E. Turner, C. Ringelberg, C.M. Crew, L. Litvinkova, R.L. Weiss, K.A. Borkovich, and J.C. Dunlap. A high-throughput gene knockout procedure for Neurospora reveals functions for multiple transcription factors. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 103(27): 10352-10357 (2006).
- 50. S. Allgaier, R.D. Taylor, Y. Brudnaya, D.J. Jacobson,

E. Cambareri, and W.D. Stuart. Vaccine production in Neurospora crassa. *Biologicals.*, 37: 128–32 (2009).

- 51. D. Havlik, U. Brandt, K. Bohle, and A. Fleißner. Establishment of Neurospora crassa as a host for heterologous protein production using a human antibody fragment as a model product. *Microbial Cell Factories* 16(1): 1-15 (2017).
- D. Magaña-Ortíz, F. Fernández, A.M. Loske, and M.A. Gómez-Lim. Extracellular expression in Aspergillus niger of an antibody fused to Leishmania sp. antigens. *Current Microbiology* 75(1): 40-48 (2018).
- 53. M.P. Zubieta, F.J. Contesini, M.V. Rubio, A.E.D.S.S. Gonçalves, J.A. Gerhardt, R.A. Prade, and A.R.D.L. Damasio. Protein profile in Aspergillus nidulans recombinant strains overproducing heterologous enzymes. *Microbial Biotechnology* 11(2): 346-358 (2018).
- 54. D. Porro, B. Gasser, T. Fossati, M. Maurer, P. Branduardi, M. Sauer, and D. Mattanovich. Production of recombinant proteins and metabolites in yeast. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology* 89(4): 939-948 (2011).
- D. Porro, M. Sauer, P. Branduardi, and D. Mattanovich. Recombinant protein production in yeast. *Microbial Biotechnology* 31(3): 245-259 (2005).
- A. Fleißner, and P. Dersch. Expression and export: recombinant protein production systems for Aspergillus. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology* 87(4): 1255-1270 (2010).
- 57. R. Mora-Lugo, M. Madrigal, V. Yelemane, and M. Fernandez-Lahore. Improved biomass and protein production in solid-state cultures of an Aspergillus sojae strain harboring the Vitreoscilla hemoglobin. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology* 99(22): 9699-9708 (2015).
- K. Zhang, L. Su, and J. Wu. Recent advances in recombinant protein production by Bacillus subtilis. *Annual Review of Food Science and Technology* 11: 295-318 (2020).
- A. Rantasalo, M. Vitikainen, T. Paasikallio, J. Jäntti, C.P. Landowski, and D. Mojzita. Novel genetic tools that enable highly pure protein production in Trichoderma reesei. *Scientific Reports* 9(1): 1-12 (2019).
- 60. P. Wong, M. Walter, W. Lee, G. Mannhaupt, M. Münsterkötter, H.W. Mewes, G. Adam, and U. Güldener. FGDB: revisiting the genome annotation of the plant pathogen *Fusarium graminearum*.

Nucleic Acids Research 39(suppl_1): D637-D639 (2010).

- R.A. Hitzeman, F.E. Hagie, H.L. Levine, D.V. Goeddel, G. Ammerer, and B.D. Hall. Expression of a human gene for interferon in yeast. *Nature* 293(5835): 717-722 (1981).
- 62. J. Reiser, V. Glumoff, M. Kälin, and U. Ochsner. Transfer and expression of heterologous genes in yeasts other than *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *Advances in Biochemical Engineering/ Biotechnology* 43: 75-102 (1990).
- M.A. Romanos, C.A. Scorer, and J.J. Clare, J.J. 1992. Foreign gene expression in yeast: a review. Yeast 8(6): 423-488 (1992)
- 64. D.R. Haan, and W.V. Zyl. Differential expression of the Trichoderma reesei β-xylanase II (xyn2) gene in the xylose-fermenting yeast Pichia stipitis. *Applied Microbiology Biotechnology* 57(4): 521-527 (2001).
- L. Brambilla, B.M. Ranzi, M. Vai, L. Alberghina, and D. Porro. Production of heterologous proteins from *Zygosaccharomyces bailii*. Tate and Lyle Ingredients Americas LLC, U.S. Patent 7,041,477 (2006).
- P. Branduardi, D. Porro, M. Valli, and L. Alberghina. Process for expression and secretion of proteins by the non-conventional yeast *Zygosaccharomyces bailii*. U.S. *Patent Application* 10/534,171 (2007).
- A. Goffeau, B.G. Barrell, H. Bussey, R.W. Davis, B. Dujon, H. Feldmann, F. Galibert, J.D. Hoheisel, C. Jacq, M. Johnston, and E.J. Louis. Life with 6000 genes. *Science* 274: 546–567(1996).
- C.J. Huang, A.J. Lowe, and C.A. Batt. Recombinant immunotherapeutics: current state and perspectives regarding the feasibility and market. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology* 87(2): 401-410 (2010).
- E. Çelik, and P. Çalık. Production of recombinant proteins by yeast cells. *Biotechnology Advances* 30(5): 1108-1118 (2012).
- D. Mattanovich, N. Callewaert, P. Rouzé, Y.C. Lin, A. Graf, A. Redl, P. Tiels, B. Gasser, and K. De Schutter. Open access to sequence: browsing the Pichia pastoris genome. *Microbial Cell Factories* 8(1): 1-4 (2009).
- 71. N.K. Tripathi. Production and purification of recombinant proteins from Escherichia coli. *ChemBioEng Reviews* 3(3): 116-133 (2016).
- D. Heefner, C. Weaver M. Yarus, and L. Burdzinski. 1992. Method for producing riboflavin with *Candida famata*. US Patent No. 5164303 (1992).
- 73. T. Papakonstantinou, R.H. Law, P. Gardiner,

M.J. Rowley, and I.R. Mackay. Comparative expression and purification of human glutamic acid decarboxylase from Saccharomyces cerevisiae and Pichia pastoris. Enzyme and Microbial Technology 26(9-10): 645-652 (2000).

- 74. J. Olmos-Soto, and R. Contreras-Flores. Genetic system constructed to overproduce and secrete proinsulin in *Bacillus subtilis*. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology* 62(4): 369-373 (2003).
- 75. C. Gurramkonda, S. Polez, N. Skoko, A. Adnan, T. Gäbel, D. Chugh, S. Swaminathan, N. Khanna, S. Tisminetzky, and U. Rinas. Application of simple fed-batch technique to high-level secretory production of insulin precursor using *Pichia pastoris* with subsequent purification and conversion to human insulin. Microbia. *Cell Factories* 9(1): 1-11(2010).
- R. Arya, A. Bhattacharya, and K.S. Saini. Dictyostelium discoideum—a promising expression system for the production of eukaryotic proteins. The FASEB Journal 22(12): 4055-4066 (2008).
- B. Dujon, D. Sherman, G. Fischer, P. Durrens, S. Casaregola, I. Lafontaine, J. De Montigny, C. Marck, C. Neuvéglise, E. Talla, and N. Goffard. Genome evolution in yeast. *Nature* 430(6995): 35-44 (2004).
- V. Wood, R. Gwilliam, M.A. Rajandream, M. Lyne, R. Lyne, A. Stewart, J. Sgouros, N. Peat, J. Hayles, S. Baker, and D. Basham. Erratum: The genome sequence of *Schizosaccharomyces pombe*. *Nature* 415: 871-880 (2002).
- Y. Giga-Hama, H. Tohda, K. Takegawa, and H. Kumagai. Schizosaccharomyces pombe minimum genome factory. *Biotechnology and Applied Biochemistry* 46(3):147-155 (2007).
- S. Kjærulff, and M.R. Jensen. Comparison of different signal peptides for secretion of heterologous proteins in fission yeast. *Biochemical* and Biophysical Research Communications 336(3): 974-982 (2005).
- 81. Y. Tekoah, A. Shulman, T. Kizhner, I. Ruderfer, L. Fux, Y. Nataf, D. Bartfeld, T. Ariel, S. Gingis– Velitski, U. Hanania, and Y. Shaaltiel. Largescale production of pharmaceutical proteins in plant cell culture—the protalix experience. *Plant Biotechnology Journal* 13(8):1199-1208 (2015).
- M.J. Burnett, and A.C. Burnett. Therapeutic recombinant protein production in plants: Challenges and opportunities. *Plants, People, Planet* 2(2): 121-132 (2020).
- 83. K. Moustafa, A. Makhzoum, and J. Trémouillaux-

Guiller. Molecular farming on rescue of pharma industry for next generations. *Critical Reviews in Biotechnology* 36(5): 840-850 (2016)

- J. Yao, Y. Weng, A. Dickey, and K.Y. Wang. Plants as factories for human pharmaceuticals: applications and challenges. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 16(12): 28549-28565 (2015)
- N. Yan, C. Fan, Y. Chen, and Z. Hu. The potential for microalgae as bioreactors to produce pharmaceuticals. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 17(6): 962 (2016).
- R. Biłas, K. Szafran, K. Hnatuszko-Konka, and A.K. Kononowicz. Cis-regulatory elements used to control gene expression in plants. *Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture (PCTOC)* 127(2): 269-287 (2016).
- A.W. Smagur, K.H. Konka, A. Gerszberg, T. Kowalczyk, P. Luchniak, and A.K. Kononowicz. Green way of biomedicine–how to force plants to produce new important proteins. *Transgenic Plants-Advances and Limitations* 63-90 (2012).
- J.K. Ma, P.M. Drake, and P. Christou. The production of recombinant pharmaceutical proteins in plants. *Nature Reviews Genetics* 4(10): 794-805 (2003).
- O.O. Obembe, J.O. Popoola, S. Leelavathi, and S.V. Reddy. Advances in plant molecular farming. *Biotechnology Advances* 29(2): 210-222 (2011).
- T. Kawakatsu, and F. Takaiwa. Cereal seed storage protein synthesis: fundamental processes for recombinant protein production in cereal grains. *Plant Biotechnology Journal* 8(9): 939-953 (2010).
- E.P. Rybicki. Plant-made vaccines for humans and animals. *Plant Biotechnology Journal* 8(5): 620-637 (2010)
- H. Daniell, M. Kulis, and R.W. Herzog. Plant cell-made protein antigens for induction of Oral tolerance. *Biotechnology Advances* 37(7): 107-13 (2019).
- J. Marsian, and G.P. Lomonossoff. Molecular pharming—VLPs made in plants. *Current Opinion in Biotechnology*, 37: 201-206 (2016).
- N.S. Rudolph. Biopharmaceutical production in transgenic livestock. *Trends in Biotechnology* 17(9): 367-374 (1999).
- 95. G. Dutton. Transgenic animal-based protein products move toward clinical trials. *Genetic Engineering News* 16(9): 37-37 (1996).
- 96. N.J. Chew. Emerging technologies: transgenic therapeutics. *Biopharm Eugene* 6:24-24 (1993)
- E. Gecchele, M. Merlin, A. Brozzetti, A. Falorni, M. Pezzotti, and L. Avesani. A comparative analysis

of recombinant protein expression in different biofactories: bacteria, insect cells and plant systems. *Journal of Visualized Experiments*, 23: 97 (2015).

- A. Contreras-G'omez, F. S'anchez-Mir'on, Garc'ia-Camacho, E. Molina-Grima, and Y. Chisti, Protein production using the baculovirus-insect cell expression system. *Biotechnology Progress* 30(1): 1–18 (2014).
- M. Tomita. Transgenic silkworms that weave recombinant proteins into silk cocoons. *Biotechnology Letters* 33(4):645-654 (2011)
- 100.T. Adachi, X. Wang, T. Murata, M. Obara, H. Akutsu, M. Machida, A. Umezawa, and M. Tomita. Production of a non-triple helical collagen α chain in transgenic silkworms and its evaluation as a gelatin substitute for cell culture. *Biotechnology and Bioengineering* 106(6): 860-870 (2010)
- 101.S. Ogawa, M. Tomita, K. Shimizu, and K. Yoshizato. Generation of a transgenic silkworm that secretes recombinant proteins in the sericin layer of cocoon: production of recombinant human serum albumin. *Journal of Biotechnology* 128(3):31-544 (2007).
- 102.Y. Cui, K. Miao, S. Niyaphorn, and X. Qu. Production of gamma-aminobutyric acid from lactic acid bacteria: A systematic review. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 21(3):995-1005 (2020).
- 103.D.M. Retallack, H. Jin, and L. Chew. Reliable protein production in a Pseudomonas fluorescens expression system. *Protein Expression and Purification* 81(2): 157-165 (2012).
- 104.M. Yang, H. Sun, H. Lai, J. Hurtado, and Q. Chen. Plant-produced Zika virus envelope protein elicits neutralizing immune responses that correlate with protective immunity against Zika virus in mice. *Plant Biotechnology Journal* 16(2): 572-580 (2018).
- 105.B.A. Rasala, M. Muto, P.A. Lee, M. Jager, R.M. Cardoso, C.A. Behnke, P. Kirk, C.A. Hokanson, R. Crea, M. Mendez, and S.P. Mayfield. Production of therapeutic proteins in algae, analysis of expression of seven human proteins in the chloroplast of Chlamydomonas reinhardtii. *Plant Biotechnology Journal* 8(6): 719-733 (2010).
- 106.I.A. Dreesen, G. Charpin-El Hamri, and M. Fussenegger. Heat-stable oral alga-based vaccine protects mice from Staphylococcus aureus infection. *Journal of Biotechnology* 145(3):273-280 (2010).
- 107.E. Specht, S. Miyake-Stoner, and S. Mayfield. Micro-algae come of age as a platform for recombinant protein production. *Biotechnology Letters* 32(10):1373-1383 (2010).

- 108. K. Swiech, V. Picanço-Castro, and D.T. Covas. Human cells: new platform for recombinant therapeutic protein production. *Protein Expression* and *Purification* 84(1):147-153 (2012).
- 109. E. Adam, S. Sarrazin, C. Landolfi, V. Motte, H. Lortat-Jacob, P. Lassalle, and M. Delehedde. Efficient longterm and high-yielded production of a recombinant proteoglycan in eukaryotic HEK293 cells using a membrane-based bioreactor. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 369(2):297-302 (2008).
- 110.X. Sun, P.E. Goh, K.T. Wong, T. Mori, and M.G. Yap. Enhancement of transient gene expression by fed-batch culture of HEK 293 EBNA1 cells in suspension. *Biotechnology Letters* 28(11): 843-848 (2006).
- 111. A. Tchoudakova, F. Hensel, A. Murillo, B. Eng, M. Foley, L. Smith, F. Schoenen, A. Hildebrand, A.R. Kelter, L.L. Ilag, and H.P. Vollmers. High level expression of functional human IgMs in human PER. C6® cells. In *MAbs* 1(2): 163-171 (2009).
- 112. J.A.V. Costa, and M.G. De Morais. The role of biochemical engineering in the production of biofuels from microalgae. *Bioresource Technology* 102(1): 2-9 (2011).
- 113. T. Mutanda, D. Ramesh, S. Karthikeyan, S. Kumari, A. Anandraj, and F. Bux. Bioprospecting for hyperlipid producing microalgal strains for sustainable biofuel production. *Bioresource Technology* 102(1):57-70 (2011).
- 114. J. Abe, Y. Hiwatashi, M. Ito, M. Hasebe, and H. Sekimoto. Expression of exogenous genes under the control of endogenous HSP70 and CAB promoters in the Closteriumperacerosum–strigosum–littorale complex. *Plant and Cell Physiology* 49(4): 625-632 (2008).
- 115. L. Kai, and H. Armin. Stable nuclear transformation of Gonium pectorale. *AGRIS* (2009).
- 116. S. Kathiresan, and R. Sarada. Towards genetic improvement of commercially important microalga Haematococcuspluvialis for biotech applications. *Journal of Applied Phycology* 21(5):553-558 (2009).
- 117. S. Kathiresan, A. Chandrashekar, G.A. Ravishankar, and R. Sarada. Agrobacteriummediated transformation in the green alga Haematococcuspluvialis (Chlorophyceae, Volvocales) 1. *Journal of Phycology* 45(3):642-649 (2009)
- 118. Y. Hirakawa, R. Kofuji, and K.I. Ishida. Transient transformation of a chlorarachniophyte alga,

Lotharella amoebiformis (chlorarachniophyceae), with UIDA and EGFP reporter genes 1. *Journal of Phycology* 44(3):814-820 (2008).

- 119. M. Kakinuma, M. Ikeda, D.A. Coury, H. Tominaga, I. Kobayashi, and H. Amano. Isolation and characterization of the rbcS genes from a sterile mutant of Ulvapertusa (Ulvales, Chlorophyta) and transient gene expression using the rbcS gene promoter. *Fisheries Science* 75(4):1015-1028 (2009).
- 120. M. Ohnuma, T. Yokoyama, T. Inouye, Y. Sekine, and K. Tanaka. Polyethylene glycol (PEG)mediated transient gene expression in a red alga, Cyanidioschyzonmerolae 10D. *Plant and Cell Physiology* 49(1): 117-120 (2008).
- 121. S. Feng, L. Xue, H. Liu, and P. Lu. Improvement of efficiency of genetic transformation for Dunaliellasalina by glass beads method. *Molecular Biology Reports* 36(6):1433 (2009).
- 122. J. Zhu. Mammalian cell protein expression for biopharmaceutical production. *Biotechnology Advances* 30(5):1158-1170 (2012).
- 123. T. Rose. Alternative strategies and new cell lines for high-level production of biopharmaceuticals. *Modern Biopharmaceuticals* 761-777 (2008).
- 124. C.T. Campbell, and K.J. Yarema. Large-scale approaches for glycobiology. *Genome Biology* 6(11): 1-8 (2005).
- 125. S.K. Gupta, and P. Shukla. Advanced technologies for improved expression of recombinant proteins in bacteria: perspectives and applications. *Critical Reviews in Biotechnology* 36(6):1089-1098 (2016).
- 126. S. Fahad, F.A. Khan, N.S. Pandupuspitasari, M.M. Ahmed, Y.C. Liao, M.T. Waheed, M. Sameeullah, S. Hussain, S. Saud, S. Hassan, and A. Jan. Recent developments in therapeutic protein expression technologies in plants. *Biotechnology Letters* 37(2): 265-279 (2015).
- 127. M. Haon, S. Grisel, D. Navarro, A. Gruet, J.G. Berrin, and C. Bignon. Recombinant protein production facility for fungal biomass-degrading enzymes using the yeast Pichia pastoris. *Frontiers in Microbiology* 6:1002 (2015).
- 128. R.A. Rader. FDA biopharmaceutical product approvals and trends in 2012. *BioProcess International* 11(3): 18-27 (2013).
- 129. O. Flaherty, A.B. Adam, and M. Butler. Mammalian cell culture for production of recombinant proteins: A review of the critical steps in their biomanufacturing.

Biotechnology Advances 107552 (2020).

- 130. E. Łojewska, T. Kowalczyk, S. Olejniczak, and T. Sakowicz. Extraction and purification methods in downstream processing of plant-based recombinant proteins. *Protein Expression and Purification*. 120: 110-117 (2016).
- 131. M. Merlin, E. Gecchele, S. Capaldi, M. Pezzotti, and L. Avesani. Comparative evaluation of recombinant protein production in different biofactories: the green perspective. *BioMed Research International* (2014).
- 132. E.Y. Park, J.H. Zhang, S. Tajima and L. Dwiarti. Isolation of Ashbya gossypii mutant for an improved riboflavin production targeting for biorefinery technology. *Journal of Applied Microbiology* 103(2):468-476 (2007).
- 133. E. Langer. On the Horizon: New Expression Systems to Become Common Industry Platforms, *BioPharm International* 2-4 (2009).
- 134. S.R. Rudge, and M.R. Ladisch. Industrial challenges of recombinant proteins. *Current Applications of Pharmaceutical Biotechnology* 1-22 (2019).
- 135. L. Gifre, A. Arís, A. Bach, and E. Garcia-Fruitós. Trends in recombinant protein use in animal production. *Microbial cell factories* 16(1): 1-17 (2017).
- 136. K.X. Huang, M. Badger, K. Haney, and S.L. Evans. Large scale production of Bacillus thuringiensis PS149B1 insecticidal proteins Cry34Ab1 and Cry35Ab1 from Pseudomonas fluorescens. *Protein Expression and Purification* 53(2): 325-330 (2007). (Font)
- 137. J. B. Cibelli, K. H. Campbell, G. E. Seidel, M. D. West and R. P Lanza. The health profile of cloned animals. *Nature Biotechnology* 20(1):13-14 (2002).
- 138. Y. Chisti. Biodiesel from microalgae. Biotechnology Advances 25(3):294-306 (2007).
- 139. G. Potvin and Z. Zhang. Strategies for high-level recombinant protein expression in transgenic microalgae: a review. *Biotechnology advances* 28(6):910-918 (2010).
- 140. N. ERGEN and H. TÜFEKÇİ. Mammalian cell lines used in bioprocessing. *Journal of Experimental and Clinical Medicine* 39(3) (2022).
- 141. J. Dumont, D. Euwart, B. Mei, S. Estes and R. Kshirsagar. Human cell lines for biopharmaceutical manufacturing: history, status, and future perspectives. *Critical reviews in biotechnology* 36(6):1110-1122 (2016).

Proceedings of the Pakistan Academy of Sciences: B Life and Environmental Sciences 60(1): 29-47 (2023) Copyright © Pakistan Academy of Sciences ISSN (Print): 2518-4261; ISSN (Online): 2518-427X http://doi.org/10.53560/PPASB(60-1)768



Impact of Climate Change on Marine Biodiversity: Current Challenges and Future Perspectives

Sohail Ahmad Jan^{1*}, Zabta Khan Shinwari², Neeli Habib³, Abdullah⁴, Sher Ali⁵, Muhammad Siddique Afridi⁶, and Muddasir Khan⁷

¹Department of Bioinformatics and Biosciences, Capital University of Science and Technology, Islamabad, Pakistan

²Department of Plant Sciences, Quaid-i-Azam University, Islamabad, Pakistan ³Department of Microbiology, Shaheed Benazir Bhutto Women University, Peshawar, Khyber Pakhtunkhwa, Pakistan

⁴Department of Health and Biological Sciences, Abasyn University Peshawar, Pakistan ⁵Laboratory of Food Microbiology and Mycotoxicology, Faculty of Animal Science and Food Engineering (FZEA), University of São Paulo (USP), 13635-900, Pirassununga, SP, Brazil ⁶Department of Plant Pathology, Federal University of Lavras, Lavras, MG, Brazil ⁷Centre of Biotechnology and Microbiology, University of Peshawar, Pakistan

Abstract: Marine ecosystems have been affected by natural and human-induced pollution. In recent decades, land and sea levels have risen due to increases in temperature and CO₂ concentrations, as well as the accumulation of other toxic chemicals. The distribution and diversity of marine species have been affected by acidification, eutrophication, and anaerobic conditions, inhibiting the interaction process and increasing coral mortality and bleaching. Both coldand warm-water coral reefs serve as food, shelter, and habitat for many important plant and animal species that have been severely impacted by ocean warming. Some marine plants, including mangroves and seagrasses, have been severely affected by ocean warming. However, the response of marine genotypes, i.e., mangroves, seagrasses, fishes, mammals, turtles, etc., varies depending on the type of environmental extremes and the nature of climate change. The species with lower immunity are vulnerable to ocean warming. Many researchers have studied that both marine flora and fauna are in danger if proper management and strategies are not developed. Here we discussed the negative impacts of climate change on marine ecosystems and also highlighted the new methods being used to protect marine species. In addition, various protocols developed to protect marine biota in the context of rising temperatures are briefly discussed along with future guidelines for marine ecosystem security. We suggest that marine biodiversity can be conserved through the establishment of marine protected areas and that novel epigenetic studies are needed to improve the genetic protection of marine species under abiotic stress and to minimize the risks associated with various anthropogenic activities.

Keywords: Acidification, Climate change, Epigenetics, Marine Ecosystem, Management and Policies, Ocean Warming

1. INTRODUCTION

The area extending 200 m below sea level is called the deep-sea region and is one of the most significant areas for countless important living organisms [1]. About 71 % of the total Earth's surface is covered by the ocean which is one of the

most important factors in controlling climate [2]. Fundamental primary compounds and other carbon and nutrients are formed in this area. For this reason, it is a suitable habitat for many seabirds, plants, fish, and other marine species. The warmth in this region is directly related to greenhouse gases [3]. Due to some anthropogenic activities and other

Received: October 2022; Accepted: March 2023

^{*}Corresponding Author: Sohail Ahmad Jan <sjan.parc@gmail.com>

environmental changes, the marine ecosystem is harshly affected. Both direct and indirect human activities affect marine ecosystems. Similarly, natural and anthropogenic factors are responsible for environmental degradation. Sometimes the climate is affected by natural forces like volcanic eruptions, thunderstorms, and many others. A large part of the deep sea is affected by these harmful factors [3]. The increased contamination continues to cause degradation with negative impacts on food security, food safety, and marine biodiversity [4].

The negative impacts of human activities on the ocean ecosystem are increasing day by day [2]. Some of these changes have occurred rapidly in the oceans in recent decades [5]. Measuring these impacts on marine ecosystems is difficult because of their complexity and the diversity of many species [6]. Over the past 30 years, world temperature has increased by up to 0.2 °C/decade due to toxic greenhouse gases [7]. By 2015, world temperature has increased by about 1 °C due to high concentrations of toxic greenhouse gases (GHGs). The additional energy has been absorbed by the oceans. In addition, the heat of the uppermost layer of the Globe Ocean has increased by up to 14×1022 J since 1975, which corresponds to an increase in the temperature of the uppermost layer of 0.6 °C [2]. A further increase in Earth's temperature is estimated if 130-160 Pg of permafrost carbon is released into the air by 2100. Ocean pH is slowly decreasing at a rate of 0.02/decade over the past 30 years [8]. The temperature rise is affecting the terrestrial ecosystem and melting excess ice that is directly entering the water bodies, increasing the volume and stratification of the oceans [9]. The production of a large amount of hydrogen peroxide leads to anaerobic conditions and causes mass

mortality [10]. Low light intensity and high ocean temperature significantly reduce photosynthetic efficiency [11].

Reports from Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) showed that emissions of toxic GHGs into the environment are rapidly increasing [12], even after the Paris Agreement, to reduce world temperature to 1.5 °C by 2100 and secure life on Earth [13]. Scientists have predicted that the warming effect will continue for about half a century [14]. This climate change poses serious threats to wildlife biodiversity as well as other living things, including humans [12, 15]. About 1/3 of human CO₂ emissions enter the oceans, leading to higher acidity (26 %) of the upper layer. This increase was expected to be 100 % or more by 2100 [12].

Abiotic stress has severe effects on all plant and animal species [16-19]. The biodiversity of various marine ecosystems has been disturbed due to global temperature rise [20]. Nitrogen is one of the main pollutants that directly or indirectly increases the temperature of marine and terrestrial ecosystems, thus affecting biodiversity. N₂O increases eutrophication and thus disturbs aquatic biodiversity [21]. The variability of coastal marine species is affected by the increase in ocean temperature [22]. The accumulation of algal toxins leads to the death of many aquatic species [23]. The toxic effects of various direct and indirect pollutants on the marine ecosystem are shown in Figure 1. To date, there is a lack of comprehensive literature on the effects of climate change on the marine ecosystem. Therefore, in this review, we focus on the negative impacts of climate change on marine biodiversity. Here we discuss the impacts of



Fig. 1. Negative impacts of direct and indirect pollutants on marine ecosystems

climate change on plants, animals, and other marine species.

2. NEGATIVE IMPACTS OF CLIMATE CHANGE ON SPECIES DISTRIBUTION AND DIVERSITY

The change in climatic conditions may lead to the migration of wildlife [5]. Temperature growth and high salinity in the polar ocean disrupt the distribution of important taxa and ecosystems [24, 25]. High water temperatures can cause genetic divergence in both tropical and subtropical areas [26]. The frequency of small plants is crucially affected by these environmental changes [27]. Under these conditions, the marine reservoir system can protect the static organism [28]. Such a system is also useful in promoting population connectivity [29]. The reservoir system enriches genetic variability by increasing the size of the population and also provides an optimal environment [30]. In 2003, a high rate of the shoot mortality rate of important Posidonia oceanic was recorded by Marba and Duarte [31].

In accordance with previous reports, the increase in acidity in water bodies poses a serious concern to marine organisms [32, 33]. Declines in populations of plankton and other marine species, such as mollusks and calcareous algae, among others have been noted [34]. Some marine plants encompassing mangroves and seagrasses, help to minimize CO₂ emissions and increase pH; thus, these act as a defense system for some important marine calcifying organisms [35, 36]. These species are highly threatened and rapidly becoming extinct [37]. Therefore, the protection of this wetland from harmful human activities is necessary [38]. The conservation of the marine ecosystem helps to increase the population of teleost fishes. This type of fish plays a key role in the inorganic carbon cycle [39]. According to Graham and Harrod [40], ocean warming affects the genetic variability and function of many important ecosystems. It affects all levels of life, i.e., individuals, population, and community.

The rise in sea temperature also increases the severity of the disease. The effects of Vibrio shiloi on the coral *Oculina patagonica* increase with the rise in temperature [41]. Sometimes, ocean warming contributes to the release of some toxic

chemicals and causes serious health problems [42]. High temperatures also disrupt the chemical defense system of many marine animals [43]. Climate change in the ocean can also disrupt the biodiversity of local species [42]. Such warming leads to the extinction of cold-water boreal species [44]. Lower pH and highly dissolved CO₂ affect the biodiversity of the Mediterranean Sea. Acidification affects coralline red algae that serve as habitat and coral reef formation [45]. The immigration or transfer of invasive alien species disrupts existing species in many ways, such as displacing native species, losing genetic diversity, and affecting both habitat and community structure [46, 47]. Many invasive bivalves have negative impacts on native species [48]. The jellyfish Rhopilema nomadica has multiple negative impacts on marine ecosystems [49]. The Atlantic Percnon gibbesi has spread into the Mediterranean Sea and uses algae in large quantities for its energy production. It also competes with other native species for food and shelter [47].

Arctic species are so sensitive to abiotic factors that their abundance decreases significantly during Arctic summers [50, 51]. However, these responses vary with different factors such as nutrient availability, temperature increase, and ambient inconsistency [52]. Shellfish and the breeding process of other fishes are highly affected by hightemperature stress [53], the drop-in ocean pH [54], and the process of deoxygenation [55]. Pollution of the ocean from land and sea level rise is affecting the performance of reefs [56].

3. EFFECT ON PRODUCTIVITY AND OXYGEN DEMAND

The temperature rise can disorder normal metabolic and photosynthetic activities [57]. It also unsettles prey-predator ratios and reduces the overall mass of plant and animal species. The warming of the upper layer degrades the ability to mix nutrients and produce important products. The high stratification rate reduces oxygen levels and creates anaerobic conditions that lead to high mortality rates [57]. Fishing mortality rates have been increased by the unavailability of optimum oxygen demand [58] or by decreasing the total mass of phytoplankton and the low availability of essential nutrients [59]. General circulation models have indicated that dropping oxygen levels, along with other factors such as eutrophication and overfishing, are a problem for marine ecosystems. A high mortality rate has been found in the deep lower parts of the oceans off the west coasts of North America [60] and southern Africa [61].

The lower oxygen concentration in the ocean disturbs multicellular organisms [62]. This concentration has decreased since 1950 due to the increase in ocean temperature [63]. The increase in atmospheric CO₂ concentration decreases the amount of O₂ [64]. Mobile species can survive at low oxygen levels, but inactive organisms are sensitive to low O₂ or die [65].

4. IMPACT ON CORAL AND CORAL REEFS

Coral reefs have been in severe decline due to human activities. In the last 200 years, the destruction of coral reefs has multiplied due to overfishing and water pollution [66-68]. Warm-water reefs have decayed by about 50 % in tropical locations over the past 30-50 years [69-71]. Cold-water reefs have also declined at a similar rate due to many factors such as cable and pipeline connections, trash accumulation, sampling, reef exploitation, and more [72, 73]. The biggest problem is the development and advancement of technologies used to exploit marine ecosystems [74].

The cold habitats for plants or animal species and coral reefs are endangered and there is a possibility that these may become extinct in the future due to ocean warming [57]. Coral reefs are very vulnerable to ocean warming and acidification [75]. In the last three decades, many coral reefs have been lost because of ocean pollution, overfishing, and temperature rise. It is noteworthy that if this temperature rise is not controlled, it may lead to a significant loss in coral reef production by 2050 [50, 76]. Therefore, temperature stress inhibits coral growth and calcification capacity [77] and promotes degradation and susceptibility to storms [78]. The decline in coral reef formation has a direct impact on fish production, which thus leads to poverty and food insecurity. This alteration may also decrease the population of some important fish species [79, 80]. Continuous and sudden changes are occurring in ocean ecosystems, which are interlinked with the disruption of the normal life of many vital marine species. Coral reefs are major sources of food, shelter, and habitat for multiple marine organisms. In the deep sea, these reefs are the main habitats for numerous fishes. It must be highlighted that the rapid extinction of these coral reefs can cause serious problems for about 500 million people who rely directly on them for food, income, shelter, and other purposes. In some cases, this can cause regional insecurity [81].

The response of corals varies according to the type of environmental stress. The mutualistic relationship between warm water reefs is influenced by the physical/chemical changes in the environment. Thermal fluctuation or the presence of toxic compounds such as cyanide can distress this synergistic relationship [81, 82]. Similarly, coral bleaching has a damaging propensity to the progressive interaction between corals (Scleractinian) and Symbiodinium. Temperature surges over prolonged periods can promote mortality and bleaching [82, 83]. Bleaching of corals lessens their energy requirements and obstructs normal physiological function [84]. Previous studies have shown that changing climatic conditions can directly influence coral mortality and bleaching [85]. However, a high mortality rate was found in the early 1980s due to ocean warming caused by human activities [68]. The lack of symbiotic relationships among coral tissues caused serious threats due to starvation, failure of reproductive output and decrease in photosynthetic efficiency, poor competition, and diseases [68, 82, 86].

5. IMPACT ON THE MICROBIOME AND OTHER INTERACTION PROCESSES

Climate change is causing an increase in temperature and acidification, which affect the physiology and interactions of marine species. These climate changes have serious implications for kelp and its relevant microbiome [87]. The change in the structure and function of the microbiome is important in terms of environmental change. Seagrass species divide into similar rhizospheric communities [88]. Root structure and function have shown lowered exudates and thus lowered microbial populations in *Halophila ovalis, Halodule uninervis*, and *Cymodocea serrulate* [89].

One of the recent shotgun genomic studies has revealed that this process fosters the mutualistic
interaction of *Saccharina japonica* with the associated microbiome [90]. Some bacteria release toxic compounds that reduce the growth of other microorganisms on the surface of the alga [91]. At low salinity, some bacteria attach to species (*Ectocarpus*) and enhance their adaptive capacity [92]. The change in climatic conditions affects 1729 fish, 124 marine mammals, and 330 seabird species from 6 marine regions. Unfortunately, the world's very rich marine biodiversity is being seriously affected by ocean warming [74].

6. IMPACT ON MARINE SPECIES DISTRIBUTION AND BIODIVERSITY

Human activities are disrupting chemical processes, plant and animal species, and ocean temperatures [93]. Global warming affects the marine ecosystem in two ways. First, sea level rise reduces the area of wetlands [94]. These effects are particularly pronounced for mangroves [95]. Second, high temperature causes many important plant and animal species to shift to the pole by disrupting their habitat [96].

Regime shift has been observed in marine systems [93]. Regime shifts have been investigated in many studies, but these studies are limited to specific areas such as Florida Bay and the Baltic Sea [9]. In one of the condensed studies by Rocha et al. [97], 15 regime shifts were recorded and an efficient database was developed. These researchers have used the term "drivers" for all-natural or humaninduced factors that affect our marine ecosystem through direct or indirect sources. The direct source affects the marine ecosystem processes while the indirect source affects the direct drivers [98]. Regime change is due to a variety of factors, with an average of 12 factors. One of the most important factors is the decline of mangroves [99]. The second most important factor is the eutrophication of the marine ecosystem [100], followed by changes in corals [101].

Temperature increases of up to 4 °C is disrupting populations and other important features of marine ecosystems [102]. Warming of the marine system is affecting algal and seagrass species, which are a source of protein and food for many marine species. A large number of these species are being lost or relocated to polar regions. Genetic adaptability is slow due to increasing human pollution. Both epigenetic and non-genetic processes are required for proper adaptation and have direct effects on the phenotype, stability, and fitness of a species. Morphological variations are related to several physiological traits, reproductive success, and relationships with other organisms. The full study is based on the morphophysiological responses of algae and seagrass, which are important for appropriate conservation under climate change conditions [103]. High temperatures cause the extinction of many herbivore species and also disrupt the algal population. Moreover, it affects the success rate of many marine species [104].

increased An temperature causes the photosystem II (PS II) response and inhibits photosynthesis [105]. Increased ocean temperatures decrease total chlorophyll content and lead to coral bleaching along with the browning of seagrasses [106]. Similarly, ocean warming decreases both chlorophyll and carotenoid content of dwarf eelgrass (Zostera noltii). Temperature stress causes chlorophyll degradation and decreases the ratio of chlorophyll "a" and "b" [103, 107]. It also affects gametogenesis and the fertilization process of Laminaria digitata [89]. Ocean warming also causes the death of P. oceanica seeds [108]. High ocean temperature disrupts seedling performance. Moreover, it retards growth and increases leaf necrosis, mortality, and respiration efficiency of *P. oceanica* seedlings in the northwestern Mediterranean [109]. Temperature above 29 °C has caused the death of Z. japonica seedlings [110].

Frainer et al. [111] characterized the effects of climate change on 52 Arctic fish species of the Baret Sea for 13 key functional traits. They found that many functional traits were being replaced by some boreal species traits that were large, have longer lifespans, and were often piscivorous. Overfishing and maximum temperatures are two major extremes affecting many marine species. The poleward movement of marine species in response to warming is higher than in terrestrial ecosystems due to the reduced availability of physical shelter [80]. In addition, the lack of suitable habitat and other antagonistic interactions promote temperaturedriven poleward movement [112]. Under these conditions, the response to this movement varies among genotypes. Some genotypes are strongly affected by this change compared to other species [113]. This type of movement is more pronounced in mid to high-latitude warm-water species and therefore disrupts their important function and genetic variability [114].

However, the genotype response varied depending on the type of stress. Some genotypes showed themselves immune to global warming, while others remained sensitive and exhibited a low survival rate. For example, some fish species change their movements and move in both horizontal and vertical directions and have the ability to reproduce. Others, however, do not change direction and these species are expected to become extinct soon [115]. High CO₂ decreased the feeding ability and survival rate of crabs at a pH drop (0.3 units). At high CO₂, muscle consumption decreases by 50 %, and mortality increases (>50 %). The whelks showed resistance to elevated temperature and CO₂ stress. Abalone mussel growth decreased with increasing CO_2 levels. In the presence of crabs, the feeding of abalone was decreased and increased in warm water. Abalone mussel growth was significantly reduced by high CO₂ and low pH [116].

7. EFFECTS ON OTHER ECOSYSTEM FUNCTIONS

Temperature has a direct effect on the kinetic energy of molecular processes, such as the transport of materials to the membrane and enzymatic activities [117]. A slight change in temperature affects metabolic processes that directly impact various ecosystem functions and population growth [118]. Some organisms can acclimatize to these environmental changes within a limited temperature range. Once the limits are exceeded, the organism can no longer adapt, resulting in increased mortality, decreased fitness, and depleted population growth. Animal metabolism is also dependent on optimal temperature [117], in particular, prey-predator relations are affected by the increment in temperature [119]. Respiration rate reduces with increasing temperature; therefore, organisms require more calories to survive [5, 120]. Mesocosm investigations have shown that temperature elevation from 21 °C to 27 °C cutbacks biomass of the food web and plants and animals [121]. The size of phytoplankton also decreases due to warming [5].

8. OTHER EFFECTS

Climate change has positive, additive, or detrimental effects on certain marine species [34]. It becomes more dangerous by other factors such as overfishing, increases in nutrient levels in waters, and habitat alteration [122, 123]. However, the large population allows for reducing the likelihood of extinction at specific and general levels [124]. Under these conditions, marine reserves help to maintain the diversity of life and reduce the mortality rate of highly varied populations [125], thus enhancing the recovery process. Such reserves minimize the risk of outbreak and reduce prey growth [125, 126]. Variability among living organisms and the profusion of life has a direct impact on the ecosystem [127]. When maximum diversity is present in a reef ecosystem, it triggers more mass assemblages. In addition, more diverse communities may be less disturbed by maximum temperature stress [128]. The skeleton of corals releases calcium carbonate, which serves as a habitat for fish and other marine animals. These carbonated structures prevent biological and physical erosion. These reef ecosystems are believed to be the natural habitat for about 25 % of fish species [129].

The change in climatic conditions is troublesome to the normal processes of many important marine organisms by negatively affecting the habitats of marine species such as corals, seagrasses, oysters, and many others. Due to high temperatures, the mortality rate of corals is continuously increasing, by decreasing the presence and density of coral reefs and other species [130]. Deforestation of mangroves is growing rapidly and a loss of 10-20 % of mangroves was expected by 2100. This has a drastic implication for other marine ecosystems [131]. Sea ice or coral reefs play a prominent role in the genetic diversity of the marine ecosystem. It is fundamental for various activities of birds and animals and provides habitats for reproduction, migration, and other functions [132]. Due to climatic change, the penguin population is declining rapidly [133].

Climate change plays a central role also in affecting biological events [134]. Of note, these inconsistencies have been determined for gene expression [135], and in allele frequencies of the short-lived species [136]. Musculature development is also linked to temperature [137] which has a straightforward effect on the movement of organisms, disrupting their speed and potential to compete with prey [138]. In a broader perspective, warming can damage physical behavior and increase the mortality rates of species [139]. It also disturbs community size and biomass [140]. Ocean warming distracts the growth rates of many marine species [141]. The formation of juveniles and larvae stages is linked with temperature rise [142]. Juvenile marine species are highly sensitive and cannot tolerate extreme temperatures [143]. Climate change in the oceans has direct effects on host vulnerability, the production of various pathogens, and the production of more disease vectors. An example of some of the diseases includes extreme temperatures causing diseases described in reef-building corals [144]. Another example is the increase in the severity of the deadly infectious disease (red abalone) in California [145]. One of the serious threats to the ocean ecosystem is the changes in geochemical processes due to the increase in acid concentration. This type of change leads to the loss of habitat, species distribution, community composition, and other interactions described elsewhere [146].

9. IMPACTS OF CLIMATE CHANGE ON GLOBALLY IMPORTANT MARINE ECOSYSTEMS

High-temperature stress has significantly impacted both plant and animal species of the Arabian Gulf [147, 148]. Continued climate change is disrupting the Gulf's marine biodiversity. The high salinity and temperature stress determine the tolerance of species [149]. The occurrence and diversity of species in the Gulf marine ecosystem are low [150, 151], but from a biological perspective, these species have many values [152]. The environmental extremes such as the increase in world temperature and sea level, decrease in oxygen levels and other human activities such as overfishing, oil exploration, etc. are disturbing the biodiversity of this region [153, 154].

Marine species of the Gulf are more tolerant to heat stress compared to other parts of the world [155, 156]. The temperature increase has been determined to be up to +0.57 °C in the Gulf between 1950 and 2010 [157] has affected many marine species [158]. The temperature increase (35-37 °C) has more than quintupled the frequency of coral bleaching since late 1990 [159]. These impacts are very severe and in recent decades about 70% of the reefs in this region have disappeared within a few decades. Such mass mortality has a direct impact on other fish species [160]. Loss of hawksbill sea turtle habitat is expected in various parts of the Gulf. The rate of extinction is highest in the southwestern part of the Gulf, off the coast of Saudi Arabia, Qatar, and the UAE. The fisheries of Iran and Qatar may be more susceptible to climate variability [161].

Mediterranean Sea has a rich marine diversity that is affected by climate change [162]. The Mediterranean ecosystem has been reported with greater effects by habitat alteration, environmental change, and pollution, overexploitation of key species, introduction of unknown species into pre-existing biota, and by coastal urbanization [42, 163]. Environmental changes affect marine organisms in a variety of ways. Species with low biodiversity are more exposed to these threats and may become locally extinct [42, 164]. Heat and drought stress also this region [164, 165]. In 1999 and 2003, climate change led to the mass mortality of many species of benthic invertebrates [166].

Climate change has serious impacts on all small island states through temperature and sea level rise and changes in rainfall frequency. The effects of sea level rise are extremely dangerous for coastal ecosystems. The presence of large numbers of people on the coast disrupts normal sea levels, flooding, erosion, and the availability of trash disrupts small Caribbean Islands. These changes directly affect the habitats of many marine species and also lead to ecosystem degradation. Such environmental changes in the Caribbean Island increase disease and the production of various parasites, as well as the immigration of new species into the native biota [57, 162]. Many fish species are seriously threatened in Caribbean marine systems. The increasing biomass of algae also affects different ecosystems. Algal blooms reduce the availability of nutrients and increase ocean temperatures [162]. In addition, the opossum shrimp is greatly affected by the increase in temperature by causing anaerobic conditions in the Irish glacial relic Mysis salemaai. High temperature degrades habitat quality and slows down the survival rate of mammal species

[115]. The high sea temperature increases the alien invertebrates and fish species of the Israeli Mediterranean Sea. In contrast, populations of native fish and endangered species are declining [167].

10. RISK MANAGEMENT IN A CHANGING MARINE ECOSYSTEM

Greenhouse gas concentrations in the atmosphere can be controlled in many ways, including the use of renewable energy, increasing energy production capacity, carbon sequestration and safe storage, and enhancing natural carbon resources [15]. Most policies are based on the country's response to climate change [165], while ocean-based policies receive little attention. Therefore, ocean-based policies are mandatory to prevent ocean warming, control acidification, lower sea levels, and protect habitat degradation.

Climate changes induced by the ocean system are a major concern for policy makers and managers. The lack of effective planning and policy reduces the available resources for different marine species. "No regret" policies are necessary to keep the oceans safe for all marine species. Deforestation of important plant species like mangroves should be controlled to maintain the optimum temperature of the oceans. There is a need to manage or efficiently use available natural resources and prevent the release of toxic greenhouse gases into the upper or lower layers of the ocean [5, 168] described that humans can disrupt the marine ecosystem in five ways, namely by increasing acidity, raising sea level, increasing storms, disrupting the occurrence and diversity of species, and lowering oxygen levels. They emphasized that not only the release of CO₂ should be minimized as per the 2015 Paris Agreement greenhouse gas emissions, but also some other management and implementation steps are needed to protect marine flora and fauna.

With the increasing pressure on the marine ecosystem, it is now important to develop effective planning and policies to improve and safeguard ocean/deep-sea biodiversity. But still, there is a lack of proper strategies and good governance to tackle such issues and enhance the life system of many important marine organisms. In many parts of the world, governments have not given full authority to environmental protection agencies, which is one of the major problems for marine ecosystem security [169]. Preference is given to anthropogenic activities at certain experimental sites, e.g., fishing/ mining. However, natural or other human activities that affect the ocean ecosystem are not preferred [170, 171]. Clear evidence of the lack of adequate management is the fact that 64 % of the ocean area is beyond national jurisdiction (ABNJ) [171]. In particular, there is no single authority for the protection of the deep sea that is committed to its safety and biosecurity [172].

An important step towards safeguarding marine biodiversity is the establishment of Marine Protected Areas (MPAs). MPAs will protect many important and diverse marine organisms by protecting their habitats and increasing their abundance. Thus, MPAs will contribute to the conservation of many important marine organisms. This system requires effective planning, management, and implementation strategies [173, 174]. Specific conservation strategies, including fully and strongly protected areas, help and maintain marine biodiversity. According to the Convention on **Biological Diversity and Sustainable Development** Goal 14, coastal states are far beyond their target, having committed to protecting 10 % of the waters [175]. Some recent studies suggest that the target for MPAs should be 30 % to optimally protect marine ecosystems [176]. The MPA system needs to identify the gaps and should close them within deadlines. This process can be further improved through dialogs and the development of a clear agenda to safeguard the lives of marine species. But this process is not very successful due to the lack of human resources, funding sources, availability of equipment [177], and lack of discussion and help from local people. After a healthy dialog between marine researchers and managers, they concluded that not only MPAs but also efficient fisheries management strategies are important for about 70-90 % of the oceans [178].

 CO_2 concentrations in the air increased to 406 ppm by November 2017 [179]. The Paris Climate Agreement of 2015 [180] set the main goal to limit the global temperature increase to below 1.5 °C. To achieve this goal, regular and efficient methods of removing atmospheric C are required [181]. According to Johnson *et al.* [182], the North

Atlantic deep-water area and open oceans will be severely affected in the next 20-50 years. More and more efficient oceanographic data are important to review and calculate the species. In addition, more research is needed to review the changes in the deep-sea ecosystem and response times. They recommended precautionary measures and minimization of harmful human activities to the ecosystem that directly affect the deep-sea system. Vulnerability and participatory assessments are important to minimize the risk of extinction of many important marine species [161]. Abiotic techniques must be used to remove CO₂ from seawater [183, 184]. Marine spatial planning techniques must be used to conserve or save a large proportion of marine species [185]. Regime change requires international rules and regulations to minimize the risk to the marine ecosystem [97]. The possible solution to protect the marine ecosystem from direct and indirect pollution is shown in Figure 2 modified by Gattuso et al. [33].

Epigenetically driven variability plays a vital role in optimizing species in the face of changing environmental conditions [186, 187]. DNA polymorphism helps in slow acclimation processes underchanging climatic conditions [188]. Epigenetic mechanisms increase speciation, acclimation, and plasticity under extreme environmental conditions [189]. In addition, the methylation process aids in species adaptation [190]. The network enhances DNA methylation by regulating metabolic pathways at elevated temperatures (-1.5 °C vs. + 4 °C) [191]. Similarly, DNA methylation occurs at the larval stage when temperature increases up to 2 °C in the European seabass [192]. Acidification aids in the morphologically based adaptation of the coral *Stylophora pistillata* [193]. DNA methylation occurs in red, green, and brown algae, as well as diatoms [194, 195]. In addition, CpG islands and jumping genes enhance adaptation traits [196]. In seagrass (*Zostera marina*), jumping gene disruption occurs, forming a new promoter and splice sites, reactivating gene function, and enhancing acclimation to high temperatures [197]. Clonal growth together with a mutation in somatic cells plays a role in the adaptation and fitness of marine species to climate change [198].

11. CONCLUDING REMARKS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVE

High CO₂ and ocean warming have serious implications for the biota of marine ecosystems, including important plant and animal species. Ocean warming disrupts the morpho-biochemical and physiological processes of marine species. The effects on corals, which serve as shelter, habitat, and nutrient sources for many important marine species. are particularly severe. If these changes continue at the same rate, a large number of marine species will become extinct in the near future. Therefore, it is necessary to protect wetlands from anthropogenic activities, avoid toxic greenhouse gasses, and promote the efficiency of CO₂ precipitation in terrestrial ecosystems. In addition, serious steps must be taken to minimize man-made pollution. Thus, it is the responsibility of every individual, institution, government, and non-governmental organization to develop effective planning and policies for the safe protection of marine species. Strict codes and "No regret" policies should be implemented all over the world to protect the biodiversity of the various marine ecosystems.



Fig. 2. Salient actions to protect marine ecosystems

12. CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The authors declared no conflict of interest.

13. REFERENCES

- A.K. Sweetman, A.R. Thurber, C.R. Smith, L.A. Levin, C. Mora, C.L. Wei, A.J. Gooday, D.O. Jones, M. Rex, M. Yasuhara, and J. Ingels. Major impacts of climate change on deep-sea benthic ecosystems. *Elementa: Science of the Anthropocene* 5 (2017).
- R.K. Pachauri, and A. Reisinger. Synthesis report. Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change 151-165 (2007).
- R. Danovaro, J. Aguzzi, E. Fanelli, D. Billett, K. Gjerde, A. Jamieson, E. Ramirez-Llodra, C.R. Smith, P.V.R. Snelgrove, L. Thomsen, and C.V. Dover. An ecosystem-based deep-ocean strategy. *Science* 355(6324):452-454 (2017).
- M.J. Bebianno, H. Calumpong, S. Chiba, K. Evans, C. García-Soto, O.K. Kamara, E. Marschoff, E.Y. Mohammed, H. Ojaveer, C. Park, and Y. Randrianisoa. World Ocean Assessment II, Chapter 01, Overall summary (2021).
- O. Hoegh-Guldberg, and J.F. Bruno. The impact of climate change on the world's marine ecosystems. *Science* 328(5985): 1523-1528 (2010).
- C. Rosenzweig, D. Karoly, M. Vicarelli, P. Neofotis, Q. Wu, G. Casassa, A. Menzel, T.L. Root, N. Estrella, B. Seguin, and P. Tryjanowski. Attributing physical and biological impacts to anthropogenic climate change. *Nature* 453(7193):353-357 (2008).
- J. Hansen, M. Sato, R. Ruedy, K. Lo, D.W. Lea, and M. Medina-Elizade. Global temperature change. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 103(39):14288-14293 (2006).
- S.C. Doney, V.J. Fabry, R.A. Feely, and J.A. Kleypas. Ocean acidification: the other CO₂ problem. *Annual review of marine science* 1:169-192 (2009).
- R.J. Diaz, and R. Rosenberg. Spreading dead zones and consequences for marine ecosystems. *Science* 321(5891):926-929 (2008).
- L.R. Kump, A. Pavlov and M.A. Arthur. Massive release of hydrogen sulfide to the surface ocean and atmosphere during intervals of oceanic anoxia. *Geology* 33(5):397-400 (2005).
- J. Beardall, S. Beer, and J.A. Raven. Biodiversity of marine plants in an era of climate change: some predictions based on physiological performance (1998).
- 12. T. Stocker ed. Climate change 2013: the physical

science basis: Working Group I contribution to the Fifth assessment report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. *Cambridge university press* (2014).

- A.K. Magnan, M. Colombier, R. Billé, F. Joos, O. Hoegh-Guldberg, H.O. Pörtner, H. Waisman, T. Spencer, and J.P. Gattuso. Implications of the Paris agreement for the ocean. *Nature Climate Change* 6(8):732-735 (2016).
- 14. M.J. Hoffmann. Climate governance at the crossroads: Experimenting with a global response after Kyoto. *Oxford University Press* (2011).
- J. Rockström, W. Steffen, K. Noone, Å. Persson, F.S. Chapin III, E. Lambin, T.M. Lenton, M. Scheffer, C. Folke, H.J. Schellnhuber, and B. Nykvist. Planetary boundaries: exploring the safe operating space for humanity. *Ecology and Society* 14(2) (2009).
- Z.K. Shinwari, S.A. Jan, K. Nakashima, and K. Yamaguchi Shinozaki.. Genetic engineering approaches to understanding drought tolerance in plants. *Plant Biotechnology Reports* 14(2): 151-162 (2020).
- Qamar, H. M. Ilyas, and T. Mehmood. Recent Trends in Molecular Breeding and Biotechnology for the Genetic Improvement of Brassica species against Drought Stress. *Fresenius Environmental Bulletin* 29 (1): 19-25 (2020).
- S.A. Jan, N. Bibi, Z.K. Shinwari, M.A. Rabbani, S. Ullah, A. Qadir, and N. Khan. Impact of salt, drought, heat and frost stresses on morpho-biochemical and physiological properties of Brassica species: An updated review. *Journal of Rural Development and Agriculture* 2(1):1-10 (2017).
- Khan, I., S. Khan, Y. Zhang, J. Zhou, M. Akhoundian, and S.A. Jan. CRISPR-Cas technology based genome editing for modification of salinity stress tolerance responses in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). *Molecular Biology Reports* 48(4): 3804-3815 (2021).
- T. Yanik, and I. Aslan. Impact of Global Warming on Aquatic Animals. *Pakistan Journal Zoology* 50(1):353-363 (2018).
- W. de Vries, J. Kros, G.J. Reinds, and K. Butterbach-Bahl. Quantifying impacts of nitrogen use in European agriculture on global warming potential. *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability* 3(5):291-302 (2011).
- U.T. Srinivasan, W.W. Cheung, R. Watson, and U.R. Sumaila. Food security implications of global marine catch losses due to overfishing. *Journal of Bioeconomics* 12(3):183-200 (2010).

- R. Vaquer-Sunyer, D.J. Conley, S. Muthusamy, M.V. Lindh, J. Pinhassi, and E.S. Kritzberg. Dissolved organic nitrogen inputs from wastewater treatment plant effluents increase responses of planktonic metabolic rates to warming. *Environmental Science* & *Technology* 49(19):11411-11420 (2015).
- E.S. Poloczanska, C.J. Brown, W.J. Sydeman, W. Kiessling, D.S. Schoeman, P.J. Moore, K. Brander, J.F. Bruno, L.B. Buckley, M.T. Burrows, and C.M. Duarte. Global imprint of climate change on marine life. *Nature Climate Change* 3(10):919-925 (2013).
- 25. E.S. Poloczanska, M.T. Burrows, C.J. Brown, J. García Molinos, B.S. Halpern, O. Hoegh-Guldberg, C.V. Kappel, P.J. Moore, A.J. Richardson, D.S. Schoeman, and W.J. Sydeman. Responses of marine organisms to climate change across oceans. *Frontiers in Marine Science* 62 (2016).
- W.W. Cheung, V.W. Lam, J.L. Sarmiento, K. Kearney, R.E.G. Watson, D. Zeller, and D. Pauly. Large-scale redistribution of maximum fisheries catch potential in the global ocean under climate change. Global Change Biology 16(1):24-35 (2010).
- B. Gregory, L. Christophe, and E. Martin. Rapid biogeographical plankton shifts in the North Atlantic Ocean. *Global Change Biology* 15(7):1790-1803 (2009).
- A.L. Green, L. Fernandes, G. Almany, R. Abesamis, E. McLeod, P.M. Aliño, A.T. White, R. Salm, J. Tanzer, and R.L. Pressey. Designing marine reserves for fisheries management, biodiversity conservation, and climate change adaptation. *Coastal Management* 42(2):143-159 (2014).
- J.C. Castilla, M.A. Campo, and R.H. Bustamante. Recovery of Durvillaea antarctica (Durvilleales) inside and outside Las Cruces marine reserve, Chile. Ecological Applications 17(5):1511-1522 (2007).
- A. Munguía-Vega, A. Sáenz-Arroyo, A.P. Greenley, J.A. Espinoza-Montes, S.R. Palumbi, M. Rossetto, and F. Micheli. Marine reserves help preserve genetic diversity after impacts derived from climate variability: Lessons from the pink abalone in Baja California. *Global Ecology and Conservation* 4:264-276 (2015).
- N. Marbà, and C.M. Duarte. Mediterranean warming triggers seagrass (Posidonia oceanica) shoot mortality. *Global change biology* 16(8):2366-2375 (2010).
- 32. B. Hönisch, A. Ridgwell, D.N. Schmidt, E. Thomas, S.J. Gibbs, A. Sluijs, R. Zeebe, L. Kump, R.C. Martindale, S.E. Greene, and W. Kiessling. The geological record of ocean acidification. *science*

335(6072):1058-1063 (2012).

- 33. J.P. Gattuso, A. Magnan, R. Billé, W.W. Cheung, E.L. Howes, F. Joos, D. Allemand, L. Bopp, S.R. Cooley, C.M. Eakin, and O. Hoegh-Guldberg. Contrasting futures for ocean and society from different anthropogenic CO₂ emissions scenarios. *Science* 349(6243):4722 (2015).
- 34. I. Nagelkerken, and S.D. Connell. Global alteration of ocean ecosystem functioning due to increasing human CO₂ emissions. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 112(43):13272-13277 (2015).
- R.K. Unsworth, C.J. Collier, G.M. Henderson, and L.J. McKenzie. Tropical seagrass meadows modify seawater carbon chemistry: implications for coral reefs impacted by ocean acidification. *Environmental Research Letters* 7(2):024026 (2012).
- 36. J.Z. Sippo, D.T. Maher, D.R. Tait, C. Holloway, and I.R. Santos. Are mangroves drivers or buffers of coastal acidification? Insights from alkalinity and dissolved inorganic carbon export estimates across a latitudinal transect. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles* 30(5):753-766 (2016).
- C.M. Duarte, I.J. Losada, I.E. Hendriks, I. Mazarrasa, and N. Marbà. The role of coastal plant communities for climate change mitigation and adaptation. *Nature climate change* 3(11):961-968 (2013).
- D.A. Miteva, B.C. Murray, and S.K. Pattanayak. Do protected areas reduce blue carbon emissions? A quasi-experimental evaluation of mangroves in Indonesia. *Ecological Economics* 119:127-135 (2015).
- R.W. Wilson, F.J. Millero, and J.R. Taylor. Contribution of fish to the marine inorganic carbon cycle. *Science* 323(5912):359-362 (2009).
- C.T. Graham and C. Harrod. Implications of climate change for the fishes of the British Isles. *Journal of Fish Biology* 74(6):1143-1205 (2009).
- A. Kushmaro, E. Rosenberg, M. Fine, Y.B. Haim, and Y. Loya. Effect of temperature on bleaching of the coral *Oculina patagonica* by Vibrio AK-1. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 171:131-137 (1998).
- 42. C. Lejeusne, P. Chevaldonné, C. Pergent-Martini, C.F. Boudouresque, and T. Pérez. Climate change effects on a miniature ocean: the highly diverse, highly impacted Mediterranean Sea. *Trends in ecology & evolution* 25(4):250-260 (2010).
- 43. O.P. Thomas, V. Sarrazin, J. Ivanisevic, P. Amade, and T. Pérez. September. Sponge chemical defenses in stress conditions: The case study of the last disease

outbreak observed in the NW Mediterranean. In Proceedings of the 5th European Conference on Marine Natural Products 16-21 (2007).

- 44. S. Katsanevakis, M. Coll, C. Piroddi, J. Steenbeek, F. Ben Rais Lasram, A. Zenetos, and A.C. Cardoso. Invading the Mediterranean Sea: biodiversity patterns shaped by human activities. *Frontiers in Marine Science* 1:32 (2014).
- S.V. Smith, and J.D. Milliman. Marine carbonates. Recent sedimentary carbonates part 1. *Springer-Verlag*, New York, Heidelberg, & Berlin, xv+ 375 (1974).
- 46. M. Vilà, C. Basnou, P. Pyšek, M. Josefsson, P. Genovesi, S. Gollasch, W. Nentwig, S. Olenin, A. Roques, D. Roy, and P.E. Hulme. How well do we understand the impacts of alien species on ecosystem services? A pan-European, cross-taxa assessment. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment* 8(3):135-144 (2010).
- 47. S. Katsanevakis, D. Poursanidis, M.B. Yokes, V. Macic, S. Beqiraj, L. Kashta, Y.R. Sghaier, R. Zakhama-Sraieb, I. Benamer, G. Bitar, and Z. Bouzaza. Twelve years after the first report of the crab Percnon gibbesi (H. Milne Edwards, 1853) in the Mediterranean: current distribution and invasion rates. *Journal of Biological Research* 16:224 (2011).
- A.O. Ambrogi. Biotic invasions in a Mediterranean lagoon. Biological Invasions 2(2):165-176 (2000).
- A. Deidun, S. Arrigo, and S. Piraino. The westernmost record of *Rhopilema nomadica* (Galil, 1990) in the Mediterranean-off the Maltese Islands (2011).
- 50. H.O. Pörtner, D.M. Karl, P.W. Boyd, W. Cheung, S.E. Lluch-Cota, Y. Nojiri, D.N. Schmidt, P.O. Zavialov, J. Alheit, J. Aristegui, and C. Armstrong. Ocean systems. In *Climate change 2014: impacts, adaptation, and vulnerability. Part A: global and sectoral aspects. contribution of working group II to the fifth assessment report of the intergovernmental panel on climate change.* Cambridge University Press 411-484 (2014).
- 51. D. Kohlbach, F.L. Schaafsma, M. Graeve, B. Lebreton, B.A. Lange, C. David, M. Vortkamp, and H. Flores. Strong linkage of polar cod (*Boreogadus saida*) to sea ice algae-produced carbon: evidence from stomach content, fatty acid and stable isotope analyses. *Progress in Oceanography* 152:62-74 (2017).
- G.L. Hunt Jr, K.F. Drinkwater, K. Arrigo, J. Berge, K.L. Daly, S. Danielson, M. Daase, H. Hop, E. Isla, N. Karnovsky, and K. Laidre. Advection in polar and

sub-polar environments: Impacts on high latitude marine ecosystems. *Progress in Oceanography* 149:40-81 (2016).

- 53. C.L. Mackenzie, G.A. Ormondroyd, S.F. Curling, R.J. Ball, N.M. Whiteley, and S.K. Malham. Ocean warming, more than acidification, reduces shell strength in a commercial shellfish species during food limitation. *PLoS One* 9(1):e86764 (2014).
- F. Gazeau, L.M. Parker, S. Comeau, J.P. Gattuso, W.A. O'Connor, S. Martin, H.O. Pörtner, and P.M. Ross. Impacts of ocean acidification on marine shelled molluscs. *Marine biology* 160(8):2207-2245.
- 55. C.J., Gobler, E.L. DePasquale, A.W. Griffith, and H. Baumann. Hypoxia and acidification have additive and synergistic negative effects on the growth, survival, and metamorphosis of early life stage bivalves. *PloS One* 9(1):e83648 (2014).
- K.K. Yates, D.G. Zawada, and N.A. Smiley. Divergence of seafloor elevation and sea level rise in coral reef ecosystems. *Biogeoscience* 14(6):1739 (2017).
- O. Hoegh-Guldberg. Coral reef sustainability through adaptation: glimmer of hope or persistent mirage?. *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability* 7:127-133 (2014).
- W.W. Cheung, J.L. Sarmiento, J. Dunne, T.L. Frölicher, V.W. Lam, M.L. Deng Palomares, R. Watson, and D. Pauly. Shrinking of fishes exacerbates impacts of global ocean changes on marine ecosystems. *Nature Climate Change* 3(3):254-258 (2013).
- D.G. Boyce, M.R. Lewis, and B. Worm. Global phytoplankton decline over the past century. *Nature* 466(7306):591-596 (2010).
- 60. F. Chan, J.A. Barth, J. Lubchenco, A. Kirincich, H. Weeks, W.T. Peterson, and B.A. Menge. Emergence of anoxia in the California current large marine ecosystem. *Science* 319(5865):920-920 (2008).
- 61. S.J. Weeks, B. Currie, A. Bakun, and K.R. Peard. Hydrogen sulphide eruptions in the Atlantic Ocean off southern Africa: implications of a new view based on SeaWiFS satellite imagery. *Deep Sea Research Part I: Oceanographic Research Papers* 51(2):153-172 (2004).
- R. Vaquer-Sunyer, and C.M. Duarte. Thresholds of hypoxia for marine biodiversity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 105(40):15452-15457 (2008).
- 63. M.P. Meredith, and J.C. King. Rapid climate change in the ocean west of the Antarctic Peninsula during

the second half of the 20th century. *Geophysical Research Letters* 32(19) (2005).

- 64. A. Oschlies, K.G. Schulz, U. Riebesell, and A. Schmittner. Simulated 21st century's increase in oceanic suboxia by CO₂-enhanced biotic carbon export. Global Biogeochemical Cycles 22(4) (2008).
- A.H. Altieri. Dead zones enhance key fisheries species by providing predation refuge. *Ecology* 89(10):2808-2818 (2008).
- 66. J.B. Jackson, M.X. Kirby, W.H. Berger, and K. Bjorndal. a, Botsford LW, Bourque BJ, et al. Historical overfishing and the recent collapse of coastal ecosystems. *Science* 293:629-37 (2001).
- J.M. Pandolfi, R.H. Bradbury, E. Sala, T.P. Hughes, K.A. Bjorndal, R.G. Cooke, D. McArdle, L. McClenachan, M.J. Newman, G. Paredes, and R.R. Warner. Global trajectories of the long-term decline of coral reef ecosystems. *Science* 301(5635):955-958 (2003).
- O. Hoegh-Guldberg. Coral reefs in the Anthropocene: persistence or the end of the line?. *Geological Society, London, Special Publications* 395(1):167-183 (2014).
- T.A. Gardner, I.M. Côté, and J.A. Gill. Foraging activity of roving herbivorous reef fish (Acanthuridae and Scaridae) in eastern Brazil: influence of resource availability and interference competition. *Science* 301:958-960 (2003).
- J.F. Bruno, and E.R. Selig. Regional decline of coral cover in the Indo-Pacific: timing, extent, and subregional comparisons. *PLoS One* 2(8):e711 (2007).
- G. De'Ath, K.E. Fabricius, H. Sweatman, and M. Puotinen. The 27-year decline of coral cover on the Great Barrier Reef and its causes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 109(44):17995-17999 (2012).
- C.M. Turley, J.M. Roberts, and J.M. Guinotte. Corals in deep-water: will the unseen hand of ocean acidification destroy cold-water ecosystems?. *Coral reefs* 26(3):445-448 (2007).
- J.M. Roberts, and S.D. Cairns. Cold-water corals in a changing ocean. *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability* 7:118-126 (2014).
- 74. E. Ramirez-Llodra, A. Brandt, R. Danovaro, B. De Mol, E. Escobar, C.R. German, L.A. Levin, P. Martinez Arbizu, L. Menot, P. Buhl-Mortensen, and B.E. Narayanaswamy. Deep, diverse and definitely different: unique attributes of the world's largest ecosystem. *Biogeosciences* 7(9):2851-2899 (2010).
- 75. T.P. Hughes, M.L. Barnes, D.R. Bellwood, J.E.

Cinner, G.S. Cumming, J.B. Jackson, J. Kleypas, I.A. Van De Leemput, J.M. Lough, T.H. Morrison, and S.R. Palumbi. Coral reefs in the Anthropocene. *Nature* 546(7656):82-90 (2017).

- 76. J.P. Gattuso, P.G. Brewer, O. Hoegh-Guldberg, J.A. Kleypas, H.O. Pörtner, and D.N. Schmidt. Cross-chapter box on ocean acidification. In Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Part A: Global and Sectoral Aspects. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel of Climate Change. *Cambridge University Press* 129-131 (2014).
- 77. R. Albright, Y. Takeshita, D.A. Koweek, A. Ninokawa, K. Wolfe, T. Rivlin, Y. Nebuchina, J. Young, and K. Caldeira. Carbon dioxide addition to coral reef waters suppresses net community calcification. *Nature* 555(7697):516-519 (2018).
- A.J. Andersson, and D. Gledhill. Ocean acidification and coral reefs: effects on breakdown, dissolution, and net ecosystem calcification. *Annual review of marine science* 5:321-348 (2013).
- 79. J. García Molinos, B.S. Halpern, D.S. Schoeman, C.J. Brown, W. Kiessling, P.J. Moore, J.M. Pandolfi, E.S. Poloczanska, A.J. Richardson, and M.T. Burrows. Climate velocity and the future global redistribution of marine biodiversity. *Nature Climate Change* 6(1):83-88 (2016).
- 80. E. Poloczanska, O. Hoegh-Guldberg, W. Cheung, H.O. Pörtner, and M.T. Burrows. Crosss-chapter box on observed global responses of marine biogeography, abundance, and phenology to climate change. In Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Part A: Global and Sectoral Aspects. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. *Cambridge University Press* 123-127 (2014).
- O. Hoegh-Guldberg, E.S. Poloczanska, W. Skirving, and S. Dove. Coral reef ecosystems under climate change and ocean acidification. *Frontiers in Marine Science* 4:158 (2017).
- O. Hoegh-Guldberg. Climate change, coral bleaching and the future of the world's coral reefs. Marine and freshwater research 50(8):839-866 (1999).
- C.M. Eakin, J.A. Morgan, S.F. Heron, T.B. Smith, G. Liu, L. Alvarez-Filip, B. Baca, E. Bartels, C. Bastidas, C. Bouchon, and M. Brandt. Caribbean corals in crisis: record thermal stress, bleaching, and mortality in 2005. *PloS One* 5(11):e13969 (2010).

- A.C. Baker, P.W. Glynn, and B. Riegl. Climate change and coral reef bleaching: An ecological assessment of long-term impacts, recovery trends and future outlook. *Estuarine, coastal and shelf science* 80(4):435-471 (2008).
- A.E. Strong, G. Liu, W. Skirving, and C.M. Eakin. NOAA's Coral Reef Watch program from satellite observations. *Annals of GIS* 17(2):83-92 (2011).
- P.W. Glynn, and D.P. Manzello. Bioerosion and coral reef growth: a dynamic balance. In Coral reefs in the Anthropocene. *Springer, Dordrecht* 67-97 (2015).
- Z. Qiu, M.A. Coleman, E. Provost, A.H. Campbell, B.P. Kelaher, S.J. Dalton, T. Thomas, P.D. Steinberg, and E.M. Marzinelli. Future climate change is predicted to affect the microbiome and condition of habitat-forming kelp. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B* 286(1896):20181887 (2019).
- B.C. Crump, J.M. Wojahn, F. Tomas, and R.S. Mueller. Metatranscriptomics and amplicon sequencing reveal mutualisms in seagrass microbiomes. *Frontiers in microbiology* 9:388 (2018).
- N. Martins, H. Tanttu, G.A. Pearson, E.A. Serrão, and I. Bartsch. Interactions of daylength, temperature and nutrients affect thresholds for life stage transitions in the kelp Laminaria digitata (Phaeophyceae). *Botanica Marina* 60(2):109-121 (2017).
- P. Ji, Y. Zhang, J. Wang, and F. Zhao. MetaSort untangles metagenome assembly by reducing microbial community complexity. *Nature communications* 8(1):1-14 (2017).
- M. Romero, A.B. Martin-Cuadrado, A. Roca-Rivada, A.M. Cabello, and A. Otero. Quorum quenching in cultivable bacteria from dense marine coastal microbial communities. *FEMS microbiology ecology* 75(2):205-217 (2011).
- 92. S.M. Dittami, L. Duboscq-Bidot, M. Perennou, A. Gobet, E. Corre, C. Boyen, and T. Tonon. Host-microbe interactions as a driver of acclimation to salinity gradients in brown algal cultures. *The ISME Journal* 10(1):51-63 (2016).
- 93. C. Folke, S. Carpenter, B. Walker, M. Scheffer, T. Elmqvist, L. Gunderson, and C.S. Holling. Regime shifts, resilience, and biodiversity in ecosystem management. *Annual review of ecology, evolution, and systematics* 557-581 (2004).
- D.D. Torio, and G.L. Chmura. Assessing coastal squeeze of tidal wetlands. *Journal of Coastal Research* 29(5):1049-1061 (2013).

- E.L. Gilman, J. Ellison, N.C. Duke, and C. Field. Threats to mangroves from climate change and adaptation options: a review. *Aquatic Botany* 89(2):237-250 (2008).
- 96. W.R. Moomaw, G.L. Chmura, G.T. Davies, C.M. Finlayson, B.A. Middleton, S.M. Natali, J.E. Perry, N. Roulet, and A.E. Sutton-Grier. Wetlands in a changing climate: science, policy, and management. *Wetlands* 38(2):183-205 (2018).
- 97. J. Rocha, J. Yletyinen, R. Biggs, T. Blenckner and G. Peterson. Marine regime shifts: drivers and impacts on ecosystems services. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 370(1659):20130273 (2015).
- G.C. Nelson, E. Bennett, A.A. Berhe, K. Cassman, R. DeFries, T. Dietz, A. Dobermann, A. Dobson, A. Janetos, M. Levy, and D. Marco. Anthropogenic drivers of ecosystem change: an overview. *Ecology* and Society 11(2) (2006).
- D.R. Bellwood, T.P. Hughes, C. Folke, and M. Nyström. Confronting the coral reef crisis. *Nature* 429(6994):827-833 (2004).
- 100.J.S. Lauzon-Guay, R.E. Scheibling, and M.A. Barbeau. Modelling phase shifts in a rocky subtidal ecosystem. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 375:25-39 (2009).
- 101.A.H. Altieri, M.D. Bertness, T.C. Coverdale, E.E. Axelman, N.C. Herrmann, and P.L. Szathmary. Feedbacks underlie the resilience of salt marshes and rapid reversal of consumer-driven die-off. *Ecology* 94(7):1647-1657 (2013).
- 102.M. Dossena, G. Yvon-Durocher, J. Grey, J.M. Montoya, D.M. Perkins, M. Trimmer, and G. Woodward. Warming alters community size structure and ecosystem functioning. *Proceedings* of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 279(1740):3011-3019 (2012).
- 103.B. Duarte, I. Martins, R. Rosa, A.R. Matos, M.Y. Roleda, T.B. Reusch, A.H. Engelen, E.A. Serrão, G.A. Pearson, J.C. Marques, and I. Caçador. Climate change impacts on seagrass meadows and macroalgal forests: an integrative perspective on acclimation and adaptation potential. *Frontiers in Marine Science* 5:190 (2018).
- 104.L.I. Seifert, G. Weithoff, and M. Vos. Extreme heat changes post-heat wave community reassembly. *Ecology and evolution* 5(11):2140-2148 (2015).
- 105.S.J. Campbell, L.J. McKenzie, and S.P. Kerville. Photosynthetic responses of seven tropical seagrasses to elevated seawater temperature. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and*

Ecology 330(2):455-468 (2006).

- 106.P.A. Staehr, and T. Wernberg. Physiological responses of Ecklonia radiata (laminariales) to a latitudinal gradient IN ocean temperature 1. *Journal* of Phycology 45(1):91-99 (2009).
- 107. T. Repolho, B. Duarte, G. Dionísio, J.R. Paula, A.R. Lopes, I.C. Rosa, T.F. Grilo, I. Caçador, R. Calado, and R. Rosa. Seagrass ecophysiological performance under ocean warming and acidification. *Scientific Reports* 7(1):1-12 (2017).
- 108.E. Balestri, and F. Cinelli. Sexual reproductive success in Posidonia oceanica. *Aquatic Botany* 75(1):21-32 (2003).
- 109.L. Guerrero-Meseguer, A. Marín, and C. Sanz-Lázaro. Future heat waves due to climate change threaten the survival of Posidonia oceanica seedlings. *Environmental Pollution* 230:40-45 (2017).
- 110. M. Abe, K. Yokota, A. Kurashima, and M. Maegawa. High water temperature tolerance in photosynthetic activity of Zostera japonica Ascherson & Graebner seedlings from Ago Bay, Mie Prefecture, central Japan. *Fisheries Science* 75(5):1117-1123 (2009).
- 111. A. Frainer, R. Primicerio, S. Kortsch, M. Aune, A.V. Dolgov, M. Fossheim, and M.M. Aschan. Climate-driven changes in functional biogeography of Arctic marine fish communities. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 114(46):12202-12207 (2017).
- 112. A. Brown, and S. Thatje. The effects of changing climate on faunal depth distributions determine winners and losers. *Global change biology* 21(1):173-180 (2015).
- 113.P. Helaouet, G. Beaugrand, and M. Edwards. Understanding long-term changes in species abundance using a niche-based approach. *PloS One* 8(11):e79186 (2013).
- 114.S.D. Simpson, S. Jennings, M.P. Johnson, J.L. Blanchard, P.J. Schön, D.W. Sims, and M.J. Genner. Continental shelf-wide response of a fish assemblage to rapid warming of the sea. *Current Biology* 21(18):1565-1570 (2011).
- 115.M. Penk, I. Donohue, V. Récoules, and K. Irvine. Elevated temperatures interact with habitat quality to undermine survival of ectotherms in climatic refugia. *Diversity and Distributions* 21(2):200-210 (2015).
- 116. J.P. Lord, J.P. Barry, and D. Graves. Impact of climate change on direct and indirect species interactions. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 571:1-11 (2017).
- 117.P.W. Hochachka, and G.N. Somero. Biochemical

adaptation: mechanism and process in physiological evolution. *Oxford university press* (2002).

- 118. M.I. O'Connor, J.F. Bruno, S.D. Gaines, B.S. Halpern, S.E. Lester, B.P. Kinlan, and J.M. Weiss. Temperature control of larval dispersal and the implications for marine ecology, evolution, and conservation. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences 104(4):1266-1271 (2007).
- 119.E. Sanford. Regulation of keystone predation by small changes in ocean temperature. *Science* 283(5410):2095-2097 (1999).
- 120.A. López-Urrutia, E. San Martin, R.P. Harris, and X. Irigoien. Scaling the metabolic balance of the oceans. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 103(23):8739-8744 (2006).
- 121.M.I. O'Connor, M.F. Piehler, D.M. Leech, A. Anton, and J.F. Bruno. Warming and resource availability shift food web structure and metabolism. *PLoS* Biology 7(8):e1000178 (2009).
- 122.E.S. Darling, T.R. McClanahan, and I.M. Côté. Combined effects of two stressors on Kenyan coral reefs are additive or antagonistic, not synergistic. *Conservation Letters* 3(2):122-130 (2010).
- 123.J.E. Hewitt, J.I. Ellis, and S.F. Thrush. Multiple stressors, nonlinear effects and the implications of climate change impacts on marine coastal ecosystems. *Global change biology* 22(8):2665-2675 (2016).
- 124.C.N. Anderson, C.H. Hsieh, S.A. Sandin, R. Hewitt, A. Hollowed, J. Beddington, R.M. May, and G. Sugihara. Why fishing magnifies fluctuations in fish abundance. *Nature* 452(7189):835-839 (2008).
- 125.N. Rooney, K. McCann, G. Gellner, and J.C. Moore. Structural asymmetry and the stability of diverse food webs. *Nature* 442(7100):265-269 (2006).
- 126.K.D. Lafferty. Fishing for lobsters indirectly increases epidemics in sea urchins. *Ecological Applications* 14(5):1566-1573 (2004).
- 127. T.H. Oliver, N.J. Isaac, T.A. August, B.A. Woodcock, D.B. Roy, and D.B. Bullock. Declining resilience of ecosystem functions under biodiversity loss. *Nature communications* 6(1):1-8 (2015).
- 128.J.E. Duffy, J.S. Lefcheck, R.D. Stuart-Smith, S.A. Navarrete, and G.J. Edgar. Biodiversity enhances reef fish biomass and resistance to climate change. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 113(22):6230-6235 (2016).
- 129.R. Fisher, R.A. O'Leary, S. Low-Choy, K. Mengersen, N. Knowlton, R.E. Brainard, and M.J. Caley. Species richness on coral reefs and the pursuit of convergent global estimates. *Current*

Biology 25(4):500-505 (2015).

- 130.O. Hoegh-Guldberg, P.J. Mumby, A.J. Hooten, R.S. Steneck, P. Greenfield, E. Gomez, C.D. Harvell, P.F. Sale, A.J. Edwards, K. Caldeira, and N. Knowlton. Coral reefs under rapid climate change and ocean acidification. *Science* 318(5857):1737-1742 (2007).
- 131.D.M. Alongi. Mangrove forests: resilience, protection from tsunamis, and responses to global climate change. *Estuarine, coastal and shelf science* 76(1):1-13 (2008).
- 132.S.E. Moore, and H.P. Huntington. Arctic marine mammals and climate change: impacts and resilience. *Ecological Applications* 18(sp2): S157-S165 (2008).
- 133.C. Barbraud, H. Weimerskirch, C.A. Bost, J. Forcada, P. Trathan and D. Ainley. Are king penguin populations threatened by Southern Ocean warming?. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 105(26): E38-E38 (2008).
- 134.M. Afzal, G. Shabbir, M. Ilyas, S.S.A. Jan, and S.A. Jan. Impact of climate change on crop adaptation: current challenges and future perspectives. *Pure and Applied Biology* 7 (3): 965-972 (2018).
- 135.S.P. Place, M.J. O'Donnell, and G.E. Hofmann. Gene expression in the intertidal mussel Mytilus californianus: physiological response to environmental factors on a biogeographic scale. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 356:1-14 (2008).
- 136.A.A. Hoffmann, and Y. Willi. Detecting genetic responses to environmental change. *Nature Reviews Genetics* 9(6):421-432 (2008).
- 137.I.A. Johnston. Environment and plasticity of myogenesis in teleost fish. *Journal of Experimental Biology* 209(12):2249-2264 (2006).
- 138.M.V. Abrahams, M. Mangel, and K. Hedges. Predator-prey interactions and changing environments: who benefits?. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 362(1487):2095-2104 (2007).
- 139.L.S. Peck, K.E. Webb, and D.M. Bailey. Extreme sensitivity of biological function to temperature in Antarctic marine species. Functional Ecology 18(5):625-630 (2004).
- 140.J. Wiedenmann, K. Cresswell, and M. Mangel. Temperature-dependent growth of Antarctic krill: predictions for a changing climate from a cohort model. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 358:191-202 (2008).
- 141.M.S. Pratchett, P.L. Munday, S.K. Wilson, N.A. Graham, J.E. Cinner, D.R. Bellwood, G.P. Jones, N.V. Polunin, and T.R. McClanahan. Effects of

climate-induced coral bleaching on coral-reef fishes—ecological and economic consequences. In *Oceanography and marine biology* 257-302 (2008).

- 142.P.L. Munday, G.P. Jones, M.S. Pratchett, and A.J. Williams. Climate change and the future for coral reef fishes. Fish and Fisheries 9(3):261-285 (2008).
- 143.M. Gagliano, M.I. McCormick, and M.G. Meekan. Temperature-induced shifts in selective pressure at a critical developmental transition. *Oecologia* 152(2):219-225 (2007).
- 144.J.F. Bruno, E.R. Selig, K.S. Casey, C.A. Page, B.L. Willis, C.D. Harvell, H. Sweatman, and A.M. Melendy. Thermal stress and coral cover as drivers of coral disease outbreaks. *PLoS Biology* 5(6):e124 (2007).
- 145.J.D. Moore, T.T. Robbins, and C.S. Friedman. Withering syndrome in farmed red abalone Haliotis rufescens: thermal induction and association with a gastrointestinal Rickettsiales-like prokaryote. *Journal of Aquatic Animal Health* 12(1):26-34 (2000).
- 146.G.T. Pecl, M.B. Araújo, J.D. Bell, J. Blanchard, T.C. Bonebrake, I.C. Chen, T.D. Clark, R.K. Colwell, F. Danielsen, B. Evengård, and L. Falconi. Biodiversity redistribution under climate change: Impacts on ecosystems and human well-being. *Science* 355(6332):eaai9214 (2017).
- 147.W.W. Cheung, V.W. Lam, J.L. Sarmiento, K. Kearney, R. Watson, and D. Pauly. Projecting global marine biodiversity impacts under climate change scenarios. *Fish and Fisheries* 10(3):235-251 (2009).
- 148.J.R. Buchanan, F. Krupp, J.A. Burt, D.A. Feary, G.M. Ralph, and K.E. Carpenter. Living on the edge: Vulnerability of coral-dependent fishes in the Gulf. *Marine Pollution Bulletin* 105(2):480-488 (2016).
- 149.D.J.J. Kinsman. Reef coral tolerance of high temperatures and salinities. *Nature* 202(4939):1280-1282 (1964).
- 150.S.L. Coles. Coral species diversity and environmental factors in the Arabian Gulf and the Gulf of Oman: a comparison to the Indo-Pacific region. *Atoll Research Bulletin* (2003).
- 151.H. Zolgharnein, M. Kamyab, S. Keyvanshokooh, A. Ghasemi, and S.M.B. Nabavi. Genetic diversity of Avicennia marina (Forsk.) Vierh. populations in the Persian Gulf by microsatellite markers. *Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Science* 5(4):223-229 (2010).
- 152.D.M. Olson, and E. Dinerstein. The Global 200: a representation approach to conserving the Earth's most biologically valuable ecoregions. *Conservation*

biology 12(3):502-515 (1998).

- 153.J.A. Burt. The environmental costs of coastal urbanization in the Arabian *Gulf. City* 18(6):760-770 (2014).
- 154.A. Elhakeem, and W. Elshorbagy. Hydrodynamic evaluation of long term impacts of climate change and coastal effluents in the Arabian Gulf. *Marine Pollution Bulletin* 101(2):667-685 (2015).
- 155.C.R. Sheppard. Predicted recurrences of mass coral mortality in the Indian Ocean. *Nature* 425(6955):294-297 (2003).
- 156.B.C. Hume, C.R. Voolstra, C. Arif, C. D'Angelo, J.A. Burt, G. Eyal, Y. Loya, and J. Wiedenmann. Ancestral genetic diversity associated with the rapid spread of stress-tolerant coral symbionts in response to Holocene climate change. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 113(16):4416-4421 (2016).
- 157.A. Shirvani, S.J. Nazemosadat, and E. Kahya. Analyses of the Persian Gulf sea surface temperature: prediction and detection of climate change signals. *Arabian Journal of Geosciences* 8(4):2121-2130 (2015).
- 158.C. Sheppard, M. Al-Husiani, F. Al-Jamali, F. Al-Yamani, R. Baldwin, J. Bishop, F. Benzoni, E. Dutrieux, N.K. Dulvy, S.R.V. Durvasula, and D.A. Jones. The Gulf: a young sea in decline. *Marine Pollution Bulletin* 60(1):13-38 (2010).
- 159.R. Bento, A.S. Hoey, A.G. Bauman, D.A. Feary, and J.A. Burt. The implications of recurrent disturbances within the world's hottest coral reef. *Marine Pollution Bulletin* 105(2):466-472 (2016).
- 160.C. Sheppard. Coral reefs in the Gulf are mostly dead now, but can we do anything about it?. *Marine Pollution Bulletin* 105(2):593-598 (2016).
- 161.C.C. Wabnitz, V.W. Lam, G. Reygondeau, L.C. Teh, D. Al-Abdulrazzak, M. Khalfallah, D. Pauly, M.L.D. Palomares, D. Zeller, and W.W. Cheung. Climate change impacts on marine biodiversity, fisheries and society in the Arabian Gulf. *PloS One* 13(5):e0194537 (2018).
- 162.S. Lincoln. Impacts of climate change on society in the coastal and marine environments of caribbean small island developing states (SIDS). *Caribbean Marine Climate Change Report Card: Science Review* 115-123 (2017).
- 163.M. Coll, C. Piroddi, J. Steenbeek, K. Kaschner, F. Ben Rais Lasram, J. Aguzzi, E. Ballesteros, C.N. Bianchi, J. Corbera, T. Dailianis, and R. Danovaro. The biodiversity of the Mediterranean Sea: estimates, patterns, and threats. *PloS One* 5(8):e11842 (2010).

- 164.F. Giorgi, and P. Lionello. Climate change projections for the Mediterranean region. *Global* and planetary change 63(2-3):90-104 (2008).
- 165.C.B. Field, V.R. Barros, D.J. Dokken, K.J. Mach, M.D. Mastrandrea, T.E. Bilir, and L.L. White. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (Eds.). Climate change 2014: impacts, adaptation, and vulnerability: Working Group II contribution to the fifth assessment report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (2014).
- 166.N. Bensoussan, J.C. Romano, J.G. Harmelin, and J. Garrabou. High resolution characterization of northwest Mediterranean coastal waters thermal regimes: to better understand responses of benthic communities to climate change. *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science* 87(3):431-441 (2010).
- 167.X. Corrales, M. Coll, E. Ofir, J.J. Heymans, J. Steenbeek, M. Goren, D. Edelist, and G. Gal. Future scenarios of marine resources and ecosystem conditions in the Eastern Mediterranean under the impacts of fishing, alien species and sea warming. *Scientific reports* 8(1):1-16 (2018).
- 168.C.M. Roberts, B.C. O'Leary, D.J. McCauley, P.M. Cury, C.M. Duarte, J. Lubchenco, D. Pauly, A. Sáenz-Arroyo, U.R. Sumaila, R.W. Wilson, and B. Worm. Marine reserves can mitigate and promote adaptation to climate change. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 114(24):6167-6175 (2017).
- 169.C. Ehler, and F. Douvere. Marine Spatial Planning: a step-by-step approach toward ecosystem-based management. *Intergovernmental Oceanographic Commission and Man and the Biosphere Programme* (2009).
- 170.M. Elliott. Marine science and management means tackling exogenic unmanaged pressures and endogenic managed pressures--a numbered guide. *Marine Pollution Bulletin* 62(4):651-655 (2011).
- 171.D. Oesterwind, A. Rau, and A. Zaiko. Drivers and pressures–untangling the terms commonly used in marine science and policy. *Journal of environmental management* 181:8-15 (2016).
- 172.L.A. Levin, and N. Le Bris. The deep ocean under climate change. *Science* 350(6262):766-768 (2015).
- 173.S.E. Lester, B.S. Halpern, K. Grorud-Colvert, J. Lubchenco, B.I. Ruttenberg, S.D. Gaines, S. Airamé, and R.R. Warner. Biological effects within no-take marine reserves: a global synthesis. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 384:33-46 (2009).
- 174.G.J. Edgar, R.D. Stuart-Smith, T.J. Willis, S. Kininmonth, S.C. Baker, S. Banks, N.S. Barrett,

M.A. Becerro, A.T. Bernard, J. Berkhout, and C.D. Buxton. Global conservation outcomes depend on marine protected areas with five key features. *Nature* 506(7487):216-220 (2014).

- 175.D.P. Tittensor, M. Walpole, S.L. Hill, D.G. Boyce, G.L. Britten, N.D. Burgess, S.H. Butchart, P.W. Leadley, E.C. Regan, R. Alkemade, and R. Baumung. A mid-term analysis of progress toward international biodiversity targets. *Science* 346(6206):241-244 (2014).
- 176.B.C. O'Leary, M. Winther-Janson, J.M. Bainbridge, J. Aitken, J.P. Hawkins, and C.M. Roberts. Effective coverage targets for ocean protection. *Conservation Letters* 9(6):398-404 (2016).
- 177.D.A. Gill, M.B. Mascia, G.N. Ahmadia, L. Glew, S.E. Lester, M. Barnes, I. Craigie, E.S. Darling, C.M. Free, J. Geldmann, and S. Holst. Capacity shortfalls hinder the performance of marine protected areas globally. *Nature* 543(7647):665-669 (2017).
- 178.R. Hilborn. Policy: marine biodiversity needs more than protection. *Nature* 535(7611):224-226 (2016).
- 179. W.V. Sweet, R.E. Kopp, C.P. Weaver, J. Obeysekera, R.M. Horton, E.R. Thieler, and C. Zervas. *Global* and regional sea level rise scenarios for the United States (No. CO-OPS 083) (2017).
- 180.T. Ourbak, and A.K. Magnan. The Paris Agreement and climate change negotiations: Small Islands, big players. *Regional Environmental Change* 18(8):2201-2207 (2018).
- 181.B.M. Sanderson, B.C. O'Neill, and C. Tebaldi. What would it take to achieve the Paris temperature targets?. *Geophysical Research Letters* 43(13):7133-7142 (2016).
- 182.D. Johnson, M.A. Ferreira, and E. Kenchington. Climate change is likely to severely limit the effectiveness of deep-sea ABMTs in the North Atlantic. *Marine Policy* 87:111-122 (2018).
- 183.H.D. Willauer, F. DiMascio, D.R. Hardy, and F.W. Williams. Feasibility of CO₂ extraction from seawater and simultaneous hydrogen gas generation using a novel and robust electrolytic cation exchange module based on continuous electrodeionization technology. Industrial & Engineering Chemistry Research 53(31):12192-12200 (2014).
- 184.D.A. Koweek, D.A. Mucciarone, and R.B. Dunbar. Bubble stripping as a tool to reduce high dissolved CO₂ in coastal marine ecosystems. *Environmental Science & Technology* 50(7):3790-3797 (2016).
- 185.G. Rilov, A.D. Mazaris, V. Stelzenmüller, B. Helmuth, M. Wahl, T. Guy-Haim, N. Mieszkowska, J.B. Ledoux, and S. Katsanevakis. Adaptive marine

conservation planning in the face of climate change: What can we learn from physiological, ecological and genetic studies?. *Global Ecology and Conservation* 17:e00566 (2019).

- 186.J.J. Herman, and S.E. Sultan. DNA methylation mediates genetic variation for adaptive transgenerational plasticity. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 283(1838):20160988 (2016).
- 187.O. Rey, E. Danchin, M. Mirouze, C. Loot, and S. Blanchet. Adaptation to global change: a transposable element–epigenetics perspective. *Trends in ecology & evolution* 31(7):514-526 (2016).
- 188.I. Quintero and J.J. Wiens. Rates of projected climate change dramatically exceed past rates of climatic niche evolution among vertebrate species. *Ecology letters* 16(8):1095-1103 (2013).
- 189.H.J. Kilvitis, H. Hanson, A.W. Schrey, and L.B. Martin. Epigenetic potential as a mechanism of phenotypic plasticity in vertebrate range expansions. *Integrative and Comparative Biology* 57(2):385-395 (2017).
- 190.C.L. Richards, C. Alonso, C. Becker, O. Bossdorf, E. Bucher, M. Colomé-Tatché, W. Durka, J. Engelhardt, B. Gaspar, A. Gogol-Döring, and I. Grosse. Ecological plant epigenetics: Evidence from model and non-model species, and the way forward. *Ecology letters* 20(12):1576-1590 (2017).
- 191.A.G. Marsh, and A.A. Pasqualone. DNA methylation and temperature stress in an Antarctic polychaete, Spiophanes tcherniai. *Frontiers in Physiology* 5:173 (2014).
- 192.D. Anastasiadi, N. Díaz, and F. Piferrer. Small ocean temperature increases elicit stage-dependent changes in DNA methylation and gene expression in a fish, the European sea bass. *Scientific Reports* 7(1):1-12 (2017).
- 193.Y.J. Liew, D. Zoccola, Y. Li, E. Tambutté, A.A. Venn, C.T. Michell, G. Cui, E.S. Deutekom, J.A. Kaandorp, C.R. Voolstra, and S. Forêt. Epigenomeassociated phenotypic acclimatization to ocean acidification in a reef-building coral. *Science advances* 4(6):8028 (2018).
- 194.L. Tirichine, and C. Bowler. Decoding algal genomes: tracing back the history of photosynthetic life on Earth. *The Plant Journal* 66(1):45-57 (2011).
- 195.A. Veluchamy, X. Lin, F. Maumus, M. Rivarola, J. Bhavsar, T. Creasy, K. O'Brien, N.A. Sengamalay, L.J. Tallon, A.D. Smith, and E. Rayko. Insights into the role of DNA methylation in diatoms by genomewide profiling in Phaeodactylum tricornutum.

Nature communications 4(1):1-10 (2013).

- 196.S.E. Staton, and J.M. Burke. Evolutionary transitions in the Asteraceae coincide with marked shifts in transposable element abundance. *BMC genomics* 16(1):1-13 (2015).
- 197.J.L. Olsen, P. Rouzé, B. Verhelst, Y.C. Lin, T. Bayer, J. Collen, E. Dattolo, E. De Paoli, S. Dittami, F.

Maumus, and G. Michel. The genome of the seagrass *Zostera marina* reveals angiosperm adaptation to the sea. *Nature* 530(7590):331-335 (2016).

198.T.B. Reusch, and C. Boström. Widespread genetic mosaicism in the marine angiosperm *Zostera marina* is correlated with clonal reproduction. *Evolutionary Ecology* 25(4):899-913 (2011).

Proceedings of the Pakistan Academy of Sciences: B Life and Environmental Sciences 60(1): 49-56 (2023) Copyright © Pakistan Academy of Sciences ISSN (Print): 2518-4261; ISSN (Online): 2518-427X http://doi.org/10.53560/PPASB(60-1)733



Research Article

Production of Fibrinolytic Enzyme by Soil Actinobacteria

Aminu Argungu Umar^{1*}, Aliyu Abdullahi Turaki², Ahmad Ibrahim Bagudo³, and Rilwanu Yeldu Ibrahim⁴

¹Department of Biochemistry, Kebbi State University of Science and Technology, Aliero, Nigeria ²Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, Federal University, Birnin Kebbi, Nigeria ³Department of Microbiology, Kebbi State University of Science and Technology, Aliero, Nigeria ⁴Department of Biochemistry, Usmanu Danfodiyo University Sokoto, Nigeria

Abstract: Thrombotic diseases are increasingly becoming among the prominent causes of death across the globe. Researchers are now turning attention towards fibrinolytic enzymes as potential alternative treatment for thrombolytic diseases. This present study focused on the production of extracellular fibrinolytic enzyme from soil *Actinobacteria* and evaluation of its hydrolytic activity on blood clot. The Actinobacteria was isolated from compost soil of semi-arid climate in Nigeria. Bacterial isolation was achieved using starch casein agar. Potent fibrinolytic enzyme producing *Actinobacteria* were identified and subjected to enzyme production using submerged fermentation method. The interactive effects of incubation time, temperature, pH and media components on enzyme production were analysed. Extracellular fibrinolytic enzyme produced by the selected *Actinobacteria* was partially purified by ammonium sulphate precipitation and subsequently assayed for blood clot lysis activity. Results of these studies indicated that fibrinolytic enzyme was able to degrade blood clot comparable to the positive control. These results shows that soil Actinobacteria of unexplored semi-arid climate of Nigeria present a prospect in search of novel microorganisms with potentials in the production of fibrinolytic enzyme that can serve as an alternative blood clot buster in treating thrombolytic diseases.

Keywords: Actinobacteria, Semi-Arid, Fibrinolytic Enzyme, Yield optimization, Thrombolytic.

1. INTRODUCTION

Myocardial localized necrosis occurrence is on the increase globally, primarily due to Thrombosis and pulmonary embolism that develop inside the arteries [1, 2]. Thrombosis is a critical event and a common pathology underlying myocardial infarction [3]. Treatment of thrombosis is the usual way through which acute myocardial infarction (AMI) is combated. The use of synthetic therapeutics in treating thrombosis can result to negative effects such as allergic response, short half-life and they are expensive to acquire [4-6]. Therefore, it is critical to research and develop natural, safer, and cost effective thrombolytic agents. Nowadays, protein treatments are commonly used in combating AMI. In the last decade, microbial fibrinolytic proteases have shown great potential for therapeutic application [7]. It is envisaged that fibrinolytic enzymes of natural source are less likely to induce negative effects such as allergic response and they are inexpensive to produce. Therefore, therapeutic screening of fibrinolytic enzymes from microbial origin could be the most suitable method for fibrinolytic enzymes production [7].

Actinobacteria are widely distributed in nature inhabiting mainly soil and plants. They are filamentous Gram-positive microorganisms that are ubiquitously distributed in nature. They are significantly an important sources of bioactive metabolites of industrial and biotechnological importance [8]. There are literature reports on the production of fibrinolytic proteases by

Received: September 2022; Accepted: March 2023

^{*}Corresponding Author: Aminu Argungu Umar <auargungu96@gmail.com>

the *Actinobacteria* from aquatic and terrestrial ecosystems [9-13].

The expanding applications of fibrinolytic proteases motivated this study to screen for novel fibrinolytic Actinobacteria from soil. One of the advantages of producing enzymes from microbial sources is that, it could be achieved using low cost substrates. From the industrial point of view, designing of a low cost production medium for bio products such as enzymes is one of the curial factors, because the market price of the particular bio products is directly influenced by the cost of production medium components. Therefore, utilizing a locally abundant cost effective inexpensive substrates could reduce the cost of production [14]. The present study aims to isolate soil Actinobacteria and induce extracellular fibrinolytic enzyme production by the isolated Actinobacteria. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first attempt to explore the potential of soil Actinobacteria of slaughter house for fibrinolytic enzyme production and characterization.

2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 Sample Collection

Soil sample was collected on 25th March 2021, from the abattoir compost soil in Yeldu town ($12^{\circ}47'06''N$ $4^{\circ}15'56''E$) at the depth of approximately 12 cm from the surface and brought to the laboratory in sterile polythene bag. Soil samples were incubated at 80 °C for 15 minutes to eliminate most of the unwanted gram-negative bacteria. Soils were allowed to cool and then 1 g of each soil sample was treated in a two-step process with 0.1 g CaCO₃ followed by 1.5 % phenol for 30 min.

2.2 Isolation and Identification of Actinobacteria

About 1g of the treated soil samples were suspended in 9 ml normal saline and vortexed. Serial dilution was carried out up to 10–5. Then 100µl of the serially diluted sample from 10–5 tube was inoculated on starch casein agar (SCA) supplemented with 50 µg/mL cycloheximide and 50 µg/mL nalidixic acid to restrict fungal and gram negative bacteria growth respectively. The resultant colonies were identified as *Actinobacteria* using conventional microbiology techniques and subsequently subcultured to obtain pure cultures. Screening for casein and fibrin hydrolysis was carried out based on the maximum zone of hydrolysis in both casein and fibrin, and the potent isolate was selected for further investigation [15-17].

2.3 Fibrinolytic Enzyme Production and Optimization of Production Media

Fibrinolytic enzyme production was initiated by transferring a single colony of *Actinobacteria* from the casein agar plate into a Erlenmeyer flask containing 50 mL of casein basal broth (Casein 10 gL⁻¹; K₂HPO₄ 2 gL⁻¹; KNO₃ 2 gL⁻¹; NaCl2 gL⁻¹; Casein 0.3 gL⁻¹, and 0.02 gL⁻¹ of MgSO₄, CaCO₃, and FeSO₄ each, pH 7.5) [18], and incubated for 18 hrs at constant shaking of 200 rpm. The culture was then diluted at 1:100 (v/v) with the same but fresh Casein broth for three successive passages. Then 5 ml of the passaged culture of *Actinobacteria* was inoculated into another 250 ml of Casein basal broth, then incubated at 37 °C for 5 days on a shaker at 200 rpm.

determine To the required optimum physicochemical conditions in achieving maximum yield of keratinase through submerged fermentation (SF), a one-variable-at-a-time (OVAT) method was adopted and the effects of incubation period (24-120 h), incubation temperature (25-60 °C at 5 °C interval), pH (5.0-9.0), carbon and nitrogen sources were evaluated for optimal production of keratinase. Each experiment was carried out in triplicates. After 5 days of incubation, the crude extracellular fibrinolytic enzyme was obtained as a supernatant by centrifugation at 7,000 rpm for 10 min at 4 °C and then subjected to 85 % saturation of ammonium sulphate (NH₄)2SO₄. Using a dialysis tubing cellulose membrane obtained from Sigma-Aldrich, the ammonium sulphate precipitate was dialyzed against 10 mM Tris-HCl buffer (pH 7.5) [19].

2.4 Fibrinolytic Enzyme Assay

The reaction was setup with 3 mL of 0.1 M Tris-HCl containing 0.01 M CaCl₂ (pH 7.8), 1 mL (1 % w/v) of fibrin, and 1 mL of partially purified enzyme. The reaction was allowed to continue for 30 min at 37 °C after which 5 mL of trichloroacetic acid (TCA) containing 0.22 M sodium acetate and 0.33 M acetic acid was added to terminate the reaction. The

reaction mixture was centrifuged and absorbance of the supernatant was taken at 275 nm. One unit of fibrinolytic enzyme was defined as the amount of enzyme required to increase the absorbance at 275 nm equivalent to 1 μ g of tyrosine per min [20]. The enzyme activity (EA) was calculated in U/mL according to the following Equation:

$$EA = (\Delta A \times V \times f)/(\varepsilon \times 1 \times v_{a})$$
 (Equation 1)

Where ΔA is the change in absorbance, V is the final volume of the reaction, *f* is the dilution factor, ε is the extinction coefficient, l is the path length of the cell and v_o volume of the enzyme used.

2.5 In vitro Assay of Blood Clot Lysis

Goat blood was obtained from a slaughter house in Aliero town. The blood was allowed to form a clot and then washed with phosphate-buffered saline to remove any impurities before adding the fibrinolytic enzyme. Positive and negative controls were prepared with clexane injection and a 0.9 % w/v saline solution respectively. A 5 mL of fresh goat blood was used for each test and all reaction mixtures were allowed to stand for 3 h at room temperature and checking after every 30 min [20].

2.6 Statistical analysis

Triplicates tests were performed in all the experiments and results were presented as Mean \pm SD values. The significant differences of the data were evaluated via Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) and Duncan's Multiple Range Test (DMRT). Findings of all the experimental tests were significant at $p \le 0.05$.

3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

3.1 Isolation and Identification of Actinobacteria

Actinobacteria of the slaughter house compost soil were isolated and identified based on the colonies morphological appearance on starch casein agar plate. The colonies were mainly white and some tiny, spherical and irregular ash-grey (Figure 1A). The isolated Actinobacteria was able to hydrolyse casein protein in the medium, indicating its proteolytic activity. Distinct colonies were selected and sub-cultured (Figure 1B) to have pure colonies which were subsequently subjected to production of fibrinolytic enzyme.



Fig. 1. (A) *Actinobacteria* isolates. (B) Sub-cultured *Actinobacteria* isolates.

3.2 Production of Fibrinolytic Enzyme and Optimization of Production Media

Various process parameters including incubation period, incubation temperature, pH, carbon and nitrogen sources influence fibrinolytic protease production. Depending on the microbial strains being studied, these production parameters varies for achieving maximum enzyme production. In this study, fibrinolytic enzyme production was initiated and allowed to continue for a period of 5 days under varying fermentation conditions including incubation period, temperature, pH, carbon and nitrogen sources. Experiments were carried out in triplicates under each fermentation condition. At 24 h intervals, an aliquot of the production media was collected and centrifuged. The supernatant was used as crude enzyme and the enzyme activity was assessed as described above.

Fibrinolytic enzyme production was determined by the activity of the crude enzyme, more activity indicate high concentration of the crude extracellular enzyme. Results of the OVAT experiments indicates that production of fibrinolytic enzyme started at 24 hour post inoculation and continued up to the fifth day, the enzyme production reached maximum (53.48 U/mL) at 72 h after which it begins to decline (Figure 2).

Previous study on Alcaligenes aquatilis PJS_1 reported 60 h incubation period as the optimum for maximum fibrinolytic enzyme production [14] whereas, *Bacillus* sp. IND7 was reported to achieve maximum production of fibrinolytic enzyme at 72 h [20].

Temperature is among the crucial factors that influences the ability of microorganisms to grow and synthesise metabolites. Each microorganism has its favourable temperature, therefore, metabolic reaction in microorganisms could be affected due to change in the fermentation temperature. This study assessed the temperature effects on fibrinolytic enzyme production by the isolated *Actinobacteria*. According to the results obtained, the optimum temperature for maximum enzyme production (68.28 U/mL) was 40 °C, and an increase in the incubation temperature to 45 °C causes a decline in the production of enzyme (Figure 3).

Previous studies on the production of fibrinolytic enzyme by marine Actinobacteria have reported the optimum temperatures for maximum enzyme production to be between 33 and 37 °C [12, 13]. Whereas, optimum fermentation temperature for fibrinolytic enzyme production by other bacterial strains was reported to be 35 °C [14, 21]. The variation in optimum fermentation temperature for fibrinolytic enzyme production between our study and the previous studies could be directly related to the fact that the sources of organisms and the bacterial strains are different from each study. In this study, the Actinobacteria was obtained from the compost soil of Yeldu town in Kebbi State, Nigeria which is a hot semi-arid climate where the daytime temperature can reach up to 45 °C during the warmest months of March to May. Hence, it is not surprising to have microorganisms from that habitat favouring high temperature for production of secondary metabolites.

Medium pH is another factor that affects the growth and synthesis of metabolites because metabolic reaction can be influenced as a result of change in the pH of the production media. The effect



Fig. 2. Fibrinolytic enzyme activity of *Actinobacteria* isolate at different incubation period.

of pH on the production of fibrinolytic enzyme by the isolated *Actinobacteria* was evaluated and the results indicated that maximum enzyme production (57.69 U/mL) was achieved when the pH of the production media was 8 (Figure 4). Previous studies on the production of fibrinolytic enzyme by marine Streptomyces reported that maximum enzyme production was achieved when the pH of the production media was between 7 and 7.3 [12,13]. This shows that *Actinobacteria* fibrinolytic enzyme production is more favoured in a media of between neutral to near alkaline pH.

Carbon and nitrogen plays a role in the synthesis of microbial metabolites, hence the need to assess how sources of carbon and nitrogen can affect production of extracellular fibrinolytic enzyme by the *Actinobacteria* isolate. Results of these evaluations suggests that the *Actinobacteria* isolate was able to grow in all the media containing different sources of carbon and nitrogen, although the level of enzyme production varies with different source. For the carbon sources, the highest enzyme production of 71.13 U/mL was observed from the fermentation media containing glucose as the only source (Figure 5). Whereas, highest production of enzyme 65.11 U/mL was observed in the presence of tyrosine as nitrogen source (Figure 6).

Previous study reported a maximum fibrinolytic enzyme production by *Streptomyces rubiginosus* VITPSS1 in the presence of glycerol and soybeans as carbon and nitrogen sources respectively [12]. In another study, *S. radiopugnans* VITSD8 was reported to exhibit the highest yield of fibrinolytic enzyme when peptone and maltose were the sources of nitrogen and carbon respectively. Other strains of bacteria were also reported to having high yield of fibrinolytic enzyme in the presence of different



Fig. 3. Fibrinolytic enzyme activity of *Actinobacteria* isolate at different temperature.



Fig. 4. Fibrinolytic enzyme activity of *Actinobacteria* isolate at different pH.

carbon and nitrogen sources [14, 21, 22]. This indicates that, the source of microorganisms and the strains can influence a variation in the synthesis of microbial metabolites as evidenced from these studies. This means that *Actinobacteria* of marine origin can be different from that of terrestrial origin in terms of factors that influence enzymes production, hence the need to explore more habitats in search of novel microbes for low cost production of fibrinolytic enzyme to convert thrombolysis disorder.

3.3 Partial Purification of Fibrinolytic Enzyme

The crude supernatant of the fermentation broth was partially purified with 85 % saturation of ammonium sulphate. From the purification results, it was observed that partially purified fibrinolytic enzyme exhibited a specific activity of 249.5 U/mg and 37 % yield after dialysis step (Table 1). The percentage yield was obtained using the formula





Fig. 6. Fibrinolytic enzyme production by soil Actinobacteria isolate under different carbon sources.



Fig. 5. Fibrinolytic enzyme production by soil *Actinobacteria* isolate under different carbon sources.

3.4 In vitro Assay of Blood Clot Lysis

Potential hydrolytic activity of the partially purified fibrinolytic enzyme (200 IU/mL) was evaluated on fresh goat blood in vitro. Clexane injection (200 IU/mL) and a 0.9 % w/v saline solution were considered as the positive and negative controls respectively. Results of these assays indicated that partially purified fibrinolytic enzyme achieved about 75 % clot lysis compared to 100 % achieved by the clexane injection (Figure 7).

Various studies have been reported on the blood clot lysis activity of fibrinolytic enzyme of microbial origins exhibiting different level of blood clot lysis. These include protease SFE1 [5], fibrinolytic protease of Streptomyces rubiginosus VITPSS1 [12], fibrinolytic protease of Streptomyces radiopugnans VITSD8 [13], the free protease BC1 and immobilized CLEA-Fib-mChi [23], fibrinolytic protease of Serratia marcescens subsp. sakuensis [24], and streptokinase [25]. Hence, our study further revealed the actinokinaselike activity of fibrinolytic proteases are more



Fig. 7. Blood clot lysis activity. (A) Negative control (0.9 % saline solution) (B) Partially purified fibrinolytic enzyme (C) Positive control (Clexane injection)

Purification Step	Total Protein (mg)	Total Activity (U)	Specific Activity (U/mg)	% Yield	Purification Fold
Crude Supernatant	281	27,765.3	65.7	100	1
Ammonium Sulfate	85.6	19,429.2	151.2	46.6	2.3
Dialysis	41	10,229.5	249.5	37	3.8

Table 1. Purification table for fibrinolytic enzyme

of neutral enzymes that are produced mostly from *Actinobacteria*. Considering the high demand of fibrinolytic enzymes and the negative effects of the available drugs for the treatment of thrombosis, it is important to explore more fibrinolytic enzyme producing *Actinobacteria* especially from unexplored habitats. For the first time, the results of our study revealed that the soil compost of slaughter house from the semi-arid climate of Nigeria is a promising source of novel *Actinobacteria* with potentials in the production of fibrinolytic enzymes and possibly other industrially valuable secondary metabolites.

4. CONCLUSION

Actinobacteria was isolated from the compost soil of slaughter house obtained from Yeldu town and a proteolytic enzyme was produced by the isolated Actinobacteria strain. Due to its blood clot degradation activity in comparable with the standard clexane injection the protease was considered as fibrinolytic enzyme. It can be envisage that this fibrinolytic protease can be studied further towards developing it as a potential thrombolytic agent for treating heart diseases. Enzymes from unexplored natural habitats could be of immense benefits in various industrial applications. The findings of our study present more enlightenment that can lead to bioprospecting of fibrinolytic enzymes and even other enzymes of industrial importance from semiarid habitats of Nigeria. We aim to further our study towards the molecular identification of the isolated Actinobacteria strain and carry out more purification steps to have enzyme of high purity in order to characterize the enzyme.

5. ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank the Kebbi State University of Science and Technology, Aliero for providing us with conducive laboratories for the execution of this research work.

6. CONFLICT OF INTEREST

We declare no conflict of interest.

7. REFERENCES

- E. Boersma, N. Mercado, D. Poldermans, M. Gardien, J. Vos, M.L. Simoons. Acute myocardial infarction. *Lancet* 361: 847–858 (2003).
- 2. S. Blix. The effectiveness of activators in clot lysis, with special reference to fibrinolytic therapy: A new method for determination of preformed clot lysis. *Acta Medica Scandinavica* 172: 1–24 (1962).
- M.E.A. Alkhider, E.E. Elkhidir, and H.M. Ibrahim. Optimization of physical conditions of Actinokinase synthesis from local isolate using response surface methodology (RSM). *Journal of Applied Sciences* 20: 35-40 (2020).
- J.R. Simkhada, P. Maner, S.S. Cho, and J.C. Ydoo. A novel fibrinolytic protease from Streptomyces sp. CS684. *Process Biochemistry* 45(1): 88–93 (2010).
- X. Ju, X. Cao, Y. Sun, Z. Wang, C. Cao, J. Liu, and J. Jiang. Purification and characterization of a fibrinolytic enzyme from Streptomyces sp. XZNUM 00004. World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology 28(7): 2479–2486 (2012).
- S. Pan, G. Chen, J. Zeng, X. Cao, X. Zheng, W. Zeng, and Z. Liang.. Fibrinolytic enzyme production from low-cost substrates by marine Bacillus subtilis: Process optimization and kinetic modelling. *Biochemical Engineering Journal* 141: 268–277 (2019).
- V.G. Nielsen, J.K. Kirklin, W.L. Holman, and B.L. Steenwyk. Clot lifespan model analysis of the effects of warfarin on thrombus growth and fibrinolysis: Role of contact protein and tissue factor initiation. *ASAIO Journal* 55: 33–40 (2009).
- 8. S.N. Hazarika, and D. Thakur. Beneficial Microbes in Agro-Ecology. Bacteria and Fungi. *Elsevier*

chapter-21 Actinobacteria p. 443-476 (2020).

- C.V. Dilip, S.S. Mulaje, and R.Y. Mohalkar. A review on actinomycetes and their biotechnological application. *International Journal of Biopharmaceuticals Science Research* 4: 1730– 1742 (2013).
- V. Mohanasrinivasan, S. Yogesh, A. Govindaraj, J.S. Naine, and S.C Devi. In vitro thrombolytic potential of actinoprotease from marine *Streptomyces violaceus* VITYGM. *Cardiovascular and Hematological Agents in Medicinal Chemistry* 14: 120–124 (2016).
- B. Naveena, K.P. Gopinath, P. Sakthiselvan, and N. Partha. Enhanced production of thrombinase by Streptomyces venezuelae: Kinetic studies on growth and enzyme production of mutant strain. *Bioresource Technology*. 1: 417–424 (2012).
- P. Verma, S. Chatterjee, M.S. Keziah, and S.C. Devi, S.C. Fibrinolytic Protease from Marine Streptomyces rubiginosus VITPSS1. *Cardiovascular & Hematological Agents in Medicinal Chemistry* 16: 44-55 (2018).
- D. Dhamodharan, N.S. Jemimah, K.S. Merlyn, and D.C. Subathra. Novel fibrinolytic protease producing Streptomyces radiopugnans VITSD8 from marine sponges. *Marine Drugs* 17:164 (2019).
- N. Prabhu, T. Gajendran, S. Karthikadevi, A. Archana, and R. Arthe. Utilization of sugarcane bagasse for enhancement production of fibrinolytic enzyme using statistical approach. *Cleaner Engineering and Technology* 5:100269 (2021).
- S.A. Gopinath, and K. Lingappa. Isolation and screening of fibrinolytic enzymes producing bacterium strain from soil waste. *International Journal of Current Microbiology and Applied Sciences* 5(7): 969–976 (2016).
- T. Astrup, and S. Müllertz. The fibrin plate method for estimating fibrinolytic activity. *Archive of Biochemistry and Biophysics* 40(2): 346–351 (1952).
- 17. S.B. Kim, D.W. Lee, C.I. Cheigh, E.A. Choe, S.J. Lee, Y.H. Hong, H.J. Choi, and Y.R. Pyun. Purification and characterization of a fibrinolytic subtilisin-like protease of Bacillus subtilis TP-6 from an Indonesian fermented soybean, Tempeh. *Journal*

of Industrial Microbiology and Biotechnology 33(6): 436–444 (2006).

- P.L. Bhargavi, and R.S. Prakasham, A fibrinolytic, alkaline and thermostable metalloprotease from the newly isolated Serratia sp RSPB11. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules* 61: 479–486 (2013).
- P. Hariharan, C.C. Naik, P. Vajpaye, and K. Srinivasa. Production, purification and characterization of thrombolytic enzyme from Cladosporium spp. through solid state fermentation. *International Journal of Engineering* 3: 585-589 (2014).
- P. Vijayaraghavan, A. Arun, S.G.P. Vincent, M.V. Arasu, and N.A. Al-Dhabi. Cow dung is a novel feedstock for fibrinolytic enzyme production from newly isolated Bacillus sp. IND7 and its application in in vitro clot lysis. *Frontiers in Microbiology* 7:361 (2016).
- K. Taneja, B. Kumar, S. Kumar, N. Dilbaghi. Process optimization for production and purification of novel fibrinolytic enzyme from Stenotrophomonas sp. KG-16-3. *Biocatalysis and Biotransformation* 37 (2): 124–138 (2019).
- B.K. Bajaj, S. Singh, M. Khullar, K. Singh, and S. Bhardwaj. Optimization of fibrinolytic protease production from Bacillus subtilis I-2 using agroresidues. *Brazilian Archive of Biological Technology* 57 (5): 653–662 (2014).
- S. Khankari, A. Badoei-dalfard, and Z. Karami. Cross-linked Enzyme Aggregates of Fibrinolytic Protease BC1 Immobilized on Magnetic Chitosan Nanoparticles (CLEAs-Fib-mChi): Synthesis, Purification, and Characterization. *Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology* 193: 2004-2027 (2021).
- A. Krishnamurth, and P.D. Belur. A novel fibrinolytic serine metalloprotease from the marine Serratia marcescens subsp. sakuensis: Purification and characterization. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules* 112: 110–118 (2018).
- S. Prasad, R.S. Kashyap, J.Y. Deopujari, H.J. Purohit, G.M. Taori, and H.F. Daginawal. Development of an in vitro model to study clot lysis activity of thrombolytic drugs. *Thrombosis Journal* 4: 1–4 (2006).

Proceedings of the Pakistan Academy of Sciences: B Life and Environmental Sciences 60(1): 57-70 (2023) Copyright © Pakistan Academy of Sciences ISSN (Print): 2518-4261; ISSN (Online): 2518-427X http://doi.org/10.53560/PPASB(60-1)734



Research Article

Growth Dynamics and Resource Allocation of *Bistorta amplexicaulis* (D. Don) Greene: An Alteration across Different Habitats and Altitudes

Hanan Javid^{1*}, Roof Ul Qadir¹, Junaid A. Magray¹, Bilal A. Wani¹, Irshad A. Nawchoo¹, and Shabana Gulzar²

 ¹Pant Reproductive Biology, Genetic Diversity, and Phytochemistry Research Laboratory, Department of Botany, University of Kashmir, Srinagar, Jammu & Kashmir, India
 ²Government College for Women, Cluster University Srinagar, Jammu & Kashmir, India

Abstract: *Bistorta amplexicaulis* is an essential medicinal plant found in the Kashmir Himalaya. Ethnobotanical studies have revealed that this particular species is used to treat fractures, muscle injuries, heart problems, abnormal leucorrhoea, menorrhagia and inflammation of the mouth and tongue. The current study aimed to determine the variation in growth traits and fluctuations in the allocation patterns with respect to different habitats across the altitudinal gradient. In order to adapt to unpredictable and stressful conditions at higher altitudes, phenotypic plasticity plays a crucial role. Our findings revealed considerable variability in the phenotypic traits, indicating that altitude has a defined effect on this species's morphology and reproductive traits. Low altitude plant populations of Kashmir University Botanical Garden (KUBG), Dara and Tangmarg were more robust and taller (98.4 ± 2.36 , 83.58 ± 2.69 and 74.08 ± 1.59 cm, respectively) than the populations of Pissu top and Bangus (23.96 ± 3.38 and 30.43 ± 1.12 cm respectively) at higher altitudes. The habitats of KUBG, Dara, and Tangmarg proved to be substantially better for the growth of *B. amplexicaulis*, as per the Principal component analysis (PCA). The regression analysis demonstrated a negative relation between altitude and plant height. Traits such as leaf length/ breadth, Rhizome length/ breadth and inflorescence length showed a strong correlation with plant height. Our results provide an inclusive description of the phenotypic variability of this significant medicinal plant in response to the habitat variability across different altitudes.

Keywords: Kashmir Himalaya, Phenotypic Variability, Habitat Variability, Altitudinal Gradient

1. INTRODUCTION

An alluring south Asian region- the Kashmir Himalaya is situated at the north-western tip of the Himalayan Biodiversity Hotspot. It harbors around 10,000 plant species, of which 4,000 are endemic, making up about 2.5 % of the global angiosperm diversity [1]. Due to their sedentary nature, plants cannot avoid the vulnerabilities of the environment in which they grow. Therefore, to persist in severe conditions, they must adapt genetically or by phenotypic plasticity [2]. As an adaptation to resource availability, plants can display disparity in morphological characteristics in response to abiotic (temperature, rainfall, and soil) and biotic (grazing and competition) aspects of the environment. The competence of plants to transform their morphology and physiology as a response to inconsistent environmental conditions is called phenotypic plasticity; this phenotypic adaptation is also termed phenotypic accommodation [3]. Phenotypic plasticity plays a crucial role in evolution by adjusting the developmental pathways, thus leading to phenotypic diversity in nature [4]. Phenotypic plasticity has a crucial role in several aspects, such as resource acquisition by plants and differences in the size and positioning of resource-attaining parts (leaves), which are critical to a plant's regulation of resource accessibility.

Received: October 2022; Accepted: March 2023

^{*}Corresponding Author: Hanan Javid

bhathanan123@gmail.com>

Variability in general growth forms of resource accumulating organs such as tubers, roots, rhizomes, flowers and leaves of a plant are critical to regulate the available resources [5]. Phenotypic plasticity that is environmentally induced in plants is usually measured as a functional response that amplifies fitness in fluctuating environments. If environmental and phenotypic variation within species are correlated, it can be hypothesized that species are phenotypically more variable if they occupy an extensive range of habitats as supported by Sultan (2001) [6]. With increasing evidence from molecular and developmental biology, we have gained an advanced understanding of plasticity methods which are critical for tracking changes in specie distribution, the composition of a community, and the productivity of crops under climate change [7].

Bistorta amplexicaulis (D. Don) Greene (Syn: Polygonum amplexicaule D. Don), locally known as "machran chai" belongs to the family Polygonaceae and grows as a medium-sized herb in hilly areas of Kashmir [8]. It is a highly useful medicinal plant, native to China north-central, China south central, Afghanistan China southeast, East Himalaya, Pakistan, Nepal and West Himalaya (POWO). It is a highly useful medicinal plant, native to China north-central, China south central, Afghanistan China southeast, East Himalaya, Pakistan, Nepal and West Himalaya (POWO). B. amplexicaulis, a medicinally significant plant, has been used to cure many ailments, such as maintaining normal menstrual flow, reducing stomach pain, fractures, rheumatism, osteoporosis, treating muscle injuries and inflammation of the mouth and tongue [9, 10]. Phytochemical analysis of B. amplexicaulis has revealed numerous compounds, including, Friedelin, β -sitosterol, simiarenone, angelicin, psoralen, palmitic acid, quercetin [11] catechin, quercetin-3-O-B-D galactopyranoside, rutin, amplexicine [12]. The current research work aimed to reveal (i) Impact of altitude and habitat variability on the morphological attributes and allocation patterns of B. amplexicaulis (ii) to find a suitable habitat for the development, establishment and cultivation of *B. amplexicaulis*.

2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 Study Area

The Kashmir Himalaya constitutes a distinct

biosphere unit in the northern Himalayas due to its bio-geographically important location [13]. The region covers around 15,948 km² and is mountainous for nearly 64 % of its overall size. The region is located between 32°20' and 34°50' North latitude and 73°55' and 75°35' East longitude [14]. Geographically, the region consists primarily of an oblique bowl-shaped valley. The valley is encircled in the south and southwest by the Pir Panjal range of the Lesser Himalaya, and in the north and northeast by the Zanskar range of the Greater Himalaya.

2.2 Survey and Selection of Study Sites

Extended field surveys were conducted during 2019-2021 in varied habitats of Kashmir Himalaya in order to recognize specific areas across diverse geographical conditions. Bistorta amplexicaulis was found growing in Dara, Gulmarg, Doodhpathri, Tangmarg, Sinthan top, Aru, Lidderwat, Pissu top, Tarsar, Tosa Maidan, Royelsar, Razdan top, Aharbal, Nilnag, Lolab, Bangus, Reshwar, Margan top, Jawahar tunnel, Ferozpora, Drang, Karnah, Pattan and Duksum (Fig. S1). For the present study, eight natural populations Pissu top (3,286 m asl), Bangus (2866 m asl), Doodhpathri (2,730m asl), Gulmarg (2,657 m asl), Lidderwat (2,634 m asl), Aru (2,417 m asl), Tangmarg (2,158m asl), Dara (2,050 m asl) and one population at Kashmir University Botanical Garden - 1588 m asl (KUBG) (Figure. 1) were selected. The geo-coordinates were taken using Gramin GPS etrex 10. Table 1 depicts the prominent features of the selected sites.

2.3 Morphological Characterization

Twenty mature flowering individuals were randomly selected from the specified populations to observe various morphological parameters. The selected plants were assessed for morphological characteristics such as Rhizome length and breadth, Stem length, basal leaf length and breadth, apical and basal leaf length and breadth, leaf number per plant, number of inflorescences per plant and number of flowers. Populations were selected based on, habitat structure, an abundance of selected plants and ease of access. The specimens from each population were deposited and identified in Kashmir University Herbarium (KASH) under voucher specimens No. 2964, 3749, 4318 and 4319.

Study sites	Altitude	Latitude (N) and	Habitat features	Threat
-	(m asl)	Longitude (E)		
Pissu top	3,286	34°05′02″N	Open, dry and rocky slope	Over grazing
•	-	75°26'01'E		0 0
Bangus	2866	34°22'14″ N	Open, dry and rocky	Overgrazing, habitat
U		74°02' 45‴E	slopes	destruction
Doodhpathri	2,730	33°51′24″ N	Open, moist and rocky	Overgrazing, habitat
		74°33′51″ E	slope	destruction
Gulmarg	2,657	34°03′02″ N	Partial Shady, dry and	Local use, Habitat
		74°23′14″ E	rocky slope	destruction and
				Overgrazing
Lidderwat	2,634	34°06′32″N	Shady slope	Over grazing, habitat
		75°14′53″ E		destruction
Aru	2,417	34°05′27″ N	Shady slope, moist	Over grazing, habitat
		75°15′54″ E		destruction
Tangmarg	2,158	34°03′37″ N	Partial shady, moist	Habitat destruction
		74°25′27″ E		
Dara	2,050	34°04′11″ N	Shady, moist and rocky	Over grazing
		74°54'09″ E	slopes	
KUBG	1,595	34°07′38″ N	Open field, dry	Nil
		74°50′12″ E		

 Table 1. Habitat features and Geo-coordinates of the selected sites



Fig. 1. Map depicting study sites of B. amplexicaulis in Kashmir Himalaya

2.4 Resource Allocation

Ten well-developed and flowering plants from the selected study sites were collected for analysing of resource allocation in different plant parts. The selected plants were further split into stem, leaves, rhizome and inflorescence. Freshly collected specimens were weighed and oven dried at 80 °C for 48 h using an electronic balance [15]. Reproductive effort (RE) was calculated from the evaluation of biomass (dry weight) dedicated to reproductive and above ground vegetative structures [16].

$$RE=\frac{Dry \text{ weight of inflorescence}}{\text{total dry weight of the above and below ground parts}} \times 100$$

2.5 Data Analysis

The difference in morphological characters was carried out to test for differences between populations using ANOVA (IBM-SPSS software, version 23). Origin 2021 was used to carry out linear regression between altitude and numerous morphological parameters. Principal component analysis (PCA) was employed to examine morphological features concerning habitat dynamics and comprehend the coherence between various vegetative and reproductive traits.

3. RESULTS

The widespread survey of the Kashmir Himalayas illustrates a wide range of habitats suitable for the growth of *B. amplexicaulis*. The specie grows mainly on rocky slopes (open and partial shady), with an altitudinal range of 1500 m to 3300 m asl (Fig. S2). The morphological features of B. amplexicaulis are depicted in Table S1 and also presented in Figure 2. The phenotypic traits of B. amplexicaulis studied during the field survey vary substantially, signifying remarkable phenotypic variation between populations across different altitudes (Table 2). The plant height is highest in KUBG (98.54±2.36 cm) and lowest in Pissu top (23.96±3.38 cm). Similarly, Rhizome length and breadth were maximum in KUBG (18.98±1.72 and 2.17±0.31 cm) and minimum in Pissu top (8.66±0.54 and 1.27±0.44 cm). The number of leaves ranged from 3.00±0.67 (Pissu top) to 4.40±0.51 per plant (KUBG). The mean apical and basal leaf length per plant is 4.17±0.72 cm (Pissu top) to 9.62±2.03 cm (KUBG) and

 6.51 ± 0.95 cm (Pissu top) to 12.64 ± 2.57 cm (KUBG), respectively. The mean apical and basal leaf breadth per plant ranged from 2.13 ± 0.56 (Pissu top) to 4.57 ± 1.62 (KUBG) and 2.66 ± 0.66 (Pissu top) to 5.38 ± 1.79 cm (KUBG), respectively. Inflorescence length also varied considerably from 2.12 ± 0.43 (Pissu top) to 8.12 ± 0.54 (KUBG) and the number of flowers ranged from 30.4 ± 5.32 (Pissu top) to 95.6 ± 2.99 cm (KUBG) respectively.

The current study demonstrates that resource partitioning is not homogenous amongst different parts of B. amplexicaulis. It displayed major differences were displayed in the patterns of resource allocation across the study sites (Table 3). A notable variation was witnessed in the plants across different populations along the altitudinal gradient inhabiting varying habitats with reference to above and belowground dry weight biomass. Maximum resource allocation (dry weight) was exhibited by rhizome (16.92±2.42 to 9.01 ± 1.13 g) followed by the stem (1.85 ± 0.72) to 0.945 ± 0.27 g), leaves $(0.98\pm0.15$ to $0.34\pm$ 0.14 g) and minimum in inflorescence (0.424 ± 0.06) to 0.19±0.08 g). Significant variation was observed in the resource budget per plant of low and highaltitude populations, as values were maximum at low-altitude populations viz. KUBG, Dara and Tangmarg (19.816±3.4, 18.0±4.60 and 16.2± 2.30 cm respectively) and minimum at high altitude populations viz. Pissu top, Bangus and Doodhpathri (11.36±1.60,11.53±3.69 and 12.38±2.32 cm respectively) as represented in Table 3.

Percent resource allocation followed a distinct trend across all populations with maximum resources allocated to rhizome $(87.51\pm3.76 \text{ to } 78.52\pm5.17 \%)$ followed by Stem $(9.37\pm3.29 \text{ to } 7.00\pm2.50 \%)$, Leaf $(8.46\pm2.49 \text{ to } 3.99\pm1.43 \%)$ and inflorescence $(3.85\pm0.70 \text{ to } 1.00\pm0.39 \%)$. The reproductive effort also shows a clear trend as plant populations of lower elevations had lesser reproductive effort compared to the populations of higher altitudes. Reproductive effort of populations from Pissu top, Bangus has maximum percent values $(20.27\pm0.71, 18.99\pm9.63 \%$ respectively). In comparison to populations from lower altitudes, which include Tangmarg, Dara and KUBG $(11.4\pm4.7, 9.39\pm3.77 \text{ and } 6.9\pm0.56 \%$ respectively).



Fig. 2. Morphological features of *Bistorta amplexicaulis* (D. Don) Greene; (A) Rhizome, (B) Stem, (C) Leaf, (D) Inflorescence, (E) Flower, (F) Seeds.

4. DISCUSSION

B. amplexicaulis grows in a wide range of habitats varying from shady slopes, and open plains to rocky and moist slopes from (1585-3300 m asl) in Kashmir Himalaya. Lie *et al.* 2003 [17] indicated a widespread distribution for the species and recorded its distribution in shady grassy places on mountain slopes, grassy slopes in valleys, mountain slopes of forests and on forest margins (1000-3000 m asl). This in turn acquaints us with the fact that the study specie has a broader niche and can show phenotypic plasticity. In the present study we were able to scrutinize significant phenotypic variability and their regression across the populations of different habitats along an elevational gradient (Figure 3). Populations growing at high altitudes (Pissu

top, Bangus and Doodhpathri) are comparatively shorter than the populations of low altitudes (Tangmarg, Dara and KUBG). Thus altitude, plant height and other morphological traits are negatively correlated (Figure 4). r^2 values were calculated where altitude and plant height had $r^2 = 0.9218$. Other morphological traits are positively correlated with plant height. The characters include rhizome length ($r^2 = 0.9338$), rhizome breadth ($r^2 = 0.9108$), apical leaf length ($r^2 = 0.9718$), apical leaf breadth ($r^2 = 0.9951$), basal leaf length $(r^2 = 0.9118)$, basal leaf breadth $(r^2 = 0.6718)$, inflorescence length ($r^2 = 0.9318$). PCA (Figure 5) has shown that high altitudes are disparaging for almost all of the reproductive and vegetative traits of B. amplexicaulis demonstrating superior growth conditions at lower altitudes [18]. Increasing altitude causes plants



Fig. 3. (A-J) Regression analysis of various morphological traits of Bistorta amplexicaulis



Fig. 4. Correlation plot showing Pearsons correlation coefficient amongst altitude and various morphological traits. PH. Plant height; NOL. Number of leaves; ALL. Apical leaf length; ALB. Apical leaf breadth; BLL. Basal leaf length BLB. Basal leaf breadth; IL Inflorescence length; NOF. Number of flowers; RL. Rhizome length; RB. Rhizome breadth

to grow shorter which can be a survival mechanism to endure harsh climatic conditions such as strong winds, also as leaves remain close to the warmer soil, photosynthetic conditions are amended [19]. At higher altitudes plants intensify super cooling capability by diminishing intercellular spaces and cell size [20]. Which ultimately results in an overall decrease in plant size. This reverse relationship between plant height and increasing altitude, as an adaptation has already been reported by various workers [21-24]. Apart from the severe conditions, plants growing at high altitudes have shorter growing seasons, which are less tall compared to plants at lower altitudes, where the growth period is relatively longer [25, 26].

The most important components of a plant's photosynthetic system are its leaves, which are essential for both plant functioning and enduring environmental adaptability [27]. Essential leaf traits include leaf shape, biomass, and water content [28]. As leaf dry matter content shows the balance between investment in storage and growth, it has frequently been used to forecast growth strategy and responsiveness to environmental perturbations. According to this study, the leaf length and breadth were found to be greatest in plant populations at lower altitudes (Dara, KUBG) and minimum in plants

at higher altitudes (Pissu top, Bangus). According to Bresson *et al.* 2011 [29], increasing altitude generally causes a decrease in the length, breadth, and area of leaves. Light is a vitally important limiting factor for plant development and survival at low altitudes [30]. Due to their restricted capacity for photosynthetic activity per unit leaf area, plants that grow in low light intensities would naturally allocate the majority of their biomass to laminas [31, 32]. Large leaves can intercept a significant quantity of light at low light intensities because of their larger foliar display [33].

Understanding the patterns of resource allocation is important for understanding the life history strategies of different plant species. In this study species, allocation of most of the resources is towards the rhizome. After rhizomes, most resources get allocated to the stem followed by leaf and inflorescence across all populations at different altitudes. Even though the relative percent resource allocation follows a similar trend, there is a significant difference in the dry weight biomass amongst the populations at different altitudes. At higher altitudes, relatively more dry mass is accumulated in comparison to low altitude plants. In populations of Pissu top and Bangus the ratio of Dry weight/ fresh weight for rhizomes is 0.616 g and whereas for Dara and KUBG it is

*Mean± Standa	d with the small	ll letters designate	that they vary sig	nificantly from e	each other amon	gst the selected	populations (T	ukey test: $P \le 0$.	.05)	
Phenotypic traits	Pissu top	Bangus	Doodhpathri	Gulmarg	Lidderwat	Aru	Tangmarg	Dara	KUBG	F valve
Plant height (cm)	*23.96±3.38	^a 30.433± 1.12 ^b	$36.93\pm 2.84^{\circ}$	43.89±2.27 ^d	52.29±2.06°	72.08±1.59 ^f	74.03±2.38 ^f	83.58±2.69 ^g	98.54±2.36 ^h	24.938
No. of leaves per plant	$3{\pm}0.67^{a}$	3.11 ± 0.78^{b}	$3.3{\pm}0.67^{\mathrm{ab}}$	3.4±0.84 ^{abc}	3.5 ± 0.52^{abc}	4.3±0.48°	4.00±0.82 ^{bc}	4.3±0.57 ^{bc}	4.4±0.51°	0.907
Basal leaf length (cm)	6.51 ± 0.95^{a}	6.744 ± 1.47^{a}	6.636 ± 2.20^{a}	6.755 ± 2.90^{a}	7.36 ± 2.52^{ab}	9.37 ± 2.62^{ab}	9.31±2.16 ^{ab}	10.54±1.32 ^{bc}	12.64±2.57°	1.784
Basal leaf breadth (cm)	2.66±0.66a	2.95 ± 1.11^{a}	2.8165 ± 1.00^{a}	$3.62\pm\!1.03^{ab}$	4.05±1.12 ^{abc}	6.51±2.15°	4.37±0.65 ^{abc}	$4.91{\pm}0.731^{\rm bc}$	5.38±1.79°	4.557
Apical leaf length (cm)	4.17 ± 0.72^{a}	$4.27\pm\!\!1.10^a$	5.14 ± 1.09^{ab}	5.18±1.11 ^{ab}	5.39±1.76 ^{ab}	7.24±2.39 ^{bc}	7.69±2.13 ^{cd}	8.17±0.97 ^{cd}	9.62±2.03 ^d	1.201
Apical leaf breadth (cm)	2.13 ± 0.56^{a}	2.32±0.69ª	2.65 ± 0.64^{a}	2.86±1.01ª	3.09 ± 1.18^{a}	3.49 ± 1.22^{ab}	3.05±0.55ª	3.22±0.52 ^{ab}	4.57±1.62 ^b	1.393
Inflorescenc e length (cm)	2.12±0.43ª	$2.31{\pm}0.38^{a}$	3.88 ± 0.51^{b}	4.07±0.70 ^b	4.27±0.75 ^{bc}	4.96 ± 0.49^{cd}	5.18 ± 0.89^{d}	5.35±0.37 ^d	8.12±0.54°	13.661
No. of flowers	30.4±5.32ª	34.44 ± 3.94^{a}	40.50±3.72 ^b	52.70±3.5c	57.00±4.61°	75.00±3.33 ^d	80.8±3.33°	84.6±2.4°	95.6±2.99 ^f	8.705
Rhizome length (cm)	8.66±0.54ª	$9.27{\pm}1.39^{ab}$	9.69±0.54 ^{abc}	10.56±1.12 ^{abc}	$10.96\pm0.88^{\mathrm{bc}}$	11.46±0.95°d	13.12±2.21 ^d	15.99±0.73€	18.98 ± 1.72^{f}	9.497
Rhizome breadth (cm)	1.27 ± 0.44^{a}	1.36±0.15 ^{ab}	$1.38{\pm}0.46^{ab}$	1.64±0.28 ^{abc}	1.69±0.58 ^{abc}	1.75 ± 0.36^{abc}	1.74±0.16 ^{abc}	1.87 ± 0.221^{bc}	2.17±0.31°	0.5

64

Javid et al

Traits	Pissutop	Bangus	Dodhpathri	Gulmarg	Lidderwat	Aru	Tangmarg	Dara	KUBG	F value
	*9.012 ±	9.19 ±	$10.23 \pm$	11.30±	12.15±	12.88±	$14.15 \pm$	$15.40\pm$	$16.92 \pm$	
Khizome (g)	1.13 ^a	2.95ª	$1.27^{\rm ab}$	2.19 ^{ab}	1.88bc	1.41^{bcd}	1.06^{cd}	1.36 ^{de}	2.42°	600.12
(-)	$0.945\pm$	± 79.0	$1.04\pm$	1.05 ±	$1.083 \pm$	1.15 ±	1.161 ±	$1.78\pm$	1.85±	120 0
(g) marc	0.27 ^a	0.22^{a}	0.51 ^a	0.15 ^a	0.47a	0.45^{a}	0.50^{a}	2.95ª	0.72a	106.7
	0.00 - 0.158	$0.91 \pm$	0.76±	$0.60\pm$	$0.61 \pm$	$0.68\pm$	0.65±	$0.7\pm$	$0.83\pm$	
Leal (g)	-C1.0 ± 06.0	0.29^{a}	0.37^{a}	0.33^{a}	0.12a	0.25 ^a	0.28ª	0.20^{a}	0.18^{a}	1.029
	$0.424 \pm$	$0.44 \pm$	$0.34\pm$	$0.32 \pm$	$0.33 \pm$	$0.30\pm$	$0.247 \pm$	$0.19\pm$	$0.197\pm$	1 201
Innorescence (g)	0.06 ^{ab}	0.24^{b}	0.18 ^{ab}	0.10^{ab}	0.21ab	0.20^{ab}	0.19 ^{ab}	0.08 ^a	0.08 ^a	400.1
Total resource	11.13 ±	11.53 ±	12.38±	13.28±	14.19±	15.02±	16.21±	18.07±	19.81±	
budget per plant (g)	1.23 ^a	3.00 ^a	1.74 ^{ab}	2.06 ^{abc}	2.31abc	1.56 ^{bcd}	1.59 ^{cd}	3.85d°	2.65°	c06.4
Reproductive	20.27 ±	18.99±	17.17±	16.28±	15.78±	14.20±	11.4土	$9.39 \pm$	$6.9\pm$	000 21
effort (%)	0.71°	9.63°	7.31 ^{bc}	$4.33^{\rm bc}$	7.81abc	7.91 ^{abc}	4.7 ^{abc}	3.77^{ab}	2.56^{a}	007.01
* Means labelled with *Mean± Standard Erro	the small letters d	esignate that th	hey vary significar	ntly from each of	ther amongst the se	lected populat	ions (Tukey test:]	P≤0.05)		

Effect of elevation and habitat on phenotypic traits of Bistorta amplexicaulis (D. Don) Greene

65



Fig. 5. Principal Component Analysis (PCA) plot of various morphological features of *Bistorta amplexicaulis* across the different study sites.

0.390 g and 0.388 g respectively. A similar trend is followed for stem, leaf and inflorescence. Reproductive effort decreased with decreasing altitude, this is in accordance with various some previous studies [18, 34]. It is also reported that with the increase in plant size, reproductive effort declines [35, 36]. The number of flowers per plant varies significantly $(P \le 0.05)$ along the altitudinal gradient, with lower altitudes having the maximum flowers per plant (Dara, KUBG). In energy-limited environments where survival is the primary concern, resource allocation towards vegetative organs is critical rather than spending resources for the reproductive purposes [37]. The findings support Johnson and Cook's [38] who stated that plants at higher altitudes have lesser flowers than plants growing at lower altitudes. It has also been documented that sexual reproduction in alpine locations is generally low when compared with that of the warmer regions [39].

5. CONCLUSION

It is concluded that environmental heterogeneity is the leading cause of phenotypic variation in *B. amplexicaulis* Our findings demonstrated a diverse variety of favourable environments for the growth of *B. amplexicaulis*. Along an altitudinal gradient, the specie exhibits considerable variability in morphological traits such as stem height, inflorescence length, and leaf and rhizome dimensions. Most of the characters demonstrated a negative correlation with increasing altitude. The most prominent effects were recorded for stem height and leaf dimensions. Given that low altitude population experience less environmental stress, it may be concluded from the current study that these populations were substantially more robust in terms of their morphological characteristics and thus these sites are more suitable for the growth and development of this particular medicinal plant. The total budget (dry weight) showed a negative correlation with increasing altitudes. Further studies related to the effect of other environmental variables such as physicochemical properties of soil and climate (temperature, precipitation and rainfall) would help us to understand if there are any other factors responsible for the phenotypic variability across different altitudes.

6. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors are grateful to the UGC for financial assistance.

7. CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The authors declare that they have no known competing

financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

8. REFERENCES

- 1. K. Manish, and M.K. Pandit. Geophysical upheavals and evolutionary diversification of plant species in the Himalaya. *PeerJ* 6: 59-65 (2018).
- U. Becker, G. Colling, P. Dostal, A. Jakobsson, and D. Matthies. Local adaptation in the monocarpic perennial Carlina vulgaris at different spatial scales across Europe. *Oecologia* 150: 506–518 (2006).
- M.J. West-Eberhard. Phenotypic accommodation: adaptive innovation due to developmental plasticity. Journal of Experimental Zoology Part B: Molecular and Developmental Evolution 304: 610-618 (2005).
- T.Garland, and S.A Kelly. Phenotypic plasticity and experimental evolution. *Journal of Experimental Biology* 209: 2344-61 (2006).
- A. Sattarian, M. Akbarian, M. Zarafshar, P. Bruschi, and P. Fayyaz. Phenotypic variation and leaf fluctuating asymmetry in natural populations of *Parrotia persica* (Hamamelidaceae), an endemic species from the Hyrcanian forest (Iran). *Acta Botanica Mexi-cana* 97: 65-81 (2011).
- S.E.Sultan. Phenotypic plasticity for fitness components in Polygonum species of contrasting ecological breadth. *Ecology* 82: 328-343 (2001).
- M. Van Kleunen, J.P Lenssen, M. Fischer, and H. de Kroon. Selection on phenotypic plasticity of morphological traits in response to flooding and competition in the clonal shore plant Ranunculus reptans. *Journal of Evolutionary Biology* 20: 2126-2137 (2007).
- G.H Dar, R.C Bhagat, and M.A Khan. Biodiversity of the Kashmir Himalaya. *Valley Book House* (2002).
- Z.W. Xie. National herbal compendium. *The people's health publication House, Beijing* 12: 316-322 (2008).
- M.X. Xiang, H.W. Su, J. Hu, and Y.J Yan. Stimulative effects of Polygonum amplexicaule var. sinense on osteoblastic MC3T3-E1 cells. *Pharmaceutical biology* 49: 1091-1096 (2011).
- H. Ren, D. Wan, and Z. Zou. Studies on Chemical constituents from roots of *Polygonum amplexicaule*. Zhongguo Zhong yao za zhi= Zhongguo zhongyao zazhi= *China journal of Chinese materia medica* 34:183-185 (2009).
- 12. M.A. Tantray, M.M. Radwan, S. Akbar, and I.A.

Khan. 5, 6-Dihydropyran benzopyrone: a previously undetermined antioxidant isolated from *Polygonum amplexicaule*. *Chinese journal of natural medicines* 10: 28-31 (2012).

67

- W.A Rodgers, and S.H. Panwar. Biogeographical classification of India. New Forest, Dehra Dun, India (1998).
- 14. M. Hussain M. Geography of Jammu and Kashmir. Rajesh Publications, New Delhi, India (2002).
- S. Kawano, and J. Masuda. The productive and reproductive biology of flowering plants. *Oecologia* 45: 307-317 (1980).
- U. Yaqoob, and I.A. Nawchoo, I.A (2016).
 Distribution and taxonomy of Ferula L. A review, Research & Reviews. *Journal of Botany* 5:15-23 (2016).
- H. Lie, Z. Wang, and Y. Liu. Review in the studies on tannins activity of cancer prevention and anticancer. *Journal of Chinese medicinal materials* 26: 4 (2003).
- S. Gulzar, U. Yaqoob, A Hassan, and I. A. Nawchoo, Variation in Growth Dynamics and Reproductive Allocation in *Ajuga* Species across Different Altitudes. *Herbal Medicines* 3:1 (2017).
- C. Korner, and P. Cochrane. Influence of plant physiognomy on leaf temperature on clear midsummer days in the Snowy Mountains, southeastern Australia. Acta oecologica. *Série Oecologia plantarum Montreuil* 4:117-124 (1983).
- G. Goldstein, F. Rada, and A. Azocar. Cold hardiness and supercooling along an altitudinal gradient in Andean giant rosette species. *Oecologia* 68:147-152 (1985).
- C. Korner. Alpine Plant Life: Functional Plant Ecology of High Mountain Ecosystems. Springer, Berlin Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg (2003).
- 22. S.G. Willis, and P.E. Hulme. Environmental severity and variation in the reproductive traits of Impatiens glandulifera. *Functional Ecology* 34: 887-898 (2004).
- J.A. Magray, S.A. Zargar, T. Islam, and I.A. Nawchoo. Impact of habitat variability on growth dynamics of Bergenia ciliata (Haw.) Sternb. along an altitudinal gradient in Kashmir Himalaya. *Plant Science Today* 9: 144-149 (2021).
- A. Hadi, S Singh, I.A. Nawchoo, S. Rafiq, and S. Ali. Impacts of habitat variability on the phenotypic traits of Aconitum violaceum Jacq. ex Stapf. *Plant Science Today* 9:546-54 (2022).
- 25. C.C. Bennington, and J.B McGraw. Natural selection and ecotypic differentiation in *Impatiens pallida*.

Ecological Monographs 65: 303-324 (1995).

- 26. J.P. Grime. Plant strategies and vegetation processes John Wiley and Sons. New York (2006).
- Z. Liu, Y. Zhu, Y. F. Li, and G. Jin. Non-destructively predicting leaf area, leaf mass and specific leaf area based on a linear mixed-effect model for broad leaf species. *Ecological Indicators* 78:340-350 (2017).
- I. Wright, P.J. Reich, D. Falster, P. Groom, K. Hikosaka, and W. Lee. Modulation of leaf economic traits and trait relationships by climate. *Global Ecology and Biogeography* 14: 411–421 (2005).
- C.C. Bresson, Y. Vitasse, A. Kremer, and S. Delzon. To what extent is altitudinal variation of functional traits driven by genetic adaptation in European oak and beech. *Tree physiology* 31: 1164-1174 (2011).
- W.P. Zhang, X. Jia, E.C. Morris, Y.Y. Bai, and G. X. Wang. Stem, branch and leaf biomass-density relationships in forest communities. *Ecological Research* 27:819-825 (2012).
- Poorter, U. Niinemets, L. Poorter, J.L. Wright, and R. Villar. *New phytologist* 182: 565-588 (2009).
- 32. U. Niinemets. Photosynthesis and resource distribution through plant canopies. *Plant, cell & environment* 30: 1052-1071 (2007).

- L. Poorter, and D.M. Rozendaal. Leaf size and leaf display of thirty-eight tropical tree species. *Oecologia* 158: 35-46 (2008).
- 34. P.A. Shabir, I.A. Nawchoo, and A. A. Wani. Floral phenology, secondary pollen presentation and pollination mechanism in Inula racemosa (Angiosperms: Asteraceae). *Journal of Threatened Taxa* 12: 4498-4503 (2013).
- P.G.L. Klinkhamer, T.J De Jong, and E. Meelis. How to test for size dependent reproductive effort. *American Naturalist* 135:291-300 (1990).
- M.P. Johnson, and S.A. Cook "Clutch Size" in Buttercups. *The American Naturalist* 102 (927): 405-411 (1968).
- L.C. Bliss. Arctic and alpine plant life cycles. Annual review of ecology and systematics 2 (1):405-438 (1971).
- A.M. Hemborg, and P.S. Karlsson. Somatic costs of reproduction in eight subarctic plant species. *Oikos* 82: 149-157 (1998).
- A.L. Chester, and G.R. Shaver. Reproductive effort in cotton grass tussock tundra. *Ecography* 5: 200-206 (1982).



SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Fig. S1. Map showing distribution sites of B. amplexicaulis in Kashmir Himalaya

68


Fig. S2. Comparative features of different habitats of B. amplexicaulis in Kashmir Himalaya (A) Open, dry and rocky slope (Pissu top) (B) Open, moist and rocky slope (Doodhpathri) (C) Shady slope, moist (Aru) (D) Partial shady, dry and rocky slope (Gulmarg) (E) Partial shady and moist (Tangmarg) (F) Open dry and rocky slopes (Bangus)

	1 8 1
Habit	Herbaceous, Perennial
Root	Thick rhizome, with attached fibrous roots.
Stem	Erect 20 - 100 cm, circular in outline
Leaf	Petiolate, lanceolate, Opposite, basal leaves larger (6- 12cm) then apical leaves (4-10 cm), tip acuminate. Leaves are peculiarly stem-clasping (amplexicaule), stipules sheathing giving the stem a jointed appearance at each leaf node.
Inflorescence	Spikes are stalked (2-9 cm long) rose-red or pinkish in color, narrow, pencil-thin, long- stalked spikes. Flowers are bisexual
Tepals	5, pinkish in colour, proximally connate
Androecium	8 stamens, 5 + 3 arrangement, free, bilobed anthers.
Gynoecium	The ovary consists of three united carpels that form a single locule, which produces only one ovule, ovary superior, basal placentation Styles 3, free; stigmas 3
Fruit	Achene

Table S1. Different morphological features of *B. amplexicaulis*

Proceedings of the Pakistan Academy of Sciences: B Life and Environmental Sciences 60(1): 71-82 (2023) Copyright © Pakistan Academy of Sciences ISSN (Print): 2518-4261; ISSN (Online): 2518-427X http://doi.org/10.53560/PPASB(60-1)748



Research Article

Quality Assessment of Fried Oils from Different Street Food Vendors and Restaurants in Different Areas of Gilgit, Pakistan

Sara Haider¹, Aqsa Akhtar¹, and Nauman Khalid^{1*}

¹Department of Food Science and Technology, School of Food and Agricultural Sciences, University of Management and Technology, Lahore, Pakistan

Abstract: The study was designed to estimate the quality of the frying oils used in northern areas of Pakistan. A cross-sectional analysis was performed to investigate the behavior and common practices of street food vendors (SFVs) regarding oil selection, food preparation, and awareness of rancid oil on human health. Seventy-Eight (78) commercial fried oil samples were evaluated based on the free fatty acid (FFAs), peroxide value (PV), moisture contents (MC), total polar matter (TPM), color, and iodine value (IV). The analysis showed that FFAs, PV, TPM, color, and IV significantly deviated from standard values provided by Pakistan Standard Quality Control Authority, (PSQCA) Pakistan. The SFVs used low-quality oil because of low price and ease of availability over quality, frying oil was changed infrequently and blended with new oil. Furthermore, the majority of SFVs were unaware of the hazards of rancid oil to human health, food handling practices were unsanitary, and cleaning methods were ineffective. Quality control, legislation, and SFVs safety and hygiene training are the most critical requirements to improve the overall quality of fried street foods in Gilgit, Pakistan.

Keywords: Street Food Vendors, Quality, Deep frying, Rancidity, Pakistan

1. INTRODUCTION

Street foods (SF) come under the category of food or drink sold by vendors, hawkers, and small stalls located in a street, local markets, and any other public places that can be consumed instantaneously. SF is more in demand due to its cheap prices, easy availability, and being culturally accepted either in rural or urban areas. Past studies have revealed that about 2.5 billion people are involved in the consumption of SF globally [1, 2].

People purchased SF normally from street food vendors (SFVs) including mobile SFVs, fixed stall SFVs, and semi-fixed SFVs. The working conditions of SFVs have normally been characterized as low incomes, absence of social security or state benefits, extensive working hours, and unsafe working environments [3]. The literacy rate among SFVs is found to be very low and they are observed as untrained in maintaining food safety and hygiene [4]. The ignorance of SFVs in following the food safety regulations not only compromises the quality of food but is also associated with the outbreak of major food-borne illnesses [5].

In Pakistan, people preferred to choose readyto-eat foods available at low prices due to their low income [6]. In the past few years, major cities of Pakistan have suffered a significant increase in urbanization mainly due to the high rate of migration from rural areas. The pressure of increased population in urban areas tends to cause SF vending businesses to grow at an extensive rate. SFVs earn their livelihood by catering to the needs of a large number of migrant workers far away from their home places [7].

People preferred to fill their snack cravings with foods sold by SFVs available nearby their location. SFVs usually compromised the quality of fried foods by using cheaper substitutes for frying

Received: September 2022; Accepted: March 2023

^{*}Corresponding Author: Nauman Khalid <nauman.khalid@umt.edu.pk>

oil [4]. The replacement of cheaper oil substitutes, use of low-quality utensils, and improper cleaning methods lead to a highly contaminated poor quality end product that adversely affects consumer health [8]. SFVs associated with selling fried food items mainly target crowded areas such as bus stands, commercial areas, and educational and industrial zones to capture more people [7]. Most of the vendors preferred to reuse the leftover oil over and over without being properly stored. Moreover, SFVs are not well aware of personal hygiene and do not follow cleaning and safety practices. The poor infrastructure, improper sanitation, and poor personal hygienic practices are directly associated with the proliferation of microbial hazards, chemical contamination, and environmental pollution [9-10]. SFVs mostly use locally manufactured unhealthy fat obtained from animal sources, the frequent consumption of unhealthy fats causes cardiovascular diseases and carcinogenic impacts on human health [11].

The relatively high temperature (150-180 °C) and repeated heating of cooking oil affect the quality by increasing the viscosity, darkening of color, and nutritional changes by altering the fatty acid profile due to hydrolysis, oxidation, thermal polymerization and pyrolytic reactions [12]. Consequently, various by-products including esters, aldehydes, ketones, and peroxides can be produced and absorbed by fried foods [13]. The severity of chemical changes during frving reactions is dependent on duration. method of heat treatment, frying medium, and type of product [14]. A study reported that the fifty repeated heating of sunflower oil (160-200 °C) for 5 mins on the same day produced low-quality end products [15]. This discarding point can be easily detectable by physical indicators, the oil must be discarded or changed, when it turns dark, produces excessive smoke and a strong odor, and cause the greased texture of the product [13]. Another study also reported that change in the physicochemical properties of the frying oil samples collected from Multan, Pakistan. The results of the study showed that FFA, conjugated dienes, and heavy metals concentrations (cobalt and nickel) were normal, while, peroxide values, Cd, and Pb were more than normal [16]. A recent study conducted in Lahore, Pakistan also reported the quality of fifty frying oil samples being used by SFVs. The results of the study reported that most of the frying oil samples were unhealthy and exhibited higher moisture content (> 0.10 %), total polar content (> 25 %), peroxide value (>10 meq.O2/kg), and free fatty acid (> 0.20 mg KOH/g); and very low IV (< 80 g/100 g) [17]. Another similar study conducted in Faisalabad, Pakistan also reported that fifty oil samples were collected and most of them were found oxidized and degraded [18].

Considering the importance of the literature cited above, the present study was first time conducted in Gilgit (a crowded city in the northern area) of Pakistan to evaluate the knowledge, selection, and oil preferences for frying by the SFVs. The quality of oils used for frying was also analyzed using a set of physicochemical attributes including moisture content (MC), total polar matter (TPM), color determination, free fatty acid (FFAs), and peroxide value (PV), and compared the results with the standard values reported by the PSQCA, Pakistan. Moreover, this study also determined the ratio of rancidity among the oil samples used by SFVs in northern areas particularly Gilgit, Pakistan.

2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 Sample and Data Collection

In this cross-sectional study, a total of 78 frying oil samples were collected from different SFVs and restaurants present in eight different areas of Gilgit, Pakistan including Ghizer, Sonikot, NLI market, Danyor, Kashrot, bus stand Gilgit, Jutial, and Konodas. The homogeneous samples (approx. 700 mL) were collected in pre-cleaned transparent containers. Collected samples were coded and transported for analysis in dark boxes with ice sheets. Later, the oil samples were filtered and stored at 4 °C for further analysis. To assess the status of frying oil and its handling, a survey questionnaire was compiled to record feedback from SFVs and restaurant workers. The parameters discussed in the questionnaire included the frequency of oil change, hygiene habits of SFVs, awareness regarding rancidity and its impact on human health, and preferences regarding the selection of oil.

2.2 Qualitative Assessment of Fried Oils

For qualitative assessment of fried oils following physicochemical parameters were performed. The tests were performed based on the quality control parameters set by the PSQCA, Pakistan.

2.2.1 Total polar matter

The TPM was analyzed by following the procedure reported by Ghobadi *et al.* [19] using the TPM digital counter (VITO®, Tuttlingen, Germany). The sensor of the TPM counter was placed in heated oil samples (120 °C) and the reading was noted after 30 sec. The sensor indicated the quality of the oil by showing the color; the presence of green color indicated that the quality of the oil is not degraded yet; while the red color indicated the oil has been degraded. Further, the concentration of TPM was determined by the value that appear on the probe.

2.2.2 Moisture content

The MC of the samples was measured by following the method by AOAC: 2005 [20]. The MC in oil samples was determined through drying in a hot air oven at 105 °C. About 50 g of each oil sample was taken into a pre-cleaned and pre-weighed petri dish. The drying was performed for 6 h at 105 °C until the constant weight gain. The difference in weight was calculated by using the formula (1)

Moisture content (%) = $\frac{W_1 - W_2}{W_1} \times 100$ (1)

Where;

 W_1 = weight(g) of the sample before drying W_2 = Weight(g) of the sample after drying

2.2.3 Color determination

The 20 g sample of each fried oil at a temperature of 50 °C was placed in a transparent petri dish. The digital colorimeter (Chroma Meter, Konica Minolta, Japan) was used to determine the color of the frying oil samples. The sensor of the colorimeter was positioned directly on the light path to measure the R-value and Y-value and compared them with the standard value of 5.0 and 50, respectively, set by the Codex Alimentarius maximum level [21].

2.2.4 Free fatty acids

The production of FFAs was determined by following the method reported by Folayan *et al.*[22] with slight modifications. Pure ethanol (20 mL of 95 %) was added to 10 g of each fried oil sample.

A few drops of phenolphthalein as an indicator were added and the mixture was titrated with 0.1 N NaOH. The amount of FFAs in terms of oleic acid oil can be expressed by the formula (2).

$$FFA (\%) = \frac{V \times N \times 28.20}{\text{Sample weight (g)}}$$
(2)

Where;

V= volume of NaOH used (mL) N= normality of NaOH used

2.2.5 Iodine value

The IV of oil samples was determined following the method of ISO 3961:2009 [23] with slight modification. 0.2 g of oil was dissolved with 20 mL of chloroform the resultant mixture was further mixed with 20 mL of iodine solution and placed in the dark for 30 mins. After that 15 % of potassium iodide (KI) was added to 100 mL of distilled water and mixed with the aforementioned mixture and titrated with 0.1 N of sodium thiosulfate (Na₂S₂O₃). Starch was added as an indicator and titrated until transparent. The IV was determined by the amount of iodine absorbed by 100 g of the oil.

2.2.6 Peroxide value

PV of the oil samples was performed by the following method of ISO 3960: 2007 [24] with slight modification. The 5 g of each oil sample was poured into a 250 mL Erlenmeyer flask then the 25 mL mixture of acetic acid and chloroform was added in the ratio of (3:2). After proper mixing, about 0.5 mL KI was added and mixed for 1 min. Afterward, 35 mL of distilled water was added to the same Erlenmeyer flask. The standard starch solution (0.5 mL) was added as an indicator and kept for a half hour in the dark. Then, the mixture was titrated with 0.01 N (Na₂S₂O₃) solution until the blue color turned transparent. PV can be calculated by using the formula (3).

$$PV = \frac{(S-B) \times N \times 1000}{\text{Sample weight (g)}}$$
(3)

Where,

S = burette reading of 0.01 N Na₂S₂O₃ with sample B = burette reading of 0.01 N Na₂S₂O₃ without sample

 $N = normality of Na_2S_2O_3$ solution used

2.3 Statistical Analysis

The data analysis was performed on SPSS version 21. The obtained results were analyzed using the z-test method along with their mean value and standard deviation. All the experiments were performed in triplicates. Moreover, the reliability of the survey was analyzed using Cronbach's alpha as the standard value.

3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

3.1 Survey-based Analysis by SFVs

A survey questionnaire was designed to evaluate the knowledge, selection, and preferences of SFVs for the oil used during frying. The Cronbach's alpha value with a coefficient of 0.895 indicated that the survey was reliable and can predict the impact of evaluated questions. The parameters studied in the questionnaire include oil quality, mixing of the oil with solid fats, less frequent oil changes, unsanitary methods, and ineffective cleaning methods. According to the results of the survey, the quality of frying oil samples was found poor and SFVs have no information regarding safety practices. This could be due to a lack of knowledge about frying methods and safety practices associated with the oil used for the frying. A full overview of the variables that were discussed in the questionnaire along with the absolute and relative frequency is presented in Table 1.

Table 1 presents that 93.59 % of SFVs preferred to use cooking oil for deep frying of foods and among them, 65.38 % preferred to use sunflower oil as a frying medium, while 6.41 % of SFVs preferred animal fat for frying. Their preference for choosing cooking oil was based on ease of availability and access. About 42.31 % of SFVs tend to add the new oil to used oil to increase the quantity, while 33.33 % of SFVs completely discarded the used oil, the highest trend was observed in Ghizer (11.54 %) followed by Jutial (5.12 %). About 24.36 % of SFVs continued to use the same oil until it cannot be further used. A study is in strong agreement with the current study reported that over the globe, 75 % of plant-based oil (corn oil, sunflower oil, and olive oil) consumption is for the preparation of snack food, frying oils, shortening, and salad dressings [25].

It was also observed that the frequency of frying oil change was mainly dependent on the sale of fried products. If demand increased, the frequency of oil changes increased, otherwise, they used to change it every single day or two days. Table 1 showed that 66.67 % of SFVs changed the oil on daily basis, and 29.49 % SFVs used the same oil for more than 2 days. This practice was performed due to a lack of knowledge regarding the health issues associated with the use of repeatedly fried oil. While 3.85 % of SFVs changed the oil more than twice a day and the highest trend was observed in the NLI market (2.56 %). A supported study conducted in India also presented that almost 25 % of SFVs tend to change their oil regularly while 75 % of SFVs did not change their oil daily or used oil without changing it [26]. Another study is in strong agreement with the current study reporting that SFVs in Ethiopia tend to use recycled frying oil on regular basis. This study also extended that recycled or repeated frying oil (at least five times) significantly increased the body weight of rats during the cell line studies [27].

Colour plays important role in determining the physical quality of oil used for frying. About 72 % of SFVs fully utilized the oil daily without considering the change in color of oil; where the highest trend was observed in Ghizer (30.76 %), followed by Danyor (10.25 %), NLI market (8.97 %), Sonikot (7.69 %), Konodas and Kashrot (6.41 % each) and Jutial (1.28 %). While the remaining 28 % of SFVs used the oil until its appearance turned fully blackish.

The behavior of SFVs towards the disposal of used cooking oil showed that 62.82 % of SFVs disposed of used oil in open drains. This practice was mostly observed in Ghizer, Sonikot, NLI market, Danyor, Kashrot, bus stand Gilgit Jutial, and Konodas. About 26.92 % of SFVs discarded the used oil in open fields and 14.10 % of SFVs disposed of the used oil in a separate container. A similar study in Harare, Zimbabwe reported that 93 % SFVs used to discard the waste food in waste bins, while 7 % discarded all the leftovers and waste food in unspecified places on regular basis [28].

The results related to the knowledge of SFVs regarding the rancidity of oil showed that 51.28 % of SFVs found with no knowledge of the rancidity of frying oil, which highest trend was observed in the NLI market (11.53 %) followed by Ghizer

(8.97%), Danyor (7.69%), Kashrot and Jutial (6.41% each), bus stand Gilgit and Sonikot (3.84%) and Konodas (2.56%). About 37% of total SFVs had little knowledge about the impact of rancid oil on human health and it was found that only 1.28% SFVs were fully aware of the impact of consuming rancid oil on human health.

The trend of using PPE while working was also observed among SFVs. The results showed that 83.33 % SFVs were not using any kind of PPE during frying practices. Only 12.82 % SFVs responded that they have easy access to PPE and were using it as per the requirement. Among them, 3.85% of SFV responded that they have easy access to PPE but never use them because they found the use of PPE uncomfortable while frying. Table 1 showed that 61.54 % have little knowledge about hygiene practices, and only 25.64 % of people were fully aware of personal hygiene and safe handling, while 12.82 % SFVs were found completely unaware. The current study was in agreement with a study conducted in Lucknow, India, where 94 % of the SFVs practiced selling their foods without wearing gloves, and 96 % of the SFVs don't wear headcovers [26]. Another study is in support of the current study, which reported that due to improper safety knowledge, SFVs used to prepare their foods in explicitly unhygienic conditions [29].

The results for the usage of new oil for different food products are also present in Table 1. About 85.90 % SFVs do not prefer to use new oil for frying of variety of food products instead of it they mixed each frying product in the same oil and 8.97 % of SFVs change oil for different food products regularly. Table 1 also showed that 61.54 % of SFVs preferred to use LPG as their source of ignition. While 38.46% SFVs preferred to use wood for ignition and the highest trend was observed in Ghizer (29.44 %) followed by Kashrot (3.84 %), Sonikot, and Jutial (2.56 %). The trend of using vegetable oil instead of animal fat was also observed and 93.59 % were found associated with it. While 6.41 % of SFVs preferred to use animal fat for frying because they considered it a good source for taste enhancement. A study also supported the current results, which presented that restaurant workers and roadside SFVs of Okota, Lagos State Nigeria, preferred to use plant oils. This study further presents that total phenolic content, vitamin E, and vitamin A contents were found significantly

lower in oil samples collected from roadside SFVs and fast food restaurants as compared to the unused oil [30].

3.2 Qualitative and Physicochemical Analysis of Frying Oil Samples

3.2.1 TPM of fried oil samples

The mean TPM values of different fried oil samples are presented in Figure 1. The development of TPM is a predominant indicator to estimate the deterioration in frying oil. The repeated heating frequency induces chemical changes in oils including hydrolysis, oxidation, polymerization, and isomerization [14]. After determining the TPM of all oil samples, the values obtained were in ranged from 17.17 ± 4.28 to 23.36 ± 2.45 . The TPM results presented in (Figure 1) show that the values were significantly higher (p = 0.00) than the standard values set by PSQCA (< 18 %). Out of 78 samples, only 4 samples (5.12 %) from Sonikot 17.17 ± 4.28 were under the PSQCA limits and considered fine quality and 74 samples (94.87 %) were not fulfilling the PSQCA standard criteria.

It was concluded that with the increased frying time and high-temperature exposure, the TPM of oil samples get increased. A similar study also presented the significant correlation between the TPM and frying, with the overheating of oil at high temperatures more polar matter is produced due to the heat decomposition of chemical substances [31].

3.2.2 MC of fried oil samples

The mean MC values of different fried oil samples are presented in (Figure 2). MC values obtained from different fried oils samples ranged from 0.08 ± 0.05 to 0.24 ± 0.08 . The values indicated that most of the oil samples for MC were under the limit as set by the PSQCA (0.15 %) except for the three samples that were deviating from the standard limits. Overall, there was a non-significant relation (p = 0.51) observed among the MC of frying oil samples. The highest value was reported in the NLI market at 0.24 ± 0.08 followed by Gilgit bus stand 0.2 ± 0.10 , Kashrot 0.16 ± 0.08 , Konodas 0.118 ± 0.116 , Jutial 0.11 ± 0.13 , Danyor $0.10 \pm$ 0.11, Sonikot 0.101 ± 0.07 and Ghakuch $0.08 \pm$

Preference for frying		
Cooking oil	73	93.59
Animal fat	5	6.41
Any Other	0	0.00
Reason of preference		
Quality	51	65.38
Availability	16	20.51
Price	11	14.10
Utility of oil per day		
Dispose of it	26	33.33
Mix it in new oil	33	42.31
Continuously use it	19	24.36
Frequency of oil change		
2 or more times a day	3	3.85
Daily	52	66.67
More than 2 days	23	29.49
Physical parameters use to change	e the oil	
Blackish appearance	22	28
Fully utilization	56	72
Other	0	0
Where used oil was disposed		
Drain	49	62.82
Separate container	11	14.10
In open field	21	26.92
Knowledge of rancid oil's impact	on human health	
Yes	1	1.28
Little knowledge	37	47.44
No	40	51.28
Trend of using personal protective	e equipment (PPE)	
Available and use	10	12.82
Not available	65	83.33
Available but don't use	3	3.85
Knowledge about personal hygien	e and handling	
Fully aware	20	25.64
Somehow	48	61.54
Not at all	10	12.82
Usage of oil for different items		
Yes	4	5.13
Sometime	7	8.97
No	67	85.90

Table 1. Results of survey-based analysis of fried oil samples collected from restaurants and SFVs in Gilgit, Pakistan (N = 78)

Variables	Absolute frequency (N)	Relative frequency (%)
Wood	30	38.46
LPG	48	61.54
Kerosene oil stove	0	0.00
Usage of animal fat for frying		
Yes	5	6.41
Somehow	0	0.00
No	73	93.59



Fig. 1. Mean TPM obtained from oil samples from different SFVs.



Fig. 2. Mean MC mean values obtained from oil samples from different SFVs.

might be poor packaging, storage conditions, and extensive exposure to light and high temperatures which commonly exist in the Pakistani climate. The present study is in agreement with the findings of Sanli *et al.* [23] that the initial high MC induces more enzymatic hydrolysis in oils due to more activity of the lipase.

3.2.3 FFA of fried oil samples

FFA values obtained from fried oil samples ranged from 00.26 ± 0.16 to 0.52 ± 0.21 % and are shown in (Figure 3). FFA analysis showed that all values

significantly deviate (p = 0.00) from the standard values of PSQCA (≤ 0.02 %). The highest trend was observed in Ghakuch at 0.52 ± 0.21 % followed by NLI Market at 0.46 ± 0.20 %, Kashrot at 0.35 ± 0.23 %, Gilgit Bus Stand at 0.33 ± 0.15%, Danyor at 0.31 ± 0.15 %, Jutial 0.28 ± 0.16 %, Konodas 0.28 ± 0.13 % and Sonikot 0.26 ± 0.16 %. The presence of increased FFA tends to cause toxicological effects on human health such as obesity and type 2 diabetes mellitus. This study is in close relation to the study presented by Sebastian *et al.* [33] reported that about 30–35 % of in-use frying oils and 45–55 % of discarded oil samples were not

acceptable, that were collected from restaurants in downtown Toronto, Canada. The possible causes are excessive hydrolysis and oxidative reactions in oil samples due to extensive frying, exposure to light, lipase activity, and high temperature. The poor neutralization process and hydrolysis of triglycerides and deterioration of oil also increase the amount of short-chain free fatty acids [34].

3.2.4 Color of fried oil samples

The color of the cooking oil is due to carotenoids, zeaxanthins, and other coloring pigments. The standard value of colors set by PSQCA is Y:50-R: 5.0 while the mean observed values in fried oil samples were Y: 54.2, R: 6.05. Color values for oil samples deviated significantly (p = 0.00) from standard values (Figures 4a and 4b). The redness of cooking oils is mainly due to the formation of polymers and the yellow color is due to combined peroxide and aldehydes in cooking oils. Another factor is the lipase enzyme, which promotes hydrolytic rancidity with the production of FFA and free radicals which significantly affects taste, color, and aroma by breaking the ester bond [34].

3.2.5 IV of fried oil samples

IV is the relative degree of unsaturation of fatty acids that are part of triacylglycerol in oil components and are used for the classification of oils [35]. The recommended IV is (not less than 80 g/100 g of iodine) for vegetable oil blends according to PSQCA and the value decreased with overheating. The average comparison of IV between different areas of Gilgit, Pakistan (Figure 5) concluded that the NLI market with a maximum value of 87.3 \pm 3.7 followed by Danyor 76.2 \pm 3.8, Sonikot 75.7 \pm 3.3, Jutial 68.6 \pm 3.4, Gilgit bus stand 59.7 \pm 5.1 and Kashrot 59.2 \pm 4.9. Results showed that IV of all areas did not fall under the limits of PSOCA and only NLI is near the limits. This was because of the multiple deep-frying practices performed that led to a higher unsaturation, and the presence of a higher amount of trans fatty acids in the oil. A study also reported the IV for olive oil, palm oil, corn oil, soya bean oil, sunflower oil, and peanut oil in the range of 75-90, 50-55, 103-135, 120-143, 110-143 and 84-105, respectively [36]. The study also concluded that the decrease in the IV indicates oxidative stress and physicochemical changes during frying which is considered an important quality indicator.

3.2.6 Peroxide value of fried oil samples

PV is considered the measure of active oxygen species bounded by cooking oils [34]. PV helps to estimate the amount of oxidation as it reacts with other molecules resulting in aldehydes and ketones responsible for the development of off-flavor. According to PSQCA, the recommended level of POV is 10 meq/kg (PSQCA, PS:2858-2003). The mean PV of collected oil samples from different areas of Gilgit is presented in (Figure 6). The results showed a significant difference (p = 0.00) in the PV of all oil samples. The high trend of PV was observed at Sonikot at 16 ± 5.3 followed by NLI Market at 15.2 ± 2.3 , Jutial at 12.6 ± 7.4 , Danyor at 11.7 ± 5.2 , Kashrot at 10.5 ± 7.6 and Gilgit bus stand 7.5 ± 6.5 . Potential reasons for higher PV could be poor packaging, improper storage conditions, and cooking oils rich in unsaturated fatty acids especially linoleic and linolenic acid. Phenolic compounds and antioxidants tend to suppress the oxidation of cooking oils but their activity is lost due to extensive heating. A study also reported that the PV of corn oil increased to 11.9 meq/kg after 3rd frying, where the PV of 27 out of 35 samples was above the acceptable level [19]. The results of the current study also supported the findings of Mudawi et al. [37] in which an increase in PV was reported due to the continuous deep-frying of oil [37-38]. Another similar study conducted in Kasmir, India reported the higher degradation of the 16 fried oil samples with a high PV than the standard value (>10 meq/kg) [39].

3.3 Comparative Analysis of Frying Oils Quality

In this study, a z-test was carried out along with descriptive statistics and correlation analysis while studying all the parameters. z-test was considered an appropriate statistical technique. In this study, 78 samples were statistically analyzed in triplicates and the mean value, standard deviation, z-value, and p-value were at a significant level. The comparison of results from the physicochemical analysis is presented in (Table 2). The results of the survey- analysis predict the negative impact of consuming food products fried in degraded oils and SFVs are not aware of the health effects. The results of the TPM showed an extremely significant difference between mean values (p = 0.00) and 94 % of oil samples were found beyond the PSQCA limits. In agreement with this study, another study



Fig. 3. Mean FFA obtained from oil samples of different SFVs.



Fig. 4. Colour values of different oil samples (a) R values and (b) Y values.



Fig. 5. Mean IV obtained from oil samples of different SFVs.



Fig. 6. Mean PV obtained from oil samples of different SFVs.

Parameters	Test value	Mean	SD	z value	<i>p</i> value	Results
TPM	17.5	19.5	4.28	4.21	0.00	Significant
Moisture	0.15	0.11	0.09	0.65	0.51	Insignificant
FFA	0.20	0.35	0.19	6.72	0.00	Significant
R-value	5.00	6.05	1.48	6.25	0.00	Significant
Y-value	50.0	54.2	5.37	7.04	0.00	Significant
IV	80.0	87.3	2.54	14.4	0.00	Significant
PV	10.0	14.5	2.71	8.30	0.00	Significant

 Table 2. Statistical analysis and comparison of all physicochemical parameters used for qualitative testing of fried oil samples.

by Kaimal et al. [40] reported that there was a significant increase in TPM values found in frying soil samples collected from restaurants in India. It is predominantly highlighted here that TPM exhibit a strong correlation with the number of frying cycles and frying time, this is also in line with studies discussed in previous literature [31-41]. Further, the rate of TPM can be lowered in palm oils due to less unsaturation as compared to soya bean and sunflower oil [31-41]. The results of MC present insignificant relation with frying (p = 0.051) and concluded that MC is least affected by frying [31]. On the contrary, results for FFA showed a significant relationship between the high temperature during frying and extended time for all oil samples (p = 0.00).

These results are in strongest agreement with the previous study that reported, an increase in frying temperature tends to increase thermal oxidation and oligomerization reactions for fatty acids in oils [42]. Another study also showed that during the thermooxidation of oil at frying temperature (> 180 °C), the amount of polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA) decreased (reached 6.21 %) with the increase in short chain fatty acids (SCFA) and trans fatty acids with the increase in frying time [43]. Furthermore, the change in R-value and Y-value also validates the significant relation of change in the color of oils at high frying temperatures (p = 0.00). Moreover, PV and IV also showed a significant relation with frying oil samples (p = 0.00). A similar study in past also reported that the increase in frying time of lipids particularly oils significantly affects the PV in fried clams with concurrent reduction of docosahexaenoic acids and eicosapentaenoic acids that indicate extensive oxidative degradation [44].

4. CONCLUSION

The quality of oils used for frying and fried food items is intimately bounded. The extensive thermooxidation and high-temperature cooking degraded the quality of oils. The present study was conducted to develop the combined effect of practices of SFVs while frying and the chemistry of frying oil. For this purpose, the quality of fried oil was evaluated through 78 random samples collected from various SFVs and restaurants in different areas of Gilgit. The results showed that SFVs preferred to use low-quality oils because of low prices and easy availability by compromising the quality. The frying oil was changed infrequently and the used oil was combined with new oil rather than discarded, which can jeopardize the customer's health. The z-test scores of all parameters present that the quality of 78 % of fried oil samples varies from the standard values set by PSQCA, Pakistan. The majority of the frying oil samples exhibited exceedingly high levels of degradation based on TPM, FFA, color, IVs, and PV values. Based on the results, we found that the oil used for frying purposes among SFVs in Gilgit, Pakistan is mainly rancid and this is due to their lack of knowledge about hygienic and sanitary practices. It is recommended that a high-level awareness is required among SFVs and customers on hygienic practices and associated health concerns. To implement suitable frying processes in fast food restaurants, food operators must be trained. It would also be preferable if policymakers designed education initiatives in combination with increased awareness from regulatory bodies that could aid in the improvement in Gilgit, Pakistan. Regulatory bodies must ensure quality control on SFV practices and should often monitor for the sake of public health interests. It is also suggested

that prior to receiving a restaurant license, sufficient training and awareness sessions must be conducted. The current research can be extended further by evaluating the quality of and nutritional evaluation of the oil absorbed by fried food items because the present situation is found quite alarming.

5. CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The authors declared no conflict of interest in writing this article.

3. REFERENCES

- N. N. Sanlier, A.C. Sezgin, G. Sahin, and E. Yassibas. A study about the young consumers' consumption behaviors of street foods. *Ciencia & Saude Coletiva* 23: 1647-1656 (2018).
- M. Choudhury, L.B. Mahanta, J.S. Goswami, and M.D. Mazumder. Will capacity building training interventions given to street food vendors give us safer food?: A cross-sectional study from India. *Food Control* 22: 1233-1239 (2011).
- 3. S. Recchi. Informal street vending: a comparative literature review. *International Journal of Sociology and Social Policy* 41: 805-825 (2020).
- 4. A. Sualeh, and M. Zakir. Street Food Consumption and Associated Health Risk. *International Journal* of Research Studies in Agricultural Sciences 6: 8-18 (2020).
- B.A. Alimi. Risk factors in street food practices in developing countries: A review. *Food Science and Human Wellness* 5: 141-148 (2016).
- M.R. Aftab, M. Rehman, C. Abdul, and M. Faheem. Food Prices and its Impact on Poverty in Pakistan. *Pakistan Journal of Social Sciences* 35: 903-910 (2015).
- A. Mehboob, and T. Abbas. Evaluation of Microbial Quality of Street Food in Karachi City, Pakistan: An Epidemiological Study. *Microbiology Research* 10: 7463 (2019).
- S. Samapundo, R. Climat, R. Xhaferi, and F. Devlieghere. Food safety knowledge, attitudes and practices of street food vendors and consumers in Port-au-Prince, Haiti. *Food Control* 50: 457-466 (2015).
- D.S. Khuluse, and A. Deen. Hygiene and safety practices of food vendors. *African Journal of Hospitality, Tourism and Leisure* 9:597-611 (2020).
- 10. A. Rakha, M. Fatima, Y. Bano, M.A. Khan, N. Chaudhary, and R.M. Aadil. Safety and quality

perspective of street vended foods in developing countries. *Food Control* 138: 109001 (2022).

- 11. S.R. Choudhury, A.A. Shamim, N. Shaheen, N. Bahar, S. Sarwar, M.M Ashraf, M.A.A. Mamun, S.M.M. Sobhan, M.J. Abedin, K. Hossen, M.R. Amin, and A. Alim. Identification of frequently consumed commercially prepared ready-to-eat foods and beverages in Bangladesh. *Bioresearch Communications* 7:1019-1030 (2021).
- G. Goswami, R. Bora, and M.S. Rathore. Oxidation of cooking oils due to repeated frying and human health. *International Journal Science Technology* and Management 4: 2-8 (2015).
- F. Esfarjani, K. Khoshtinat, A. Zargaraan, F. Mohammadi-Nasrabadi, Y. Salmani, Z. Saghafi, H. Hosseini, and M. Bahmaei. *Evaluating the rancidity* and quality of discarded oils in fast food restaurants. Food Science & Nutrition 7: 2302-2311 (2019).
- Z. Xu, S.Y. Leong, M. Farid, P. Silcock, P. Bremer, and I. Oey. Understanding the frying process of plant-based foods pretreated with pulsed electric fields using frying models. *Foods* 9: 949 (2020).
- S. Turan, S. Keskin, and R. Solak. Determination of the changes in sunflower oil during frying of leavened doughs using response surface methodology. *Journal of Food Science and Technology* 59: 65-74 (2022).
- S. Akhtar, M. Tanveer, A. Ismail, T. Ismail, and M. Hussain. Safety evaluation of oil samples collected from different food points of Multan city of Pakistan. *International Journal of Food and Allied Sciences* 3:43-48 (2018).
- H. Ayub, M. Awan, W. Nazir, A. Sami, and N. Khalid. Qualitative assessment of cooking oils used by street food vendors of Lahore, Pakistan. *Journal of Food Quality and Hazards Control*, 9: 78-87 (2022).
- W. Ahmed, M.A. Shabbir, R.M. Aadil, and M.A. Zia. Quality assessment of used edible fats and oils by local vendors of Faisalabad. *Pakistan Journal Of Agricultural Sciences* 58: 1859-1869 (2021).
- S. Ghobadi, M. Akhlaghi, S. Shams, and S.M. Mazloomi. Acid and peroxide values and total polar compounds of frying oils in fast food restaurants of Shiraz, Southern Iran, *International Journal of Nutrition Sciences* 3: 25-30 (2018).
- AOAC. Official Methods of Analysis of AOAC International, 935.29, 18thed. AOAC International. (2005).
- 21. M. Ngadi, Y. Li, and S. Oluka. Quality changes in chicken nuggets fried in oils with different

degrees of hydrogenatation. *LWT-Food Science and Technology* 40: 1784-1791 (2007).

- 22. A.J. Folayan, P.A.L. Anawe, A.E. Aladejare, and A.O. Ayeni. Experimental investigation of the effect of fatty acids configuration, chain length, branching and degree of unsaturation on biodiesel fuel properties obtained from lauric oils, high-oleic and high-linoleic vegetable oil biomass. *Energy Reports* 5:793-806 (2019).
- ISO. Animal and vegetable fats and oils-Determination of iodine value. ISO 3961: 2009, 4th edn. Switzerland, 2009.
- ISO. Animal and vegetable fats and oils-Determination of peroxide value. ISO 3960: 2007, 4th edn. Switzerland, 2007.
- A.I. Alajtal, F.E. Sherami, and M.A. Elbagermi. Acid, peroxide, ester and saponification values for some vegetable oils before and after frying. *AASCIT Journal of Materials* 4: 43-47 (2018).
- R. Verma, and S. Mishra. Nutritional security aspects and hygiene practices among street food vendors during communicable diseases infection (COVID- 19 Pandemic). *Research Square* (2022).
- D. G.Feleke, G.M. Gebeyehu, and T.D. Admasu. Effect of deep-fried oil consumption on lipid profile in rats. *Scientific African* 17: e01294 (2022).
- T. Nyoni, and W.G. Bonga. Hygienic practices of street food vendors in Zimbabwe: A case of Harare. *DRJ's Journal of Economics & Finance* 4: 23-34 (2019).
- N.J. Omorodion, and A. Ogunekum, A Microbial and Physicochemical Screening of Ready to Eat Street Foods. *Asian Journal of Basic Science & Research* 4: 24-35 (2022).
- 30. O.B. Adu, O.O. Fajana, O.O. Ogunrinola, U.V. Okonkwo, P. Evuarherhe, and B.O. Elemo. Effect of continuous usage on the natural antioxidants of vegetable oils during deep-fat frying. *Scientific African* 5: e00144 (2019).
- W.A. Chen, C.P. Chiu, W.C. Cheng, C.K. Hsu, and M.-I. Kuo. Total polar compounds and acid values of repeatedly used frying oils measured by standard and rapid methods. *Journal of Food and Drug Analysis* 21: 58-65 (2013).
- 32. H. Sanli, M. Canakci, and E. Alptekin. Characterization of waste frying oils obtained from different facilities, World Renewable Energy Congress-Sweden; 8-13 May; 2011; Linköping; Sweden, Linköping University Electronic Press, pp. 479-485 (2011).
- A. Sebastian, S.M. Ghazani, and A.G. Marangoni. Quality and safety of frying oils used in restaurants, *Food Research International* 64: 420-423 (2014).

- 34. T. Mehmood, N. Khalid, A. Ahmad, and A. Ahmed. Quality evaluation and safety assessment of different cooking oils available in Pakistan. *Journal of the Chemical Society of Pakistan* 34: 518 (2012).
- D.I. Sinurat, and R. Silaban. Analysis of the quality of used cooking oil used in frying chicken. *Indonesian Journal of Chemical Science and Technology* 4: 21-28 (2021).
- B. Aşkın, and Y. Kaya. Effect of deep frying process on the quality of the refined oleic/linoleic sunflower seed oil and olive oil. *Journal of Food Science and Technology* 57: 4716-4725 (2020).
- H. Mudawi, M. Elhassan, and A.M. Sulieman. Effect of frying process on physicochemical characteristics of corn and sunflower oils. *Food and Public Health* 4: 181-184 (2014).
- Z.Y. Liu, D.Y. Zhou, K. Rakariyatham, H.K. Xie, D.Y. Li, B.W. Zhu, and F. Shahidi. Impact of frying on changes in clam (Ruditapes philippinarum) lipids and frying oils: compositional changes and oxidative deterioration. *Journal of the American Oil Chemists' Society* 96: 1367-1377 (2019).
- S. Manzoor, F.A. Masoodi, R. Rashid, M. Ahmad, and M.U. Kousar. Quality assessment and degradative changes of deep-fried oils in street fried food chain of Kashmir, India. *Food Control* 141: 109184 (2022).
- 40. A.M. Kaimal, M. Dhingra, and R.S. Singhal. Monitoring of oil quality from commercial fried foods-A case study from India. *Journal of Food Processing and Preservation* 46: e16138 (2022).
- R. Farhoosh, and S.M.R. Moosavi. Evaluating the performance of peroxide and conjugated diene values in monitoring quality of used frying oils. *Journal of Agricultural Science and Technology* 11: 173-179 (2009).
- 42. F. de Alzaa, C. Guillaume, and L. Ravetti. Evaluation of chemical and nutritional changes in chips, chicken nuggets, and broccoli after deep-frying with extra virgin olive oil, canola, and grapeseed oils. *Journal* of Food Quality 7319013 (2021).
- 43. R. Romano, G. Filosa, F. Pizzolongo, A. Durazzo, M. Lucarini, P. Severino, E.B. Souto, and A. Santini. Oxidative stability of high oleic sunflower oil during deep-frying process of purple potato *Purple Majesty. Heliyon* 7: e06294 (2021).
- 44. Y. Hu, G. Zhao, F. Yin, Z. Liu, J. Wang, L. Qin, D. Zhou, F. Shahidi, and B. Zhu. Effects of roasting temperature and time on aldehyde formation derived from lipid oxidation in scallop (Patinopecten yessoensis) and the deterrent effect by antioxidants of bamboo leaves. *Food Chemistry* 369: 130936 (2022).

Proceedings of the Pakistan Academy of Sciences: B Life and Environmental Sciences 60(1): 83-90 (2023) Copyright © Pakistan Academy of Sciences ISSN (Print): 2518-4261; ISSN (Online): 2518-427X http://doi.org/10.53560/PPASB(60-1)762



Growth Analysis of Production of Food Crops and Population Growth for Food Security in Pakistan

Muhammad Islam^{1*}, Farrukh Shehzad², Abdul Qayyum¹, Mirza Waseem Abbas¹, and Rabia Siddiqui¹

¹Crop Reporting Service, Agriculture Department, Government of the Punjab, Pakistan ²Department of Statistics, Islamia University of Bahawalpur, Pakistan

Abstract: Food availability is one of the important pillars of food security. It is essential to ensure food availability in the world to avoid starvation. The key concern of the present study is to integrate the fluctuations in the growth rate of the population and important food crop production using time series data from 1950-2021. Semi-log compound growth rate models are applied for the projection, Cuddy-Della and Valle instability index are used for the stability analysis, and decomposition analysis models are applied to determine the contribution of factors toward production. Semi log compound growth rate model indicates that the population of Pakistan is increasing rapidly, while the contribution of productivity and area of all food crops are not enough to meet food sustainability. The growth rate in the area and production of Wheat, Rice, and Maize are positive, while it is negative for Sorghum (jawar), Millet (bajra), and Barley. For areas, a low degree of instability index. Semi log compound growth rate model unistability index. Semi log compound growth rate model medium is for Millet (bajra) and Barley. For yield, the degree of instability is low for all food crops except Maize, which lies in the medium instability index. Semi log compound growth rate model was found best fitted for area and productivity for all food crops, while for the production side, it is found best for Wheat, Rice, and Maize and bit fit for Sorghum (jawar), Millet (bajra) and Barley. Decomposition analysis model predicted that crop productivity is a major concern to attain food security in Pakistan.

Keywords: Food Crops, Food Security, Growth Rate, Instability, Non-Linear Model, Population.

1. INTRODUCTION

Agriculture is the biggest pillar of Pakistan's economy. World Food Summit, 1996 defines food security, as "when all people, at all times, have physical, social and economic access to sufficient, safe and nutritious food which meets their dietary needs and food preferences for an active and healthy life" [1]. FAO further characterized food security into four important pillars, "food availability, food access, food utilization, and food stability" [2-4]. These pillars of food security are interrelated with agricultural production [5]. Food availability is however a basic pillar of food security, which depends on the production of food crops [6]. In the context of food availability, Wheat, Rice, and Maize are considered staple food crops. Agriculture sector was contributing 53 % to Pakistan's GDP in 1949, but over time the share of agriculture in Pakistan's economy has reduced to 19.2 %, which has also reduced the share of the labor force engaged in agriculture from 65 % to 38.5 %. The growth rate of the population in Pakistan is high as compared to neighboring South Asian countries [7]. The high growth rate of the population is leading Pakistan towards a food shortage and may affect the adequate food availability for the growing population [7, 8]. According to UNO, MDGs, food security has become a global threat to the world, due to the expansion of the world population. Food requirements and population growth are directly interlinked with each other [9, 10]. In 2005-06, 16 % of the world population was hungry, and now it has become 21 %, especially in South Asian countries [11]. It is expected that in 2050, Pakistan will be 5th populous state in the world instead of

Received: October 2022; Accepted: March 2023

^{*}Corresponding Author: Muhammad Islam <mislam6667@gmail.com>

6th, due to the high growth rate of the population [12]. In 1798, Malthus postulated the theory that the population of the world is increasing rapidly while agriculture production is not enough to meet the need for food for the world, and the world will have to face the sever food scarcity in near future [13, 14]. International organizations i.e. WHO, and FAO show their great concern for this terrible issue of food security [15]. The high growth of the population has become a major threat to food security which can be overcome by increasing agricultural output [16]. The world's population will reach 9 billion by 2050, and the major contribution to this increase will arise from developing countries [15, 17]. The world agriculture production of food should be increased by about 70 % to attain food security and for developing countries, it will double [18]. Murindahabi [19] applied compound growth rate, decomposition analysis, and instability measures, and concluded that there exists a positive and significant relationship between area and production of Rice, Wheat, Beans, Millet, Maize, Groundnut, and Peas. The area contributed majorly toward crop production. Agriculture sector has great potential to grow more food for the population. There should be enforced agriculture emergencies in developing countries like Pakistan. A comprehensive program is needed to increase agriculture productivity, and to make food security measures.

It is the foremost need of the time, is to statistically measure the growth rate of the population and food crops to make assure food availability, and to elaborate the future food concerns. The present study statistically compared the population growth rate of six food crops (Wheat, Rice, Maize, Sorghum (jawar), Millet (bajra), and Barley using the time series data comprise from 1950-2021, to address the food security situations in Pakistan. This study uses an exponential regression model (compound growth rate model), instability measure index (CDVI), and decomposition analysis model for area, productivity, and production of food crops (Wheat, Rice, Maize, Sorghum (jawar), Millet (bajra), Barley along with the comparison of population, and statistically forecast the area, yield and production of food crops and population of Pakistan. This study will lead us to understand the true policy decisions to combat the food security measures in Pakistan.

2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 Data Collection and Measuring Scales

The seventy-two-year secondary time series data comprise from 1950-2021 is gathered from the Punjab agriculture marketing information service department, Pakistan bureau of statistics and crop reporting service agriculture department Punjab for the food crops (Wheat, Rice, Maize, Sorghum (jawar), Millet (bajra) and Barley) of Pakistan. These are government organizations responsible for the collection and publication of statistical data for research and policymakers. The data measuring scale is applied as area sown in thousand acres, production in thousand tonnes and yield in mounds per acre (mds/acre).

2.2 Non-Linear Compound Growth Rate Regression Model (CGRM)

The non-linear compound annual growth rates regression model (CGRM) is used to elaborate the changes in food crops area, productivity, and production along with comparisons of population, and it is measured by log-linear function [20-22]

$$z_t = z_0 \left[1+r\right]^t \tag{1}$$

Where, " z_t " shows food crops area/productivity/ production and population, "t" represents the time, "0" is used for the initial time, and "r" is used to indicate the growth rate of determinates. The slope measures the relative change in response variable for the absolute change accrues in feature and it measures the instantaneous rate of growth. Apply the natural log on equation 1

$$Ln(z_t) = Ln(z_0) + t\{Ln(1+r)\}$$
(2)

$$Ln(z_t) = Y, \ Ln(z_0) = A_0, \ Ln(1+r) = V,$$

$$r = (exp^V - 1) * 100$$

$$Y = A_0 + Vt + \varepsilon$$
(3)

The following equation is applied to predict the parameter.

$$z_{p} = [z_{c} (1+V)^{tn1-tn2}]$$
(4)

Where, "z_n" stands the value of the response

variable at a projected time, " z_c " stands the actual value of response at the time "t", "V" stands for regression coefficients, and "tn1-tn2" stands the total no. of projected years.

2.3 Instability Analysis

Cuddy Della and Valle index (CDVI) is applied to measure the instability in time series data. It attempts to de-trend the coefficient of variation (CV) by R². The low value of CDVI elaborates on the low instability and vice-versa. Instability will be low if CDVI lies in 0 \leq CDVI \leq 15, medium if CDVI lies in 15.1 \leq CDVI \leq 30, and high if CDVI lies as CDVI>30 [23].

$$CDVI = C. V \times \left(\sqrt{1 - R^2}\right) \tag{5}$$

$$C.V = \frac{s}{x} \times 100 \tag{6}$$

Where "s" stands for the standard deviation of the data and "x" stands the mean value of the data.

$$R^{2} = 1 - \frac{\sum (y_{i} - \hat{y}_{i})^{2}}{\sum (y_{i} - \bar{y}_{i})^{2}}$$
(7)

$$R^2 = 1 - \frac{SSR}{SST} \tag{8}$$

Where "SSR" stands the sum of squares of regression and "SST" stands the total sum of squares,

$$R^{2}_{Adjusted} = 1 - \frac{(1 - R^{2})(n - 1)}{n - k - 1}$$
(9)

Where "n" stands the no. of observations and "k" stands the no. of predictors in the model.

2.4 Decomposition Analysis Model

The production of the crop is the product functions of the area and yield of the respective crop. Decomposition analysis model is used to estimate the individual share of the area and yield towards the production [19]. The variation in production is the sum of individual share of area, yield, and their interaction effects which is measured as;

Production change = Yield effects + Area effects + Interaction effects

$$\Delta P = A_0 \Delta Y + Y_0 \Delta A + \Delta Y \Delta A \tag{10}$$

Change in production
$$= \frac{(Y_c - Y_0) \times A_0}{P_c - P_0} \times 100$$

 $\frac{(A_c - A_0) \times Y_0}{P_c - P_0} \times 100 + \frac{(Y_c - Y_0) \times A_c - A_0}{P_c - P_0} \times 100$

Where " $\Delta P = P_c P_0$ " = Change accrue in production over a period of time, " $\Delta Y = Y_c Y_0$ " = Change accrue in productivity over the period, " $\Delta A = A_c A_0$ " = Change accrue in the area over time, "0" = base year, "c" = current year.

3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

3.1 Non-Linear Compound Growth Rate Regression Model (CGRM)

Food security is closely linked with the production of major food crop growth in Pakistan [24]. Wheat, Rice, and Maize are the staple food crop of Pakistan. Table 1, elaborates the coefficients of determinations, regression coefficients, CGR, predicted values, and regression diagnostics of fitted CGRM for the food crops area and population, while Table 2, shows these determinates for the food crops productivity and production. Wheat, Rice, and Maize crops are accounting 1.8 %, 0.5 %, and 0.7 % share of the GDP of Pakistan [25]. In 2021, Wheat, Rice, Maize, Sorghum (jawar), Millet (bajra), and Barley are cultivated on 22655.66, 8242.56, 3503.51, 310.3, 865.87 and 103.39 thousand acres areas in Pakistan, while it was 10337, 2305, 989.63, 1361, 2368 and 497 thousand acres in 1950. Using the CGRM, the growth rates for area reported as 1.21 %, 1.61 %, 1.71 %, -1.39 %, -1.29 %, and -1.69 %, respectively for Wheat, Rice, Maize, Sorghum (jawar), Millet (bajra) and Barley. The productivity in mds/acre of Wheat, Rice, Maize, Sorghum (jawar), Millet (bajra), and Barley were 9.34, 8.59, 10.13, 4.9, 3.91, and 7.34 in 1950 and it is reported as 30.3, 25.54, 63.79, 7.73, 7.68 and 10.12 in 2021. The models predicted the growth rate for the productivity as 2.22 %, 1.71 %, 2.43 %, 0.50 %, 0.70 %, and 0.80 %, respectively for the Wheat, Rice, Maize, Sorghum (jawar), Millet (bajra) and Barley crops. For the production side, Wheat, Rice, Maize, Sorghum (jawar), Millet (bajra), and Barley reported 3862, 792, 401, 267, 370, and 146 thousand tonnes in 1950, and these crops accounting production as 27464.08, 8419.68, 8939.79, 95.97, 266.08 and 41.86 thousand tonnes for 2021. The fitted model predicted the production

Area in acres all food crops							Population
	Wheat	Rice	Maize	Sorghum (Jawar)	Millet (Bajra)	Barley	in million
Adj R ²	0.916	0.931	0.965	0.734	0.637	0.679	0.993
MSE	0.006	0.009	0.005	0.029	0.039	0.059	0.002
F-Statistic	779.2**	957.4**	1553.0**	196.7**	125.8**	151.3**	9798.7**
Slope (β)	0.012	0.016	0.017	-0.014	-0.013	-0.017	0.028
t-Statistic	27.9**	30.9**	44.19**	-14.02	-11.2	-12.3	98.9**
CGR	1.21%	1.61%	1.71%	-1.39%	-1.29%	-1.69%	2.84%
1950	10337	2305	989.63	1361	2368	497	32.92
2021	22655.66	8242.56	3503.51	310.3	865.87	103.39	224.78
2030 (Predicted)	25223.27	9508.36	4077.48	273.32	769.67	88.61	288.20
2050 (Predicted)	32019.28	13061.10	5712.30	206.16	592.45	62.88	500.68
% Inc/Dec at 2030	11.33%	15.36	16.38	-11.92	-11.11	-14.30	28.21%
% Inc/Dec at 2050	41.33%	58.46%	63.05%	-33.56%	-31.58%	-39.18%	122.74%

Table 1. Fitted CGRM determinants for food crops area and population of Pakistan

** Shows the models and coefficient are statistically significant

Table 2 . Fitted CGRM determinates for	food crops prod	uctivity and production.
---	-----------------	--------------------------

	Productivity (Yield) in mds/ acre						
	Wheat	Rice	Maize	Sorghum (Jawar)	Millet (Bajra)	Barley	
Adj R ²	0.949	0.898	0.818	0.644	0.635	0.719	
MSE	0.012	0.014	0.054	0.005	0.014	0.012	
F-Statistic	1324.7**	629.4**	319.9**	129.2**	124.4**	182.2**	
Slope (β)	0.022	0.017	0.024	0.005	0.007	0.008	
t-Statistic	36.3**	25.0**	17.8**	11.3**	11.1**	13.4**	
CGR	2.22%	1.71%	2.43%	0.50%	0.70%	0.80%	
1950	9.34	8.59	10.13	4.9	3.91	7.34	
2021	30.31	25.54	63.79	7.73	7.68	10.12	
2030 (Predicted)	36.87	29.72	78.97	8.08	8.18	10.87	
2050 (Predicted)	56.97	41.64	126.90	8.93	9.40	12.75	
% Inc/Dec at 2030	21.63	16.38	23.79	4.59	6.48	7.43	
% Inc/Dec at 2050	87.96	63.05	98.93	15.56	22.42	26.00	
		Producti	on in tonns of	f all food crops			
	Wheat	Rice	Maize	Sorghum (Jawar)	Millet (Bajra)	Barley	
Adj R ²	0.952	0.934	0.941	0.473	0.134	0.286	
MSE	0.026	0.033	0.045	0.038	0.071	0.08	
F-Statistic	1396.2**	1013.5**	1142.3**	64.7**	11.9**	29.4**	
Slope (β)	0.034	0.033	0.041	-0.009	-0.005	-0.009	
t-Statistic	37.3**	31.8**	33.7**	-8.04	-3.4	-5.4	
CGR	3.46%	3.36%	4.19%	-0.9	-0.5	-0.9	
1950	3862	792	401	267	370	146	
2021	27464.08	8419.68	8939.79	95.97	266.08	41.86	
2030 (Predicted)	37106.49	11277.13	12834.65	88.47	254.34	38.59	
2050 Predicted)	72420.36	21587.63	28668.07	73.84	230.08	32.21	

** Shows the models and coefficient are statistically significant



Fig. 1. Graph showing CGR for food crops

growth rate as 3.46 % for Wheat, 3.36 % for Rice, 4.19 % for Maize, -0.90 for Sorghum (jawar), -0.50 for Millet (bajra), -0.90 for and Barley. Figure 1, shows the graphical view of the growth rates of all the food crops. The population of Pakistan is reported 224.78 (million) in 2021, while it was 32.92 (million) in 1950. The CGRM reported a growth of 2.84 % for the population.

The fitted CGRM shows explained variation as 91.6%, 93.1%, 96.5%, 73.4%, 63.7%, 67.9%, and 99.3 % respectively for foods crops (Wheat, Rice, Maize, Sorghum (jawar), Millet (bajra) and Barley) areas and population of Pakistan. Fitted models show explained variations as 94.9 %, 89.8 %, 81.8 %, 64.4 %, 63.5 %, and 71.9 % for productivity, and 95.2 %, 93.4 %, 94.1 %, 47.3 %, 13.4 % and 28.6 % for productions of Wheat, Rice, Maize, Sorghum (jawar), Millet (bajra) and Barley. F-statistic shows all fitted CGRM is significant. The t-statistic shows regression coefficients are significant for all food crop productivity. The regression coefficients were found significant for the area and production of Wheat Rice and Maize crops and insignificant for the Sorghum (jawar), Millet (bajra), and Barley. Fitted population regression coefficients were found significant. The slope and CGR for area and production were found negative for Sorghum (jawar), Millet (bajra), and Barley, and positive for Wheat, Rice, and Maize crops. The slope and CGR were found positive for the productivity of all food crops. The population will reach 288.20 (million) by 2030 and 500.68 (million) by 2050. CGRM was found best fitted for the area and productivity of all food crops. For the production side, CGRM, the best fit for Wheat, Rice, and Maize and bit fit for

Sorghum (jawar), Millet (bajra), and Barley crops. Keeping in view of major food crops (Wheat, Rice, and Maize crops) and the population of 2050, the increase in population is 81.41 %, 64.28 %, and 59.69 % greater than from the Wheat, Rice, and Maize area. The area under Sorghum (jawar), Millet (bajra), and Barley were reported to decrease by 33.56 %, 31.58 %, and 39.18 %, while the population is increasing by up to 122.74 % by 2050. The increase in population reported 34.78 %, 59.69 %, 23.81 %, 107.18 %, 100.32 %, and 96.74 % greater than from Wheat, Rice, Maize, Sorghum (jawar), Millet (bajra) and Barley crops productivity up to 2050. The increase in population is greater than the increase in area and productivity of all food crops which shows the expected food stress for Pakistan.

3.2 Growth Rate and Instability Measures of Food Crops

Table 3 shows the instability analysis using the Cuddy Della and Valle index (CDVI) and coefficient of variations for food crops and the population of Pakistan. Regarding the area of food crops, low instability was found for Wheat, Rice, Maize, and Sorghum, while medium for Millet and Barley. The instability was found lower in all food crop productivity except for Maize, which is medium. For production side instability, all food crops lie in the medium instability index except Wheat, which lies in the lower instability index. The coefficient of variation indicates high inconsistency for population compared with area and productivity of food crops.

3.3 Decomposition Analysis Model for Area and Productivity towards Production

Production is the sum of the product of area and productivity (area*productivity). Decomposition model is used to determine the contribution of area and productivity toward production. It is shown in Table 4, Figure 2, that productivity is the main contributor to change in all food crop production as compared to the area. For Wheat, Rice, and Maize, productivity effects were found 18.24 %, 6.28 %, and 12.96 % greater than from area. The contribution of the area is low as compared to productivity (Productivity effects> Area effects) and in some cases, the crop area is critically negative for Sorghum (jawar), Millet (bajra), and Barley. The area and productivity both collectively contribute towards production and accounting 43.76 % share of Wheat, 52.76 % of Rice, and 63.20 % of Maize. The interaction effects were found negative for Sorghum (jawar), Millet (bajra), and Barley crops. Productivity contributes an upswing for all food crops. Interaction effects for Sorghum (jawar), Millet (bajra), and Barley were found negative due to the negative growth rate for the area of these crops.

Table 3. CDVI for the food crops area, productivity, and production

	Area		Productivity		Production		Population	
	CDVI	CV	CDVI	CV	CDVI	CV	-	-
Wheat	6.80 %	23.5 %	9.8 %	43.1 %	13.50 %	60.0 %	-	-
Rice	8.50 %	32.6 %	10.6 %	32.3 %	15.3 %	59.5 %	-	-
Maize	6.43 %	34.4 %	29.18 %	60.0 %	25.50 %	105.2 %	-	-
Sorghum (Jawar)	14.76 %	28.6 %	6.8 %	10.9 %	17.50 %	24.2 %	-	-
Millet (Bajra)	19.69 %	32.6 %	12.3 %	16.8 %	24.30 %	26.1 %	-	-
Barley	19.70 %	34.8 %	10.4 %	19.6 %	25.10 %	29.8 %	-	-
CDVI	-	-	-	-	-	-	4.4	4 %
CV	-	-	-	-	-	-	53.	3 %

Table 4. Decomposition analysis for area and productivity share toward production

	Area effects	Productivity effects	Interaction effects
Wheat	19.48 %	37.72 %	43.76 %
Rice	20.48 %	26.76 %	52.76 %
Maize	11.92 %	24.88 %	63.20 %
Sorghum (Jawar)	-43.00 %	32.17 %	-24.84 %
Millet (Bajra)	-28.69 %	43.60 %	-27.65 %
Barley	-53.86 %	25.76 %	-20.40 %



Fig. 2. Graph showing the decomposition analysis model for food crops

4. CONCLUSION & RECOMMENDATIONS

Food availability is one of the important pillars of food security. It is essential to steer the strategies to ensure food availability. The population of Pakistan is increasing rapidly, while the productivity and area of all food crops are not enough to meet food sustainability. The key concern of the present study is to statistically analyze the growth rate of the population and important food crop production fluctuations using time series data comprise from 1950-2021. The growth rate in area and production of Wheat, Rice, and Maize are positive, while negative for Sorghum (jawar), Millet (bajra), and Barley. The growth rate is positive for all food crops' productivity. The growth rate in area and productivity of all food crops is less than the growth rate of the population. The degree of instability is low for the area of Wheat, Rice, Maize, and Sorghum (jawar), while medium for Millet (bajra) and Barley. Low degree of instability prevails for the productivity of all food crops except Maize, which is medium. The production side instability is medium for all food crops except Wheat, which is low. Decomposition analysis model indicates productivity is a major concern to increase the production of crops to meet the challenge of food security in Pakistan. CGRM is best fitted for the area and productivity of all food crops. The population will increase by 81.41 %, 64.28 %, and 59.69 % greater than from Wheat, Rice, and Maize areas up to 2050. The area under Sorghum (jawar), Millet (bajra), and Barley are reported to decrease, while the population is increasing by about 122.74 % by 2050. The increase in population is greater than the increase in area and productivity of all food crops which shows the expected food stress for Pakistan. The comparison of instability, growth and decomposition analysis for food crops and population will lead the government to lay out direction-oriented policies to attain food sustainability for future food security concerns. The comparison of decomposition analysis will lead the government to that productivity enhancement is a major concern to ensure food availability in Pakistan. The comparison of area and productivity will lead the government to rationalize the policies by keeping in view the expected increase and decrease across the years. This study could also enhance to compare the periodic comparisons and some other linear and nonlinear models could also be applied to compare the results of fitted models.

5. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors would like to appreciate the strong data collection mechanisms and efforts of the team of CRS is a considerable good asset for our sweet homeland Pakistan.

6. CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The authors declared no conflict of interest

7. REFERENCES

- 1. P.P. Andersen. Food security: definition and measurement. Food Security 1(1): 5-7 (2009).
- J. Clapp, W.G. Moseley, B. Burlingame, and P. Termine. The case for a six-dimensional food security framework. *Food Policy* 106: 102164 (2022).
- M. Shafiee, P. Keshavarz, G. Lane, P. Pahwa, M. Szafron, D. Jennings, and H. Vatanparast. Food security status of indigenous peoples in Canada according to the 4 pillars of food security: A scoping review. *Advances in Nutrition* 13(6): 2537-2558 (2022).
- U. M. Carthy, I.Uysal, R. B. Melis, S.Mercier, C. O. Donnell, and A. Ktenioudaki. Global food security issues, challenges and technological solutions. *Trends in Food Science & Technology* 77: 11-20 (2018).
- R. P. F. Guine, M. L. J. Pato, C. A. Costa, D. V. T. A. Costa, P. B.C. Silva, and V. J.P. D. Martinho. Food security and sustainability: Discussing the four pillars to encompass other dimensions. *Foods* 10(11): 2732 (2021).
- B. Aborisade, and C. Bach. Assessing the pillars of sustainable food security. *European International Journal of Science and Technology* 3(4): 117-125 (2014).
- M. Islam, and F. Shehzad. A prediction model optimization critiques through centroid clustering by reducing the sample size: integrating statistical and machine learning techniques for Wheat productivity. *Scientifica* 7271293:11(2022).
- M. Islam, F. Shehzad, and M. Omar, Modeling Wheat Productivity using Hierarchical Regression: A way to Address Food Security Concerns. *Elementary Education Online* 20(2): 1184-1195 (2021).
- M. Koc, R. MacRae, L. J.A. Mougeot, and J.Welsh. Introduction: *Food security is a global concern*. In for hunger-proof cities: Sustainable urban food systems, IDRC, Ottawa, ON, CA (1999).

- D. Ahmad, M. I. Chani, and A.A. Humayon. Major crops forecasting area, production and yield evidence from agriculture sector of Pakistan. *Sarhad Journal of Agriculture* 33(3): 385-396 (2017).
- Anonymous. Sustainable Agriculture and Food Security in Asia and the Pacific. United Nations Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific (ESCAP) Bangkok: (2009).
- S.S.A. Shah, and A. K. Khalil. Growth and variability of major food crops production in Khyber Pakhtunkhwa, Pakistan. *Journal of Applied* and Advanced Research 2(1): 6–12 (2017).
- S. Abdulrahaman, Population growth and food security in Nigeria. Arabian Journal of Business and Management Review (Nigerian Chapter) 62(1087): 1-13(2013).
- T.R. Malthus, An Essay On The Principle Of Population. London, Pickering & Chatto Publishers: 1-139(1986).
- G.C. Nelson, M. W. Rosegrant, A. Palazzo, I. Gray, C. Ingersoll, R. Robertson, S. Tokgoz, T. Zhu, T. B. Sulser, C. Ringler, S. Msangi, and L. You. Food Security, Farming, And Climate Change To 2050: Scenarios, Results, Policy Options.: International Food Policy Research Institute, K Street, NW Washington D.C, U.S.A (2010).
- W. Mekuria, The link between agricultural production and population dynamics in Ethiopia: A review. Advances in Plants & Agriculture Research 8(4): 348-353 (2018).
- 17. P. Gerland, A.E. Raftery, H. Sevcikova, N. Li, D. Gu, T. Spoorenberg, L. Alkema, B. K. Fosdick, J.

Chunn, N. Lalic, G. Bay, T. Buettner, G.K. Heilig, and J. Wilmoth. World population stabilization unlikely this century. *Science* 346(6206): 234-237 (2014).

- C. R. Kagan, At the nexus of food security and safety: Opportunities for nanoscience and nanotechnology, American Chemical Society Publications: (2016).
- T. Murindahabi, L. Qiang, and E. Ekanayake. Economic analysis of growth performance of various grains crops during agricultural reform in rwanda. *Economic Analysis* 9(2): 32-42 (2018).
- D.S. Dhakre, and S. Amod. Growth analysis of area, production and productivity of Maize in Nagaland. *Agriculture Science Digest* 30(2): 142-144 (2010).
- K. Kondal. Growth rate of area, production and productivity of onion crop in Andhra Pradesh. *Indian Journal of Applied Research* 4(3): 4-6 (2014).
- M. Qasim, S. Hassan, A. Bashir, H. Z. Mahmood, and I. Mehmood. Analyzing production potential of selected food and legume crops for food security in Punjab, Pakistan. *Pakistan Journal of Agricultural Research* 28(3): 255-262 (2015).
- B. Ayalew, Trends, growth and instability of finger Millet production in Ethiopia. *Research Journal of Agriculture and Environmental Management* 4(2): 078-081(2015).
- R.U. Shar, A. M. Jiskani, and Y. Qi. Economic outlook of food crops in Pakistan: An empirical study. Economics, *Management and Sustainability* 6(2): 72-86 (2021).
- 25. Anonymous, Economic survey of Pakistan. Ministry of Finance, Govt. of Pakistan, Islamabad. (2021).

Proceedings of the Pakistan Academy of Sciences: B Life and Environmental Sciences 60(1): 91-100 (2023) Copyright © Pakistan Academy of Sciences ISSN (Print): 2518-4261; ISSN (Online): 2518-427X http://doi.org/10.53560/PPASB(60-1)776



A Cross-Sectional Study Elucidating Associated Predictors in Postpartum Depression among Pakistani Women

Shumaila Zulfiqar*, Zahra Tariq, Hafsa Adnan, and Iram Anjum

Department of Biotechnology, Kinnaird College for Women, Lahore

Abstract: Postpartum depression is a psychological condition that deteriorates a mother's cognitive health and overall family functioning. This survey-based cross-sectional study was done on postpartum mothers between 15-40 years of age to determine the epidemiology of postpartum depression in Pakistan. Edinburg postnatal depression scale (EPDS) and an adapted relationship assessment tool were used to determine the prevalence of postpartum depression. A total of n=103 responses were collected from different regions of Pakistan. Univariate and Bivariate analyses, Pearson Correlation Tests, and Binary Logistic Regression Analyses were applied to investigate the predictors. Postpartum depression was found in 67.96 % of the participating women and EPDS was found to be the most reliable tool to evaluate postpartum depression.

Keywords: PPD, EPDS, Gestational, Women's health, Depression, Stress, Postpartum, Disorder

1. INTRODUCTION

Women undergo different reproductive stages and hormonal changes throughout their life. Childbirth and the postnatal period are major transformations, in which women face various complications including heavy vaginal bleeding, vaginal discharge, fever, lower abdominal pain, perineum, and extreme fragility.

During this phase, various hemodynamic, genitourinary, metabolic, and emotional changes occur in the female's body [1]. These variations eventually lead to various psychological changes which may cause debilitating mental disorders such as postpartum depression. Postpartum depression (PPD) is a non-psychotic depressive mood disorder that deteriorates a mother's mental health and ultimately affects her family life by impairing her ability to endure various life challenges including parenting [2]. Post-partum depression (PPD) could be manifested by various physical and emotional symptoms initiated within 2-4 weeks of childbirth and may have severe outcomes for both mother and infant including maternal mortality and morbidity, increased risk of infanticide, and poor attachment between the mother and her child [3]. Different diagnostic systems may define postpartum depression in different ways as the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-IV-TR) categorizes it as a major depressive disorder whose symptoms may begin within four weeks postpartum while the International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems (ICD -10) defines it as a mild mental and behavioral disorder having an onset within six weeks postpartum [1]. The symptoms may include severe mood swings, irritability, insomnia, lethargy, anxiety, difficulty bonding with the baby, feeling of worthlessness, appetite problems, recurring anxious and suicidal thoughts, reduced concentration, short-term memory loss, paranoia, thoughts of killing the baby, hallucinations, disorientation, self-isolation, and hyperactivity. Women who are at risk of developing depressive conditions are rarely identified during pregnancy or at the time of delivery [4-6].

The World Health Organization states that about 10 % of pregnant women around the world

Received: October 2022; Accepted: March 2023

^{*}Corresponding Author: Shumaila Zulfiqar <shumaila.zulfiqar@kinnaird.edu.pk>

and 13 % of the women who recently gave birth experience some type of mental disorder. The prevalence of PPD across Asian countries varies (3.5-63.3 %); Malaysia has the lowest rates (<4 %), while Pakistan has a wide range of extremely higher rates ranging from 28 % to 94 % in different studies [7-13]. Higher rates of PPD could be due to conflicting recommendations from family, strict cultural norms, illiteracy, and poor health facilities. There may sometimes be quite different opinions and demands from the family regarding the care of the baby and mother. Often it causes considerable stress when mothers follow the traditional structures while at the same time health care professionals with contradictory beliefs impose their advice that seldom seems to be reasonable for the mothers [14].

Generally, the important factors involved in the prevalence of PPD could be divided into various categories: Biological/ physical factors, psychological factors, pediatric factors, sociodemographic factors, and cultural factors [15, 16]. These include prenatal anxiety, spouse relationship, family support, income problems, health issues, gestational age, and various other living conditions. In addition, a history of previous episodes of PPD, marital conflict, and single parenthood are also predictive of PPD [17, 18].

In the onset of postpartum depression, multiple factors including genetics, epigenetic modifications, neuroactive molecules, and environment play their role [19]. The heritability of PPD is approximately 50 % which indicates a significant genetic contribution suggesting genetic etiologies [20]. Similarly, different DNA methylation biomarkers have been identified which play important role in the onset of postpartum depression as the epigenetic modifications due to stress, medications, and reproductive hormones may cause DNA methylation which makes it of particular interest to discover the onset of postpartum depression [21]. Studies have indicated that various neuroactive molecules such as reproductive hormones including allopregnanolone and brexanolone, γ -aminobutyric acid (GABA), brain-derived neurotrophic factors (BDNF), and beta-endorphins may play important role in the onset of postpartum depression [19, 22, 23]. Adverse life events having a significant impact on women's physical and mental health and psychiatric history are the most validated and repeated predictors discussed in the literature. Moreover, eating habits, proper nutrition intake, and various demographic factors including age and a number of children may play an important role in the onset of postpartum depression [19].

The majority of the patients seeking mental healthcare are women (69%) that may get treatment for neurotic, stress-related, and mood disorders. Yet, mental health facilities receive only 0.4% of the share of the total healthcare budget. However, the diagnosis and treatment of postpartum depression are not included in these healthcare facilities. Thus, it remains under-diagnosed [1].

So far, not many studies have been conducted in Pakistan that represents the overall prevalence of PPD at provincial and national levels. The cultural norms do not pay serious attention to these psychosocial women's health issues along with the lack of reliable screening tools for PPD; therefore, the cases remain undiagnosed and untreated [10]. Not many women get diagnosed with the development of PPD based on the symptoms and thus do not receive proper treatment for the prevailing condition.

For the diagnosis of postpartum depression, certain scales and screening tools have been developed. Edinburg postnatal depression scale (EPDS) is the most widely used and reliable tool to investigate the prevalence of postpartum depression having a 92 % response rate, 79 % sensitivity, and 85 % specificity [24]. Moreover, other scales including WHO Schedule for Clinical Assessment in Neuropsychiatry (SCAN), Personal Information Questionnaire (PIQ), and Brief Disability Questionnaire (BDQ) have been used by various researchers [1, 7, 8, 10]. Moreover, the relationship of the women with the spouse can be assessed by the relationship assessment tool and women experiencing with battering scale (WEB) to determine the quality of life and effect of behaviors in the development of postpartum depression.

The knowledge of prevalence rates and important indicators of PPD are essential for the implementation of preventative measures and to address the at-risk groups. Herein, we evaluated characteristic predictors for PPD among Pakistani women ranging between the ages of 15-40 years.

2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 Study Design

A cross-sectional study design was used to evaluate the factors playing a significant role in the prevalence of post-partum depression. A closed-ended questionnaire was developed, both in English and Urdu language as a data collection tool so that information about the challenges faced during the postpartum period could be collected from the mothers currently in their postnatal period. The questionnaire had 4 sections. First was about the general information; second included their family life experiences post-partum; third section consisted of an adapted relationship assessment tool (Figure 1). The tool consisted of 10 questions and was formulated by merging questions from three different scales including (1) Women's Experiencing Battering (WEB) [25], (2) Hit-Insert-Threaten-Scream (HITS) [26], and (3) Relationship Assessment Tool (RAT) [27-29]. The fourth section evaluated depression by Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale (EPDS) [30]. Scoring was done based on the Likert scale (Tables 1 & 2). The questionnaire was circulated via various online platforms and the data was collected.

2.1.1 Inclusion Criteria

The participants were mothers between 15-40 years of age who recently gave birth. The study participants were from different provinces of Pakistan i.e., Punjab, and Khyber Pakhtunkhwa (KP). However, no one participated from the province of Baluchistan and Sindh.

2.1.2 Exclusion Criteria

The exclusion criteria were as follows: (1) Unmarried women who have no experience of parturition, (2) Married women but haven't experienced a parturition period, (3) Women experiencing their first pregnancy but haven't given birth yet, and (4) Women who faced miscarriages and does not have any children. (5) Mothers having children with genetic disorders. Patients who met the inclusion and exclusion criteria were asked to fill in the designed questionnaire.

2.2 Data Management

A total of n=103 responses were collected and the data after the quality examination was entered using Microsoft Excel. The analysis of the data gathered was completed using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS), Version 21 (IBM, Chicago, Illinois, USA). Univariate and bivariate analysis was performed for all the variables to examine the association of postpartum depression to various other factors. To analyze the main predictors of postpartum depression, a multivariate analysis was performed using binary logistic regression in which model variables were included that showed significant associations between the dependent and independent variables in the bivariate analysis with the confidence limit kept at 5 %.

2.3 Outcome and Predictor Variables

To examine the prevalence of PPD, the status of the mother with respect to PPD was taken as the dependent variable. Various other physical, psychological, socio-demographic, and pediatric factors which could influence postpartum depression significantly as recruited by the scales used literature review were taken as independent variables. The fundamental maternity-related data included the gestational age of mother, no. of pregnancies, history of miscarriages, and the number of children and breastfeeding status of mothers.

Univariate and Bivariate analyses, Pearson Correlation Tests, and Binary Logistic Regression Analyses (Figure 2) were applied to investigate the predictors.

3. RESULTS

We received 103 responses from women ages between 15-40 years out of which 67.96 % were positive for post-partum depression. The sensitivity of our questionnaire incorporating an adapted relationship assessment tool and Edinburgh postnatal depression scale along with the sociodemographic information came out to be 88.4 %, specificity 73.5 %, and accuracy 83.4 %. The odds ratio calculated OR=21.18 indicated that the odds of development of postpartum depression in the



Fig. 1. Adapted relationship assessment tool



Fig. 2. Schematic description of methodology and results

women self-claiming about having depression were 21.18 times higher as compared to those women feeling content with their physical, psychological, and socio-demographic factors. The SD score of postpartum depression came out to be 46.89 %. The majority of the women who were predicted to be positive for PPD had ages ranging between 30-40 years and the mean marrying age of the women who responded was 24.1942 (SD=3.4699). Most of the women claimed to have experienced postpartum depression with the birth of their first child. Eighty percent (80 %) were university level literate, 64.28 % were non-working women; 65.97 % of the women experiencing post-partum depression lived in urban areas while 100% women of the rural

areas were predicted to be positive for postpartum depression. About 47 % of the women in the joint family system experienced PPD whereas 53 % of the women having nuclear family systems had PPD. Observations ascertain that family history, history of miscarriages, abusive relationships, and incorporation of physical activities in daily life played essential roles in the aggravation of post-partum depression. Most of the mothers who were predicted positive for PPD and claimed to have various health issues playing a role in the triggering of PPD ranged between 36-40 years of age. Moreover, the age gap between the children of these women ranged between 6-15 years.

Type of Relationship		Never (%)	Sometimes (%)	Frequently (%)
××	Argumentative	9	66	25
κ¢	Insulting	50	36	14
	Hurtful	95	4	1
Ŕ	Threatening	78	17	5
A	Spoken Violence	60	31	9
	Physically Abusive	36	41	23
2-3-	Commanding	85	12	3
	Strangled	80	12	9
	Empowering	2	12	81
* @ ??	Lacking Communication	6	17	74

Table 1. Assessment of Relationship of Women by the adapted relationship assessment tool

Table 2. Assessment of Postpar	um depression by Edi	nburgh postnatal d	epression scale ((EPDS)
--------------------------------	----------------------	--------------------	-------------------	--------

Depression Traits		Never (%)	Sometimes (%)	Frequently (%)
R	Happiness	14	66	20
	Social Interests	5	71	24
	Self-Accusation	34	58	8
ANT -	Stress	38	50	12
	Fear	30	52	18
	Over-thinking	55	40	5
	Insomnia	28	54	18
	Sadness	36	47	17
	Crying	32	47	21
*	Self-Harm	9	31	60

The reliability of the Edinburg Postnatal Depression Scale and adapted Relationship Assessment Tool in determining post-partum depression was indicated by Cronbach's alpha values of 0.694 and 0.356 respectively. This indicated that Edinburg Postnatal Depression Scale was a reliable source of predicting postpartum depression whereas the adapted Relationship Assessment Tool was not a very reliable source to analyze PPD.

P-values of the Pearson Correlation test demonstrated that support during the post-partum depression (p=0.001), relationship with the husband (p=0.028)—was assessed by the adapted Relationship Assessment Tool with a cutoff value of 11. The higher values indicated bad marital relationship status of the women-- and depression

level (p=0.000) assessed by Edinburg Postnatal Depression Scale with a cutoff value of 13, indicating depression in those women having score greater than 13 whereas those having depression score (DS) values above 10.5 also had the symptoms of mild depression--were significant contributors of postpartum depression. Moreover, a correlation value of 0.531 depicted a positive correlation between depression score and post-partum depression which meant the higher the depression score by EPDS, the higher the Postpartum Depression. Correlation value of 0.217 for relationship status indicated that the higher the relationship assessment scores depicting a bad relationship, the higher the postpartum depression. Whereas the correlation value of post-partum support (-0.316) manifested that a negative correlation existed between this variable and post-partum depression. This indicated that the higher the level of postpartum support attained by the mother, the lower the development of postpartum depression.

Regression Analysis

The Correlation analysis showed a significant correlation of three factors (depression score, postpartum support score, and relationship assessment score) with postpartum depression. Therefore, Binary Logistic Regression Analysis was performed and the Hosmer-Lemeshow test for goodness of fit was used along with exp (B) with 95% CI to determine the number of times PPD could be affected by various significantly contributing predictors. Hosmer Lemeshow's test for goodness of fit having a p-value of 0.885 indicated that the selected model was a good fit. The analysis predicted that two factors (depression score and postpartum support score) out of those previously determined three correlated factors were the significant predictors of postpartum depression. The probability of acquiring post-partum depression

by taking depression score, relationship assessment score, and post-partum support into account came out to be 42.5 %. Depression score (p value=0.000, 95 % CI) and post-partum support (p value=0.032, 95 % CI) were statistically significant in predicting post-partum depression while relationship assessment score (p value=0.742, 95 % CI) was not significant predictor. Exponential B values showed that for every one unit increase in depression score increased post-partum depression 1.223 times and for every woman who did not receive postpartum support, chances of developing postpartum depression were 3.9494 times higher than those who received support postpartum (Table 3).

4. **DISCUSSION**

This cross-sectional study carried out depicts that a higher rate of postpartum depression could be possibly due to various factors including bad relationship status, abusive marriages, family history of depression, history of miscarriages, gestational age, no family support postpartum, breastfeeding status, no. of children, employment status, family system, physical activities, and history of health issues among women. Our findings are consistent with previously reported studies [8, 31, 32].

The survey analysis aided in the examination of various factors such as depression scores, Relationship assessment scores, support received postpartum, and the probable cause of postpartum depression; family, health, or income problems were the main causes of postpartum depression. The majority of the women who were predicted to be positive for PPD had ages ranging between 30-40 years and the mean marrying age of the women who responded was 24.1942 (SD=3.4699). Most of the women claimed to have experienced postpartum depression with the birth of their first child. 80 % were university-level literate, 64.28 %

 Table 3. Significant p-values (<0.000) indicate that Postpartum Support and Depression Score are significant contributors of postpartum depression</th>

	В	Exp (B)	Significant value
Postpartum Support	1.223	3.494	.034
Depression Score	.201	1.223	.000
Relationship Assessment Score	0.004	1.004	.941

were non-working women; 65.97 % of the women experiencing post-partum depression lived in urban areas while 100 % of women in rural areas were predicted to be positive for postpartum depression. About 47 % of the women in the joint family system experienced PPD, whereas, 53 % of the women having nuclear family systems had PPD.

Prevalence of PPD among Pakistani women has been reported at 28-94 % [7, 8, 11, 33]. We investigated that PPD is highly prevalent in Pakistani women with 67.96 % (95 % CI). However, the frequency of PPD calculated in this study may not truly represent the actual incidence because of the small sample size. There could be multiple reasons for the elevated incidence of PPD in Pakistani women. Ideally, the postpartum period is considered a rest period for the new mother. She usually remains at home to recover from the birth for 40 days and is surrounded by family and friends during this time. Her extended family helps to take care of the home and any other children [13, 31]. If the woman perceived herself as not coping well or as not being able to care for her baby or her husband, she felt guilt and reported low self-esteem as she is expected to perform household chores, look after the children, and obey her husband and family diligently. Such women having lesser coping capabilities usually have a lack of care during the postpartum period. This may even have adverse consequences on the children along with the mother causing problems in the proper development of the baby [1, 34]. However, the adapted relationship assessment tool having lesser reliability did not turn out to be a good predictor of postpartum depression based on the relationship status of the women with their spouses.

Despite such higher rates of postpartum depression among Pakistani women, the issue is still neglected. It is the need of the hour to carry out more research to determine the important factors involved in the development and aggravation of PPD so that proper diagnosis, treatment, and preventative measures could be offered to the mothers which can help in the development of healthy mother-child bond and good family relations.

5. CONCLUSION

The outcomes of PPD on the mother and the child are devastating. The prevalence of PPD is much

higher than expected in Pakistan. For a more detailed analysis, more participants should be recruited from Pakistan to understand the exact frequency of this condition. Many treatment and management options can opt upon diagnosis. National-level screening setups should be established with the help of clinicians, psychologists, and researchers to carry out research and develop awareness among women regarding PPD.

6. REFERENCES

- 1. V. John. Predictors of Postpartum Depression among Women in Karachi, Pakistan. *Loma Linda University* (2017).
- C. Zhou, H. Hu, C. Wang, Z. Zhu, G. Feng and Z. Yang. The effectiveness of mHealth interventions on postpartum depression: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Telemedicine and Telecare* 28(2): 83-95 (2022).
- J. Guintivano, T. Manuck, and S. Meltzer-Brody. Predictors of postpartum depression: a comprehensive review of the last decade of evidence. *Clinical Obstetrics and Gynecology* 61(3):591 (2018).
- R. Anokye, E. Acheampong, A. Budu-Ainooson, E.I. Obeng, and A.G. Akwasi. Prevalence of postpartum depression and interventions utilized for its management. *Annals of General Psychiatry* 17(1): 1-8 (2018).
- R.J. Martin, A.A. Fanaroff, and M.C. Walsh. Fanaroff and Martin's neonatal-perinatal medicine e-book: diseases of the fetus and infant. *Elsevier Health Sciences* (2014).
- M. Roumieh, H. Bashour, M. Kharouf, and S. Chaikha.Prevalence and risk factors for postpartum depression among women seen at Primary Health Care Centres in Damascus. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth* 19(1):1-5 (2019).
- A. Rahman, Z. Iqbal, and R. Harrington. Life events, social support and depression in childbirth: perspectives from a rural community in the developing world. *Psychological Medicine* 33(7):1161-1167 (2003).
- A. Rahman, and F. Creed. Outcome of prenatal depression and risk factors associated with persistence in the first postnatal year: prospective study from Rawalpindi, Pakistan. *Journal of Affective Disorders* 100(3): 115-121 (2007).
- J. Fisher, M. Mello, C.D. Patel, A. Rahman, T. Tran, S. Holton, and W. Holmes. Prevalence and determinants of common perinatal mental disorders

in women in low-and lower-middle-income countries: a systematic review. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization* 90: 139-149 (2012).

- S.S. Gulamani, S.S. Premji, Z. Kanji, and S.I. Azam. A review of postpartum depression, preterm birth, and culture. *The Journal of Perinatal & Neonatal Nursing* 27(1): 52-59 (2013).
- S. Shah, and B. Lonergan. Frequency of postpartum depression and its association with breastfeeding: A cross-sectional survey at immunization clinics in Islamabad, Pakistan. Pakistan. *Journal of Pakistan Medical Association* 67(8): 1151-1156 (2017).
- Z. Wang, J. Liu, H. Shuai, Z. Cai, and S. Liu. Mapping global prevalence of depression among postpartum women. *Translational Psychiatry* 11(1): 1-13 (2021). https:// doi: 10.1038/s41398-021-01663-6
- F. Abdollahi , M.S. Lye, A.M. Zain, S.S. Ghazali, and M. Zarghami. Postnatal depression and its associated factors in women from different cultures. Iranian *Journal of Psychiatry and Behavioral Sciences* 5(2):5-11 (2011).
- J. Fonte, and S. Horton-Deutsch. Treating postpartum depression in immigrant Muslim women. *Journal of the American Psychiatric Nurses Association* 11(1): 39-44 (2019).
- A. Lanes, J.L. Kuk, and H. Tamim. Prevalence and characteristics of postpartum depression symptomatology among Canadian women: a crosssectional study. *BMC Public Health* 11(1):1-9 (2011).
- Z.N. Stowe, and C.B. Nemeroff. Women at risk for postpartum-onset major depression. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology* 173(2): 639-645 (1995).
- E. Robertson, S. Grace, T. Wallington, and D.E. Stewart. Antenatal risk factors for postpartum depression: a synthesis of recent literature. *General Hospital Psychiatry* 26(4): 289-295 (2004).
- D. Ryan, D., Milis, and N. Misri. Depression during pregnancy. *Canadian Family Physician* 51(8): 1087-1093 (2005).
- J. Guintivano, P.F. Sullivan, A.M. Stuebe, T. Penders, J. Thorp, D.R. Rubinow, and S. Meltzer-Brody. Adverse life events, psychiatric history, and biological predictors of postpartum depression in an ethnically diverse sample of postpartum women. *Psychological Medicine* 48(7): 1190-1200 (2018).
- A. Viktorin, S. Meltzer-Brody, R. Kuja-Halkola, P.F. Sullivan, M. Landén, P. Lichtenstein, and K. Magnusson. Heritability of perinatal depression and genetic overlap with nonperinatal depression.

American Journal of Psychiatry 173(2): 158-165 (2016).

- L. Osborne, M. Clive, M. Kimmel, F. Gispen, J. Guintivano, T. Brown, and Z. Kaminsky. Replication of epigenetic postpartum depression biomarkers and variation with hormone levels. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 41(6): 1648-1658 (2016).
- K.M. Deligiannidis, A.R. Kroll-Desrosiers, S. Mo, H.P. Nguyen, A. Svenson, and S.A. Shaffer. Peripartum neuroactive steroid and γ-aminobutyric acid profiles in women at-risk for postpartum depression. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 70: 98-107 (2016).
- R.T. Pinheiro, K. Pinheiro, F. M. de Ávila, L. Quevedo, M. Gazal, and J.P. Oses. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor levels in women with postpartum affective disorder and suicidality. *Neurochemical Research* 37(10): 2229-2234 (2012).
- J.L.Cox, G. Chapman, D. Murray, and P. Jones (1996). Validation of the Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale (EPDS) in non-postnatal women. *Journal of Affective Disorders* 39(3): 185-189 (1996).
- P.H. Smith, J.A. Earp, and R. DeVellis. Measuring battering: development of the Women's Experience with Battering (WEB) Scale. Women's Health: Research on Gender, *Behavior, & Policy* (1995).
- K.M. Sherin, J.M. Sinacore, X.Q. Li, R.E. Zitter, and A. Shakil. HITS: a short domestic violence screening tool for use in a family practice setting. *Family Medicine- kanas City* 30:508-512 (1998).
- S.S. Hendrick. A generic measure of relationship satisfaction. *Journal of Marriage and the Family* 93-98(1988).
- S.S. Hendrick, A. Dicke and C. Hendrick. The relationship assessment scale. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships* 15(1): 137-142 (1998).
- M.J. Vaughn, and M.E. Matyastik Baier. Reliability and validity of the relationship assessment scale. *American Journal of Family Therapy* 27(2): 137-147 (1999).
- J.L.Cox, J.M. Holden, and R. Sagovsky. Detection of postnatal depression: development of the 10-item Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale. *The British Journal of Psychiatry* 150(6): 782-786 (1987).
- N. Husain, I. Bevc, M. Husain, I. Chaudhry, N. Atif, and A. Rahman. Prevalence and social correlates of postnatal depression in a low income country. *Archives of Women's Mental Health* 9(4): 197-202 (2006).
- 32. P. Klainin, and D.G. Arthur. Postpartum depression

in Asian cultures: a literature review. *International Journal of Nursing Studies* 46(10): 1355-1373 (2009).

33. C. Reck, E. Stehle, K. Reinig, and C. Mundt. Maternity blues as a predictor of DSM-IV depression and anxiety disorders in the first three months postpartum. *Journal of Affective Disorders* 113(1-2): 77-87 (2009).

34. S.R. Brand, P.A. Brennan, D.J. Newport, A.K. Smith, T. Weiss, and Z.N. Stowe. The impact of maternal childhood abuse on maternal and infant HPA axis function in the postpartum period. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 35(5): 686-693 (2010). Proceedings of the Pakistan Academy of Sciences: B Life and Environmental Sciences 60(1): 101-112 (2023) Copyright © Pakistan Academy of Sciences ISSN (Print): 2518-4261; ISSN (Online): 2518-427X http://doi.org/10.53560/PPASB(60-1)785



Exploring the Antimicrobials Production Potential of Actinobacteria Isolated from Caves at Bahadurkhel Karak, Pakistan

Shahid Nawaz, Aiman Fatima, Maira Saleem, and Imran Sajid*

Institute of Microbiology and Molecular Genetics, University of the Punjab, Lahore, Pakistan

Abstract: Cave actinobacteria are relatively less explored and are considered as the new targets for the discovery of novel antimicrobials, specifically against highly resistant pathogens such as extensively drug-resistant (XDR) *Salmonella.* In this study N=20 actinobacteria isolates were retrieved from the least disturbed caves situated at Bahadurkhel Karak, Pakistan (33° 16′ 52″ North, 70° 79′ 07″ East) and (33° 15′ 90″ North, 70° 94′ 72″ East). The isolates were identified using standard morphological and biochemical characterization procedures as well as by 16S rDNA sequencing. N= 16 isolates were targeted for further antimicrobial activity screening based on their preliminary morphological and biochemical identification. The methanolic extracts were prepared from the culture broth of the isolates by using Amberlite® XAD-16 resin to execute *in situ* solid phase extraction. The thin layer chromatography (TLC) showed the presence of a variety of different compounds in the crude extracts of the secondary metabolites. The extracts' antimicrobial potential was analyzed against several test strains, including *Salmonella enterica, Staphylococcus aureus, Bacillus subtilis, Klebsiella pneumoniae*, and *Escherichia coli*. Among the isolated strains, the isolates SNK 93 and SNK47 were found to be the most active against the tested pathogenic bacteria, showing growth inhibition zones of 20 mm and 27 mm respectively against extensively drug-resistant (XDR) *Salmonella.* Based on these results it can be concluded that cave actinobacteria are a promising source of potentially novel antimicrobials against multidrug-resistant (MDR) and XDR pathogens.

Keywords: Cave Actinobacteria, Metabolites, XDR Salmonella, TLC, Antibiotics, Bahadurkhel Cave

1. INTRODUCTION

Known for the high G+C ratio in their genome, actinobacteria are indeed one of the largest groups of Gram-positive bacteria. They are generally regarded as potent producers of antibiotics, antifungal, anti-cancerous, and other bioactive compounds. More than 60 % of a current lot of antibiotics are being produced by the actinobacterial species, predominantly by the genus streptomyces [1-4]. A chamber ideal to fit a human entrance could be termed as a cave. There are various ways to classify caves, however predominantly well-known types of caves are limestone and calcium-carbonated caves [5]. Microbiome data of caves is usually unexplored and underrated. The caves provide a unique stressful habitat to bacteria and other microbes, so are now attracting microbiologists for microbiome studies and for

exploring the microbiota for pharmaceutically significant metabolites [6-8]. Actinobacteria are predominantly present in caves because they are prolific producers of bioactive compounds there is no surprise if novel and potent antimicrobials can be recovered from the caves actinobacteria. This can be a solution for the antibiotic resistance problem in general and XDR pathogenic strains in specific [9]. Recent literature also suggests that cave actinobacteria species have been recovered with either new compounds or new analogs of existing active compounds [10-14]. In this regard, one of the mentionable discoveries is from Italy where researchers have been able to isolate cervimycins, which showed very significant activities against MDR Staphylococci and Vancomycin-resistant Enterococci (VRE) [15].

In recent years a lethal surge in extensively drug-

Received: November 2022; Accepted: March 2023

^{*}Corresponding Author: Imran Sajid <imran.mmg@pu.edu.pk>

resistant (XDR) typhoid fever has been reported in different parts of Pakistan. Initially, the majority of the cases were reported from Sindh province in the districts of Hyderabad and Karachi [16]. Typhoid fever is caused by Salmonella typhi, [17]. The XDR Salmonella strains are resistant to a list of antibiotics that are routinely used to treat typhoid fever, including ampicillin, chloramphenicol, and trimethoprim-Sulfamethoxazole, ciprofloxacin, and ceftriaxone [18]. The situation has become alarming because the XDR Salmonella strains have now spread in the entire country and are causing high morbidity and mortality. Many advanced countries such as the United States, Canada, and the United Kingdom, etc, have reported the detection of XDR Salmonella cases and unfortunately, the majority of these cases had a travel history to Pakistan [19-23].

In this study we isolated actinobacteria strains from previously unexplored calcareous selective caves situated at Bahadurkhel district Karak, Pakistan, to screen them against a variety of pathogens including XDR Salmonella. The caves are located in a remote place away from the activities of native inhabitants, hence are the least disturbed caves. The idea of selecting these caves was based on the fact that these caves possess a unique stressed environment hence there are chances of getting new antimicrobials. As the caves can be harboring unique actinobacteria strains, this means that these strains could be potentially producing novel bioactive compounds including antibiotics. This study showed that actinobacteria isolates have the capacity to inhibit the growth of pathogenic strains including XDR Salmonella. This proves that cave actinobacteria are a unique source and need to be explored continuously for pharmaceutically significant compounds.

2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 Sample Collection

Soil samples (N=10) were collected aseptically from the ground, ceiling, and walls of caves. The caves are located in Bahadurkhel district Karak (33° 16′ 52″ North, 70° 79′ 07″ East) and (33° 15′ 90″ North, 70° 94′ 72″ East). The precise location of the sampling site is shown in Fig 1a, b. The caves are named locally as Kam Dadghor (KDG) and Star Dadghor (SDG) respectively. The soil was dug for about 10-20 cm to avoid surface contaminants. The samples were aseptically transferred to the lab in sterile bags (Fig 2a). Extra care was taken to avoid light exposure by wrapping the sample boxes in black layerings.

2.2 Isolation of Cave Actinobacteria

A variety of selective media was used for the isolation in order to make sure to retrieve the maximum possible actinobacteria strains present in the sample. The Starch Casein Agar (SCA), Humic acid Vitamin Agar (HVA), Glucose Yeast Extract, Malt Extract (GYM), Oatmeal Agar (OM) and A medium were used to obtain diverse actinobacteria strains [24-26]. Among these media, starch Casein agar was used for both selective and pure culture isolation. The starch casein agar was simplified and modified in this study, as shown in supplementary data (Table S1). The modification and simplification involved the removal of trace salts to expose actinobacterial strains to a stressful environment which can potentially trigger their secondary production. Following isolation metabolites protocol was followed; 1 g of the soil sample was diluted in 10 mL of autoclaved normal saline which was then serially diluted up to 10-4 dilutions. 100 μ L from 10⁻⁴ dilution was then spread onto SCA medium for initial isolation, after initial isolation, the rest of the media were used for obtaining the pure cultures. The putative actinobacteria isolates were streaked and maintained on the respective media.

2.3 Culture and Morphological Characterization

The putative actinobacteria strains were identified following a polyphasic taxonomic approach. First, the strains were randomly picked based on their morphology from a crowded plate, the criteria for picking up the actinobacteria strain was their apparent morphology and embedded growth in the medium and the colonies were examined for any sporulation if present [27]. Table 1 summarizes all the details of the characteristics which were considered and observed. Later all the isolates were characterized microscopically via gram staining and for biochemical characteristics (Fig 2b).

2.4 Biochemical Characterization

The isolates were also analyzed biochemically and were screened for melanin formation, organic acid formation and esculin hydrolysis. In the case of the organic acid production test, purple coloration was considered as positive, for melanin, and brown to black color was rendered as positive and for esculin hydrolysis, black coloration was noted as a positive result.

2.5 Preparation of Crude Extracts

To get secondary metabolites, the isolates were inoculated into 10 mL of SC broth and kept at 29 °C at 200 rpm for three days. After this enrichment step, 2 mL from this pre-culture was added to 50 mL of SC broth. Again this 50 mL culture was placed in a shaking incubator at 29 °C and 200 rpm for 8 days. About 1 % of Amberlite® XAD-16 N resin was then added to the fermented broth. The mixture was then sonicated for 20 m at 30 kHz and agitated for another 24 h under the same conditions and cellular mass was removed through centrifugation and methanol was used for eluting the active compounds from XAD resin, which was then evaporated on a rotary evaporator at 45 °C and weighed as shown in supplementary data (Table S2). The final product (crude extracts) obtained was kept at -20 °C for further usage and analysis.

2.6 Thin Layer Chromatography (TLC)

The metabolomic extracts were dissolved in Methanol, 5 mg of each extract was dissolved in 1 mL of HPLC grade methanol to obtain a solution of 5 mg/mL and the dissolved extracts were run on $(20 \times 20 \text{ cm Merck-Silica with Aluminum base TLC})$ plates, thickness (20 µm) with binder Polymeric fluorescent indicator) [29]. Various mobile phases with different ratios were used to achieve maximum separation, based upon these trials, the optimum solvent system was found to be a 3:1 chloroform-methanol solvent system.

2.7 Antimicrobial Assay

The inhibition zones for the extracts were measured by the disc diffusion method against the following selected test strains. The first suspensions for the pathogenic test strains were prepared in Muller Hinton Broth (MHB) which included Salmonella enterica, Staphylococcus aureus, Bacillus subtilis, Klebsiella pneumoniae, and E. coli. After the bacterial suspensions were incubated at 37 °C for 24 hours. The optical density for the tested strains was adjusted at 0.5 (108 CFU/mL) Mcfarland standards. Crude Extracts of about 30 mg were dissolved in 250 µL of methanol, and 25 µL which is equal to 3 mg of the extracts were loaded onto the sterile discs (6 mm), which were placed in the pre-inoculated plates with test strains [30]. The test strains were spread onto the MH agar with the help



Fig. 1. (a) Overall indication of the caves from a generalized map, (b) Zoomed Map of Bahadurkhel showing specific sampling sites

Isolates	Colony Morphology	Substrate Mycelium	Aerial Mycelium	Pigments
SNK47	Embedded	Yellow	greyish yellow	white
SNK35	Rough	-	white	white
SNK59	Rough	Grey	white	white
SNK 220	Embedded	Grey	grey	white
SNK04	powdery	White	white	white
SNK03	Rough	Grey	white	white
SNK 73	Powdery	Yellow	green	green
SNK11	Embedded	White	white	white
SNK 250	Embedded	-	white	white
SNK 95	Embedded	Pink	pink	pinkish white
SNK 242	Embedded	-	white	white
SNK246	embedded	-	white	white
SNK106	embedded	White	Grey	white
SNK25	embedded	Grey	Grey	white
SNK 80	embedded	Grey	white	Grey
SNK 93	embedded	-	white	Grey

Table 1. Morphological characteristics of Actinobacteria isolates from caves



Fig. 2. (a) A soil sample collected from the SDG cave of Bahadurkhel Karak, (b) Gram staining of strain SNK 47

of sterile cotton swabs to prepare a uniform lawn of the test bacteria. The 25 μ L of methanol was also added in an empty well as a negative control.

2.8 Extraction of Genomic DNA

The genomic DNA was extracted using Thermo Scientific Gene JET Genomic DNA purification Kit #K0721 (Lithuania) in accordance with the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, the samples were lysed with proteinase k in lysis buffer and RNA was removed using RNase A, after that the lysate was mixed with ethanol and by using purification columns and washing solutions all the impurities were removed before the genomic DNA was eluted in elution buffer and the DNA was stored at -20 °C for further use.

2.9 Polymerase Chain Reaction for The Amplification of 16S rDNA

The polymerase chain Reaction for the extracted genomic DNA using universal primers 27F 5'- AGAGTTTGATCCTGGCTCAG-3' and 1492R 5'-CTACGGCTACCTTGTTACGA-3' was performed maintaining the following cyclic
conditions. Denaturation at 95 °C for 5 mins followed by 30x cycles of denaturation at 94 °C for 30 sec, annealing at 61 °C for 30 sec, and extension at 72 °C for 30 sec. The final extension step was set at 72 °C for 5 mins followed by an infinite holding time at 4 °C. The purified PCR products were sequenced using Automated Sanger chain termination sequencing.

3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

3.1 Morphological Identification through Gram Staining and Biochemical Characterization

All the strains from the three culturing media were streaked onto 5 isolation media, including Starch Casein Agar, A medium and glucose yeast extract malt extract media. Among all the starch Casein agar was found to be the most suitable isolation media. We modified and simplified the starch casein agar media. The recipe for the modified media is given in supplementary data (Table S1). For morphological identification, the isolates were characterized based on the texture of the colony and their pattern of growth on the agar surface, as generally, actinobacteria colonies show embedded growth into the agar medium (Fig. 3). Other than these aspects pigment formation is also a very important classification and identification tool to isolate actinobacterial strains, in this study, it was found that Green and yellow were the predominant pigments produced by the caves actinobacteria isolates.SNK 47 and SNK 93 were strongly positive for melanin formation and organic acid formation, SNK03 and SNK 04 were found to be producing a good amount of organic acid. Overall results of the tests are summarized in Table 2.

3.2 Thin Layer Chromatography Profile of the Extracts

The compounds in each of the sample got separated based on their relative polarity. The selected isolates were chosen based on their TLC chromatogram for metabolomics profiling. The chromatogram was analyzed under UV at 254 nm and 366 nm using CAMAG® Uv Cabinet 4 Switzerland. Alternatively, the extracts were also observed by staining with Anisaldehyde (Fig 4). SNK 47 and SNK 93 showed a distinct pattern of bands suggesting the presence of a variety of metabolites and compounds, based upon these results the extracts were tested against a variety of pathogens including XDR *Salmonella*.

3.3 Antimicrobial Activity of the Metabolites against Test Strains

Among all the strains, the isolates SNK 47 and SNK 93 were active against all the tested strains.

Biochemical Tests		
Melanin	Esculin	Organic Acid
Formation	Hydrolysis	Formation
+	+	+
+	+	+
+	+	-
+	+	+
+	+	+
+	+	-
+	+	+
+	+	-
-	+	-
+	+	+
-	+	+
+	+	+
+	+	+
+	+	+
-	+	+
	Melanin Formation + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	Biochemical Tests Melanin Esculin Formation Hydrolysis + + - + + + - + + + + + + + + + -<

Table 2. Summary of biochemical characteristics of cave actinobacteria



Fig. 3. (a) A crowded plate, showing putative actinobacterial isolates, (b) pure culture of SNK93 on starch casein agar



Fig. 4. (a) TLC chromatogram at UV 364 nm, showing separation of compounds based on relative charge and polarity **(b)** staining with Anisaldehyde/H₂SO₄

However, the activity of SNK 47 was found to be maximum against XDR *Salmonella* (Table 3). The XDR *Salmonella* was isolated from meat samples. The zones of inhibition measured for the SNK 47 against *Salmonella*, *Staphylococcus aureus*, *E. coli*, *Klebsiella pneumonia* and *Bacillus subtilis* were 27 mm 12 mm, 11 mm 10 mm and 10 mm respectively. While for SNK93 the zones of inhibition were measured as 20, 0, 0, 10 and 09 mm respectively(Fig 5a). After initial scrutiny of all the crude extracts against XDR *Salmonella*, it was found that only SNK 93 and SNK 47 were active against XDR *Salmonella*. That is why both of the extracts were then used in replicates against XDR *Salmonella* to ascertain the results. Both of the extracts from the said isolates produced comparable results in replicates (Fig 5b).

The isolates SNK 04 and SNK 35 showed some activity against *Bacillus subtilis*. The zone of inhibition for these isolates were measured at 10, and 12 mm respectively. In general SNK 47 was found to be the most active strain as it showed 100 % activity against all the test strains showing that it possesses the remarkable potential for antibiotics production which can be used against different pathogens including XDR *Salmonella*. However, SNK 93 was found to be active against



Fig. 5. (a) Antimicrobial activity of the methanolic crude extracts against Bacillus subtilis, activities of SNK 47, 93, 04, 106 and 35. (b) Activities of the crude extracts of SNK 47 and SNK 93 against XDR *Salmonella*. Both extracts were tested in replicates against XDR *Salmonella*.

Isolates	zone of inhibition recorded in mm against test strains					
	Salmonella	Staphylococcus	Escherichia	Klebsiella	Bacillus	
		aureus	coli	pneumoniae	subtilis	
SNK47	27	12	11	14	15	
SNK 93	20	0	0	10	9	
SNK 35	0	7	0	7	10	
SNK 03	0	7	0	0	9	
SNK 220	0	0	0	0	0	
SNK 73	0	0	0	9	12	
SNK 04	0	0	0	0	15	
SNK 11	0	0	9	0	14	
SNK 250	0	7	8	0	8	
SNK 242	0	8	13	0	11	
SNK 246	0	10	11	0	10	
SNK 25	0	8	10	7	13	
SNK 322	0	0	10	0	9	
SNK 95	0	8	0	7	9	
SNK 59	0	0	9	8	10	

Table 3. Zone of inhibition recorded in Millimeters against Test strains

three test strains showing an overall 60 % activity against all the test strains. These results suggest that SNK 47 and SNK 93 can further be exploited for antibiotics production.

3.4 16S rRNA gene Sequencing and Phylogenetic Analysis

The sequencing data was analyzed through Finch TV 1.4. The nucleotide sequence was then BLAST analyzed to determine the similarity against the existing data of *actinobacteria* in NCBI [31]. The

results for SNK 47 showed that the strain is 99 % similar to that of *Glutamibacter uratoxydans*, For the SNK93 the similarity index was found to be 99 % against *Actinoplanes* sp. SE50. Both of these isolates are categorized as rare actinomycetes. The neighbor-joining phylogenetic tree for both SNK 47 and SNK 93 is given in figures 6 and 7. The evolutionary history was inferred using the Neighbor-Joining method, the evolutionary distances were computed using the Maximum Composite Likelihood method and in the units of the number of base substitutions per site. The analysis

for SNK 93 involved 6 nucleotide sequences. All ambiguous positions were removed for each sequence pair (pairwise deletion option). There were a total of 593 positions in the final dataset. The analysis for SNK47 Involved 10 nucleotide sequences. All ambiguous positions were removed for each sequence pair (pairwise deletion option). There were a total of 322 positions in the final dataset. Evolutionary analyses were conducted in MEGA11.

Due to their unique habitat, Caves provide one of the best competing environments to microbes where they can produce a variety of compounds and secondary metabolites to survive [32-34]. Cave actinobacteria in this study have been primarily targeted to assess Their potential against a variety of pathogens including XDR *Salmonella*. A variety of innovative methods were executed to obtain the optimum number of actinobacterial isolates. One of these methods includes simplification and modification of the Starch Casein agar Media given in Supplementary data (Table S1).

The trace salts were removed from the media and pH was adjusted to 7.8 so that the cave microbes could experience a stressful environment and hence this may activate their secondary metabolites for survival. The media showed perfect growth for cave actinobacteria. Antibiotic resistance is a serious concern in recent days, as WHO estimates that there will be no treatment options in the future if the rate of resistance among the bacteria continues to be the same [35, 36]. The problem is that the rate of resistance in bacteria is much more than the discovery of novel antibiotics. One possibility is to reduce the use of antibiotics and find alternatives but there is no significant progress in this regard. Medical world will rely on antibiotics in the future as well. Generally acceptable solution in this regard is to find a new antibiotic or new version (analogs) of existing antibiotics which can inhibit infectious bacterial growth [37, 38]. One promising and classic source in this regard is actinobacterial species which are producing more than 60 % antibiotics. However, actinobacteria from the most common sources such as soil have been highly exploited and there is less hope of finding any novel antibiotic agents from these sources. Recent studies have shown that Caves are one of the most unexplored habitats having unique environmental stress which can trigger the production of novel and potent antibiotics [39]. In this study among the 15 isolates, 4 isolates showed promising activity against a variety of pathogens including XDR Salmonella. Specifically, the isolates SNK 47 and SNK 93 were found to be highly active against XDR Salmonella and the rest of the pathogens. This shows that caves can be a good source of finding new and active metabolites against MDR and XDR pathogens. Sequencing analysis showed that the SNK 47 and SNK 93 are 99 % of that of Glutamibacter uratoxydans and Actinoplanes sp. SE50. To the best of our knowledge, this could be the first report of isolating Glutamibacter uratoxydans from the cave environment. Actinoplanes spp, however previously



Fig. 6. Phylogenetic tree showing the relationship of SNK 93 to the *Actinoplthe anes* (Highlighted in red). The percentage of replicate trees in which the associated taxa clustered together in the bootstrap test (500 replicates) are shown next to the branches.



Fig. 7. Phylogenetic relationship of SNK 47 with *Glutamibacter* spp (highlighted in red). The evolutionary history was inferred using the Neighbor-Joining method. The optimal tree is shown. This analysis involved 10 nucleotide sequences. All ambiguous positions were removed for each sequence pair (pairwise deletion option). There were a total of 322 positions in the final dataset. Evolutionary analyses were conducted in MEGA7.

have been isolated from caves [40]. This study will further be extended to identify these metabolites and also determine the structures of these active compounds. Classical approach in this regard is large-scale cultivation, purification of compounds through HPLC and structure elucidation through LC-MS and NMR methodology. The study can be used as a benchmark study in exploring other caves in the region for a large-scale hunt of potent bioactive compounds and novel antibiotics. Other alternative goals that can be achieved by exploiting caves are the discovery of some novel actinobacterial genera as well as their subsequent metabolite profiling which may result in the discovery of many other novel compounds such as antitumor, antifungal and agro active compounds other than antibiotics.

4. CONCLUSION

The actinobacteria isolates from caves showed promising activities against pathogens including XDR *Salmonella*, which supports the idea that caves can be a good source of finding novel and potent antimicrobial agents. The strains SNK47 and SNK 93 are the most active isolates. Targeting these Isolates for Whole genome sequencing, Molecular networking coupled with traditional compound isolation and purification protocols may lead us toward the discovery of novel antibiotics and other bioactive compounds from these strains. There is a need to extensively analyze caves and large-scale studies may help find some of the very promising antibiotics and other bioactive compounds.

5. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study was supported by the University of the Punjab annual research grant, which is duly acknowledged

6. CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The authors declared no conflict of interest.

7. DECLARATION

This study did not use any animal models or human subjects.

8. REFERENCES

1. V. Kumar, K.H. Kim, J.W. Park, J. Hong, and S. Kumar. Graphene and its nanocomposites as a

platform for environmental applications. *Chemical Engineering Journal* 315: 210–232 (2017).

- H. Dong, G. Zeng, L. Tang, C. Fan, C. Zhang, X. He, and Y. He. An overview on limitations of TiO₂-based particles for photocatalytic degradation of organic pollutants and the corresponding countermeasures. *Water research* 79: 128–146 (2015).
- P.C.L. Muraro, S.R. Mortari, B.S. Vizzotto, G. Chuy, C. Dos Santos, L.F.W. Brum, and W.L. Da Silva. Iron oxide nanocatalyst with titanium and silver nanoparticles: Synthesis, characterization and photocatalytic activity on the degradation of Rhodamine B dye. *Scientific reports* 10: 3055 (2020).
- A. Sahoo, and S. Patra. A combined process for the degradation of azo-dyes and efficient removal of aromatic amines using porous silicon supported porous ruthenium nanocatalyst. ACS Applied Nano Materials 1: 5169–5178 (2018).
- P.M. Shaibani, K. Prashanthi, A. Sohrabi, and T. Thunda. Photocatalytic BiFeO₃ nanofibrous mats for effective water treatment. *Journal of Nanotechnology* 2013:939531 (2013).
- M.M. Sajid, S.B. Khan, N.A. Shad, N. Amin, and Z. Zhang. Visible light assisted photocatalytic degradation of crystal violet dye and electrochemical detection of ascorbic acid using a BiVO₄/FeVO₄ heterojunction composite. *RSC advances* 8: 23489– 23498 (2018).
- M.Y.A. Khan, M. Zahoor, A. Shaheen, N. Jamil, M.I. Arshad, S.Z. Bajwa, N.A. Shad, R. Butt, I. Ali, and M.Z. Iqbal. Visible light photocatalytic degradation of crystal violet dye and electrochemical detection of ascorbic acid & glucose using BaWO₄ nanorods. *Materials Research Bulletin* 104: 38–43 (2018).
- X. Wang, X. Yao, H. Bai, and Z. Zhang. Oxygen vacancy-rich 2D GO/BiOCl composite materials for enhanced photocatalytic performance and semiconductor energy band theory research. *Environmental Research* 212: 113442 (2022).
- M. Iqbal, H.N. Bhatti, S. Younis, S. Rehmat, N. Alwadai, A.H. Almuqrin, and M. Iqbal. Graphene oxide nanocomposite with CuSe and photocatalytic removal of methyl green dye under visible light irradiation. *Diamond and Related Materials* 113: 108254 (2021).
- Z. Zhu, S. Wan, Y. Zhao, Y. Gu, Y. Wang, Y. Qin, Z. Zhang, X. Ge, Q. Zhong, and Y. Bu. Recent advances in bismuth-based multimetal oxide photocatalysts for hydrogen production from water splitting: Competitiveness, challenges, and future

perspectives. Materials Reports: *Energy* 1: 100019 (2021).

- Z. Du, C. Cui, S. Zhang, H. Xiao, E. Ren, and R. Guo. S. Jiang, Visible-light-driven photocatalytic degradation of rhodamine B using Bi2WO6/GO deposited on polyethylene terephthalate fabric. *Journal of Leather Science and Engineering* 2: 16 (2020).
- W.S. Hummers Jr, and R.E. Offeman. Preparation of graphitic oxide. *Journal of the american chemical society* 80: 1339 (1958).
- J. Li, T. Tao, X.b. Li, J.I. Zuo, T. Li, J. Lu, S.h. Li, L.z. Chen, C.y. Xia, and Y. Li. A spectrophotometric method for determination of chemical oxygen demand using home-made reagents. *Desalination* 239: 139–145 (2009).
- S.C. Ray. Application and uses of graphene oxide and reduced graphene oxide: in book Applications of graphene and graphene-oxide based nanomaterials 1st ed. pp. 39–55 (2015).
- 15. S. Maswanganyi, R. Gusain, N. Kumar, E. Fosso-Kankeu, F.B. Waanders, and S.S. Ray. Bismuth molybdate nanoplates supported on reduced graphene oxide: an effective nanocomposite for the removal of naphthalene via adsorption– photodegradation. *ACS omega* 6: 16783–16794 (2021).
- L. Feng, D. Yang, S. Gai, F. He, G. Yang, P. Yang, and J. Lin. Single bismuth tungstate nanosheets for simultaneous chemo-, photothermal, and photodynamic therapies mediated by near-infrared light. *Chemical Engineering Journal* 351: 1147-1158 (2018).
- N.M. El-Shafai, M.E. El-Khouly, M. El-Kemary, M.S. Ramadan, and M.S. Masoud. Graphene oxide–metal oxide nanocomposites: fabrication, characterization and removal of cationic rhodamine B dye. *RSC advances* 8: 13332 (2018).
- Z. Zhu, S. Wan, Y. Zhao, Y. Gu, Y. Wang, Y. Qin, Z. Zhang, X. Ge, Q. Zhong, and Y. Bu. Recent Advances in Bismuth-Based Multimetal Oxide Photocatalysts for Hydrogen Production from Water Splitting: Competitiveness, Challenges, and Future Perspectives. Materials Reports: *Energy* 1: 100019 (2021).
- S. Maswanganyi, R. Gusain, N. Kumar, E. Fosso-Kankeu, F.B. Waanders, and S.S. Ray. Bismuth Molybdate Nanoplates Supported on Reduced Graphene Oxide: An Effective Nanocomposite for the Removal of Naphthalene via Adsorption– Photodegradation. ACS Omega 6:16783–16794

(2021).

- N. Lv, Y. Li, Z. Huang, T. Li, S. Ye, D.D. Dionysiou, and X. Song. Synthesis of GO/TiO₂/Bi₂WO₆ nanocomposites with enhanced visible light photocatalytic degradation of ethylene. *Applied Catalysis B: Environmental* 246: 303–311 (2019).
- S. Ahmadi, A. Rahdar, C.A. Igwegbe, S. Mortazavi-Derazkola, A.M. Banach, S. Rahdar, A.K. Singh, S. Rodriguez-Couto, and G.Z. Kyzas. Praseodymiumdoped cadmium tungstate (CdWO₄) nanoparticles for dye degradation with sonocatalytic process. Polyhedron 190: 114792 (2020).
- 22. E.S. Mansor, F.N. El Shall, and E.K. Radwan. Simultaneous decolorization of anionic and cationic dyes by 3D metal-free easily separable visible light active photocatalyst. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research* 9:1–14 (2022).
- M.M. Sajid, N.A. Shad, Y. Javed, S.B. Khan, N. Amin, Z. Zhang, Z. Imran, and M.I. Yousuf. Facile synthesis of Zn₃ (VO₄)₂/FeVO₄ heterojunction and study on its photocatalytic and electrochemical propertie. *Applied Nanoscience* 10: 421–433 (2020).
- 24. M. Radhakrishnan, V.A. Raman, S. Bharathi, R. Balagurunathan, and V. Kumar. Anti MRSA and antitubercular activity of phenoxazinone containing molecule from Borra Caves Streptomyces sp. BCA1. *International Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences and Research* 5(12): 5342 (2014).
- S.E.M.R.A. Yücel, and M.U.S.T.A.F.A. Yamaç. Selection of Streptomyces isolates from Turkish karstic caves against antibiotic resistant microorganisms. *Pakistan Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences* 23(1):1-6 (2010).
- P. Rangseekaew, and W. Pathom-Aree. Cave actinobacteria as producers of bioactive metabolites. *Frontiers in Microbiology* 10: 387 (2019).
- L. Belyagoubi, N. Belyagoubi-Benhammou, V. Jurado, J. Dupont, S. Lacoste, F. Djebbah, and C. Saiz-Jimenez. Antimicrobial activities of culturable microorganisms (actinomycetes and fungi) isolated from Chaabe Cave, Algeria. *International Journal of Speleology* 47(2): 8 (2018).
- P. Guan, X. Wang, Y. Jiang, N. Dou, X. Qu, J. Liu, and C. Jiang. The anti-inflammatory effects of jiangrines from Jiangella alba through inhibition of p38 and NF-κB signaling pathways. *Bioorganic Chemistry* 95: 103507 (2020).
- 29. U. Aftab, and I. Sajid. In-vitro antitumor activity and metabolic finger printing of the actinomycetes isolated from various ecological niches in Pakistan. *Pakistan Journal of Zoology* 48(5): (2016).

- 30. D.V. Axenov-Gibanov, I.V. Voytsekhovskaya, B.T. Tokovenko, E.S. Protasov, S.V. Gamaiunov, Y.V. Rebets, and M.A. Timofeyev. Actinobacteria isolated from an underground lake and moonmilk speleothem from the biggest conglomeratic karstic cave in Siberia as sources of novel biologically active compounds. *PloS one* 11(2): e0149216 (2016).
- 31. L. Liu, N. Salam, J.Y. Jiao, H.C. Jiang, E.M. Zhou, Y.R. Yin, and W.J. Li. Diversity of culturable thermophilic actinobacteria in hot springs in Tengchong, China and studies of their biosynthetic gene profiles. *Microbial Ecology* 72(1): 150-162 (2016).
- C.L. Ventola. The antibiotic resistance crisis: part 1: causes and threats. *Pharmacy and Therapeutics* 40(4): 277 (2015).
- 33. W. Jaroszewicz, P. Bielańska, D. Lubomska, K. Kosznik-Kwaśnicka, P. Golec, Ł. Grabowski, and G. Węgrzyn. Antimicrobial Activities of Compounds Produced by Newly Isolated Streptomyces Strains from Mountain Caves. *In Medical Sciences Forum* (Vol. 12, No. 1, p. 7). MDPI (2022).
- 34. J.L. Gonzalez-Pimentel, I. Dominguez-Moñino, V. Jurado, L. Laiz, A.T. Caldeira, and C. Saiz-Jimenez. The rare actinobacterium Crossiella sp. is a potential source of new bioactive compounds with activity against bacteria and fungi. *Microorganisms* 10(8): 1575 (2022).
- 35. A. Wiseschart, W. Mhuantong, S. Tangphatsornruang, D. Chantasingh, and K. Pootanakit. Shotgun metagenomic sequencing from Manao-Pee cave, Thailand, reveals insight into the microbial community structure and its metabolic potential. *BMC Microbiology* 19(1): 1-14 (2019).
- 36. S. Mitra, S.A. Sultana, S.R. Prova. T.M. Uddin, F. Islam, R. Das, and J. Simal-Gandara, Investigating forthcoming strategies to tackle deadly superbugs: current status and future vision. *Expert Review of Anti-infective Therapy* 20(10): 1309-1332 (2022).
- O. Toke. Antimicrobial peptides: new candidates in the fight against bacterial infections. *Peptide Science: Original Research on Biomolecules*, 80(6): 717-735 (2005).
- J. Santos-Aberturas, and N.M. Vior. Beyond Soil-Dwelling Actinobacteria: Fantastic Antibiotics and Where to Find Them. *Antibiotics* 11(2): 195 (2022).
- J.J. Hug, C.D. Bader, M. Remškar, K. Cirnski, and R. Müller. Concepts and methods to access novel antibiotics from actinomycetes. *Antibiotics* 7(2): 44 (2018).

40. Y. Long, J. Jiang, X. Hu, J. Zhou. J. Hu, and S. Zhou. Actinobacterial community in Shuanghe Cave using culture-dependent and-independent approaches. *World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology* 35(10): 1-12 (2019).

SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Table S1. Modified Starch Casein Agar

Media Components	G/L
starch	10
casein	1
calcium carbonate	2
Agar	13

Table S2. Weight of crude extracts

Isolate	Weight (mg)
SNK47	42
SNK 93	31
SNK 35	29.9
SNK 03	40.4
SNK 220	50
SNK 73	33.5
SNK 04	34.2
SNK 95	25.7
SNK 250	47
SNK 242	33
SNK 11	39
SNK 246	33
SNK 25	45
SNK 106	37
SNK 59	48



Research Article

Photodegradation of Direct Violet 51 Dye using Bi₂MoO₆/GO Nanoflakes as Promising Solar Light-driven Photocatalyst

Sumaira Younis^{1,2}, Haq Nawaz Bhatti^{1*}, Sadia Z. Bajwa², Jie Xu³, and Saba Jamil¹

¹Department of Chemistry, University of Agriculture, Faisalabad, Pakistan ²Nanobiotech Group, National Institute for Biotechnology and Genetic Engineering (NIBGE), Jhang Road, Faisalabad, Pakistan ³Department of Mechanical and Industrial Engineering, College of Engineering, University of Illinois at Chicago, Chicago, USA

Abstract: Water contamination is a challenging issue for the maintenance of environmental sustainability. Industrial effluents are considered major sources of water pollution which affect the quality of surface as well as ground water. In the present research work, semiconducting Bismuth Molybdate/Graphene Oxide (BiaMoO₆/GO) composite nanomaterial has been introduced as the solar light-driven catalyst for photodegradation of Direct Violet (DV) 51 dye and industrial wastewater. Scanning electron microscope (SEM), zeta potential, X-ray diffraction analysis and Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy (FTIR) were used to characterize the BiaMoO₆ /GO composite material. Experimental findings revealed that flake-like BiaMoO₆ /GO composite exhibits 99.00 % degradation activity against DV dye within 80 minutes. BiaMoO₆ /GO nanoflakes degrade DV dye up to 98.70 % at pH 7 and 99.99 % with a 100 mg catalyst dose within 60 minutes, respectively. The stability/reusability study presented 99.82 % - 93.84 % dye degradation from the 1st to 7th day within 80 minutes while optimizing experimental parameters. According to kinetic studies of experimental outcomes, the pseudo-first-order model was best fitted to the obtained data with a coefficient of determination R²=0.954. Moreover, a 69.23 % reduction was observed in chemical oxygen demand (COD) during the photodegradation study of industrial wastewater. Results indicate that BiaMoO₆ /GO nanoflakes have good photocatalytic potential and stability to degrade organic water pollutants under sunlight. Such materials can be used effectively for the photodegradation of organic water pollutants to enhance environmental safety.

Keywords: Water pollution, Direct violet 51 dye, Photodegradation, Graphene oxide (GO), Bismuth molybdate (Bi₂MoO₆).

1. INTRODUCTION

Water pollution has become a severe ecological threat globally, it requires due attention to maintain a healthy lifestyle. There are a variety of organic pollutants like dyes, pesticides, fungicides, drugs, and food toxins in environmental components such as soil, water, crops, vegetables, fruits, and juices, etc. which exert undesirable effects on the human as well as other living creatures [1]. Their release into water systems badly disturbs the quality of both ground and surface water leading to critical health issues in living beings. Due to their nonbiodegradable nature and long-range transport, they accumulate in living tissues and disturb the food chain [2]. Among the released waste products into water bodies, dyes are considered as coloring materials having potential applications in multiple fields like textile, leather, plastics, paper, precious stones, food products, etc. The addition of such complex organic compounds into water bodies inhibits solar light transmission and affects aquatic life. On average there are about more than one hundred thousand synthetic dyes having an estimated production of seven hundred thousand tons/annum throughout the world, resulting in

Received: December 2022; Accepted: March 2023

^{*}Corresponding Author: Haq Nawaz Bhatti <hnbhatti2005@yahoo.com; haq_nawaz@uaf.edu.pk>

substantial production of wastewater [3].

Direct violet 51 dye is found in the class of direct dyes including water-soluble anionic azo dyes. According to the Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc. supplier's safety data sheet, Direct violet 51 is a synthetic, anionic dye having double azo groups. These azo groups act as chromophores to impart color in the textile, paper, and leather industries. Metabolism of azo groups prone to produce carcinogenic aromatic amines such as benzidine. Complex direct dyes have more than one azo linkage and their ingestion or contact may lead to mutagenic, cardiogenic, chronic bronchitis, vomiting, nausea as well as skin, eye, and respiratory tract irritation in humans. In aquatic media, they block the penetration of sunlight and interrupt the photosynthesis in aquatic plants leading to disturb marine life [4].

Removal of such toxic pollutants is a critical situation for the environment and the agencies related to it. A lot of work has been conducted in this area using conventional techniques like filtration, sedimentation, coagulation, membrane separation, flocculation, and adsorption, etc. No doubt these techniques have their importance but also have some limitations i.e., laborious, time taking, high consumption of chemical reagents and transform the pollutants from one phase to another by generating secondary pollutants which result in incomplete removal of toxic substances [2]. Among these progressions, heterogeneous photocatalysis has attracted much attention as a facile and costeffective method. It is a well-known advanced oxidation method that utilizes light-sensitive photocatalysts to accelerate photochemical reactions by harvesting solar energy and results in the complete degradation of organic pollutants without generating secondary pollutants [5, 6].

Growing complications in environmental pollution draw considerable attention to searching nanomaterials bearing multiple catalytic potentials. Their significance increases due to the highly efficient mode of action and cost-effectiveness than conventional techniques [7]. Semiconducting metal oxides and their composites with carbon-based nanostructures have fascinating photocatalytic applications due to their synergistic effects. Two-dimensional (2D) materials (nanosheets, nanoplates, nanoflakes, etc.) play a major role in photocatalytic applications due to their outstanding properties, offering large interlayer spaces and high active surface area owing to more exposed surface atoms. Their flattened and thinner dimensions provide multiple pathways for the migration of charge carriers augmenting the photocatalytic potential at the atomic level [8].

2D Graphene oxide (GO) has outstanding electrochemical characteristics due to its electron promotor attributes. The presence of reactive oxygenated functional groups provides stable chemical reactivity as a catalyst as well as for the formation of composite materials with other metallic nanostructures to overcome the recombination of charge carriers during photocatalysis [9]. Bismuth molybdate (Bi₂MoO₆) belongs to the family of Aurivillius oxide perovskites. Bi, MoO is a very stable semiconductor material offering good photocatalytic activity due to its perovskite layered structure. Its crystal structure has cornersharing MoO₆²⁻ octahedrons sandwiched between alternating Bi₂O₂²⁺ layers providing a large active surface area for the effective separation of charge carriers [10, 11].

In the present study, we introduced the synthesis and application of Bi2MoO6 /GO nanoflakes. GO was synthesized by Hummer's method while Bi₂MoO₆/GO composite nanoflakes were developed through a hydrothermal route. synthesized Bi₂MoO₆ /GO composite The nanoflakes were applied as solar light-driven nanophotocatalysts to degrade Direct violet 51 dye, a model organic water pollutant. To study the real-life application of these nano-photocatalysts, industrial wastewater was also treated with composite nanoflakes under sunlight. Experimental outcomes revealed excellent photodegradation efficiency of Bi₂MoO₆/GO nanoflakes against model dye and industrial wastewater by harvesting solar energy. According to the author's knowledge, there is no elaborated work on the photodegradation of direct violet 51 dye by using Bi₂MoO₆/GO composite as a photocatalyst.

2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 Chemicals/Reagents

Chemicals and reagents i-e. hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂, 35 %, BDH), graphite powder

(98.0 % UNI-CHEM), sodium hydroxide (NaOH, 98-100 %, Sigma Aldrich), sulphuric acid (H₂SO₄, 98 %, Merck), methanol (99.5 %), ethanol %), molybdate (99.8 sodium dihydrate (NaMoO.2H₂O, \geq 99.5 %), acetic acid (CH₃COOH, 99 %, Merck), bismuth nitrate pentahydrate [Bi (NO₃)₂. 5H₂O, 98 % Merck], potassium permanganate (KMnO4, 99 %, RFCL) hydrochloric acid (HCl, 36.5-38 %, Sigma Aldrich), and sodium nitrate (NaNO₃, \geq 99.0 %, Merck) were used as such without any treatment. Deionized water (DI) was used as a solvent for the preparation of solutions obtained from the Millipore-MilliQ system.

2.2 Production of Graphene oxide (GO)

Modified Hummer's method was used to synthesize graphene oxide (GO) by the oxidation of graphite [12]. In a typical synthetic route graphite powder and sodium nitrate were added in a 6:3 ratio to the concentrated sulphuric acid (200 mL) in the ice bath at constant stirring. After 25 minutes potassium permanganate (40 g) was added slowly on vigorous stirring by maintaining the solution temperature below 15 °C for 2 hours. To obtain a brownish dense slurry the reaction media was kept on constant stirring at 30-35 °C for 36-48 hours. Then deionized water was added slowly, temperature of the reaction medium was raised to 90 °C and maintained at this temperature for about 25-30 minutes. The suspension was cooled down at room temperature and 60 mL H₂O₂ was added dropwise on constant stirring to stop the reaction. After 10 minutes, 10 percent HCl was added to the suspension and allowed to settle down brownish GO precipitates for 24 hours, GO precipitates were collected, methanol, and deionized water were used as washing solvents to eliminate the impurities from the final product and desiccated at 60 °C under vacuum.

2.3 Synthesis of Bismuth Molybdate graphene oxide (Bi,MoO₆)/GO composite nanoflakes

A facile hydrothermal method was used to synthesize $(Bi_2MoO_6)/GO$ nanoflakes. For this, a 40 mL sodium molybdate dihydrate (NaMoO.2H₂O) solution (0.07 M) was prepared in DI water termed as (A). Meanwhile, 20 mL 0.1M bismuth nitrate pentahydrate was dissolved in 2.5 M acetic acid on constant stirring as the solution (B). Graphene oxide (GO) 40 mg was dispersed in 20 mL of deionized water via sonication. Solution (A) was added to the solution (B) dropwise on continuous stirring. Consequently, graphene oxide suspension was added to the resulting suspension and left on continuous stirring for 30 minutes. Then this suspension was poured into a 200 mL stainless steel, Teflon-lined autoclave to place in a heating oven at 180 °C for 16 hours. After completion of the reaction time, the autoclave was cooled down at room temperature. $(Bi_2MoO_6)/GO$ product was collected, washed with absolute ethanol, and deionized water to purify the material. The obtained material was dried in the heating oven at 80 °C for 6 hours. The dried material was ground to a fine powder and stored in an airtight jar.

2.4 Characterization

Scanning electron microscope Raith-e-Line was used to investigate the morphology of prepared nanostructures. For SEM analysis, the suspension was prepared by dispersing 1 mg of (Bi, MoO₂)/GO material in 2 mL absolute ethanol via sonication. 20 µL suspension was spin-coated on carboncoated copper grids and allowed to dry to obtain a stabilized layer. Phase purity and crystal structure were determined by X-ray diffraction technique. The spectra were recorded in the 2-theta range of 10-90 ° on Bruker D8 Discover X-ray Diffraction System with Cu K α radiation i-e. λ =0.15406. Zeta Sizer Nano Series from Malvern Instruments was used to estimate the zeta potential/surface charge of the as synthesized (Bi₂MoO₂)/GO material. To determine the active functional groups in the obtained composite, the material was analyzed through Fourier transform Infrared spectroscopy using Cary-630 Fourier transform Infrared spectroscope in ATR (attenuated total reflection) mode.

2.5 Application of Nanomaterials as Photocatalysts

To study the photocatalytic degradation activity of synthesized $(Bi_2MoO_6)/GO$ nanostructures against model dye, solar light was used as an irradiation light source to accelerate the nanomaterials as photocatalysts. 1000 ppm stock solution of direct violet 51 (DV) dye was prepared by adding 0.1 g of DV in 1000 mL deionized water. Then further dilutions (10-100) ppm were prepared from the stock solution by using the dilution formula.

To see the effect of contact time and kinetic study 50 mg (Bi₂MoO₆)/GO nanostructures were added in 20 ppm, 50 mL Direct violet 51 (DV) dye solution and kept in dark for a half hour for maintaining adsorption and desorption equilibrium of dye molecules on the surface of nanostructures. Then subjected to solar light for different time intervals (0-80 minutes). The rate of dye degradation by nanostructures was determined by evaluating the decrease in the relative maximum absorbance at the characteristic wavelength (λ max = 586 nm) of the dye solution. For this, after regular time intervals 3 mL solution of direct violet 51 dye was taken out and centrifuged at 500 rpm to separate any suspended nanostructures and the intensity of relative absorbance at 586 nm was measured by UV/Visible spectrophotometer.

To study the effect of pH 0.1 M HNO₃ and 0.1 M NaOH solutions were utilized to adjust the pH of dye solution from 3-9. 20 mg of nanostructures were added in dye solutions having the same concentration (20 ppm), equal volume (20 mL) but different pH (3-9), and subjected to sunlight for 1 hour. To see the reusability and stability, (Bi₂MoO₂)/GO photocatalysts were used again and again to degrade the respective new dye solution of the same concentration. For this, the $(Bi_2MoO_2)/$ GO nanostructures were collected by centrifugation from treated dye solutions, washed with ethanol and deionized water to remove any residual dye molecule, dry at 60-80 °C for 4-6 hours. After complete drying, the nanocatalysts were again added into the fresh dye solution of the same concentration (20 ppm) and equal volume (20 mL) under vigorous stirring in dark for a half hour and then subjected to solar light for respected time e.g. 60 minutes. The concentration of residual dye was observed by recording the difference in absorbance of respected maximum wavelength (λ max=586 nm) through UV/Vis spectrophotometer to see the difference in % degradation. The percentage degradation of model dye was assessed through the given formula.

% degradation=Co-Ct/Co×100

Here, "Co" denoted the initial dye concentration at time (t)=0, while "Ct" is the dye concentration after treatment with photocatalysts at a given time (t= 10, 20, 30, 80 minutes, etc.).

2.6 Chemical Oxygen Demand (COD)

For the real-life application of as synthesized nanostructures, industrial wastewater containing various dyes was treated with (Bi₂MoO₆)/GO composite. Chemical oxygen demand (COD) was calculated to check the degradation efficacy of nanostructures against organic matter in wastewater. [13]. Three working solutions were used during the experimental study of chemical oxygen demand. Digestion solution (70 mM Potassium dichromate), 200 ppm potassium hydrogen phthalate (KPH) standard solution, and 5 g AgSO₄ /500 mL of Concentrated Sulphuric acid were used as catalyst solution.

Three test tubes were used in triplicate, e.g., three test tubes were marked as blank, three for standards and three for sample solution, for triplicate run respectively. Catalyst solution (2.8 Ml) and 1.2 mL of digestion solution were poured into all test tubes. For blank, 2 mL deionized water, 2 mL KPH as the standard solution, and 2 mL industrial wastewater as standard, and the sample was added in separate test tubes in triplicate, respectively. All test tubes were refluxed well to homogenize the mixtures and then placed in a heating reactor at 150 °C for two hours. After this, test tubes were cooled down at room temperature for 30 minutes, and recorded the absorbance of treated blank, standard, and sample solution was at a wavelength of 600 nm via spectrophotometer. The difference in chemical oxygen demand before and after treatment was calculated using the formula;

Chemical oxygen demand = standard factor ×optical density

COD removal (%) = (Initial COD – Final COD / Initial COD) × 100

3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

3.1 Possible Growth Mechanism of Bi₂MoO₆ / GO Nanocomposite

During hydrothermal growth reactions, Bi_2MoO_6 crystals were formed in 2 steps (1) Bismuth ions (Bi^{3+}) interacted with water molecule/OH-groups and converted into the $Bi_2O_2^{2+}$ ionic layers. (2) $Bi_2O_2^{2+}$ ionic layers interact with MoO_4^{2-} ions

and are converted into Bi_2MoO_6 nuclei and then arranged into a specified flake-like shape according to the reaction conditions. Graphene oxide interacts with Bi_2MoO_6 nuclei through the electrostatic or hydrogen bonding forces leading to the formation of Bi_2MoO_6 /GO nanocomposite material. The presence of oxygenated functional groups in GO plays a major role in its chemical reactivity towards other nanostructures [14].

3.2 Morphology and Structural Analysis of Bi₂MoO₆/GO Nanocomposite

Morphology of graphene oxide (GO) and Bi₂MoO₄ /GO composite was evaluated by scanning electron microscopy. Figure 1 (A) shows the flattened, thin sheet-like morphology of graphene oxide nanosheets. GO has crumpled, layered morphology. Ultra-thin GO sheets are rippled and entangled with each other having randomly oriented corners or edges. SEM analysis of Bi₂MoO₆ /GO nanomaterial shows the high yield of 2D flake-like morphology having different size and shape distribution. Nanoflakes have flattened surfaces with zigzag margins. It was also observed that the nanoflakes have one broader and other least broadened ends. Nanoflake's analysis through Image J. software revealed that they have a thickness of around 40-50 nm, width and height were observed to be more than 200 nm. The flattened surface plays a major role in increasing the active surface area of 2D nanomaterials as shown in Figure 1 (B).

Structural and functional characterization of Bi_2MoO_6/GO nanoflakes is shown in Figure 2. The crystallinity and phase purity of the composite material was analyzed through a powder X-ray diffraction study. XRD analysis revealed the composition of nanoflakes as bismuth molybdate according to the given Empirical and Chemical formulae: Bi_2MoO_6 . All diffraction peaks in the XRD pattern were found to be well indexed to the orthorhombic crystalline structure with lattice parameters a= 5.5060 (Å), b= 16.2260 (Å), and c= 5.4870 (Å) with JCPDS Card No. 01-072-1524.

The diffraction peaks were detected at 2-theta values of 11.1° , 14.5° , 19.6° , 26.5° , 28.5° , 32.5° , 35.2° , 46.71° , 51.15° , 52.31° , 55.40° , 58.44° , 75.66° , and 86.80° correspond to (020), (021), (040), (121), (131), (002), (022), (152), (023), (024), (262), (333) and (462) hkl planes of nanoflakes (Figure 2 A). The sharp and intense peaks illustrate that the sample is well crystallized even in composite form with GO. There was no specific peak for GO which might be due to less concentration of GO as compared to Bi₂MoO₆. The superior relative intensity of the (131) diffraction peak at 28.5° exhibits the (131) preferred orientation in the Bi₂MoO₆/GO nanoflakes [15].

FTIR profile of the $\text{Bi}_2\text{MoO}_6/\text{GO}$ nanoflakes shows the structural functionalities in Figure 2(B). The band that appears at 3468 cm⁻¹ might be assigned to O-H bonds stretching vibrations. The



Fig. 1. SEM images showing morphological characterization of GO (A) and Bi₂MoO₆ /GO nanoflakes (B).



Fig. 2. Structural and functional characterization of $\text{Bi}_2\text{MoO}_6/\text{GO}$ nanoflakes. XRD pattern displaying phase purity (A), FTIR Profile (B), Zeta surface potential scan (C).

two consecutive bands appearing at about 1988 and 2108 can be attributed to the C=O bending vibrations of carboxyl groups and aromatic C=C bending vibrations in GO respectively. The bands centered at 980 cm⁻¹ and 773 cm⁻¹ were assigned to the stretching vibrations of Bi-O and Mo-O respectively. Another band appearing at 678 cm⁻¹ was well indexed to bridging stretching vibrations of Mo-O-Mo bonds [15]. Figure 2(C) shows the zeta potential analysis of the Bi₂MoO₆ /GO nanoflakes. The surface charge was found to be -16.44 mV revealing that the material is negatively charged. Surface charge plays an important role in the colloidal stability of the nanomaterial [16, 17].

3.3 Photocatalytic Degradation of Direct Violet (DV) dye by Bi,MoO₆/GO nanoflakes

The solar light harvesting photocatalytic efficiency

of Bi₂MoO₆/GO nanoflakes was estimated against the photodegradation of Direct Violet (DV) dye as a model organic water pollutant. The absorption spectra of the under-test DV dye solution was recorded from 400-800 nm and the characteristic maximum absorbance was observed at 586 nm. Bi₂MoO₆ nanostructures are used as good photocatalysts for the degradation of organic water pollutants due to narrow bandgap i-e. 2.5-2.8 [18]. Recombination chances of electron-hole pairs can also occur during the excitation of an electron from the conduction band (CB) to the valence band (VB) which can slow down or stop the photocatalytic reaction. Addition of GO with Bi₂MoO₆ provides an effective charge transfer and causes a reduction in the recombination of electron-hole pairs. The conduction band (CB) of Bi₂MoO₆/GO is composed of Bi, 6p, and Mo 4p molecular orbitals whereas O 2p orbitals made the valence band (VB). GO

behave as an electron promoter by minimizing the back transfer of excited electrons and facilitates a continuous oxidation process [19].

During the photocatalysis process semiconductor Bi₂MoO₆/GO photocatalyst absorbs photons of energy equivalent to its band gap energy. Absorption of photons leads to the excitation of electrons from the valence band to conduction band of the catalyst by leaving a hole in the valence band. Graphene oxide captures the excited electrons from the conduction band of Bi₂MoO₆ preventing the recombination of generated electron-hole pairs, leading to the formation of superoxide (O_{2}^{\bullet}) and hydroxy radicals. The holes in the valence band lead to the formation of hydroxyl ('OH) radicals. Superoxide and hydroxyl radicals behave as strong oxidizing and reducing agents to decompose the complex dye molecules into nontoxic constituents [17, 20] as shown in Figure 3.

3.3.1 Effect of Contact Time

To evaluate the effect of time for maximum degradation of direct violet 51 (DV) dye, absorption of dye solution was evaluated after regular time

02

(e-

Excitation

(<u>h</u>²)

CB

VB

Bi2MoO6

intervals starting from 0-80 minutes without using any oxidizing agent to accelerate the degradation process. The characteristic absorbance at 586 nm of DV in an aqueous solution decreases more quickly under the degradation activity of the photocatalyst. Figure 4(A) shows the decrease in the absorbance of respective wavelength (λ max = 586 nm) for DV dye (20 ppm) aqueous solution (50 mL) with 50 mg of Bi₂MoO₄/GO nanoflakes as photocatalyst. Figure 4 (B) shows the percent degradation of DV dye solution as a function of contact time. Results indicate that there is around 19.22 % elimination of dye was due to adsorption even at the time of adsorption-desorption equilibrium in dark. After the interaction with sunlight dye color starts to become fade showing the degradation of dye molecules. There is a gradual increase in the degradation rate up to 50 minutes which results in 97.94 % dye degradation and then the degradation rate became slow down and give 99.00 % degradation within

pH of aqueous solution also affects the photocatalytic activity of catalysts. pH affects the surface charge

> Dye Solution

Non-toxic

molecules

 $e.g CO_2 + H_2O$



H₂O

Oxidation



e-)

GO

он

of catalysts according to their point of zero charges (pHPZC) and results in to change in the adsorption capacity of catalysts [21]. To see the pH effect of aqueous DV dye solutions on the photocatalytic efficiency of Bi₂MoO₂/GO nanoflakes, the pH of dye solutions was adjusted by using 0.1 M NaOH and 0.1 M HNO₃ from 3-9. Other experimental conditions were the same, e.g dye concentration (20 ppm), volume (20 mL), catalyst dose (20 mg), and time was 60 minutes. An increase in pH from 3-7 exhibits increase in the degradation rate of dye molecules (76.14-98.70 %) and then a decrease in % degradation at pH 9 (86.82 %). Results indicate that maximum dye degradation of about 98.70 % was observed at neutral pH=7 rather than acidic and basic pH (Figures 4C and D). This phenomenon may be because at acidic pH more hydronium ions surrounds negatively charged catalyst and reduce the interactions of anionic DV dye molecules leading to a slow-down dye degradation rate. By increasing the pH value, the number of hydronium ions decreases, and the interaction of dye molecules increases towards Bi, MoO,/GO nanoflakes photocatalyst leading to a higher dye degradation rate by the rapid formation of hydroxyl radicals. Further increase in pH =9, has a negative effect on the degradation process. This may be due to the fact that at basic pH more number of hydroxyl groups of basic dye solution suppresses the oxidation of water and dye molecules to generate the hydroxyl radicals. In an alkaline medium, both negatively charged catalyst and anionic dye molecules may repel each other and cause a decline in the degradation process [22].

3.3.3 Effect of Catalyst Dose

The amount of catalyst is also considered a function of the degradation process. To observe the effect of catalyst dose, dye solutions having the same concentration (20 mg/L) with the same volume (20 mL) were treated with different amounts of Bi_2MoO_6/GO nanoflakes i-e 5, 25, 50, 100, and 150 mg for 60 minutes. Results have shown an increase in the rate of degradation i-e 51 to 99.99 %, with the increase in catalyst dose from 5 to 100 mg of



Fig. 4. Photocatalytic degradation rate of DV dye under sunlight at different time intervals with Bi₂MoO₆/GO nanoflakes as the effect of contact time for experimental parameters (A), respective % degradation of DV dye at different time intervals (B), the effect of pH on degradation efficiency of Bi₂MoO₆/GO nanoflakes against DV dye (C), respective % degradation efficiency of Bi₂MoO₆/GO nanoflakes at different pH values of dye solution (D).

Bi₂MoO₆/GO nanoflakes (Figure 5A). Further increase in the amount of catalyst about 150 mg causes an 11% decrease in the photocatalytic activity of the catalyst. It indicates that up to a certain limit increase in catalyst dose results in the production of more reactive oxidizing species to oxidize a greater number of dye molecules in less time. In this connection, beyond the optimum catalyst dose, it has a negative effect on the degradation rate. This may be due to the agglomeration of a high dose of catalyst leading to a reduction of active surface area, or it may decrease the penetration rate of light photons to the inner layers of the dye solution. Light scattering may also occur at the surface of upper-layered Bi₂MoO₂/GO nanoflakes preventing the appropriate interaction of high energy light intensity to the lower-layered catalyst surfaces [23].

3.3.4 Stability/ Reusability

In addition, to confirm the stability and reusability of the high photocatalytic performance of the Bi₂MoO₆/GO nanoflakes, recycling experiments for the photodegradation of DV were conducted. For this 20 ppm, 20 mL dye solution was treated with 20 mg of catalyst for 80 minutes. The catalyst was used again and again for seven days after washing and drying to degrade the respective new 20 mL, 20 mg/L of dye solution. Figure 5 (B) exhibits 99.82 % degradation for the 1st cycle and 93.84 % dye degradation for the 7th cycle. This 5.98 % decrease in the degradation may be due to the loss of photocatalyst during centrifugation, washing, and drying procedures. It was observed that the same catalyst can be used again and again for the degradation of organic water pollutants. Results exhibit the good stability and reusability of the used catalyst making it cost-effective without the production of side products.

3.3.5 Kinetic Modeling

Pseudo first-order kinetic model defines such type of system where the rate of degradation depends upon the extent of the molecules of dye in the solution. The linear expression for this model can be represented as.

$$\ln\left(\frac{Co}{Ct}\right) = k1t$$

Co is the initial concentration of DV dye at the time (t)=0, Ct denotes the final concentration of DVafter the test period (t)=t, k1 is the rate constant, and "t" is the time of reaction. The value of the rate constant can be calculated from the slope of the plot $\ln (Co/Ct)$ vs time (t). Figure 6 (A) shows the plot between ln (Co/Ct) and time (t) for DV dye when treated with Bi₂MoO₆/GO nanoflakes to see the effect of contact time. The value of the coefficient of determination, $R^2 = 0.954$ which is near to unity indicates the best fitting of the pseudo 1st-order kinetic model on the data. Value of rate constant k= 0.0587/min. Similarly, Figure 6 (B) shows the plot between 1/Ct and time (t) to see the photocatalytic activity of Bi₂MoO₆/GO nanoflakes for photodegradation of CV dye as a function of time to evaluate the effect of contact time. The



Fig. 5. % degradation of DV dye with Bi₂MoO₆/GO nanoflakes for experimental parameters i.e effect of catalyst dose (A), and reusability/stability (B).

value of the coefficient of correlation shows that $R^2 = 0.84$ which is less than 0.95 (in the case of pseudo 1st order) indicating that best fitting of pseudo first order kinetic model on the dye degradation rate of reaction. Where the value of rate constant was found to be k= 0.0587/min for pseudo 1st order and 0.0573 in case of pseudo 2nd-order kinetic models. The expression for the pseudo 2nd-order kinetic model is shown as

$$\frac{1}{Ct} - \frac{1}{Co} = k2t$$

3.4 Chemical Oxygen Demand (COD) for Industrial wastewater treated by Bi₂MoO₆/ GO nanoflakes

Chemical Oxygen Demand(COD) was evaluated for industrial wastewater to check the efficacy of Bi_2MoO_6/GO nanoflakes to purify industrial wastewater. For this, 20 mL of 20 times diluted industrial wastewater was treated with 20 mg of Bi_2MoO_6/GO nanoflakes for 60 minutes under solar irradiation.

To see the photodegradation effect of $\text{Bi}_2\text{MoO}_6/\text{GO}$ nanoflakes against organic molecules in the sample wastewater before and after treatment COD was calculated. Initial COD value for untreated wastewater was found to be 83.85 mg/L, after treatment with a catalyst it was reduced to 25.8 mg/L.

% COD removal =
$$(83.85 - 25.8 / 83.85) \times 100 = 69.23 \%$$

Percentage removal of COD after treatment

 (Λ)

with Bi_2MoO_6/GO nanoflakes = 69.23 %

It was found that the overall chemical oxygen demand (COD) of industrial wastewater was decreased up to 69.23 % by treatment with Bi_2MoO_6/GO nanoflakes. This is due to the fact that the organic matter/ dye was oxidized in the wastewater. It was concluded that Bi_2MoO_6/GO nanoflakes have good photocatalytic potential and behave as an oxidizing agent for organic species, including dyes, which are present in the industrial wastewater. Nanostructures can oxidize harmful organic species in wastewater and convert them into nontoxic molecules e.g CO₂ and H₂O.

4. CONCLUSION

This study concluded that Bi₂MoO₆/GO composite was synthesized by facile hydrothermal method with dispersed graphene oxide nanosheets. The SEM analysis revealed the sheet-like morphology of GO and flake-like for Bi, MoO//GO composite material. They developed an interfacial interaction during composite formation. This interaction plays a major role to suppress the recombination of electron-hole pairs by promoting the transfer of excited electrons to reduce the adsorbed oxygen on the catalyst surface. Separation of charge carriers prolongs the photogenerated charge carriers leading to the formation of more reactive oxygen species to oxidize the dye molecules. Results showed that flakes like Bi,MoO,/GO composite give 99.00 % degradation of DV dye and reduce the 69.23 % reduction of COD for industrial wastewater under the influence of solar light. Results revealed that such nanostructures can be utilized for the



Fig. 6. Pseudo 1st order kinetic modeling, plot between ln (Co/Ct) and time (t) for photodegradation of DV dye by the photocatalytic activity of Bi_2MoO_6/GO nanoflakes (A) and plot between 1/Ct and time (t) for photodegradation of DV dye by the photocatalytic activity of Bi_2MoO_6/GO nanoflakes (B).

degradation of organic water pollutants on an industrial scale before the discharge of wastewater into water bodies i.e. lakes, rivers, etc. These dyes are harmful to the living species and also to the environment and should be treated before their discharge into the water bodies.

5. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The author acknowledges the financial assistance from the Higher Education Commission (HEC) of Pakistan under the International Research Initiative Support Program (IRSIP).

6. CONFLICT OF INTEREST

There is no conflict of interest.

7. REFERENCES

- V. Kumar, K.H. Kim, J.W. Park, J. Hong, and S. Kumar. Graphene and its nanocomposites as a platform for environmental applications. *Chemical Engineering Journal* 315: 210–232 (2017).
- H. Dong, G. Zeng, L. Tang, C. Fan, C. Zhang, X. He, and Y. He. An overview on limitations of TiO₂-based particles for photocatalytic degradation of organic pollutants and the corresponding countermeasures. *Water research* 79: 128–146 (2015).
- P.C.L. Muraro, S.R. Mortari, B.S. Vizzotto, G. Chuy, C. Dos Santos, L.F.W. Brum, and W.L. Da Silva. Iron oxide nanocatalyst with titanium and silver nanoparticles: Synthesis, characterization and photocatalytic activity on the degradation of Rhodamine B dye. *Scientific reports* 10: 3055 (2020).
- A. Sahoo, and S. Patra. A combined process for the degradation of azo-dyes and efficient removal of aromatic amines using porous silicon supported porous ruthenium nanocatalyst. ACS Applied Nano Materials 1: 5169–5178 (2018).
- P.M. Shaibani, K. Prashanthi, A. Sohrabi, and T. Thunda. Photocatalytic BiFeO₃ nanofibrous mats for effective water treatment. *Journal of Nanotechnology* 2013:939531 (2013).
- M.M. Sajid, S.B. Khan, N.A. Shad, N. Amin, and Z. Zhang. Visible light assisted photocatalytic degradation of crystal violet dye and electrochemical detection of ascorbic acid using a BiVO₄/FeVO₄ heterojunction composite. *RSC advances* 8: 23489– 23498 (2018).

- M.Y.A. Khan, M. Zahoor, A. Shaheen, N. Jamil, M.I. Arshad, S.Z. Bajwa, N.A. Shad, R. Butt, I. Ali, and M.Z. Iqbal. Visible light photocatalytic degradation of crystal violet dye and electrochemical detection of ascorbic acid & glucose using BaWO₄ nanorods. *Materials Research Bulletin* 104: 38–43 (2018).
- X. Wang, X. Yao, H. Bai, and Z. Zhang. Oxygen vacancy-rich 2D GO/BiOCl composite materials for enhanced photocatalytic performance and semiconductor energy band theory research. *Environmental Research* 212: 113442 (2022).
- M. Iqbal, H.N. Bhatti, S. Younis, S. Rehmat, N. Alwadai, A.H. Almuqrin, and M. Iqbal. Graphene oxide nanocomposite with CuSe and photocatalytic removal of methyl green dye under visible light irradiation. *Diamond and Related Materials* 113: 108254 (2021).
- Z. Zhu, S. Wan, Y. Zhao, Y. Gu, Y. Wang, Y. Qin, Z. Zhang, X. Ge, Q. Zhong, and Y. Bu. Recent advances in bismuth-based multimetal oxide photocatalysts for hydrogen production from water splitting: Competitiveness, challenges, and future perspectives. Materials Reports: *Energy* 1: 100019 (2021).
- Z. Du, C. Cui, S. Zhang, H. Xiao, E. Ren, and R. Guo. S. Jiang, Visible-light-driven photocatalytic degradation of rhodamine B using Bi₂WO₆/GO deposited on polyethylene terephthalate fabric. *Journal of Leather Science and Engineering* 2: 16 (2020).
- W.S. Hummers Jr, and R.E. Offeman. Preparation of graphitic oxide. *Journal of the american chemical society* 80: 1339 (1958).
- J. Li, T. Tao, X.b. Li, J.I. Zuo, T. Li, J. Lu, S.h. Li, L.z. Chen, C.y. Xia, and Y. Li. A spectrophotometric method for determination of chemical oxygen demand using home-made reagents. *Desalination* 239: 139–145 (2009).
- S.C. Ray. Application and uses of graphene oxide and reduced graphene oxide: in book Applications of graphene and graphene-oxide based nanomaterials 1st ed. pp. 39–55 (2015).
- 15. S. Maswanganyi, R. Gusain, N. Kumar, E. Fosso-Kankeu, F.B. Waanders, and S.S. Ray. Bismuth molybdate nanoplates supported on reduced graphene oxide: an effective nanocomposite for the removal of naphthalene via adsorption– photodegradation. ACS omega 6: 16783–16794 (2021).
- 16. L. Feng, D. Yang, S. Gai, F. He, G. Yang, P. Yang, and J. Lin. Single bismuth tungstate nanosheets

for simultaneous chemo-, photothermal, and photodynamic therapies mediated by near-infrared light. *Chemical Engineering Journal* 351: 1147-1158 (2018).

- N.M. El-Shafai, M.E. El-Khouly, M. El-Kemary, M.S. Ramadan, and M.S. Masoud. Graphene oxide–metal oxide nanocomposites: fabrication, characterization and removal of cationic rhodamine B dye. *RSC advances* 8: 13332 (2018).
- Z. Zhu, S. Wan, Y. Zhao, Y. Gu, Y. Wang, Y. Qin, Z. Zhang, X. Ge, Q. Zhong, and Y. Bu. Recent Advances in Bismuth-Based Multimetal Oxide Photocatalysts for Hydrogen Production from Water Splitting: Competitiveness, Challenges, and Future Perspectives. Materials Reports: *Energy* 1: 100019 (2021).
- S. Maswanganyi, R. Gusain, N. Kumar, E. Fosso-Kankeu, F.B. Waanders, and S.S. Ray. Bismuth Molybdate Nanoplates Supported on Reduced Graphene Oxide: An Effective Nanocomposite for the Removal of Naphthalene via Adsorption– Photodegradation. ACS Omega 6:16783–16794

(2021).

- N. Lv, Y. Li, Z. Huang, T. Li, S. Ye, D.D. Dionysiou, and X. Song. Synthesis of GO/TiO₂/Bi₂WO₆ nanocomposites with enhanced visible light photocatalytic degradation of ethylene. *Applied Catalysis B: Environmental* 246: 303–311 (2019).
- S. Ahmadi, A. Rahdar, C.A. Igwegbe, S. Mortazavi-Derazkola, A.M. Banach, S. Rahdar, A.K. Singh, S. Rodriguez-Couto, and G.Z. Kyzas. Praseodymiumdoped cadmium tungstate (CdWO₄) nanoparticles for dye degradation with sonocatalytic process. **Polyhedron** 190: 114792 (2020).
- E.S. Mansor, F.N. El Shall, and E.K. Radwan. Simultaneous decolorization of anionic and cationic dyes by 3D metal-free easily separable visible light active photocatalyst. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research* 9:1–14 (2022).
- M.M. Sajid, N.A. Shad, Y. Javed, S.B. Khan, N. Amin, Z. Zhang, Z. Imran, and M.I. Yousuf. Facile synthesis of Zn₃ (VO₄)₂/FeVO₄ heterojunction and study on its photocatalytic and electrochemical propertie. *Applied Nanoscience* 10: 421–433 (2020).

Proceedings of the Pakistan Academy of Sciences: B Life and Environmental Sciences 60(1): 125-131 (2023) Copyright © Pakistan Academy of Sciences ISSN (Print): 2518-4261; ISSN (Online): 2518-427X http://doi.org/10.53560/PPASB(60-1)843



Research Article

Decomplexation of Venom Proteome of Pakistani Cobra (*Naja naja naja*)

Sadia Erum Khan¹, Humera Waheed², and Syed Faraz Moin^{1*}

¹Dr. Zafar H Zaidi Cenetr for Proteomics, University of Karachi, Karachi, Pakistan ²Dow College of Biotechnology, Dow University of Health Sciences, Karachi, Pakistan

Abstract: The venom proteome of *Naja naja* from Sindh, Pakistan was decomplexed utilizing reverse phase HPLC and SDS PAGE. The results were compared with already reported *Naja naja* species of the region. The banding pattern represents all the major families of proteins including three-finger toxins, phospholipase A₂, snake venom metalloproteases, L-amino acid oxidases, phosphodiesterase, nucleotidases, cysteine-rich secretory proteins, serine proteases, nerve growth factor, cobra venom factor, acetylcholinesterases, Kunitz-type serine protease inhibitors and C-type lectin proteins. The decomplexation of the venom showed the best possible separation through RP-HPLC elution of venom components containing small peptides, small and large proteins based on hydrophobicity. The SDS PAGE under reducing and non-reducing conditions of HPLC fractions highlighted the presence of several proteins.

Keywords: Naja naja, Venom, Decomplexation, HPLC, SDS PAGE

1. INTRODUCTION

Snake venomics is a comparatively new field with tools and techniques related to understanding the mechanism of venom production, its composition and pathogenesis, and also because of its therapeutic value. Decomplexation of venom proteome is particularly important as venom is a mixture of numerous proteins and peptides or toxins with multiple functionalities [1].

Cobra (*Naja naja*) is one of the deadliest species of snake found in the Indian subcontinent. *Naja naja* (*N. naja*) belongs to the family Elapidae and is commonly known as Indian Cobra in this subcontinent. In Pakistan, the specie is distributed from Khyber Pakhtunkhwa, Sindh, and Punjab to a few areas of Baluchistan [2]. *N. naja* is part of the "Big four" group of snakes which include the four deadliest species of snakes responsible for high mortality and morbidity throughout the subcontinent [3]. Common symptoms followed by cobra bite are local swelling and tissue necrosis, difficulty in speaking and swallowing, paralysis, fixed dilated pupils and death due to respiratory failure [4].

The venom of N. naja has a variety of biologically active molecules divided into several classes and sub-classes. Enzymes, proteins, and small peptides are particularly important as these are the potential molecules responsible for venom pathophysiology. The main families of enzymes identified in the venom of N. naja are phospholipases A₂ (PLA₂), Snake venom metalloproteinases (SVMP), Snake venom serine proteases (SVSP), L-amino acid oxidases (LAAO), Endonucleases (END), Phosphodiesterases (PDEs) and Acetylcholinesterase (ACE). Threefinger peptides (3FTx), Cysteine-rich secretory proteins (CRISPs), Nerve growth factor (NGF), Cobra venom factor (CVF), and natriuretic peptides are non-enzymatic proteinous molecules with toxic effects. These have been found in the venom of Naja specie in several studies [5, 6]. Our study aimed to explore the venom proteome of the Pakistani cobra, N. naja from different geographical regions of Pakistan. Here the protein

Received: January 2023; Accepted: March 2023

^{*}Corresponding Author: Syed Faraz Moin <faraz.moin@uok.edu.pk>

decomplexation technique including HPLC and polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS PAGE) was utilized to analyze the cobra venom collected from the province of Sindh. Separation profiles of the venom through HPLC and SDS-PAGE were compared based on respective estimated molecular masses of the protein bands and reported studies conducted on *N. naja* specie of the subcontinent. HPLC and acrylamide gel electrophoresis are the basic protein separation techniques that are most utilized and available resources in a basic protein separation facility. Our results demonstrate the complex nature of Pakistani cobra contributing towards understanding the genus *Naja* venom in South Asia specifically in the Indian subcontinent.

2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 Sample Collection

The venom was purchased from a snake charmer who collected snake specimens from different districts of the province of Sindh and brought them to the institute where snakes were milked for venom. The venom was centrifuged at 4 °C, 7,000 rpm for 30 minutes to remove any tissue material that may have come from the mouth of the snakes. The clear venom was lyophilized and kept at -20 °C until further use.

2.2 Chromatographic separation of venom

Reverse high-performance liquid phase chromatography (RP-HPLC) was utilized for protein separation of lyophilized venom. The venom sample (2 mg) was suspended in 200 uL of 0.1 % trifluoroacetic acid (TFA) water (solvent A) which is the initial buffer to start the sample run. The reverse phase column employed was a C-18 column with 250 x 10 mm column dimensions, 5 um particle size and 300 Å pore size. A linear gradient was run with 0.1 % TFA. acetonitrile (solvent B) 5 % to 70 % B in 120 minutes. Fractions were read at 280 nm and collected manually. After collection, the samples were desiccated and subjected to SDS PAGE analysis.

2.3 Sodium dodecyl sulphate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE)

Gel electrophoresis of crude venom was performed

under reducing as well as non-reducing conditions SDS-PAGE gels of 12.5 % or 15 % were prepared using the standard protocol by Laemmli [7]. Samples were first dissolved in water and then diluted in 2x sample diluting buffer (SDB) which was modified (2 % SDS, 2 mM EDTA, 160 mM DTT, 20 % glycerol, 0.1mg/ml bromophenol blue in 20 mM tris HCl pH.6.8), and heated at 95 °C for 3 minutes. The sample diluting buffer for the loading of crude venom samples was modified as there were insolubility issues with the sample. Gels were run at constant a voltage of 65 or 70 volts for 2 hours. Gels were stained overnight using coomassie brilliant blue and de-stained with distilled water.

3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

3.1 Chromatographic separation of venom

The RP-HPLC program was run to fractionate the venom sample of *N. naja* and resolve the proteins and peptides into 22 fractions (Fig. 1). The fractions were eluted at different retention times with increasing concentrations of solvent B. The gels were run under reducing and non-reducing conditions of the collected fractions. The peaks collected until 25 minutes of the run did not show any bands on the gel (data not shown). It may be due to very small peptides or nucleosides [8]. However, the eluents after 30 minutes to 95 minutes of the run (peaks from 1 to 22) showed bands of proteins and peptides.

The chromatographic separation was followed with modifications as described by Tan et al. [1]. The HPLC program for the separation of venom proteins was scaled down from the original 180 minutes method to 120 minutes keeping the acetonitrile gradient in a similar shape with reading the eluted peaks at 280 nm. Lomonte and Calvete depicted a similar fractionation scheme of the venom [8]. Wong *et al.* have reported the decomplexation of *N*. naja venom of Pakistan and compared it with the Indian and Sri Lankan N. naja specie [9]. They have reported the variation in neurotoxin components which was found to be high in Pakistan N. naja as compared to other countries of the region. They performed decomplexation on HPLC with 180 minutes program and marked 33 peaks. The first ten peaks showed the presence of three-finger toxins or neurotoxins [9]. In our study, the HPLC run was

120 minutes and the number of peaks collected was 22 with high resolution. The collected peaks were analyzed in reducing as well as non-reducing SDS PAGE conditions. Another comparative study [10] conducted on the venom of N. naja and Naja oxiana from Pakistan utilizing mass spectrometric analysis also showed the presence of three-finger toxins (3FTx) but the percentage composition was found to be 21 % in contrast to the previous report of decomplexation where it was found to be more than 75 % [9]. This reflects the approach with which the venom analysis was performed and the region from where the snake specimen were collected. For example, the N. naja venom from South Punjab Pakistan showed the presence of three-finger toxins at 58 % [10] as compared to the northern side [5]. The decomplexation strategy however presents a much more detailed and comprehensive report of proteoforms [9]. Another study that compared the Indian and Sri Lankan N. naja applied the same decomplexation approach and identified the presence of three-finger toxins as 74 % and 80 % respectively. The specimen of N. naja included in this study were collected from the Rajasthan and Gujrat, regions of India. This area is close to the province of Sindh in Pakistan. The HPLC chromatogram of this study showed a different elution pattern with 160 minutes of program and 18 peaks [10]. However, the percentage composition of 3FTx in this study is similar to the N. *naja* venom content reported from Pakistan [9]. We report here the best possible HPLC separation of N. *naja* venom from the province of Sindh, Pakistan as compared to previous studies.

3.2 Sodium dodecyl sulphate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS PAGE) of venom

Crude venom was subjected to SDS PAGE under reducing and non-reducing conditions. Both gels showed protein bands ranging from as high as ~120 kDa to as low as ~6.5 kDa of molecular mass. Three individual venom samples collected from three specimens were run side by side, presenting a similar pattern of bands in both conditions (Fig. 2). The gel under reducing conditions of whole venom was compared with gels reported from India and Sri Lanka under the same condition of SDS PAGE.

The SDS PAGE results of whole N. *naja* venom was compared to the results reported by Vanuopadath *et al.* 2022 [11]. They described the proteome of N. *naja* species from Kerala, India [11]. They have identified the bands obtained from



Fig. 1. HPLC chromatogram of cobra (*Naja naja*) venom on C18 column. The numbers represent the collected peaks.

similar SDS PAGE procedures performed under reducing conditions. Our gel results represent an almost similar band pattern (Fig. 3).

Based on the band comparison the expected identification of proteins could provide an idea of the groups of proteins present in each band marked in figure 3 (A). To elaborate on such a scenario, band 1 might represent snake venom metalloprotease (SVMP), cobra venom factor (CVF), and phosphodiesterases (PDE). Band 2-4 represents acetvlcholinesterase (ACE). 5'-nucleotidase (5-ND), snake venom serine protease (SVSP), Phospholipase B (PLB) and L-amino acid oxidase (LAAO) in addition to SVMP and CVF. Band 5 may include endonuclease (END) in addition to SVMP, CVF and LAAO. Similarly bands 7 and 8 might comprise of Ohanin/vespryn family proteins (OLP), cysteine-rich secretory protein (CRISP), glutathione peroxidase (GPrx), phospholipase A2 (PLA₂), C type lectin (CTL) and nerve growth factor (NGF). Band 9 symbolizes three-finger toxins (3FTx) in addition to OLP and PLA, whereas, band 10 could include Kunitz-type serine protease inhibitor (KSPI) with 3FTx, PLA₂, and OLP.

Fractions collected from HPLC were subjected to SDS PAGE to determine the protein band pattern. Multiple bands were found in each collected fraction on gel under both reducing and non-reducing conditions. The banding pattern obtained under reducing SDS PAGE conditions were compared with the already reported gels of N. naja venom [9-11]. Fractions 3, 4 and 5 mainly showed low molecular mass proteins (~7 kDa). Chromatographic peaks from 6 to 13 presented bands in the range of molecular masses of ~85 to 6.5 kDa. The rest of the peaks showed the presence of high molecular weight proteins (~140 to 55 kDa). Over all more than 40 bands were observed in reducing SDS PAGE gels of the HPLC collected fractions. Hashmi et al. reported the N. naja venom decomplexation utilizing the 180 minutes' acetonitrile gradient program and analyzed the collected fractions on 12.5 % SDS PAGE gel [12]. In our study, we analyzed the first 9 fractions on 15 % gels and the rest of the fractions on 12.5 % SDS PAGE. We adopted the strategy based on the literature review where it was observed that the 3FTx are the main eluent in the initial phase of the HPLC program. The analysis of fractions under non-reducing conditions was performed to have an idea about the fractions with proteins consisting of more than one subunit. Fractions 6 and 10 showed the presence of such proteins (Fig. 4). Most of the literature report only reducing SDS PAGE gels of the collected venom fractions. However nonreducing SDS PAGE could provide functional



Fig. 2. 12 % SDS PAGE under non-reducing (A) and reducing (B) conditions. 'M' represents the molecular weight marker with respective bands in kDa in lane 1. From lane 2-4 the number represent venom samples of three individual specimens of *Naja naja*.



Fig. 3. 12.5 % SDS PAGE under reducing conditions (A) where bands are marked in boxes in comparison to the Vanuopadath *et. al.* 2022 [11]. 'M' represents the molecular weight marker with respective molecular mass (kDa) in lane 1. From lane 2-4 the number represent venom samples of three individual specimens of *Naja naja* venom. Gel image opted from Vanuopadath *et al.* 2022 [11] (B) representing molecular weight marker in lane 1, whole venom of N. naja under non-reducing conditions in lane 2 and in reducing conditions in lane 3. The proteins identified in each band are mentioned on the right side of the image.



Fig. 4. Biochemical characterization of *N. naja* venom. Upper panel RP-HPLC chromatogram of the venom with collected fractions (1-22). Middle panel, reducing SDS PAGE gels and lower panel non-reducing SDS PAGE of the fractions. 15 % gel (A), and 12% gels (B and C) marked by fraction or peak numbers at the bottom. 'M' represents the molecular weight marker with respective molecular weights (kDa).

information as the non-denaturing conditions signify the intact interactions of proteins that are necessary for biological activities [12].

The separation pattern of the N. naja venom showed the generalized elution of proteins and peptides. A linear acetonitrile gradient starting from 5 % and reaching up to 50 % elutes small peptides, followed by small proteins, mediumsized proteins and large or most hydrophobic proteins in the sequence of the HPLC program [8]. The pattern of HPLC separation on reversed phase C18 column is almost similar in most studies reporting the decomplexation of cobra venom even with unique findings. For example, venom from a cobra species Naja senegalensis showed an absence of the Phospholipase A, component and high levels of 3FTx (~76 %). The specie belongs to the Western Africa subgenus Uraeus of genus Naja highlighting insights that could be used for the availability of region-specific antivenom and reducing envenomation-related deaths [13]. The decomplexation studies of snake venom target the ultimate goal of anti-venom development. The region-specific antivenom against a specific specie of snake, such as cobra should include all the members of that genus present in a particular region. This strategy would support the development of a remedy or anti-venom that would provide an effective treatment against envenomation. Our data and similar work find its contribution attention to understanding the complexity of N. naja venom in South Asia specifically in the Indian subcontinent.

4. CONCLUSION

The decomplexation of *Naja naja* venom presented all the major proteins in the venom reported from the *N. naja* species in the Indian subcontinent including different regions of Pakistan, North India, South India and Sri Lanka. We report the best possible HPLC separation of *Naja naja* venom from the province of Sindh, Pakistan as compared to previous studies. Fractions 6 and 10 showed the presence of proteins with more than one subunit as demonstrated by SDS PAGE results under non-reducing conditions. Our data highlights the complexity of the Pakistani cobra species *Naja naja naja*.

5. CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The authors declared no conflict of interest.

6. DECLARATION

The author declared no conflict of interest.

7. REFERENCES

- C.H. Tan, K.Y. Tan, and N.H. Tan. 2019. A protein decomplexation strategy in snake venom proteomics. In: *Methods in Molecular Biology;* Springer, Clifton, NJ, USA, p.83-92 (2019).
- 2. M.S. Khan. *A Guide to the Snakes of Pakistan*. Edition Chimaira, Frankfurt am Main, Germany (2002).
- M. Choudhury, R.J.R. McCleary, M. Kesherwani, R.M. Kini, and D. Velmurugan. Comparison of proteomic profiles of the venoms of two of the 'Big Four' snakes of India, the Indian cobra (*Naja naja*) and the common krait (*Bungarus caeruleus*), and analyses of their toxins. *Toxicon* 135: 33-42 (2017):
- E. Alirol, S.K. Sharma, H.S. Bawaskar, U. Kuch, and F. Chappuis. Snake bite in South Asia: a review. *PLoS neglected tropical diseases* 4(1): e603 (2010).
- A. Manuwar, B. Dreyer, A. Böhmert, A. Ullah, Z. Mughal, A. Akrem, S.A. Ali, , H. Schlüter, and C. Betzel. Proteomic investigations of two Pakistani Naja snake venom species unravel the venom complexity, posttranslational modifications, and presence of extracellular vesicles. *Toxins* 12(11): 669 (2020).
- M.H. Asad, R.J. McCleary, I. Salafutdinov, FAlam, H.S. Shah, S. Bibi, A. Ali, S. Khalid, S.M. Hasan, J.M. Sabatier, and M.D. Waard. Proteomics study of Southern Punjab Pakistani cobra (*Naja naja*: Formerly *Naja naja* karachiensis) venom. *Toxicological & Environmental Chemistry* 101(1-2): 91-116 (2019).
- U.K. Laemmli. Cleavage of structural proteins during the assembly of the head of bacteriophage T4. *Nature* 227(5259): 680-685 (1970).
- 8. B. Lomonte, and J.J. Calvete. Strategies in 'snake venomics' aiming at an integrative view of compositional, functional, and immunological characteristics of venoms. *Journal of Venomous Animals and Toxins including Tropical Diseases* 23: 26 (2017).
- 9. Wong, K.Y., Tan, C.H., Tan, K.Y., Quraishi, N.H. and Tan, N.H., 2018. Elucidating the biogeographical

variation of the venom of *Naja naja* (spectacled cobra) from Pakistan through a venom-decomplexing proteomic study. *Journal of proteomics* 175: 156-173.

- K. Sintiprungrat, K. Watcharatanyatip, W.D.S.T. Senevirathne, P. Chaisuriya, D. Chokchaichamnankit, C. Srisomsap, and K. Ratanabanangkoon. A comparative study of venomics of *Naja naja* from India and Sri Lanka, clinical manifestations and antivenomics of an Indian polyspecific antivenom. *Journal of Proteomics* 132: 131-143 (2016).
- 11. M. Vanuopadath, D. Raveendran, B.G. Nair, and

S.S. Nair. Venomics and antivenomics of Indian spectacled cobra (*Naja naja*) from the Western Ghats. *Acta Tropica* 228: 106324 (2022).

- S.U. Hashmi, A. Alvi, I. Munir, M. Perveen, A. Fazal, T.N. Jackson, and S.A. Ali. Functional venomics of the Big-4 snakes of Pakistan. *Toxicon* 179: 60-71 (2020).
- K.Y. Wong, K.Y. Tan, N.H. Tan, and C.H. Tan. A neurotoxic snake venom without phospholipase A2: Proteomics and cross-neutralization of the venom from Senegalese cobra, *Naja senegalensis* (Subgenus: Uraeus). *Toxins* 13(1): 60 (2021).

Proceedings of the Pakistan Academy of Sciences: B Life and Environmental Sciences 60(1): 133-142 (2023) Copyright © Pakistan Academy of Sciences ISSN (Print): 2518-4261; ISSN (Online): 2518-427X http://doi.org/10.53560/PPASB(60-1)823



Research Article

Characterization of Titanium dioxide (TiO₂) Nanoparticles Biosynthesized using *Leuconostoc* spp. Isolated from Cow's Raw Milk

Susan Abdul Raheem Hasan^{1*}, Jehan Abdul Sattar Salman², and Sawsan Sajid Al-Jubori²

¹Biology Department, College of Education for Pure Science (Ibn Al-Haitham), Baghdad University, Baghdad, Iraq ²Biology Department, College of Science, Mustansiriyah University, Baghdad, Iraq

Abstract: Nanotechnology is a continually expanding field for its uses and applications in multiple areas i.e. medicine, science, and engineering. Biosynthesis is straightforward, less-toxicity, and cost-effective technology. TiO, NPs biosynthesis has attained consideration in recent decades. In this study, probiotic bacteria were isolated from cow's raw milk samples, and then were identified by using the Vitek2 system; as Leuconostoc spp. included Leuconostoc mesenteroides subsp. mesenteroides (Leu.1), Leuconostoc mesenteroides subsp. cremoris (Leu.4), and Leuconostoc pseudomesenteroides (Leu.14). All Leuconostoc spp. isolates showed an ability for TiO, NPs bio-production, after being incubated at anaerobic conditions (30 °C/ 24 h) in DeMan Regosa and Sharpe (MRS) broth medium. The biosynthesized TiO, nanoparticles were characterized using the following apparatuses: UV-Vis spectroscopy, X-ray diffraction (XRD) apparatus, Atomic Force Microscopy (AFM), Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy (FTIR), Field Emission Scanning Electron Microscopy (FE-SEM) in addition to Energy Dispersive X-ray analysis (EDX) spectra. The characterized biosynthesized TiO, NPs were spherical-shaped, nanostructure anatase crystals with an average size range of 53.35-59.41 nm. The UV absorption spectrum was observed at the wavelength 344-248 nm; the topography AFM 2D and 3D images result showed the height and roughness of biosynthesized TiO, NPs that were in the range of 1.137-18.88 nm. Absorption peaks in the FTIR spectra were located in a region typical of TiO, NPs, and biosynthesized TiO₂ nanoparticles' main IR topographies (408.21-445.80) cm⁻¹ belonged to anatase Titania (Ti-O-Ti) bridge.

Keywords: Biosynthesis, *Leuconostoc* spp., TiO₂ Nanoparticles

1. INTRODUCTION

Leuconostoc species are Gram-positive (G +ve), mesophilic, non-motile, non-spore forming and facultative anaerobic/ aero tolerant bacteria [1]. They are negative (-ve) for oxidase and catalase tests and they appear under the microscope as pairs and chains [2, 3]. Leuconostoc can be isolated from the raw milk of goats, camel, plant matter and vegetables like carrots, sauerkraut, and banana [4, 5]. They are involved in food production and industrial processes such as the production of extracellular homopolysaccharides like α glucans (dextran and alternan), and β fructans (levan and inulin) from a substrate that contains sucrose [5, 6]. There are three kinds of approaches for nanoparticle production, physical; chemical and biological methods [7]. When compared to traditional chemical and physical procedures, the biological method offers an eco-friendlier option for producing nanoparticles. In addition, biological procedures have been widely used recently, allowing for NPs to synthesize in varying forms, sizes, and contents [8]. Eco-friendly, rapid, easy, safe, energy-efficient, affordable, and less toxic, green synthesis of biogenic nanoparticles from plants or microbes or their products has become promising. Remarkably, NPs have a crucial role in tumor diagnosis in its early stages by enabling cellular visualization [9, 10].

Received: December 2022; Accepted: March 2023

^{*}Corresponding Author: Susan Abdul Raheem Hasan <sazan.a.h@ihcoedu.uobaghdad.edu.iq>

Extensive research has shown that probiotic bacteria can yield a wide variety of metals and oxides nanoparticles, including TiO_2 , Gd_2O_3 , Se, Ag, Au, CdS, ZnO, Sb_2O_3 , besides many others [11,12] developed a reliable, eco-friendly, and rapid process for extracellular titanium dioxide nanoparticles based on *Lactobacillus crispatus* isolated from healthy women vagina.

In addition to their applications in photocatalytic activity and solar energy, TiO_2 NPs are attractive antimicrobial compounds for their non-toxicity, chemical stability and cost-effectiveness [13, 14]. The strong oxidizing power by free radical generation greatly improved TiO_2 NPs potential as antimicrobial candidates [14]. The current study aimed to use *Leuconostoc* spp. isolated from cow's raw milk for TiO_2 NPs biosynthesis and then confirm this result by characterization. It's an important alternate, safe, inexpensive method besides being green as eco-friendly for nanoparticle microbial (non-pathogenic bacteria) biosynthesis [13].

2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 Isolates of Bacteria

Leuconostoc spp. were isolated from cow's raw milk, and then the identification was throughout the cultural [MRS agar media was used for incubation, at anaerobic conditions (30 °C/24 h)], microscopically and biochemical test [15]; besides using Vitek2 system.

2.2 Biosynthesis of TiO, Nanoparticles

DeMan Regosa and Sharpe (MRS) liquid medium (40 mL) provided with 2 % (9×10⁸ CFU/ mL) of *Leuconostoc* spp. The pure culture was added to TiO₂ (20 mL, 0.025 M). Additional two formulations were prepared as mentioned above with either bacterial growth or TiO₂ eliminated to serve as the control. After stirring for 60 min, the preparations were incubated anaerobically (30 °C/24 h). Compared with the control, the preparation containing bacterial growth along with TiO₂ changed to dark brown sediment, indicating an initial production of TiO₂ NPs [16]. The product was purified by repeated centrifugation (5000 rpm/5 min.) and washing with deionized water. The pellet was dried at 50 °C for 1 h [17].

2.3 Biosynthesized TiO₂ NPs Characterization

Biosynthesized TiO₂ NPS were characterized via the following apparatus: UV-Vis at Ibn Sina Research Center (Ministry of Industry and Minerals/ Iraq); while XRD apparatus, AFM, FE-SEM besides EDX spectra were done by sending all samples as a powder to Research Center in (Tehran/ Iran). In addition, FTIR was measured at Mustansiriyah University/ College of Science/ Physics Department.

3. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

3.1 Identification of Probiotics Bacteria

Thirteen isolates, *Leuconostoc mesenteroides* subsp. *cremoris* (8), *Leuconostoc mesenteroides* subsp. *mesenteroides* (3), and *Leuconostoc pseudomesenteroides* (2) were identified using the Vitek2 system (its probability identification ratio ranged from 98-95 %, 97-90 % and 88, 86 % for all 13 *Leuconostoc* spp. respectively).

3.2 Characterization of TiO, NPs

The results showed that *Leuconostoc* spp. have been capable of biosynthesizing TiO_2 NPs intracellularly. UV absorption spectrum observed at the wavelength 344-348 nm for all 3 was the same as those obtained with previous TiO_2 nanoparticles synthesized by probiotics isolates, demonstrating anatase TiO_2 NPs formation [18]. The UV spectra reported by Landage *et al.* (2020) indicated a distinctive absorption peak approving the anatase phase of TiO_2 nanoparticles that were biosynthesized by *Staphylococcus aureus* and it was detected at 324 nm [19].

The topography AFM images with 2D and 3D images were demonstrated in Figure (1A, 1B, 1C) for biosynthesized TiO_2 nanoparticles from selected *Leuconostoc* spp. (*L. mesenteroides* subsp. *mesenteroides* (Leu.1), *L. mesenteroides* (Leu.14) as 2.155, 1.137, and 18.88 nm respectively. AFM notably depicted the formation of anatase formulas in TiO_2 NPs, besides particles surface morphology that was owing to the occurrence of some aggregates and individual particles. No linear trend was seen



A. L. mesenteroides subsp. mesenteroides (Leu.1), the height of the particle was 2.155 nm.



B. L. mesenteroides subsp. cremoris (Leu.4), the height of the particle was 1.137 nm.



C. L. pseudomesenteroides (Leu.14), the height of the particle was 18.88 nm.

Fig. 1. AFM of TiO_2 nanoparticles biosynthesized by *Leuconostoc* spp. the highest of TiO_2 surface asperities were belong to (Leu.14), while the lowest was related to (Leu.4).

in roughness; however, that proved the highest of TiO_2 surface asperities lead to the materialization of smoother layers [19].

Identification of minerals based on their diffraction pattern is one of the main applications of XRD research. In addition to phase determination, XRD provides information on how interior stresses and defects cause the real structure to diverge from the ideal one [20]. Results of biosynthesized TiO₂ nanoparticles were analyzed by XRD; TiO₂ peaks

were detected at (25.2°), corresponding to 101, characteristic line broadening of diffraction peak was because of the nano size nature of anatase crystals (Figure 2). 2°=25.2, matches (101) the anatase crystallographic plane of TiO₂ NPs, demonstrating that the structure of nanoparticles agrees with anatase crystalline which was regarded as an indicator of TiO₂ NPs synthesized biologically [20]. Between TiO₂ crystalline phases, the anatase phase was defined as the greatest active photocatalytic one [21]. Additionally, TiO₂ layers



A. L. mesenteroides subsp. mesenteroides (Leu.1).



B. L. mesenteroides subsp. cremoris (Leu.4).



C. L. pseudomesenteroides (Leu.14).

Fig. 2. XRD pattern of TiO₂ nanoparticles biosynthesized by *Leuconostoc* spp.

in the anatase phase typically work as a super hydrophilic surface [22]. High crystalline nature of TiO_2 NPs, which was indicated by the sharp peaks, favored photocatalytic activity [23]. Due to anatase's highest photocatalytic activity, has the most uses in industry and is the most widely utilized commercially [24].

The surface micrograph of titanium dioxide nanoparticles synthesized by *L. mesenteroides* subsp. *mesenteroides* (Leu.1), *L. mesenteroides* subsp. cremoris (Leu.4), *L. pseudomesenteroides* (Leu.14), consisted of a uniform distribution of spherical-shaped nanostructure crystals with an average diameter of each isolate (53.37, 53.35, 59.41) nm respectively (Figure 3).

Field Emission Scanning Electron Microscopy identified the physical morphology and size of biosynthesized TiO_2 NPs. The particle size and shape, besides surface morphology that was studied by the SEM, were different. This might be related to different bacteria used in the synthesis process or because the TiO₂ nanoparticles were



A. L. mesenteroides subsp. mesenteroides (Leu.1).



B. L. mesenteroides subsp. cremoris (Leu.4).



C. L. pseudomesenteroides (Leu.14)

Fig. 3. FES-EM of TiO₂ nanoparticles biosynthesized by *Leuconostoc* spp.

being formed at different times [25]. According to the FE-SEM image, sphere-like particles have different diameters of 70–90 nm were observed for the biosynthesized TiO₂ nanoparticles, which might be related to particle aggregation phenomena [26]. Generally, the decrease in particle size is inversely proportional to the surface volume of the material. Consequently, the smaller the particle size, the quicker enters the toxic components along with the bacterial surface which drove decomposition [27].

Energy dispersive X-ray analysis scales

exhibited that, TiO_2 NPs powders prepared from *L. mesenteroides* subsp. *mesenteroides* (Leu.1), *L. mesenteroides* subsp. *cremoris* (Leu.4), *L. pseudomesenteroides* (Leu.14) contained (Ti and O), confirming the purity of biosynthesized TiO_2 nanoparticles (Figure 4).

The EDX result of TiO_2 demonstrated that particles were in crystalline nature plus indeed in metallic TiO₂ nanoparticles [28].

Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy was





used for vibrational information of biosynthesized TiO_2 nanoparticles. It is responsible for information on the fingerprint regions of the chemical bonds within molecules. Figure (5A, 5B, 5C), demonstrated that an absorption peak was within the range spectrum that was related to TiO_2 NPs, and main IR topographies of TiO_2 nanoparticles biosynthesized by probiotics bacteria *L. mesenteroides* subsp. *mesenteroides* (Leu.1), *L. mesenteroides* subsp. *cremoris* (Leu.4), *L. pseudomesenteroides* (Leu.14) respectively, were: first peak at (445.80, 441.03, 408. 21) cm⁻¹ respectively for *Leuconostoc* isolates mentioned above; these peaks were belonging

to anatase Titania (Ti-O-Ti) bridge or called (Ti-O) stretching bond, as reported in the study of Praveen *et al.* (2014), Dodoo-Arhin et al. (2018), they mentioned the range of anatase titanium wavenumber as (400-1000) cm⁻¹ [29, 30].

Peaks at (3273.27, 3272.79, 3273) in the 3600-3050 cm⁻¹ region might relate to the O-H stretching mode of surface and adsorbed water molecules (Figure 5). The peaks at (2360.45, 2361.44, 2360.85) cm⁻¹ for isolates in the same order. These peaks are assigned to the symmetric stretch (C–H) of CH₂ and CH₃ groups of aliphatic chains [31]; or



A. L. mesenteroides subsp. mesenteroides (Leu.1).



B. L. mesenteroides subsp. cremoris (Leu.4).



C. Leuconostoc pseudomesenteroides (Leu.14).

Fig. 5. FTIR result of TiO₂ nanoparticles biosynthesized by *Leuconostoc* spp.

might be related to hydrogens vibration from the hydroxyl layer [32].

The OH stretching band contributed either by molecularly adsorbed water or by surface OH.

In addition to reducing particle aggregation, and retaining their photoactivity in high concentrations. High surface OH groups of TiO_2 nanoparticles can also obstruct electron-hole recombination. The increased bridging hydroxyls on the surface

decrease the positive charge of TiO_2 and led to particle aggregation, negatively affecting catalytic activity [33].

Multiple studies have shown that increasing the number of surface hydroxyl groups on the TiO_2 surface enhances the material's adsorption capacity, mesoporous structure formation, and catalytic efficiency [34, 35].

4. CONCLUSION

The current study was focused on a quick and environmentally friendly process of creating TiO_2 NPs using *Leuconostoc* spp. isolated from cow's raw milk, the biosynthesized and characterized pure anatase TiO_2 nanoparticles within average size ranged from (53.35- 59.41) nm.

5. ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Thanks to Mustansiriyah University-Iraq (www. uomustansiriyah.edu.iq) for supporting the current study.

6. CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The authors declared no conflict of interest

7. REFERENCES

- S.A. Kim, J.H. Bae, H.Seong, and N.S. Han. Development of *Leuconostoc* lactis–Specific quantitative PCR and its application for identification and enumeration in fermented foods. *Food Analytical Methods* 13: 992–999 (2020).
- C.H. Fatma, and Z. Benmechernene. Isolation and identification of *Leuconostoc* producing bacteriocin isolated from Algerian raw camel milk. *African Journal of Microbiology Research* 7:2961-2969 (2013).
- M. Yan, J. Han, X. Xu, L. Liu, C. Gao, H. Zheng, Y. Chen, Y. Tao, H. Zhou, Y. Li, and Z. Wu. Gsy, a novel glucansucrase from *Leuconostoc*, mediates the formation of cell aggregates in response to oxidative stress. *Scientific Reports* 7:38-122 (2016).
- C. Liu, J. Guo, X. Yan, Y. Tang, A. Mazumder, S. Wu, and Y. Liang. Antimicrobial nanomaterials against biofilms: an alternative strategy. *Environmental Reviews* 25:225-244 (2016).
- 5. A.Y. Khudair, J.A.S Salman, and H.A. Ajah. Production of levan from locally *Leuconostoc*

mesensteroides isolates. *Journal of Pharmaceutical. Science & Research* 10:3372-3378 (2018).

- P. Zikmanis, S. Kolesovs, and P. Semjonovs. Production of biodegradable microbial polymers from whey. *Bioresources and Bioprocessing* 7:1-15 (2020).
- N. Patil, R. Bhaskar, V. Vyavhare, R. Dhadge, V. Khaire, and Y.Patil. Overview on methods of synthesis of nanoparticles. *International Journal of Current Pharmaceutical Research* 13:11-16 (2021).
- H. Nadaroğlu, A.A. Güngör, and S. Ince. Synthesis of nanoparticles by green synthesis method. *International Journal of Innovative Research and Reviews* 1:6-9 (2017).
- P. Velusamy, G.V. Kumar, V. Jeyanthi, and J. Das. Pachaiappan, R. Bio- inspired green nanoparticles: synthesis, mechanism, and antibacterial application. *Toxicological research* 32:95–102 (2016).
- H. Barabadi, M. Ovais, Z.K. Shinwari, and M. Saravanan. Anti-cancer green bionanomaterials: present status and future prospects. *Green Chemistry Letters and Reviews* 10:285-314 (2017).
- K.K. Darani, A.G. Cruz, M.R. Mozafari, Z. Abdi, and N. Ahmadi. Biosynthesis of metal nanoparticles by probiotic bacteria. *Letters in Applied NanoBioScience* 8: 619-626 (2019).
- J.A.S. Salman, K.H. Ibrahem, and F.A. Ali. Effect of culture media on biosynthesis of titanium dioxide nanoparticles using Lactobacillus crispatus. *International Journal of Advanced Research* 2:1014-1021 (2014).
- S. Liu, D. Tao, H. Bai, X. Liu. Cellulosenanowhisker-templated synthesis of titanium dioxide/cellulose nanomaterials with promising photocatalytic abilities. *Journal of Applied Polymer Science* 126:282–290 (2012)
- C. L. Dicastillo, M. G. Correa, F. B. Martínez, C. Streitt, and M. J. Galotto. Antimicrobial Effect of Titanium Dioxide Nanoparticles. In M. Mareş, S. H. E. Lim, K. Lai, R. Cristina (Eds.), Antimicrobial Resistance A One Health Perspective. *IntechOpen*. (2020).
- F.J. Carr, D. Chill, and N. Maida. The lactic acid bacteria: a literature survey. *Critical Reviews in Microbiology* 28:281-370 (2002). https://doi. org/10.5772/intechopen.90891.
- 16. H.A. Al-Zahrani, A.A. El-Waseif, and D.E. El-Ghwas. Biosynthesis and evaluation of TiO₂ and ZnO nanoparticles from in vitro stimulation of Lactobacillus johnsonii. *Journal of Innovations in Pharmaceutical and Biological Sciences* 5:16-20
(2018).

- S.A. Hasan, J.A. Salman, and S.S. Al-Jubori. Biosynthesis and characterization of tiO₂ nanoparticles by Lactococcus lactis ssp. lactis. *Al-Mustansiriyah Journal of Science* 32:21-25 (2021).
- P. Anandgaonker, G. Kulkarni, S. Gaikwad, and A. Rajbhoj. Synthesis of TiO₂ nanoparticles by electrochemical method and their antibacterial application. *Arabian Journal of Chemistry* 12:1815-1822 (2015).
- K.S. Landage, G.K. Arbade, P. Khanna, and C.J. Bhongale. Biological approach to synthesize TiO₂ nanoparticles using Staphylococcus aureus for antibacterial and antibiofilm applications. *Journal of Microbiology & Experimentation* 8:36–43 (2020).
- T. Theivasanthi, and M. Alagar. Titanium dioxide (TiO₂) Nanoparticles - XRD Analyses – An Insight. (2013). http://arxiv.org/abs/1307.1091. (accessed 3 March 2023)
- M.R. Mohammadizadeh, M. Bagheri, S. Aghabagheri, and Y. Abdi. Photocatalytic activity of TiO₂ thin films by hydrogen DC plasma. *Applied Surface Science* 350:43–49 (2015).
- E.G. Mariquit, W. Kurniawan, M. Miyauchiro, and H. Hinode. Effect of addition of surfactant to the surface hydrophilicity and photocatalytic activity of immobilized Nano-TiO₂ thin films. *Journal of Chemical Engineering of Japan* 48:856-861 (2015).
- N. Sethy, Z. Arif, P. Mishra, and P. Kumar. Green synthesis of TiO₂ nanoparticles from Syzygium cumini extract for photo-catalytic removal of lead (Pb) in explosive industrial wastewater. *Green Processing and Synthesis* 9:171-181 (2020).
- A. Khalid, P. Ahmad, A. Alharthi, S. Muhammad, M.U. Khandaker, M.R.I. Faruque, I.U. Din, and M.A. Alotaibi. Unmodified titanium dioxide nanoparticles as a potential contrast agent in photon emission computed tomography. *Crystals* 11:1-10 (2021).
- A. Jha, and K. Prasad. Biosynthesis of metal and oxide nanoparticles using Lactobacilli from yoghurt and probiotic spore tablets. *Biotechnology journal* 5:285-291 (2010).
- 26. G. Gohari, A. Mohammadi, and A. Akbari. Titanium dioxide nanoparticles (TiO₂ NPs) promote growth and ameliorate salinity stress effects on essential oil profile and biochemical attributes of Dracocephalum moldavica. *Scientific Reports* 10:1-14 (2020).
- 27. M. Aravind, M. Amalanathan, and M.S.M. Mary. Synthesis of TiO_2 nanoparticles by chemical and

green synthesis methods and their multifaceted properties. *SN Applied Sciences* 3:1-10 (2021).

- T. Santhoshkumar, A.A. Rahuman, C. Jayaseelan, G. Rajakumar, S. Marimuthu, A.V. Kirthi, K. Velayutham, J. Thomas, J. Venkatesan, and S.K. Kim. Green synthesis of titanium dioxide nanoparticles using Psidium guajava extract and its antibacterial and antioxidant properties. *Asian Pacific Journal of Tropical Medicine* 7:968-976 (2014).
- P. Praveen, G. Viruthagiri, S. Mugundan, and N. Shanmugam. Structural, optical and morphological analyses of pristine titanium di-oxide nanoparticles– Synthesized via sol–gel route. Spectrochimica Acta Part A: Molecular and Biomolecular Spectroscopy 117:622-629 (2014).
- D. Dodoo-Arhin, F.P. Buabeng, J.M.M. wabora, P.N. Amaniampong, H. Agbe, E. Nyankson, D.O. Obada, and N.Y. Asiedu. The effect of titanium dioxide synthesis technique and its photocatalytic degradation of organic dye pollutants. *Heliyon* 4:1-23 (2018).
- 31. N.A. Ordenes-Aenishanslins, L.A. Saona, V.M. Durán-Toro, J.P. Monrás, D.M. Bravo, and J.M. Pérez-Donoso. Use of titanium dioxide nanoparticles biosynthesized by Bacillus mycoides in quantum dot sensitized solar cells. *Microbial cell factories* 13:1-10 (2014).
- 32. J. Laisney, A. Rosset, V. Bartolomei, D. Predoi, D. Truffier-Boutry, S. Artous, V. Bergé, G. Brochard, I. Michaud-Soret. TiO₂ nanoparticles coated with bio-inspired ligands for the Saferby-Design development of photocatalytic paints. *Environmental Science:* Nano 8:297-310 (2020).
- C.Y. Wu, K.J. Tu, J.P. Deng, Y.S. Lo, and C.H. Wu. Markedly enhanced surface hydroxyl groups of TiO₂ nanoparticles with superior water-dispersibility for photocatalysis. *Materials (Basel, Switzerland)* 10:1-15 (2017).
- 34. M.G. Jeong, E.J. Park, H.O. Seo, K.D. Kim, Y.D. Kim, and D.C. Lim. Humidity effect on photocatalytic activity of TiO₂ and regeneration of deactivated photocatalysts. *Applied Surface Science* 271:164–170 (2013).
- 35. L. Nie, J. Yu, X. Li, B. Cheng, G. Liu, and M. Jaroniec. Enhanced performance of NaOH-modified Pt/TiO₂ toward room temperature selective oxidation of formaldehyde. *Environmental science & technology* 47:2777–2783 (2013).

8. DECLARATION

The authors declared that: (i) the results are original; (ii) the same material is neither published nor under consideration elsewhere; (iii) approval from all authors have been obtained; and (iv) in case the article is accepted for publication, its copyright will be assigned to the Pakistan Academy of Sciences. Authors give permission to reproduce, where needed, copyrighted material from other sources and that no copyrights are infringed upon.

Instructions for Authors

Manuscript Format

The manuscript may contain Abstract, Keywords, INTRODUCTION, MATERIALS AND METHODS, RESULTS, DISCUSSION (or RESULTS AND DISCUSSION), CONCLUSIONS, ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS, CONFLICT OF INTEREST and REFERENCES, *and any other information that the author(s) may consider necessary*.

Abstract (font size 10; max 250 words): Must be self-explanatory, stating the rationale, objective(s), methodology, main results, and conclusions of the study. Abbreviations, if used, must be defined on the first mention in the Abstract as well as in the main text. Abstract of review articles may have a variable format.

Keywords (font size 10): Three to eight keywords, depicting the article.

INTRODUCTION: Provide a clear and concise statement of the problem, citing relevant recent literature, and objectives of the investigation.

MATERIALS AND METHODS: Provide an adequate account of the procedures or experimental details, including statistical tests (if any), concisely but sufficient enough to replicate the study.

RESULTS: Be clear and concise with the help of appropriate Tables, Figures, and other illustrations. Data should not be repeated in Tables and Figures, but must be supported with statistics.

DISCUSSION: Provide interpretation of the RESULTS in the light of previous relevant studies, citing published references.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS: (font size 10): In a brief statement, acknowledge the financial support and other assistance.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST: State if there is any conflict of interest.

REFERENCES (font size 10): Cite references in the text **by number only** in **square brackets**, e.g. "Brown et al [2] reported ..." or "... as previously described [3, 6–8]", and list them in the REFERENCES section, in the order of citation in the text, Tables and Figures (not alphabetically). Only published (and accepted for publication) journal articles, books, and book chapters qualify for REFERENCES.

Declaration: Provide a declaration that: (i) the results are original; (ii) the same material is neither published nor under consideration elsewhere; (iii) approval of all authors have been obtained; and (iv) in case the article is accepted for publication, its copyright will be assigned to *Pakistan Academy of Sciences*. Authors must obtain permission to reproduce, where needed, copyrighted material from other sources and ensure that no copyrights are infringed upon.

Manuscript Formatting

Manuscripts must be submitted in Microsoft Word (2007 Version .doc or .docx format); **pdf** files not acceptable. Figures can be submitted in Word format, TIFF, GIF, JPEG, EPS, PPT. Manuscripts, in *Times New Roman*, 1.15spaced (but use single-space for Tables, long headings, and long captions of tables & figures). The text must be typed in a double-column across the paper width. The Manuscript sections must be numbered, i.e., **1. INTRODUCTION**, **2. MATERIALS AND METHODS**, and so on... (a) **Title** of the article (Capitalize initial letter of each main word; font-size 16; **bold**), max 160 characters (no abbreviations or acronyms), depicting article's contents; (b) Author' first name, middle initial, and last name (font size 12, **bold**), and professional affiliation (i.e., each author's Department, Institution, Mailing address and Email; but no position titles) (font size 12); (c) Indicate the corresponding author with *; (d) **Short running title**, max 50 characters (font size 10).

Headings and Subheadings (font size 11): All flush left

LEVEL-1: ALL CAPITAL LETTERS; Bold

Level-2: Capitalize Each Main Word (Except prepositions); Bold

Level-3: Capitalize each main word (Except prepositions); Bold, Italic

Level-4: *Run-in head*; *Italics, in the normal paragraph position. Capitalize the initial word only and end in a colon (i.e., :)*

List of REFERENCES must be prepared as under:

a. Journal Articles (Name of journals must be stated in full)

- 1. I. Golding, J. Paulsson, S.M. Zawilski, and E.C. Cox. Real time kinetics of gene activity in individual bacteria. *Cell* 123: 1025–1036 (2005).
- 2. W. Bialek, and S. Setayeshgar. Cooperative sensitivity and noise in biochemical signaling. *Physical Review Letters* 100: 258–263 (2008).
- 3. R.K. Robert, and C.R.L.Thompson. Forming patterns in development without morphogen gradients: differentiation and sorting. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology* 1(6) (2009).
- 4. D. Fravel. Commercialization and implementation of biocontrol. *Annual Reviews of Phytopathology* 43: 337359 (2005).

b. Books

- 5. W.R. Luellen. Fine-Tuning Your Writing. Wise Owl Publishing Company, Madison, WI, USA (2001).
- 6. U. Alon, and D.N. Wegner (Ed.). An Introduction to Systems Biology: Design Principles of Biological Circuits. *Chapman & Hall/CRC, Boca Raton, FL, USA* (2006).

c. Book Chapters

- M.S. Sarnthein, and J.D. Stanford. Basal sauropodomorpha: historical and recent phylogenetic developments. In: The Northern North Atlantic: A Changing Environment. P.R. Schafer, & W. Schluter (Ed.), *Springer, Berlin, Germany*, pp. 365–410 (2000).
- 8. J.E. Smolen, and L.A. Boxer. Functions of Europhiles. In: Hematology, 4th ed. W.J. Williams., E. Butler and M.A. Litchman (Ed.), *McGraw Hill, New York, USA*, pp. 103–101 (1991).

d. Reports

9. M.D. Sobsey, and F.K. Pfaender. Evaluation of the H2S method for Detection of Fecal Contamination of Drinking Water, Report WHO/SDE/WSH/02.08, *Water Sanitation and Health Programme, WHO, Geneva, Switzerland* (2002).

e. Online references

These should specify the full URL for reference and give the date on which it was consulted. Please check again to confirm that the work you are citing is still accessible:

10. L. Branston. SENSPOL: Sensors for Monitoring Water Pollution from Contaminated Land, Landfills and Sediment (2000). http://www.cranfield.ac.uk/biotech/senspol/ (accessed 22 July 2005)

Tables and Figures

Insert all tables as editable text, not as images. Number tables consecutively following their appearance in the text, Figures should appear in numerical order, be described in the body of the text, and be positioned close to where they are first cited. Each figure should have a caption that describes the illustration, and that can be understood independently of the main text (Caption Table 1. and Fig 1. font size 10; Bold; Captions should be in sentence case; left-aligned). All Figures should have sufficiently high resolution (minimum 1000 pixels width/height, or a resolution of 300 dpi or higher) to enhance the readability. Figures may be printed in two sizes: column width of 8.0 cm or page width of 16.5 cm; number them as **Fig. 1**, **Fig. 2**, ... in the order of citation in the text. Parts in a figure can be identified by A, B, C, D, ... and cited as Figure 2A, Figure 2B, Figure 2C. Captions to Figures must be concise but self-explanatory. Laser printed line drawings are acceptable. Do not use lettering smaller than 9 points or unnecessarily large. Photographs must be of high quality. A scale bar should be provided on all photomicrographs.

Tables: with concise but self-explanatory headings must be numbered according to the order of citation (like **Table 1.**, **Table 2.**). *Do not* abbreviate the word "Table" to "Tab.". Round off data to the nearest three significant digits. Provide essential explanatory footnotes, with superscript letters or symbols keyed to the data. Do not use vertical or horizontal lines, except for separating column heads from the data and at end of the Table.

Figures: Figures may be printed in two sizes: column width of 8.0 cm or page width of 16.5 cm; number them as Fig. 1, Fig. 2, ... in the order of citation in the text. Captions to Figures must be concise but self-explanatory. Laser printed line drawings are acceptable. Do not use lettering smaller than 9 points or unnecessarily large. Photographs must be of high quality. A scale bar should be provided on all photomicrographs.

Note: The template of the manuscript is available at http://www.paspk.org/proceedings/; http://ppaspk.org/

Reviewers: Authors may suggest four relevant reviewers, two National and two International (with their **institutional E-mail** addresses).

SUBMISSION CHECKLIST

The following list will be useful during the final checking of an article before sending it to the journal for review.

Ensure that the following items are present:

One author has been designated as the corresponding author with contact details:

- E-mail address (Correct and valid)
- Full address of Institute/organization
- Keywords
- All figure captions
- All tables (including title, description, footnotes)

Further considerations

- Manuscript has been 'spell-checked' and 'grammar checked'
- References are in the correct format for this journal
- All references mentioned in the Reference list are cited in the text, and vice versa
- Permission has been obtained for the use of copyrighted material from other sources (including the Internet)

In case of any difficulty while submitting your manuscript, please get in touch with:

Editor

Pakistan Academy of Sciences 3-Constitution Avenue, Sector G-5/2 Islamabad, Pakistan Email: e<u>ditor@paspk.org</u> Tel: +92-51-920 7140 Websites: <u>http://www.paspk.org/proceedings/; http://ppaspk.org/</u>

PROCEEDINGS OF THE **PAKISTAN ACADEMY OF SCIENCES: PART B** and Environmental Sciences Life

CONTENTS

Volume 60, No. 1, March 2023	Page
Announcement	
Online Catalogue of the Spiders (Arachnida: <i>Araneae</i>) of Pakistan — <i>Pir Asmat Ali</i>	1
Review Articles	
Comparison of Host Expression Systems used for Efficient Recombinant Proteins Production — Sania Sahreen, Sundas Sharif, Hamna Ahmad, and Hamid Mukhtar	5
Impact of Climate Change on Marine Biodiversity: Current Challenges and Future Perspectives — Sohail Ahmad Jan, Zabta Khan Shinwari, Neeli Habib, Abdullah, Sher Ali, Muhammad Siddique Afridi, and Muddasir Khan	29
Research Articles	
Production of Fibrinolytic Enzyme by Soil <i>Actinobacteria</i> — Aminu Argungu Umar, Aliyu Abdullahi Turaki, Ahmad Ibrahim Bagudo, and Rilwanu Yeldu Ibrahim	49
Growth Dynamics and Resource Allocation of <i>Bistorta amplexicaulis</i> (D. Don) Greene: An Alteration across Different Habitats and Altitudes — <i>Hanan Javid, Roof Ul Qadir, Junaid A. Magray, Bilal A. Wani, Irshad A. Nawchoo, and Shabana Gulzar</i>	57
Quality Assessment of Fried Oils from Different Street Food Vendors and Restaurants in Different Areas of Gilgit, Pakistan — Sara Haider, Aqsa Akhtar, and Nauman Khalid	71
Growth Analysis of Production of Food Crops and Population Growth for Food Security in Pakistan — Muhammad Islam, Farrukh Shehzad, Abdul Qayyum, Mirza Waseem Abbas, and Rabia Siddiqui	83
A Cross-Sectional Study Elucidating Associated Predictors in Postpartum Depression among Pakistani Womer — Shumaila Zulfiqar, Zahra Tariq, Hafsa Adnan, and Iram Anjum	n 91
Exploring the Antimicrobials Production Potential of <i>Actinobacteria</i> Isolated from Caves at Bahadurkhel Karak, Pakistan — Shahid Nawaz, Aiman Fatima, Maira Saleem, and Imran Sajid	101
Photodegradation of Direct Violet 51 Dye using Bi ₂ MoO ₆ /GO Nanoflakes as Promising Solar Light-driven Photocatalyst — Sumaira Younis, Haq Nawaz Bhatti, Sadia Z. Bajwa, Jie Xu, and Saba Jamil	113
Decomplexation of Venom Proteome of Pakistani Cobra (<i>Naja naja naja</i>) — Sadia Erum Khan, Humera Waheed, and Syed Faraz Moin	125
Characterization of Titanium dioxide (TiO ₂) Nanoparticles Biosynthesized using <i>Leuconostoc</i> spp. Isolated from Cow's Raw Milk — Susan Abdul Raheem Hasan, Jehan Abdul Sattar Salman, and Sawsan Sajid Al-Jubori	133

Instructions for Authors

PAKISTAN ACADEMY OF SCIENCES, ISLAMABAD, PAKISTAN